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Everything we do  
begins with our 

customers.
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2016 in brief
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• A leaner and more customer-focused  
organizational structure was put into place 
in the beginning of 2016. 

• Continued divestments of non-core businesses, 
Fly-by-wire and Kaydon Velocity Control.

• Ramped up investments in world-class 
 manufacturing technologies in SKF’s factories 
in Gothenburg, Sweden, Schweinfurt, Germany 
and Flowery Branch, USA. 

• Automotive business activities were delivered 
according to the Turn Around Plan. 

• SKF’s climate targets 2016 concluded with  
14% absolute energy reduction since 2006 and 
strong development of BeyondZero customer 
solutions at the end of the period. 
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SKF overview

Why  
and  
what

SKF works to reduce friction, make things run faster, longer, 
cleaner and more safely. Doing this in the most effective, 
 productive and sustainable way contributes to our vision of 
a world of reliable rotation. SKF Group is a leading global 
 supplier of products, solutions and services within rolling bear-
ings, seals, mechatronics, services and lubrication systems.
 

How One of the most trusted industrial brands, founded in 1907  
• Strong technology and  service offers within five technology 
areas • World-wide distribution  coverage with 17,000 
 distri bution outlets • 45,000 knowledgeable employees

130
COUNTRIES

10
MAJOR  

WAREHOUSES

Where

108
MANUFACTURING 

UNITS
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Energy
Energy providers, renewable and   

traditional.

6%

To 
whom

Two-wheelers  
and electrical
Manufacturers of motorcycles, scooters  

and skates; home appliances, portable  

power tools and electric motors. 

Industry,  
heavy and special
Heavy industrial machinery: Metals, min-

ing and cement, pulp and paper. Special 

machinery: Marine, food and beverage.

Railways
Passenger, locomotive and 

freight car manufacturers. 

Off-highway
Customers within construction, agri-

culture and forestry and fork lift trucks. 

Cars and light trucks 
Cars and light truck manufacturers  

and their sub-suppliers.

Industrial distribution
Sales through industrial distributors. 

Aerospace
Aircraft and helicopter builders, 

 aero- engine,  gearbox and other aircraft 

 systems manufacturers.

Trucks
Truck, trailer and bus manufacturers  

and their sub-suppliers. 

28%

8%

5%7%

4%4%

9%

2%

Industry, general 
Manufacturers and providers within 

automation, machine tools, industrial 

drives, medical and health care.

15%

Vehicle aftermarket
Spare-part products for cars,  

trucks and two-wheelers.

12%
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SKF overview

SKF serves the global industrial market directly as well  

as indirectly through its worldwide  distributor network.  

Key industries are metals, mining, cement, pulp and paper, 

automation, machine tools, industrial drives,  aerospace, 

railway, marine, energy and off-highway.

SKF provides a range of products, solutions and  services 

to manufacturers of cars, light- and heavy trucks, trailers, 

buses and two-wheelers. 

The vehicle aftermarket is served directly as well as 

indirectly through a network of distributors and dealers.

70%
of SKF’s net sales

30%
of SKF’s net sales

SKF develops and manufactures a wide range of products 

for the industrial market including bearings, seals, lubrica-

tion systems, and condition monitoring. It also provides a 

wide range of services and solutions around the rotating 

shaft in the areas of machine health, reliability engineering 

and remanufacturing.  

Customers are served both directly as well as indirectly 

through SKF’s network of more than 7,000  distributors.

SKF’s solutions are customized bearings, seals and related 

products for wheel-end, driveline, engine, e-powertrain, 

suspension and steering applications. For the vehicle 

aftermarket spare parts are provided for cars, trucks and 

two- wheelers, serving installers through a network of 

more than 10,000 distributors and dealers.

The SKF Group

Main application areas

Main application areas

Automotive

SKF overview

Industrial
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• Schaeffler Group

• Timken

• NSK

• NTN

• JTEKT 

• Rothe Erde

• Watongdiam  

Bearing Group

Competitors

• Schaeffler Group

• Timken

• NSK

• NTN

• JTEK 

• Iljin 

• C&U 

• Luoyang

Competitors

SKF is a market leader in the overall industrial 

market and has a clear leadership position in 

many important industries, for example rail-

way and energy. In other industries the leader-

ship position is shared. 

In the important industrial distributor 

industry serving primarily the aftermarket, 

SKF has a clear leadership position.

SKF is a market leader in wheel end solutions 

eg. wheel bearing units and wheel end seals, as 

well as suspension bearings. SKF is also strong 

in application driven powertrain solutions, 

requiring specific performance in terms of 

 friction, weight and sealing solutions. 

SKF pioneered the aftermarket with the kit 

concept and is strongly positioned around the 

world with its extensive distribution network.

Total value of accessible 
bearings market

Total value of accessible 
bearings market

Market position

Market position

The common key driver across the wide span  

of industries is the need for reliable rotation.  

The drivers varies from application to application 

according to the application-specific requirements 

of the different industries. Examples are low fric-

tion, low noise and energy use, maintenance-free 

solutions and total cost of ownership. Digitalization 

is a growth driver, enabling monitoring and predic-

tive maintenance throughout the product life cycle.

The cars and light trucks market key drivers 

are energy efficiency, reduction of emissions  

and electrification. 

The truck market is driven by total cost of 

 ownership,  connectivity and integrated systems. 

The aftermarket is influenced by changing 

 buying patterns, new channels, product 

 performance and cost optimization.

The overall industrial OEM market is  

very fragmented. In some industries, 

such as renewable energy and railway, 

a relatively small number of OEMs 

account for a large part of the market, 

while in machine tools, for example, 

there are many large and small compa-

nies. The distributor channel structure 

is globally very fragmented, but to differ-

ent degrees in individual countries.

The Automotive OEM market is made 

up of a small number of large compa-

nies while the vehicle aftermarket has 

the reverse distribution. 

The Automotive OEM business 

 represents about 80% of the total 

bearing market, while the independ-

ent vehicle aftermarket accounts for 

about 20%.

–5 to –7%

SKF market characteristics

SKF market characteristics

Key drivers

Key drivers

Bearings market development 2016

Bearings market development 2016

SEK 
200–210 
BILLION

SEK 
140–150 
BILLION

2 to 4%
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President’s letter

Focusing on our  
two value propositions 

Dear shareholders,

In 2016, market conditions gradually improved and SKF is now 

growing again. During the year we have continued to simplify 

SKF to make us more customer-focused, innovative and strong. 

We have increased the momentum of our change journey 

which has led to many important initiatives and achievements, 

some of which we share with you in this report. The SKF 

 business spans across 40 different industries with a myriad 

of customers and applications. Our capabilities include the 

world’s leading range of bearings and bearing units, seals, 

lubricants and lubrication systems, condition monitoring, 

 services and maintenance tools. We also operate in other 

areas where our core competences are relevant, like actuation 

systems, linear guides and stabilizers for ferries and cruise 

ships to name a few.

Everything starts with a customer requirement 
We work hard to be easy to do business with and our employees 

take ownership of our customer’s satisfaction. To illustrate 

how we add value SKF has two strategically different value 

propositions. On the one hand SKF provides Products that 

meet the customer’s specific performance re  quire ments, 

 delivered at the requested time, at a competitive cost. Getting 

involved as early as possible in the customer’s development 

process ensures that they can take full advantage of improved 

performance and competitiveness.

On the other hand, SKF provides additional solutions to help 

customers improve their Rotating Equipment Performance. 

Here the customers see the need to reduce operating costs 

and to run their machines trouble free, without unexpected 

downtime and with their equipment reaching its expected 

operating life.

Product value proposition
Different machinery has different requirements; a lightly loaded 

fast turning electric motor needs a different bearing than a 

highly loaded industrial gearbox. To provide the most value  

to our customers we offer a wide product range fitting a wide 

range of demands. We have expanded and continue to expand 

our ability to meet such different performance requirements 

and grow our business. 

We also provide world-class engineering and advanced cal-

culation tools that help customers find and design in exactly 

what they need. We combine strong local engineering know l-

edge with global expert teams so that we are fast, close to the 

customer and capitalize on our global expertise.

Rotating Equipment Performance value proposition 
– growing market size and creating demand
Many end-user customers operate very expensive machines 

and they need them to be more productive. SKF has the 

techno logy, the data, the experience and the committed work 

force to meet those needs. SKF does this through joint process 

analysis, remote monitoring and focused services including 

machinery upgrades. This improves our customer’s financial 

performance.

In the wake of the 4th industrial revolution new opportuni-

ties emanate to provide even more value to end-users, by for 

SKF overview
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example integrating signals from sensors with active lubrication 

systems. Our condition monitoring IT platform is tailored to the 

user needs and can be integrated with the customer’s planning 

and maintenance processes. During the year we have strength-

ened our existing condition monitoring offering with hand-held 

simple to use devices that connect to a cell phone, for customers 

that do not have monitoring experts in-house today. It is called 

SKF Quick Collect.

Going forward we see significant opportunity in growing the 

size of the market for our Rotating Equipment Performance 

offer across most of the industrial industries in which we 

 operate. 

World-class manufacturing and digitalizing  
our value chain
A key focus during the last year has been our world-class 

 manufacturing programme where we look at four different 

perspectives to ensure that we have the best possible setup 

to serve our customers. We work with our production system, 

our suppliers, input cost and quality, we optimize our footprint 

and we accelerate the implementation of world-class manu-

facturing technologies and the digitalization of our value chain, 

from suppliers, via SKF, to end users. 

A number of announcements have been made during the 

year and are covered in more detail later in this report. I want 

to mention our first world-class investment that was approved 

for our Gothenburg factory. I am very happy to see that we 

already now serve a broad range of spherical roller bearing 

customers from this new and highly automated and flexible 

production.

Automotive business turnaround 
The automotive business has been working hard to improve its 

profitability throughout 2016. A profit improvement initiative 

was launched in 2015 and these efforts have resulted in a 

strong margin improvement.

The Turn Around Plan has included savings from significant 

staff reductions, new sourcing initiatives and the implementa-

tion of new manufacturing technologies such as intelligent 

grinding. The manufacturing footprint has been rationalized 

through a number of plant closures while simultaneously 

investing in increased production capacity in other facilities  

to meet customer demand.

Through an increased focus on core products and applications 

we have successfully gained market share in new vehicle plat-

forms that started to ramp up during the second half of 2016.

Financial summary
We continue to execute on our strategy to focus on our core 

business around the rotating shaft. During 2016 we divested 

two businesses, where the largest one was Kaydon Velocity 

Control.

In total we have divested five businesses during the last 18 

months which all had other customer propositions than Rotating 

Equipment Performance. Our organic sales performance has 

gradually improved during the year and in the fourth quarter 

sales grew organically. We are determined to improve our cost 

competitiveness and during the year SKF became a leaner 

organization. Our efforts to meet customer specific require-

ments also enabled us to reduce the cost of our products. 

In 2016, we have increased our ambitions to invest in the 

future. We have announced a number of strategic investments 

in new technology and automation of our manufacturing facili-

ties as well as in distribution centers. We continued our invest-

ments in a new global ERP system, the Unite program, where 

we in the beginning of 2017 went live in Sweden and Finland 

with completely new ways of working across all key business 

processes. I am pleased to say that the launch went according 

to plan.

The cash flow from the operations was strong and together 

with the proceeds from the divestments our balance sheet 

strengthened further. In the end of the year our net debt/equity 

ratio is close to our financial target. It is satisfying to reduce our 

debt without compromising on our direction to invest in a 

stronger and more competitive SKF.

Our role as a corporate citizen
Since I returned to SKF, I have endeavoured to empower our 

leaders to become purposeful action takers and to take personal 

responsibility for developing the business within their direct 

control, with our customers’ and SKF’s best interests at heart 

– always applying the SKF Code of Conduct. 

SKF is a positive force and a respected actor where we oper-

ate. We are proud of this and we will continue to play this role 

but it also presents great business opportunities for us. When 

we enter 2017, we do so with a strong organic growth of our 

BeyondZero customer solutions and confidence that profitable 

business and sustainable development go hand in hand. It is 

with this mindset we continue our support for the UN Global 

Compact and the Global Goals for 2030. I would like to thank 

you, our shareholders, for your continued support. I believe 

that the changes we are making and our straight-forward 

strategy will make SKF even stronger for the future. I look 

 forward to reporting on our continued progress during 2017. 

Alrik Danielson,

President and Chief Executive Office

Everything starts with a customer 
requirement – we work hard to be  

easy to do business with. 



How SKF creates value
SKF’s business model and strategies are designed to maximize value   
creation for its stakeholders. By developing, producing and selling products 
and  solutions that support its customers’ competitiveness, SKF also  
delivers value to shareholders, suppliers, employees and wider society. 

Driving forces and trends

Environmental impact
Increasing global concern about 

the negative impacts of climate 

change and environmental degra-

dation calls for action to reduce or 

avoid these impacts, through legal 

or other stakeholder means.

Digitalization
The rise of big data and smart 

systems creates huge potential 

to better address many of the 

challenges described above.

Urbanization
An increasing part of the global 

population lives in cities. This 

 creates demand for associated 

infrastructure such as energy, 

water and transportation.

Population growth 
and increased wealth 
The global population is growing 

and so is the middle class espe-

cially in fast developing economies. 

This puts pressure on scarce or 

finite resources such as materials, 

minerals, food, land, energy and 

water, generating a strong driver 

for efficiency and productivity in 

all aspects.

Globalization
Economic power continues to 

shift, particularly towards the 

East. This calls for relocation of 

resources such as manufacturing, 

sales and technical knowledge to 

meet local demands.

Value creation and strategic priorities

8 SKF Annual Report 2016 

54% 
OF THE GLOBAL  

POPULATION  
LIVES IN CITIES



Resources

Important issues

Business relations 
Customer relations within  

over 40 industries 

17,000 distributor locations

Financial capital
Assets

Equity 

Receivables

SKF sites
108 manufacturing units

28 Solution Factory

10 major warehouses 

Natural resources
1,683 GWh energy 

446,000 tonnes of metal

Intellectual capital 
45,000 employees

2.2 billion R&D investment 

• Customer expectations

• Business ethics 

• Financial performance

• Health and safety

• Application-driven innova-

tions and new business 

models

• Attract, retain and engage 

a diverse and effective 

 workforce

• Equality, human and  

labour rights

• Environmental impact  

along the value chain

• Create additional value  

in the communities  

around SKF

17,000

45,000
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External forces and trends together with SKF’s activities adds 

up to a range of short and long-term issues that SKF needs to 

 manage, and these can be summarized in a number of areas: 

Read more about materiality on page 120–122.

Resources
Pages 8–9

SKF’s business
Pages 10–12

Created value
Page 13

108
MANUFACTURING 

UNITS



Mission 
The undisputed leader  
in the bearing business

Vision
A world of reliable rotation

Driving forces 
and trends

Resources

Important  
issues

Values
Empowerment  •  High ethics  •  Openness  •  Teamwork

2
3

SKF Care

1
4
5

Create  
and capture   
customer value

Maximize  
cash flow  
over time

Cost   
competitiveness

World-class 
 manufacturing

Application- 
driven 
 innovation

Strategic priorities

Value creation and strategic priorities
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Strategic priorities Example of activities 2016

Customer focused organization
Implemented a new simplified and customer 

focused organization to further drive organic  

sales growth and improve profitability. 

Optimized bearing for wind turbines
Developed a new SKF spherical roller bearing  

for wind turbine main shafts, optimized for 

 reliability and required service life.

Investments in world-class manufacturing
Ramped up investments in world-class manu -

facturing technologies totalling half a billion SEK, 

in Schweinfurt, Germany, Flowery Branch, United 

States, and Gothenburg, Sweden.

Cost savings in North America 
To achieve further efficiency and cost savings, 

the consolidation of manufacturing units in 

North America was initiated. 

Continued divestment
Continued divestment of non-core businesses,  

Fly-by-wire, and Kaydon Velocity Control, which 

generated a positive cash flow of SEK 2.8 billion. 

Example of planned activities 2017

• Leverage the geographic sales organization, 

 identifying and helping customers provide 

value through new solutions and innovations. 

• Focus on digitalization to help our customers 

deploy Industry 4.0 solutions. 

• Drive e-commerce initiatives for the aftermarket. 

• Technology upgrade in manufacturing and 

 continued roll out of SKF Production System. 

• Continued focus on cost competitiveness and 

throughout the value chain.

SKF Care is the Group’s framework on 

 sustainability with four dimensions; Business 

Care, Environmental Care, Employee Care and 

Community Care. The BeyondZero strategy 

drives actions to  maximize the positive 

impact from industry.

Create and capture customer value
SKF helps customers to become more competitive. 

SKF will identify and help customers provide value 

through new solutions and innovations.  

Read more on page 14. 
1

Application-driven innovation
SKF supports its customers with application- 

driven innovation and develops new technologies 

and solutions based on customers’ application 

needs. These solutions will provide customers 

with a direct  competitive advantage.  

Read more on page 20. 

2
World-class manufacturing
SKF has manufacturing at the top of its agenda, 

 developing the latest manufacturing technologies 

and ensuring a global manufacturing footprint.

Read more on page 24. 
3

Cost competitiveness
SKF lowers its cost to achieve a lean and  

purposeful organization with high productivity.

Read more on page 30.4
Maximize cash flow over time
With success in the prior four areas SKF will 

 maximize cash flow over time, a key prerequisite 

for continuing to develop SKF for the future.

Read more on page 34.
5
SKF Care
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Objectives and attainment 

SKF’s financial targets were introduced in 2016 and are to 

be achieved over a business cycle: 

Organic growth of 5% in local currencies  
In 2016, organic sales declined by 1.6%. Sales growth in Europe 

was offset by lower sales volumes primarily in North America 

and in Asia. 

Operating margin of 12% 
The 2016 operating margin was 10.3% which was below the 12% 

target but an improvement of more than 1 percentage point 

compared with 2015. In 2016, reduced costs improved the oper-

ating margin while lower sales volumes, higher costs for the 

Unite IT project and general cost inflation had a negative effect. 

Return on capital employed of 16% 
In 2016, the return on capital employed was 11.9% which was  

an improvement of 1 percentage point compared with 2015.

Net working capital of 25% 
At the end of 2016, net working capital was 29.9% of sales,  

which was higher than both the target of 25% and last year’s 

level of 27.1%.

Net debt/equity of 80% 
At the end of 2016, net debt/equity had improved to 84%  

which was higher than the target but a significant improvement 

 compared with the 100% at year-end 2015. 

SKF launches new climate targets for 2025. Read more 

on page 45. The Group’s previous targets expiring in 2016 

are  concluded on pages 42 and 127. 

SKF BeyondZero customer solutions 
Increase revenues of SKF BeyondZero customer solutions.  

Target SEK 10 bn from 2.5 in 2011. Achieved SEK 6.8 bn.

Increase recycling rate  
Increase recycling rate of grinding swarf to 80% by 2016. 

 Target 80%. Achieved 74%. 

Reduce use of solvents  
Reduce use of solvents in SKF operations by 50% by 2016. 

 Target –50%. Achieved –49%. 

Reduce energy use  
Reduce energy use in operations by 5% under 2006 year’s level, 

regardless of business growth. Target –5%. Achieved –14%. 

Social target – Zero accidents  
The Zero Accidents programme aims to eliminate work-related 

accidents and illnesses. Target Zero. Rate 2016 0.87.  

See page 132. 

Financial targets Achieved 2016

Achieved 2016Environmental and Social targets1) 

Value creation and strategic priorities

Target 5%

Target ≤80%

Target 16%

Target SEK 10 bn

Target –5% 

compared  

with 2006

Target Zero

Target –50%

Target 25%

Target 80% 

recycling rate

Target 12%

ORGANIC 
GROWTH 

–1.6%

NET DEBT/
EQUITY 

84%

REVENUES,  
SKF BEYOND 

 ZERO CUSTOMER 
SOLUTIONS

6.8

ACCIDENT
RATE 

0.87

ENERGY
USE 

–14%

SOLVENTS 
USE

–49%

GRINDING 
SWARF

74%
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OPERATING 
MARGIN

10.3%

RETURN  
ON CAPITAL 
EMPLOYED

11.9%

NET  
WORKING  
CAPITAL

29.9%

1)  Environmental and Social targets are part of the sustainability 

disclosures, which have been subject to limited assurance by 

SKF’s auditors.



Value created 

Government:  
Income taxes  
SEK 2.5 bn

Other:  
Remaining 
expenses, net 
SEK 19.9 bn

Shareholders: 
Dividends  
SEK 2.6 bn

Value re   invested  
in the company1)  
SEK 1.6 bnProviders  

of loans:  
Interest 
expense  
SEK 0.4 bn

Employees: 
Benefits including 
social charges  
SEK 22.8 bn

Customers  
SEK 4 billion in savings  

approved by customers 

Financial 
Operating profit SEK 7.5 billion

Cash flow after investments  

before financing SEK 7.7 billion

Dividend SEK 2.6 billion

Employees
Benefits including social charges

Safe and respectful workplace

Positive and engaging workplace

Innovation
Invention disclosures: 229 

First filings of patents: 191 

New products and solutions: 15

Society 
2.5 billion corporate income taxes 

400,000 tonnes avoided CO
2
 emissions 

enabled by SKF customer solutions

SEK  
22.8 bn

SEK 4 bn NET SALES 
SEK

72.8 bn

13SKF Annual Report 2016 

Suppliers:  
Material 
 consumed  
SEK 23.0 bn

1) Net profit, less proposed dividend.
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Value creation and strategic priorities

Create and capture  
customer value

Increased globalization, tougher competition from Asia, 

increasing concerns about climate change and digitalization of 

the industry put pressure on industrial companies to achieve 

greater productivity and efficiency along the entire value chain. 

Today, there is a greater demand for application-specific 

value propositions based on functionality and uptime, since 

customers need to maximize the performance of their equip-

ment. There is also greater competition from product offerings 

focused on cost and performance. The growing main market 

calls for solutions and components that are fit-for- application. 

These products and solutions work to the customers’ specific 

requirements for performance and reliability. 

Two value propositions in focus
SKF’s main business involves all offers that support the rotat-

ing equipment performance. The core is the bearing, but  

for a bearing to function well it needs to be well lubricated  

and protected from the surrounding environment. To further 

enhance the performance of the bearing, it is important to 

have the right monitoring in place to avoid and detect potential 

problems. The OEM customer needs a competitive, reliable  

and robust application, often with an attached service offer.  

To address the change in market demand and the different 

industry needs, SKF has two main value propositions: 

 Products and Rotating Equipment Performance. 

Strategic priority

Everything SKF does begins with its customers. By providing first-class 
 products and  solutions, with the right performance requirements, at the 
right time and cost, SKF helps customers in 40 different industries across 
the globe. 

The product proposition meets performance requirements 

on specific parameters such as speed, load, noise or physical 

environ  ment. These products work according to the customers’ 

needs, meeting their specific requirements for performance 

and reliability.

Customer focus
✔ Right Product  ✔ Right Cost   ✔ Right Time

The rotating equipment performance proposition meets the 

needs of customers who operate critical machinery, by maxi-

mizing the performance. Functionality and machine avail-

ability is more important than component price. SKF offers 

tailored solutions including the appropriate SKF technologies.

Customer focus
✔ Total cost of ownership

1. Products 2. Rotating Equipment Performance

The two value propositions

2
3
1

4
5
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Understanding customer value
SKF aims to deliver the products and solutions best suited to help 

customers achieve their targets. Fully understanding how to 

reach them is crucial to building strong customer relationships. 

Delivering customer value is not just about delivering a 

product with the right performance at the right cost and at the 

right time, it is also about addressing issues such as machine 

uptime, production efficiency, reliability, energy use and total 

cost of ownership. Read more on pages 20–23.

Expertise in industry specific solutions
SKF’s customers can be found in most industries around 

the world. The driving forces and needs within each industry 

and geography vary and need to be addressed with distinct 

solutions.

SKF combines its offering within bearing technology, sealing 

solutions, lubrication systems, services and condition monitor-

ing to achieve the equipment’s best performance. This results 

in specific solutions for various customer industries. 

One example is the food and beverage industry where food 

safety regulations are growing more complex. Continued high 

pressure to reduce operational costs while keeping environ-

mental performance under control creates a challenging 

 environment. SKF helps improve overall plant  efficiency and 

supports customers in meeting environmental targets on 

 carbon emissions, water use, waste reduction and zero landfill. 

SKF combines process and assets expertise with a range of 

food safety compliant technologies including re-lubrication 

free bearings, automatic lubrication systems, industry 

approved lubricants and seals. 
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In the automotive industry fuel consumption and CO
2
 emis-

sion reduction, electrification and alternative fuels, are key 

drivers. Standardization of platforms and modules for more 

flexibility and cost efficient vehicle production is also crucial,  

as well as the growth of compact affordable cars. To meet 

requirements, SKF is an early development partner to key 

vehicle manufacturers, providing bearings and seals that 

enhance efficiency by reducing friction, weight and size, 

 integrating sensors and customizing solutions to fit the 

 performance requirements and vehicle type. 

Digitalization enables reliable rotation 
To help ensure long bearing service life, it is important to 

determine the condition of machinery and bearings while 

in operation. Good predictive maintenance will help reduce 

machine downtime and decrease overall maintenance costs. 

SKF offers a full range of solutions including services, 

 condition monitoring and smart bearings which allow SKF  

to transform data into accessible information. Today SKF 

 monitors over a million bearings in multiple industries and 

 collects the data which is analyzed. The customers receive 

 recommendations on what kind of maintenance is needed, 

and when.

Customer focused organization 
SKF is committed to making it easy to do business with, either 

directly, through distributors or online. 

It works directly with major customers through dedicated 

strategic account management at both a global and local level. 

This way, SKF gains a deep understanding of its customers’ 

processes and requirements enabling development of products 

and solutions that help support the customers’ business. It also 

helps identify where customers can replicate their use of SKF’s 

solutions in other parts of their organizations. 

SKF has the largest industrial distributor network in its 

industry. Around 40% of SKF’s industrial business goes through 

distributors, providing customers with punctual and reliable 

deliveries, easy access to a wide range of products and advanced 

technical expertise and services provided 24/7. Through a strong 

network of more than 10,000 distributors within the vehicle 

Test centre for  
large-size bearings 
SKF is building the world’s most powerful test 

centre for large-size bearings in Schweinfurt, 

Germany. 

It will have unique capabilities to improve 

 simulation tools that support development and 

customization of solutions for a variety of indus-

tries such as wind, marine and mining. It will allow 

testing of bearings with an outer ring diameter 

of up to six metres, with extreme bending 

moments and dynamic loading conditions.

As the test centre will help save energy and 

material resources in the production of large-size 

bearings, SKF was granted public funding by the 

Bavarian Ministry of Economic Affairs and Media, 

Energy and Technology as well as by Germany’s 

Federal Ministry for the Environment, Nature 

Conservation, Building and Nuclear Safety.
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SKF Documented Solutions  
Programme
SKF has collected 71,000 approved cases 

that show proven, quantifiable value in 

over 25 industries. From 2003 to 2016, 

SKF provided SEK 39 billion in savings 

approved by customers. In 2016, the 

 figure was more than SEK 4 billion. 
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aftermarket, spare parts for cars, trucks and two- wheelers 

reach workshops all over the world. With over 20,000 varia-

tions, SKF offers parts and kits to carry out  complete repairs 

for virtually every automotive brand and model in the world.

SKF’s distributors and large OEMs can purchase SKF’s prod-

ucts through Electronic Data Interchange or webshops, which 

increases the speed and accuracy of business communication 

and improves overall efficiency on both sides. Digital business 

has become one of the most important and modern ways of 

doing business with customers, with over 80% of all distributor 

business managed electronically.

SKF has an extensive logistics network and through its 

global transportation network and local and regional ware-

houses, it reaches over 50,000 customer sites with short lead 

times. Expertise within areas such as customs, warehousing, 

pack aging and delivery/return processes is a key competitive 

advantage for SKF. 

Measuring customer value 
Showing the financial and environmental benefits that SKF’s 

solutions can bring and predicting and measuring the total 

actual savings for the customer is important. By working 

together with the customer and populating the SKF Document ed 

Solutions Programme with data, an SKF sales representative 

can generate a bottom-line figure predicting the total estimated 

savings that can be achieved by using SKF solutions. The cus-

tomer provides his own plant’s running information, for example 

materials, labour, downtime, and the forecast savings are based 

on that information.

SKF has also developed a methodology to measure environ-

mental benefits during the customer use phase. This method 

calculates avoided emissions from SKF’s customers using 

SKF’s solutions compared with baseline – defined as the most 

common alternative on the market. A product or service that 

provides significant environmental benefit is defined as an 

SKF BeyondZero customer solution. 

Protecting the brand
In markets where there is good availability 

of genuine parts, there has been a sharp 

decrease in counterfeit thanks to SKF’s 

awareness-raising efforts. The situation 

in markets where availability of genuine 

products is lower, the existence of coun-

terfeit as a percentage remains in double 

digits. SKF is increasing its support to 

law enforcement in these markets and 

combining this with awareness raising 

activities. Taking back sales from counter-

feiters is not only a good business for SKF, 

but also helps end customers avoid costly 

damage to their operations. 

One of the most trusted industrial brands
The SKF brand is one of the most trusted and well-known global industrial brands.  

SKF’s offer has evolved over many years from primarily being based on bearings, to 

include products and services from all five technology areas. A key driver of SKF’s tech-

nology development is to improve efficiency and reduce energy losses, thereby helping 

to reduce the environmental impact both in its operations and for its customers.
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SKF brings the know-how  
and core expertise, while  

GE Oil & Gas brings the scale,  
process and  service capabilities  

in order to better serve oil  
and gas operators.

Luca Maria Rossi,  

General Manager for Turbomachinery  

Solutions Product Management,  

GE Oil & Gas
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SKF active magnetic bearings operate with 

no surface contact, eliminating bearing 

friction and wear. 

Their extreme reliability and stability 

makes them suitable for a diversity of 

demanding applications such as natural 

gas pipeline compressors, high energy 

 efficiency chillers and water treatment 

air blowers. 

Active magnetic  
bearing technology 

For demanding 
conditions

In 2016, SKF and GE Oil & Gas signed  

a non-exclusive collaboration agreement, 

aimed at further developing the use of 

active magnetic bearing technologies 

within the oil and gas sector.

As part of the agreement, GE Oil 

& Gas will make use of SKF’s lead-

ing magnetic bearing technologies 

from front-end engineering design 

to installation, testing and service 

to customers.
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Application-driven innovation
By developing new innovative solutions with the customer need in focus,  
SKF helps customers be more competitive. A more flexible, efficient and 
 customer-focused approach gives SKF a strong competitive advantage.

R&D expenditure in 2016, excluding developing IT solutions, 

amounted to over SEK 2 billion, equivalent to about 3% of 

annual sales.

The key to application-driven innovation is to fully under-

stand and design for customer needs. It also means bringing 

solutions to the market that really matter to the customers. 

In some cases, SKF can meet these needs with catalogue 

 products, while in other cases SKF needs to innovate solutions 

specifically targeted to the application. Needs differ between 

industries and customers. 

Within the automotive and aerospace industries, innovation 

is customized. All offers are engineered to order and developed 

in close cooperation with the customer according to the agreed 

specification. 

In the wheel end applications, SKF has continuously developed 

features and solutions to reduce friction and weight to reduce 

fuel consumption and emissions. This is done by optimizing for 

example the grease, the seal and internal geometries.

Leveraging on digitalization
SKF’s Asset Efficiency Optimization technologies, processes 

and services have been delivering rotating equipment per-

formance to customers since the mid-80s. Today SKF has 

 hundreds of service contracts deployed globally and several 

hundreds of service professionals in areas such as predictive 

maintenance, and lubrication. With this knowledge and experi-

ence, SKF has a solid foundation for moving further into the 

area of Industry 4.0, developing solutions that are even more 

valuable and efficient for customers. Today SKF monitors over 

a million bearings in multiple industries and  collects the data. 

Analysis of the data makes it  possible to give recommendations 

on how to prevent machine failures or when to carry out 

 maintenance. 

SKF is also ensuring it serves customers in a faster, better 

and more cost-efficient way by applying Industry 4.0 technolo-

gies to its own manufacturing and supply chain process. Read 

more on pages 26–27 and 30–32.

SKF Insight sensor technology is one example of how SKF 

 is using digitalization to meet customer needs. It has been 

customized for wind, railway and heavy industry applications. 

By using this technology, SKF customers can easily transfer 

data from machines to the data handling and analysis system 

SKF Enlight. SKF Enlight contains analytics tools, enabling the 

 customer to detect anomalies, make prognostics and to take 

proactive actions to extend the component lifespan, reduce 

total cost of ownership and increase asset reliability. 

Helping customers stay on track
Today, the railway industry typically uses a time-based main-

tenance approach, where maintenance manuals dictate when 

to replace bearings. This means that a train is taken out of 

 service for maintenance of bearings after it has run a certain 

mileage or time. Striving to reduce life cycle costs and to 

improve maintenance planning, railway operators and their 

maintenance partners are looking for effective methods to 

detect critical damage to axle box bearings, wheelsets and 

other rotating components at an early stage, and thereby 

move from a time-based to a condition-based maintenance 

approach. 

The condition monitoring systems currently available on  

the market typically require cabling and are complex to install 

on existing fleets. The data provided is not always easy to 

interpret, and required actions might not be obvious to define. 

SKF Insight is a significant step forward in changing this situa-

tion. During 2017, SKF will launch SKF Insight Rail, a solution 

Strategic priority
23

1
4
5
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Industry 4.0, or the 4th industrial revolution,  

is a collective term embracing a number of con-

temporary automation, data exchange and manu-

facturing technologies. Essentially it focuses on 

the connectivity between people and “things”, 

gathering and making good use of digitalized 

information, enabling better decision making and 

machine-to-machine interaction. It affects both 

SKF’s and its customers’ operations. 

 At the end of the road, Industry 4.0 is all about 

reliability, productivity, safety and ultimately; 

bottom line maximization. However it goes even 

3rd 4th1st 2nd

Mechanization,  
water power,  
steam power

Mass production,  
assembly line, 
electricity

Computer and  
automation

Cyber physical  
systems

beyond that, it also enables elimination of process 

silos and the possibility to connect the whole 

value chain. 

 By using SKF technologies to connect, collect 

and analyze critical data from the customers’ 

machines, events can be predicted and perfor-

mance optimized. By integrating and collaborating 

with the customers’ enterprise systems these 

information flows can automatically drive SKF’s 

processes such as production planning, purchas-

ing from suppliers and even the design of SKF’s 

products.

Industry 4.0 – the 4th industrial revolution
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targeting passenger retrofit applications. It consists of light-

weight, compact, highly capable sensors that directly commu-

nicate to a dedicated cloud-based analysis service over the 

mobile network. If an anomaly is detected, an alert is sent to 

the maintenance department with a recommended action. 

Each sensor node can be remotely configured to meet an 

 individual customer’s specific monitoring needs and operating 

schedules. More advanced analyses can be done by the cus-

tomer, or by the experts at SKF. 

Time-savings with Cooper split roller bearings
Split-to-the-shaft roller bearing units has been one of SKF’s 

offers since the acquisition of Cooper in 2013. This solution 

is exceptionally time-saving when rebuilding or repairing 

machine equipment. In typical cases repair time drops from 

five days to six hours, thanks to the split design which allows 

bearing replacement without the need to dismantle surround-

ing equipment. The swivelling cartridge housing design gives 

good alignment not only of the bearing but also of the seals, 

which gives great reliability in contaminated areas. During 

2016, Cooper launched a range of Angled Pedestal housings, 

which makes it even easier to slide the base of the pedestal 

housing under the shaft without having to lift or jack the shaft 

at all – a new and even more time saving feature from Cooper 

that can benefit SKF customers everywhere.

Weight is key in the air
In the aerospace industry reducing weight is key and this is 

being addressed primarily by changing and optimizing materials. 

Using composites has been standard in the industry for over  

ten years and SKF is developing a unique and patented solution, 

called Black Design, for designing high-performance composite 

parts. It brings weight savings of up to 50% compared with 

metallic parts while also avoiding issues of corrosion.

Light and strong hybrid bearing technology 
Understanding the challenges facing aerospace customers, 

SKF developed hybrid bearings, combining rings made of aero-

space conventional steel and rolling elements made of aero-

space grade silicon nitride. 60% weight savings are achieved on 

the rolling elements (corresponding to some 15% on a typical 

main shaft aero-engine bearing). Furthermore, the ceramic 

material provides additional benefits such as lifespan improve-

ment, better resistance (to wear, oil-off conditions and contam-

ination) and lower power loss and heat generation. Over the last 

few years, the technology has also helped customer innovations 

in many industries and in applications such as machine tool 

spindles, railway traction motors and compressors.

Simulation and testing increase trust
As part of SKF’s efforts to enhance service to customers, a test 

centre for large-size bearings in Schweinfurt, Germany, is being 

built, to serve customers in the wind, marine and mining indus-

tries. The large test rigs enable real full dynamic application 

tests for SKF. The centre will be inaugurated in 2017. 

As part of SKF’s technical footprint, SKF has tech centres 

spread across the globe – in China, India, Japan, the USA,  the 

Netherlands, Sweden, Germany, Italy, France and Austria. 

Reducing friction
For transmissions, friction reduction is a key  

enabler for reducing fuel consumption and emis-

sions. By replacing axially preloaded tapered  

roller bearings by a located/non-located bearing 

arrangement SKF could help a customer signifi-

cantly improve the efficiency rate of the gearbox. 

By using in-house modelling and simulation tools, 

component calculations were carried out, and by 

considering service life, stiffness rates and power 

loss, SKF identified suitable internal geometries 

of the bearings. Friction torque results enabled 

 calculating CO
2
  savings on a car level. The results 

were also verified by  customer measurements.  

All in all the CO
2
 emission reduction was 2.5 g/km. 
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The centres serve the global and local customers, allowing SKF 

to increase its agility in supporting its customers. 

Collaboration for mutual benefits
SKF currently funds four University Technology Centres around 

the world. Here, SKF works closely with leading researchers in 

business-driven projects, creating understanding and proof of 

concepts in parallel. SKF also supports PhD and post Doctorate 

research at many academic institutes globally. SKF’s unique 

network in the academic world serves as a source of innovative 

knowledge.

SKF is involved in various Horizon 2020 funding projects, 

the European Commission’s largest research and innovation 

programme. SKF’s industry-leading technology and design- 

engineering support is helping to illustrate how advanced 

ocean energy systems can provide sustainable, reliable, low-

cost and high-value energy to the European power supply.

An innovative culture and customer-oriented organization
During 2016, the SKF organization was reshaped to better 

serve customers, creating a stronger focus on the two main 

markets – industrial and automotive. Within the industrial 

market, a new area focused on business and product devel-

opment dedicated to application-driven innovation was 

 established. 

SKF’s approach to application-driven innovation has implied 

new ways of working. Learning from the software develop-

ment teams, the development teams have adopted the Agile/

SCRUM approach to product development. SKF has also cre-

ated an application competence centre with unique and highly 

specialized competence in the products’ key application areas. 

This enables SKF to understand how products influence cus-

tomers’ applications. To ensure progress of digitalization within 

the business, a global team, mainly located in Gothenburg, 

Sweden, was created, to be closer to customers, manufactur-

ing, sales and traditional product development. The software 

development centre in San Diego, USA, was closed. 

To further strengthen an innovative culture, SKF initiated an 

innovation management programme in a few selected parts of 

the organization in 2015. The project proved successful, and 

the scope was expanded to the entire Group during 2016. 

SKF is now gathering its expertise in condition 

 monitoring by creating global development 

 centres for hard- and software in Europe, 

located in Gothenburg and Luleå in Sweden, 

and Aberdeen and Livingston in Scotland. The 

largest unit is in Gothenburg, and is responsible 

for software development of next generation 

 technology from SKF. 

SKF has been a leader in the development of 

 services and products in state control since the 

90s and conducts the research in the field along 

with Luleå University of Technology. 

New global software centre
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World-class manufacturing

To be the undisputed leader in the bearing business, SKF 

invests to have the leanest, safest, most cost-efficient and 

most flexible manufacturing processes. The strategy behind 

world-class manufacturing applies to the full value chain, from 

sourcing to final product, delivered flawlessly to the customer. 

It means to have zero defect delivery at the right time and at 

the lowest possible cost.

To deliver on this strategic priority, the Bearing Operations 

organization was formed in the early part of 2016 to benefit 

from synergies with an end-to-end focused setup. SKF’s 

 purchasing and logistics operations now work together with 

a worldwide network of manufacturing units clustered by 

global product lines. A global manufacturing and process 

development team was also formed to drive the strategic 

 priorities and activities in terms of technology development 

and footprint. 

The programmes established last year have been strength-

ened and adapted to include the end-to-end perspective. 

The four programmes are SKF Production System, Input 

cost reduction, Technology step-up and Manufacturing and 

logistics footprint. 

1   SKF Production System 
SKF Production System strives for a well described process of 

continuous improvements in all operational units and is based 

on the lean principles for a cost-effective flow. Safety, Quality, 

Delivery, Cost, Working climate and Environment have been 

set out as priorities to maximize customer value and minimize 

waste. The lean funda mental concepts of the production 

 system are:

• Value: The customer defines the value of a product or service, 

and SKF must take account of this in all processes.

• Value stream: The chain of processes required to fulfil every 

customer requirement defines the value stream. By visualiz-

ing the stream of materials and information, and analyzing 

the processes, it is possible to identify opportunities for 

waste reduction.

• Flow: Information and materials should flow without distur-

bances in the value stream. Flow stoppers generating defects, 

delays and increased costs are gradually eliminated by using 

defined, agreed and standardized working methods.

• Pull: The flow of products, services or information is triggered 

by customer demand. 

• Strive for perfection: SKF is continuously working at identi-

fying and addressing improvement opportunities through 

deployment of the core lean tools. 

The ambition is that by the end of 2018, all major bearing 

 factories should be working according to this system. 

Certification ensures consistency
SKF holds global certification on quality management, accord-

ing to ISO 9001 and, where required by the markets, to ISO/TS 

16949 (for automotive), AS 9100 (for aerospace) and IRIS (for 

railways). On environment, health and safety, highly material 

issues in SKF’s manufacturing and associated operations, the 

Group is certified to the requirements of ISO 14001 (environ-

ment), OHSAS 18001 (health and safety) and ISO 50001 

(energy management). All relevant units are included in this 

single Group-wide certificate, and recently acquired companies 

are given a timeframe for implementing the management 

 system, working towards inclusion in the Group’s certification 

scope. The SKF Group-wide certificate for environment, health 

and safety covered 112 sites in 35 countries at the end of 2016. 

The schedule for recently acquired companies can be found 

at skf.com/14001. 

The 4th industrial revolution is here – new technologies emerge and more 
innovations are being developed. SKF is harnessing these opportunities and 
investing for world-class manufacturing. 

Strategic priority

3
1

4
5
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Input cost reduction
Optimizing direct material 

costs, with integrated cost 

reduction teams.

Technology step-up
Setting a global standard 

for machines, equipment 

and processes.

Manufacturing and 
logistics footprint
Serving customers in  

the most cost-effective  

way at the right time. 

2 3 4
SKF Production System
Improving the processes 

continuously.

1
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SKF’s own standards aim higher
SKF launched the Zero Accidents target in 2000 with the aim 

to eliminate work-related accidents. The belief that accidents 

are preventable and that an accident-free work environment 

is achievable has led to substantial progress over the years. 

2016’s accident rate was 0.87 (0.99). See page 40 for more on 

occupational health and safety and pages 42–45 for more on 

environmental targets.

To standardize competence development, a Manufacturing 

Academy was formed. The global structure with locally adapted 

materials is being implemented in each factory in a learning 

centre. The centres enable hands-on introduction for new 

employees to be operational with the necessary information 

and skills as fast as possible. They also provide training for 

employees to acquire new skills including the latest installed 

technology.

2   Input cost reduction 
Input cost reduction is aimed at optimizing costs of direct 

materials. One of the focus areas is integrated cost reduction, 

which is about setting the right specifications for the design of 

SKF products and processes, combined with sourcing of com-

ponents and materials. 

SKF’s purchasing of goods and services is dependent on  

the total cost. By looking at the end-to-end supply chain, SKF 

can identify cost and waste drivers and exclude non-value-

added processes from the supply chain. This is done in close 

collaboration with suppliers, ensuring that the components 

SKF sources are optimized from a design and specification 

standpoint to maximize customer value.

The purchased materials consist of steel raw materials such 

as bars, wires, tubes and strips, and steel-based components 

such as rings, balls, rollers and sheet metal parts, and other 

direct materials, as well as subcontracted and traded products. 

In addition to direct materials, SKF sources shop supplies, 

 capital equipment and various types of services. Read more 

on pages 30–32, Cost competitiveness. 

Implementing Industry 4.0 
SKF made the final implementation steps of its first 

fully-automated assembly of spherical roller bearings 

in its factory in Gothenburg in early 2017.

 It is a consolidation of four channels into two, 

reducing manning from 130 to 30 employees, while 

raising productivity. Previous reset time of up to four 

hours has been greately reduced which allows for 

more custom- made orders and reduced lead times.

 Automated guided vehicles serve to fill the channel 

with the parts needed and pick up the final product 

for further distribution.
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3   Technology step-up 
A global standard for machines, equipment and processes is 

important in order to ensure cost-efficiency. Taking the step to 

world-class manufacturing requires the right equipment and 

processes to enable higher efficiency with a flexible output in 

one smooth trouble-free operation. To continuously take steps 

to advance and improve, the focused areas are:

• Standardization drives the identification and systematic use 

of the best technical solutions for achieving a given process 

function. The actions range from establishing a standard-

ized way of designing new plants to the standardization of 

technologies used in specific machines. 

• Maintenance Excellence aims at increasing machine uptime 

by the targeted implementation of SKF reliability solutions 

within the Group’s manufacturing operations. Increasing 

uptime and avoiding breakdowns ensures that machines are 

available to produce the right quality and speed according to 

customer demand. At the same time, the capital-intensive 

nature of bearing manufacturing operations means that 

even small improvements in this area can make a significant 

contribution to the operating result. 

• Flexibility is about defining the technology setup best suited 

to market demands. This can range from a high-volume 

setup, producing millions of the same item, to the super flex-

ible setup, producing individual pieces for a specific customer 

demand and a range of solutions in-between. The different 

setups require very different approaches, such as how 

machines are re-set when moving from producing one sort 

of item to another. 

The Machine Centre of Excellence (MCE) units, set up in recent 

years, have a key role to play in the technology step-up.  

The MCE acts as an interface between manufacturing devel-

opment and the factories, ensuring fast and cost-effective 

industrialization of new and innovative technologies. Before 

any new machines are installed, they will be thoroughly tested 

and adapted to the needs of the factory. The MCEs are also 

responsible for the refurbishment and upgrade of current 

machines to new standards. 

The newest MCE unit, in Gothenburg, Sweden, was estab-

lished in 2016 to complement the existing MCE units in Airasca, 

Italy, St Cyr, France, and Shanghai, China. More MCE’s are 

expected to be created in the coming years.

4   Manufacturing and logistics footprint 
The manufacturing and logistics footprint is constantly optimized 

to serve customers in the most cost-effective way. To maintain 

a sustainable structure, SKF targets production, sourcing and 

logistics with a region-by-region approach, closer to customers. 

In 2015, SKF announced its first investment for world-class 

manufacturing in the Gothenburg spherical roller bearing fac-

tory in Sweden. This project was completed in the first quarter 

2017. In 2016, SKF continued its efforts by announcing invest-

ments of SEK 150 million in upgrading machines and processes 

in Flowery Branch and Hanover, USA, and an investment of 

SEK 295 million in cylindrical roller  bearings and large size 

bearings factories in Schweinfurt,  Germany. These projects 

will start up in 2017, with a target of finalization by the end 

of 2018. 

Consolidation of bearing manufacturing was initiated in the 

USA and China, and an announcement was made for an invest-

ment in roller production in Dalian, China. 

The Y-Bearing and Units production channels in Puebla, 

Mexico, which serve North American customers within the 

agriculture industry was closed, with production transferred 

to other SKF sites. To read more about footprint and cost- 

competitiveness, see pages 30–32.

To support SKF’s global manufacturing footprint and close 

supplier collaboration, SKF has sourcing offices at various 

 locations around the world. By developing a local supplier base, 

SKF can increase its supply chain flexibility and agility. Today 

most supplies to SKF’s factories in each region come from local 

or regional suppliers. 

Always there for the customer
SKF reaches over 50,000 customer sites, with short lead-times, 

through its global transportation network and local and regional 

warehouses. Logistics and Demand Chain effectively manages 

the flow of components and goods from suppliers to SKF and 

from SKF to its customers.

During 2016, SKF has invested in a number of efficiency 

improvements within the logistics area, such as the agile ware-

house solution SateLight and a new miniload system based on 

a warehouse operating model called Goods-to-Man. Another 

improvement initiative was conducted in India, aimed at revi-

talizing the logistics setup by consolidation of several stocking 

points, creating an optimized transport network and imple-

menting global processes and systems. See Logistics on page 

32 for further explanations. These investments complement 

our efforts in the area of modernizing and digitalizing our fac-

tories. With a more flexible digitalized manufacturing, logistics 

base and warehouses, SKF and its customers will increase 

their competitive advantage.



SKF is supplying a range of bearings, 

seals and linear actuation technologies 

for  Scania’s new generation of trucks. 

This is the result of over 10 years of 

 development, during which time SKF has 

worked closely with Scania on developing 

tailored solutions. These trucks lower fuel 

consumption and significantly improve 

driver comfort.

Scania’s new generation of trucks create  

a comfortable and safe workplace for drivers, 

whilst offering haulage companies greater 

reliability and improved fuel efficiency. 

The front- and rear-wheel truck hub units 

reduce friction by up to 30% compared 

with standard wheel bearing sets. The 

tailor- made wind deflector is equipped 

with SKF linear actuation technology to 

allow ease of adjustment.

Scania Trucks 

Tailored for  
customer needs



Scania and SKF  
have a long history of  

collabo ration and putting the 
drivers’ needs in focus. 

Stéphane Le Mounier, 

President, Automotive and Aerospace
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Cost competitiveness 

Cost-reduction programme
The cost-reduction programme was completed in 2015, with 

a total reduction of 2,089 employees (target 1,500) and an 

annualized cost saving of SEK 1,187 million. The associated 

costs amounted to SEK 1.2 billion, compared with the expected 

SEK 1.4 billion. 

In 2016, the total restructuring cost amounted to around 

SEK 580 million, and includes the cost of consolidating three 

factories in North America. In 2016 a total of 1,087 employ-

ees, adjusted for acquired/divested businesses, left the com-

pany.

New processes and IT infrastructure
SKF is implementing a new ERP system (Unite) to create and 

deploy improved, aligned processes and solutions across the 

SKF Group and leverage from new system technology. It includes 

the establishment of best practice processes to enable business 

efficiency and growth. 

Both development and implementation are led by a dedicated 

programme organization, working in close cooperation with the 

business. The Unite programme spans all key process areas 

– sales and customer relationship management, purchasing 

and supplier relationship management, finance, demand chain 

and manufacturing. The implementation will take place in a 

stepwise approach until fully implemented in 2022. A pilot 

 version was released in Sweden and Finland in January 2017. 

The expenses in 2016 were SEK 940 million of which SEK 

620 million were expensed and SEK 320 million were capiti-

lized as an investment.  

Organizational structure 
At the beginning of 2016, SKF adjusted its organizational 

structure to simplify operations within sales, manufacturing 

and technology development. 

Sales
Three geographical sales areas within the industrial business 

were formed (Industrial Sales Americas, Industrial Sales 

Europe, Middle East and Africa, and Industrial Sales Asia) with 

the purpose of strengthening the regional businesses, creating 

a lean sales support structure and driving optimization within 

pricing, distribution and customer service. 

Automotive and Aerospace
One organization was formed to fully capture the strong 

 com monalities of the Automotive and Aerospace businesses, 

managed by strictly defined processes to generate value 

 propositions on fully  customized solutions. 

Purchasing, manufacturing and logistics 
Responsibility for end-to-end procurement, manufacturing 

and logistics was combined into one organization: Bearing 

Operations. The purpose is to deliver the best quality and 

 service at the lowest possible cost, maximizing the use of  

SKF’s factories and resources. 

Business and product development
One organization for business and product development was 

formed with the main purpose of providing the business with a 

competitive and relevant offer portfolio that facilitates growth 

in market share and expansion of market size. This involves 

ensuring that SKF has the right product and service offer and 

that these can be replicated and deployed locally. 

Product development
By developing new innovative solutions with the customer 

need in focus, SKF helps customers to be more competitive. 

Setting the right specifications on SKF solutions for processes, 

components and materials used is key for SKF to deliver 

Cost competitiveness is key for SKF in its mission to be the undisputed leader 
in the bearing business. It encompasses the entire value-chain from product 
and service development to purchasing, manufacturing, sales and distribution, 
making sure SKF’s organization, operations and processes are as efficient 
as possible.

Strategic priority1
4
5

2
3
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fit-for-application solutions. By challenging technical solutions, 

optimizing sourcing and challenging product specifications, 

SKF finds the right solution for the customer at the right cost 

without over-engineering. The application-specific require-

ments drive the engineering solution to meet the exact needs, 

whether this is a standard or a premium product/solution. 

One example is SKF’s recent re-entry into the metals indus-

try with the four-row cylindrical roller bearings used in steel 

and aluminium rolling mills. Over the last 15 years, SKF lost 

market share due to cost competitiveness and performance 

issues. With new design and process specifications and manu-

facturing technologies, SKF is now able to deliver four-row 

cylindrical roller bearings in accordance with specific customer 

needs, with upgraded performance and significant production 

cost reductions of up to 50%.

Purchasing 
SKF has continued to develop business with its strategic sup-

pliers across all categories and about 1,300 suppliers currently 

account for 80% of the global spend volume. More than 600 of 

the suppliers have been removed during 2016 and volumes 

have been given to future strategic suppliers, fulfilling SKF’s 

Quality, Cost, Delivery, Innovation and Management (QCDIM) 

performance targets.

Suppliers of steel products represent an important part of 

SKF’s supply chain. SKF has close cooperation with key partner 

suppliers in the steel sourcing area. The combined expertise 

from SKF and its key steel suppliers represents an important 

asset, contributing to application knowledge for SKF’s products. 

Together with key steel suppliers, SKF is currently running 

 initiatives to ensure that the steel products are fit for their 

application and the environment in which SKF’s products are 

being used.

SKF closely monitors the market price trend for steel from 

its different purchasing offices around the world. As a part of 

safeguarding the competitiveness of its products, SKF contin-

ually conducts sourcing studies and runs sourcing programmes 

in the steel sector.

The new eProcurement system SAP-Ariba is now fully 

implemented with both direct and indirect material in Sweden 

and has been rolled out in Germany. This system will help the 

continuous work of driving down total sourcing costs through 

improved spend and data management, contract and process 

compliance, better supply chain transparency and supplier 

performance monitoring. 

SKF’s responsible sourcing programme works to ensure the 

Group’s effective deployment of the SKF Code of Conduct for 

Suppliers and Sub-contractors. The programme is part of 

supplier development, which covers areas of delivery, quality, 

product compliance and Code of Conduct. For more informa-

tion on the governance and management approach, see 

 Sustainability statements on page 139.

In 2012, SKF set a target to push or facilitate all major 

energy- intensive suppliers, including steel suppliers, forging 

Direct material, steel raw material 4%
Example: Bars, wires, tubes and strips

Direct material, steel based components 24%
Example: Rings, balls, rollers and sheet 
metal parts

Direct material, other 28%
Example: Mechanical components, electrical 
components, polymers, subcontracting and 
traded products

Capital expenditure 5%

Manufacturing services, shop supplies 
and utilities 23%

Other services 16%

Purchasing 2016
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and casting companies to be certified according to the ISO 

50001 Energy Management Standard by 2016. At year end, 

SKF concludes that 83% of the suppliers in scope have achieved 

this target, with the rest being in progress, which is considered 

a success. Not only will it drive energy efficiency improvements 

and CO
2
 reductions related to the material purchased by SKF, 

but it will also reduce and avoid future increased costs. Look-

ing ahead, SKF will continue to  follow up on ISO 50001 certifi-

cation for energy intensive  suppliers as part of the Group’s 

 climate targets 2025, read more on page 45.

Manufacturing 
In June 2016, SKF announced the consolidation of factories in 

USA by closing Baltimore and consolidating it with Hanover. 

Spherical roller bearings and large size roller bearings from the 

Hanover factory will be moved to Flowery Branch. 

The Y-bearings and units production channel in the Ping Hu 

factory in China was transferred to the factory in Xinchang, 

Zhejiang, China. This factory is already making similar products, 

which will ensure a more cost efficient manufacturing base and 

enable better support in the Asian market for the Y-bearings 

and units product line.

The super precision bearing channel in the Ping Hu factory 

was transferred to other factories. A customization workshop 

will be established within the Solution Factory in Shanghai 

with the aim to capture business with short-term delivery, 

together with a volume and cost advantage of larger scale 

 production in Italy.

Logistics 
Cost competitiveness within logistics goes hand-in-hand with 

being an efficient business partner and finding smarter ways  

of working. The new agile smaller warehouses established in 

 Iberia and in the Nordic region, called SateLights, aims to fulfill 

time sensitive demands for dedicated regions with a fast, 

highly flexible and cost-efficient setup.

To achieve greater efficiency and reduce costs, SKF has 

 consolidated warehouses in the USA, moving the vehicle after-

market warehouse in Hebron to the regional warehouse in 

Crossville. 

SKF’s European Distribution Centre in Tongeren, Belgium, 

was upgraded during the first half of 2016 with a mini-load 

system based on a Goods-to-Man workflow approach. It uses 

automated retrieval systems and improved handling mecha-

nisms. This results in a more efficient and ergonomically correct 

working environment and reduces the time needed to pick, 

pack and ship customer orders. The Goods-to-Man approach 

is planned to be implemented in Airasca and more warehouses 

will follow this model in the coming years. The step up of effi-

ciency in the warehouse operations will be accompanied by 

more economical and safer handling for the operators.

In India, a special project was launched with the objective 

of revitalizing the logistics setup by consolidation of stocking 

points, creating an optimized transport network and implement-

ing global processes and systems. A new modern warehouse  

in Pune was inaugurated in December 2016. The purpose- 

built facility allows for the closure of 15 of 27 stocking locations 

across India, whilst improving product availability for customers 

and distributors.

Sales and marketing
The sales organization continued to focus on cost optimization 

through organizational efficiency. In 2016, the evaluation of 

the fixed cost structure continued, which resulted in consolida-

tions and closures of offices, rationalization of overhead organ-

izational structures and a review of market activities.

A more competitive operation
SKF are consolidating its manufacturing units in North 

America to create a more competitive  operation with 

an increased level of efficiency and growth, without  

any restrictions on the product range. 

 The consolidation is expected to generate full-year 

cost savings of around SEK 220 million from 2019, 

whereof around SEK 70 million is expected to be 

achieved in 2018.



For railway customers, the bearing is 

typically the bottleneck dictating the 

bogie maintenance interval. The wheels 

nowadays can often last for more than 

1.5 million km before replacement is 

required, while wheel bearings are 

 typically specified to run 1 million km 

before maintenance. 

Thanks to an intensive R&D project, 

SKF’s latest railway wheel bearing has 

been designed to operate for 1.7 million 

km between overhauls. 

 Railway industry 

Reducing  
life cycle costs

SKF achieved this 

by focusing on the 

key factors within  

the bearing that 

affect grease life. 

That is, smoother 

and tougher  surfaces 

and  optimized inter-

nal geometry for 

 minimized wear, 

reduced friction, cooler 

running and thereby 

increased fatigue life.
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Maximizing cash flow over time

Working capital
A key component in a strong cash flow generation is the efficient 

use of working capital. One of SKF’s financial targets is to improve 

net working capital to 25% of sales. The target is to be achieved 

by reducing the number of inventory days and trade receivable 

days and increasing the number of trade payable days.

Inventories
SKF uses an integrated approach to reduce inventories. In the 

beginning of 2016, SKF’s purchasing, manufacturing and 

logistics operations were combined into one new organization 

– Bearing Operations, targeting world-class performance 

across the value chain. The change promotes end-to-end 

 visibility, faster reaction time and increased flexibility, all with 

the purpose of lowering costs, improving service and reducing 

the capital tied up. 

Trade receivables
SKF works in a focused way to reduce the number of outstand-

ing receivable days and reduce overdues. An example of these 

efforts is the implementation of a common collection process. 

The process is handled by an external party using appropriate 

system support for effective handling. 

Trade payables
For trade payables, SKF has introduced a supply chain financing 

programme with an external partner with the aim of reducing 

working capital. Since the introduction of the programme in 

November 2014, around SEK 1 billion of capital has been 

released.

Investments
Investing for increased automation
In recent years, SKF has focused investments on increased 

efficiency and automation. In 2016, a total of SEK 1.9 billion 

was invested. One of the key investment projects was the new 

production channel for spherical roller bearings in Gothenburg, 

Sweden. Read more on pages 26 and 27.

Divestments
In 2016, the Fly-by-wire and Kaydon Velocity Control busi-

nesses were divested, which generated a positive cash flow 

of SEK 2,763 million after payment of taxes.

Financing
Loans
SEK 2,086 million of the generated cash flow was used to 

reduce SKF’s outstanding loans, thereby strengthening SKF’s 

financial position. At year-end 2016, the net debt to equity 

ratio had improved to 84.4% (99.9).

Dividend
In 2016, a dividend of SEK 5.50 per share was approved by the 

Annual General Meeting and a total of SEK 2,504 million was 

distri buted to the shareholders in April 2016, representing 61% 

of net income in 2015. 

A strong balance sheet and the ability to generate consistent high levels of 
cash flow over time is key. This allows SKF to continue to reinvest in the core 
business and future growth, as well as delivering returns to shareholders.

Strategic priority1
4
5

2
3
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SKF Care

SKF Care 
SKF Care defines the Group’s approach to sustainability with four dimensions; 
Business Care, Environmental Care, Employee Care and Community Care. 
These principles guide how the Group works and runs its operations.

Business Care

Community Care

Employee Care

SKF 
Care

SKF BeyondZero

15
2

34

Environmental Care
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SKF’s decision to make sustainability one of its strategic 
drivers stems from the belief that the company is respon-
sible, not only for the economic results of its activities, but 
also for wider social and environmental impacts. SKF Care 
helps to enact this driver by defining what sustainability 
means to the Group.

Business Care is built on a clear and dedicated customer 

focus and on delivering a good return to shareholders. Results 

should be achieved in accordance with the highest standards of 

ethical behavior. 

Employee Care assures a safe working environment and pro-

motes the health, education and wellbeing of SKF’s employees. 

Environmental Care focuses on continually reducing the 

environmental impact from the Group’s operations, as well  

as actions to significantly improve customers’ environmental 

 performance through the products, solutions and services  

that SKF supplies. 

Community Care defines the Group’s activities that make 

 positive contributions to the communities in which it operates.

Proper management of quality, environment, health and safety 

is fundamental to SKF Care and critical for the success of the 

Group. SKF uses a systematic and standardized approach which 

is embedded throughout the organization, its people and its 

processes. 

This requires;

• Policies and procedures across the organization which are 

clear, practical and easy to understand and follow.

• Measures to assure that employees are aware of the 

requirements and have the competence and understanding 

to make use of them in their day-to-day work.

• Processes for every business activity which integrate risk-

based thinking, continuous improvement and effective 

 controls.

SKF BeyondZero is the Group’s overall strategy for address-

ing environmental and business performance over the value 

chain. It includes actions to reduce the impact resulting from 

SKF’s operations and those of its suppliers, while at the same 

time providing customers with solutions to reduce the environ-

mental impact of their products or operations. 

Over the years and in order to reflect and communicate  

the importance of sustainability and SKF Care, the Group has 

endorsed or subscribed to a number of internationally recog-

nized principles, charters and guidelines which promote sus-

tainable and ethical business practices from organizations 

such as UN Global Compact, ILO, ICC Charter and OECD. Read 

more about this on page 120.

The SKF Care framework is aligned with the United Nations’ 

Sustainable Development Goals for 2030. As with these global 

goals, the different dimensions of SKF Care are highly inter-

connected and the impact from the Group’s activites are pre-

sented on the following pages.

SEK
72,894
million

Generated economic value, SEKm
Net sales 72,787 (75,997)

Revenue, financial investments and 

other operating income 107 (108)

Operating costs 
40,097 (42,219)

Employee wages and benefits 
22,770 (23,920)

Payments to providers of capital 
3,071 (3,245)

Payments to government (tax) 
1,897 (2,320)

Community investments 
25 (32) 

Economic value retained 
5,034 (4,369)
 

Direct economic value,  
generated and distributed

Please refer to page 126 in the sustainability statements 

for G4-EC1 definitions.
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SKF Care

For SKF, Business Care means value creation, innovation 
and strong financial performance achieved through ethical 
and compliant behaviour and business practices. 

SKF’s activities and performance to create and capture 
customer value, support customers with application 
driven innovation and develop world-class manufactur-
ing have been described earlier in this report. Business 
Care also requires the highest standards of ethical 
behaviour, described hereafter. 

SKF’s ethics and compliance programmes
SKF’s ethics and compliance programmes (the “programmes”) 

cover the full scope of the SKF Code of Conduct, including issues 

such as fraud, corruption, conflicts of interest, antitrust, work-

ing ethics, export control, data privacy, money laundering, 

human rights, environment, health and safety and ethical 

 leadership. The programmes describe how these aspects are 

governed, monitored and audited. A key element of the pro-

grammes is the yearly Group risk assessment in which all 

 relevant stakeholders participate. 

SKF addresses the issues set out in the UK Modern Slavery 

Act 2015 through the Code of Conduct and related activities, 

more details can be found in the specific statement found in  

the SKF Care section on SKF.com.

Main activities 2016
In order to prepare for the new data privacy rules in EU which 

will apply from May 2018, SKF has initiated a number of activi-

ties such as the appointment and training of a network of data 

privacy officers in EU, identification of IT systems which are 

considered high risk from a data privacy perspective and the 

establishment of a group data breach incident procedure. 

In the antitrust area SKF has had face to face training and 

assessed the business practices in 26 countries. The export 

control community has had a strong focus on ensuring that 

technical data is stored and managed in a compliant manner 

in SKF. SKF continues to focus on ethical leadership and during 

2016 this has been manifested through increased focus on 

ethical behavior in the recruitment process and in SKF’s 

leader ship programmes. 

Audits and reviews
SKF’s ethics and compliance yearly audit plan is mainly based 

on the risks identified in the Group risk assessment. The main 

purpose of the audits is to assist units in their work to identify 

and addressing its ethics and compliance risks.

In 2016, reviews on ethical leadership have been held at 75 

SKF sites around the world. These reviews are held at sites in 

relation to in-depth Code of Conduct audits. The focus of the 

in-depth audits depend on the type of operations at the site 

using a risk based approach. 43 in-depth audits focused on 

environment, health and safety and the rest focused on busi-

ness ethics and other Code of Conduct issues. 

Audits within Environment, Health and Safety are based 

on the external certification requirements as defined in 

ISO 14001, ISO 50001 and OHSAS 18001 standards.

Reporting of ethical concerns
SKF employees are requested to report or ask about their  

ethical concerns. An employee who feels that he or she cannot 

report a concern to his or her direct manager, HR department 

or other managers, can use SKF’s ethics and compliance 

reporting line. This reporting channel allows employees to 

report concerns in their own language, either via telephone or 

via the web. Reporting can be made anonymously in all coun-

tries where this is allowed by local legislation. During 2016 

the work to create awareness of SKF’s ethics and compliance 

reporting line has continued. Cases filed and closed are 

 disclosed in the sustainability statements on page 138.

Risk prevention through training
SKF uses many types of methods to create awareness and 

reduce risk of noncompliance to legal and ethical standards. 

One of the methods SKF uses to create awareness and com-

mitment to ethics and compliance is e-learning. During the 

year, and in addition to Code of Conduct training, SKF has 

trained over 16,000 employees on anti-corruption. On anti-

trust, SKF has trained over 17,000 employees since 2014. 

Antitrust awareness is also held in face to face training as 

mentioned under Main activities.

Investigations and disciplinary actions
During 2016, 17 investigations related to fraud and corrup-

tion were conducted. Disciplinary consequences have been 

Business Care

The SKF Code of Conduct
The SKF Code of Conduct is the fundament for all activities in 

SKF. It is based on a number of internationally proclaimed prin-

ciples and charters, including the ILO conventions, the UN Global 

Compact and UN Guiding Principles on Business and Human 

Rights. The SKF Code of Conduct has been used as reference to 

also establish other documents such as the SKF Code of Conduct 

for Suppliers and Sub-contractors, and the SKF Code of Conduct 

for Distributors, demanding a similar commitment from  

business partners. Read more on skf.com/code.
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Human Rights  
Impact Assessment and 
 Management in India
In accordance with the UN Guiding Principles on 

Business and Human Rights, SKF has been working 

to incorporate a Human Rights Impact Assessment 

and Management (HRIAM) approach. This is com-

plementary to the Groups established processes 

related to the Code of Conduct – which address 

human rights and other issues within SKF as well  

as up and down stream. 

During 2016 a number of Human Rights Impact 

Assessments were carried out in India – looking  

at the issues from the country perspective as well 

as site level. These assessments were made with 

the full collaboration of the different management 

teams involved and mapped the different value 

chains, potential risks and improvement measures. 

taken for ten confirmed cases. Two employees received warn-

ing letters and nine employees left the company as a result of 

the investigations.

Responsible sourcing
As part of Supplier development, Responsible sourcing focuses 

on the effective deployment of SKF Code of Conduct in the sup-

ply chain. The work includes risk mapping audit and follow up 

on human rights, labour standards, business ethics and envi-

ronmental management. For more information about manage-

ment approach and results, see page 139.

Product material and substance compliance  
of SKF’s products
The SKF Group has a centralized function for the compliance 

surveillance of SKF’s products, with respect to environmental 

and ethical laws and standards, such as, but not limited to, 

REACH, RoHS and conflict minerals.

SKF is predominately a downstream user (as opposed to 

a producer) of compounds targeted in the REACH and RoHS 

 regulations and legislation. As defined by the regulations, 

the Group complies by communicating both up and down the 

 supply chain. This is to ensure that materials and compounds 

used in SKF’s products and manufacturing are registered as 

safe to use. 

The issue of conflict minerals – as defined in Section 1502 of 

the US Dodd-Frank act – is being addressed as part of the over-

all responsible sourcing activity. Although SKF is not directly 

affected by this act, the Group supports the ethical motives 

behind it and has a significant number of customers who are 

directly affected by it. SKF  carries out due diligence and works 

with suppliers and sub-contractors to help customers meet 

the requirements. The Group will not knowingly procure prod-

ucts or materials containing conflict minerals from the DRC 

region, or other  conflict areas, unless they are certified as “con-

flict free”, please read more at skf.com/responsible-sourcing.

Life cycle studies confirm that the greatest potential for SKF 

to reduce environmental impact lies in the customer use phase 

of the Group’s solutions. SKF BeyondZero customer solutions 

defines and verifies products or solutions that realize signifi-

cant environmental benefits for SKF’s customers, read more 

on page 44.
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SKF Care

Employee Care is about promoting a safe working 
 environment, health, education and the wellbeing of 
SKF’s employees whilst ensuring employees’ rights are 
respected. SKF’s ability to attract, retain and develop its 
employees is critical for maintaining its leading position.

Safe workplace – Zero Accidents and OHSAS 18001
The very foundation of Employee Care is that employees, and 

the people working for SKF, shall be safe at work.

Tragically, SKF had two fatal accidents during 2016. One 

was a traffic accident on the way from a customer meeting, 

and the other was a fork-lift truck accident. Please read more 

in these on page 132. 

The belief is that accidents can be prevented. Significant 

progress has been made since the launch of the Zero Accidents 

programme, and today, SKF has below one accident per 100 

people working full time per year, compared with around 14 in 

the 1990’s. Some of these recordable accidents are not signifi-

cant, but among the ones that are, SKF has concluded that 

many are hand and finger accidents related to machine work. 

Going forward, Machine safety is an absolute prioritized area.

SKF also follows up on lost time, long term health index and 

psycho-social work related health to uphold a safe work environ-

ment, whilst giving an insight on employee wellbeing at work. 

SKF’s health and safety management system is integrated with 

the environmental management system. 

Respectful workplace
SKF follows the United Nation’s Guiding Principles on Business 

and Human Rights and its ‘protect, respect and remedy’ 

framework. The Group’s commitment on human rights is 

embedded in the SKF Code of Conduct. 

Labour management relations
Issues relating to significant changes at SKF, such as acquiring 

or divesting operations, are always discussed and resolved 

openly and constructively with union leaders locally and with 

the leadership of the SKF World Union Council. The SKF Code 

of Conduct and Social Policy are fundamental to Employee 

Care. The global framework agreement between SKF and SKF 

World Union Council (representing the various labour unions 

working with the company) and the basis for discussion which 

this creates is key for the effective deployment of the SKF Code 

of Conduct throughout the organization. As one of the first 

agreements of its kind, the framework helps promote a healthy 

and productive relationship between SKF and the unions 

– which in turn contributes to the effective realization of 

Employee Care throughout the Group.

In 2016, 43 Code of Conduct reviews were conducted at SKF 

sites, of which 18 were in Europe, 12 in Asia, 11 in the Americas, 

and 2 in Africa. The audits showed 7 cases of non compliance 

with the Code of Conduct, 6 of which were also legal non- 

compliances related to overtime hours worked above the legal 

limit. Corrective action was initiated in all cases. 

As part of the due diligence process for major acquisitions, 

SKF evaluates various people issues such as human rights and 

labour rights. The precise approach must be adapted to the 

specific conditions of each acquisition. 

Remuneration and equal opportunities
Remuneration at SKF is based on individual performance.  

The SKF Code of Conduct stipulates that all employees are to be 

treated equally, fairly and with respect. For salaried employees, 

the SKF Group uses an internationally well recognized evalua-

tion system, International Position Evaluation (IPE). SKF also 

works to ensure that wages and other related benefits meet at 

least the legal or industry minimum standard in the country in 

question. Wages and benefits are rendered in full compliance 

with laws and collective agreements. 

At the end of 2016, 86% of the Group’s employees were 

 covered by trade union agreements. In order to ensure that all 

employees have the same opportunity to compete for jobs. 

Openings at SKF up to a certain level are posted on the Group’s 

internal website or via other local channels. The entitlement to 

fair chance to compete for job opportunities is also stipulated 

in the SKF Code of Conduct. 

Positive and engaging workplace
SKF strives to offer a positive, engaging workplace for all 

employees. A positive and engaging workplace starts with 

strong values, sound leadership and clear direction. These are 

prerequisites to create conditions where the full potential of 

individuals and teams can be realized. SKF has implemented 

tools and processes that help  leaders, managers and employees 

to create this engagement.

Employee Care
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Competency and performance
SKF works with talent management and recruitment to ensure 

a good succession planning of key roles in the Group. Employee 

competency development is also essential for SKF to win busi-

ness every day, develop its customers and to deliver value to 

stakeholders. At the beginning of the year, all employees and 

their managers agree on individual goals based on the team 

planning. Development activities are then selected to enable 

the individual to deliver on her/his targets. Employees and 

their managers summarize achievements and behaviors in an 

annual review. In the latest follow up, 75% of the employees in 

scope had been having their annual performance review.

Learning and development
All SKF employees are entitled to an Individual Development 

Plan (IDP), reviewed annually through discussions with their 

managers. In the latest follow up, 60% of SKF’s employees had 

an individual development plan agreed with their manager. 

SKF College is the central function in SKF that manages and 

coordinates tools for learning in SKF. An assortment of devel-

opment programmes focusing on professional skills, leadership 

skills, personal skills, and other strategic areas are made avail-

able to employees. To support these trainings SKF utilizes a 

wide range of virtual training models deployed to employees by 

SKF College’s local campuses in Sweden, the USA, Argentina, 

China, India and Singapore. This enables SKF’s global curricu-

lum to be locally adapted and  provided in local languages by 

local trainers. 

SKF values  
drive business forward
Empowerment: We are expected to take initiatives and we  

are empowered to engage ourselves and seize oppor tunities  

to improve – and to empower co-workers to do the same.

High ethics: It takes decades to develop and earn the trust  

of our customers. SKF is and shall remain a role model for 

business conduct that is fair and lawful. We are empowered, 

but we can never disregard ethics or the Code of Conduct. 

Openess: With a transparent organization, we also enable 

simplicity – one of the key ways to add value for our customers.

Teamwork: Our diversity of backgrounds, skills and experi-

ence is a competitive advantage and one of our key strengths.  

We are SKF and together we are able to accomplish even the 

most ambitious goals.

From We Are SKF, published in October 2016.

Leadership and diversity
SKF strives to represent as many dimensions of diversity as 

possible and to meet customer demands in a global market. 

This work must consider gender, origin, industry background 

and other indicators of diversity. At year-end 2016, SKF had 

70 country managers, representing 66 nationalities. All regions 

in which the Group operates are represented among the top 

management (about 500 managers). 12% of this population are 

women. 

At the end of 2016, 25% of the Board of Directors and 18% 

of SKF Group management’s positions were held by women. 

Locally, 85% of SKF units had at least one woman in local man-

agement. In these local management groups, throughout the 

Group, 18% were women. The proportion of women employed 

in the Group was 21%. For more people data, please refer to 

Sustainability statements on page 131–134. 

Health and wellbeing
SKF takes care to ensure good health amongst the Group’s 

employees. The elements of SKF’s approach to wellbeing and 

life-balance vary at different locations depending on social 

context. The global OHSAS 18001 certification means that 

SKF has implemented joint health committees which focus 

 primarily on work-related health and safety. In addition to 

addressing work-related issues, the majority of SKF’s units 

have also implemented programmes that focus on general 

health and well-being. 87% of SKF’s employees are covered 

by some type of documented health and wellbeing policy or 

programme. 
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SKF Care

Suppliers 
Raw material  
and components 
(Scope 3)

SKF operations 
Manufac turing and 
other relevant aspects 
(Scope 1 and 2)

Transport and  
distribution 
Goods transportation  
(Scope 3)

Customer solutions 
 Development of the  
SKF BeyondZero  customer 
solutions (Scope 4)

Climate targets 2012–2016

Target
1. Reduce the total 

annual energy use of the 

SKF Group by 5% below 

2006’s level by 2016. 

2. Reduce the energy use 

per production output by 

5% year-on-year. 

Results 2016
In 2016, the total energy 

use for the Groups was 

14% lower than baseline 

2006. The energy per 

output was 5% lower in 

2016 than 2015.

Target
Reduce CO

2
 emissions 

per tonne-kilometre  

for all transport man-

aged by SKF Logistics 

Services by 30% below 

2011’s level, by the end 

of 2016.

Results 2016
–31% for year average 

2016. During parts of 

the year, the rate was 

down at –34%.

Target
Increase the revenue 

from the SKF Beyond-

Zero customer solutions 

from SEK 2.5 billion in 

2011 to SEK 10 billion 

by 2016.

Results 2016
Total revenues for 2016 

was SEK 6.8 billion, 

about 9% of Group’s  

total revenues.

Target
All SKF’s energy- intensive 

major suppliers  certified 

according to ISO 50001 

Energy  management 

Standard by 2016.

Results 2016
25 of 30 suppliers have 

successfully been certified. 

The rest are working 

towards certification.
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Environmental Care

The principles set out in Environmental Care require the 
Group to take steps to understand, reduce or avoid the 
environmental impacts occurring along its value chain.

Every stage in the value chain presents the potential for reduc-

ing environmental impact, from the raw materials selected, 

how these are utilized and processed, the energy used by the 

products when running in customers’ installations, to the way 

in which products are disposed of when they come to the end  

of their useful life. Releasing this potential not only addresses 

the long term needs of society and future generations, it also 

creates opportunities for sustainable business for the Group 

and its customers. 

Based on lifecycle assessments, long established practical 

knowledge and experience, and stakeholder dialogues, SKF  

has identified the most significant and material environmental 

impact areas along the value chain. These include energy and 

climate, recycling and waste management, resource use  

and efficiency, chemical use and water use. The following 

 sections provide further explanation on how these impacts 

are addressed along the value chain.

Ambitious targets and strong performance  
on climate change 
At year-end 2016, SKF concluded a set of ambitious climate 

targets addressing four key areas – suppliers, SKF operations, 

transport and customer solutions. These targets were based on 

SKF BeyondZero and has formed the main part of SKF’s commit-

ment within the WWF Climate Savers programme 2012–2016. 

SKF has overall delivered a strong result on these targets. 

In 2017, SKF launches its climate targets for 2025 with con-

tinued focus on the value chain, including 40% carbon intensity 

reduction in manufacturing as well as for goods transportation, 

please read more on page 45.
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Suppliers
SKF’s approach towards supporting and driving improved 

environmental performance at the Group’s suppliers is part  

of the responsible sourcing initiative, a more comprehensive 

overview of this programme is provided in the Sustainability 

statements on page 139.

This approach commands that major suppliers achieve ISO 

14001 environmental management standard certification and 

that energy intensive major suppliers achieve ISO 50001 energy 

management standard certification. Energy and related CO
2
 

emissions remains the main contribution to environmental 

impact in SKF’s supply chain. Energy intensity is also a major 

contribution to the water footprint in SKF’s value chain, and 

thus SKF continues to engage with suppliers to implement and 

certify energy management systems.

Goods transportation
Greenhouse gas and other air emissions are the most signifi-

cant of the environmental impacts related to SKF’s logistical 

operations. SKF Logistics and Demand Chain has established 

targets and a number of initiatives aimed at reducing emissions 

by promoting and procuring lower impact transportation modes 

(e.g. avoiding air freight as much as possible), the improved 

utilization (fill rates) of trucks, promotion of best technology 

and other measures, which bring both cost and environmental 

savings. For more information please see  Sustainability state-

ments on page 126.

SKF’s manufacturing and other operations 
SKF has started certification to the new ISO 14001:2015 

standard but the Group’s well established environmental 

 management system started over three decades ago, the first 

environmental policy dates back to 1989. The EHS manage-

ment system has been designed to drive an integrated approach 

where responsibility for environmental (and health and safety) 

performance is owned by the line organization. EHS specialists 

are deployed at site, country, area and Group level and at year 

end 2016, the Group-wide ISO 14001 certificate consisted of 

112 sites in 35 countries. The schedule for recently acquired 

companies’ inclusion plans can be found at skf.com/14001. 

The Group also holds ISO 50001 certification since 2015. 

This certification covers 90% of the Group’s total energy use 

(Scope 1–2).

On energy use and related CO
2
 emissions, SKF has for five 

years had two parallel targets assuring high pressure and focus 

on energy efficiency irrespective of the external economic 

development and location of the site; total annual energy use 

and energy use per production output. As a result, energy use 

in 2016 compared to 2006 was reduced in absolute terms by 

14% and the Group continues to be well ahead of the targeted 5% 

reduction by 2016, this while SKF’s business has grown by 37%. 

SKF has also set ambitious goals on chemical use and recycling 

and follows up and reports on a wide range of environmental 

aspects. A progress update on the most relevant issues is 

 presented on page 44. For all CO
2
 and energy data, detailed 

environ mental data and specific management approach, please 

refer to Sustainability statements on 127–131.

Sustainability standards for new facilities
SKF requires that, irrespective of location, all new facilities 

must be designed and constructed according to world-class 

standards in terms of environmental performance.

SKF remanufacturing
SKF offers remanufacturing service to a wide variety  

of industries globally – helping to reduce lead times,  

cut cost of ownership and save significant amounts of 

resources and energy.

Focusing on functionality around rotating equipment, 

SKF can leverage its full potential on remanufacturing 

and create value from circular economy business models. 

As part of the customers’ maintenance setups, SKF’s 

engineers can more  precisely anticipate exhaustion of 

the rotating machinery, predict maintenance need and 

thereby help customers reduce downtime and cut costs 

significantly. Reworked bearings and units can be put 

back into circulation again, extending the utilization of 

applications and bearing use-phase even further.
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SKF Care

Chemical use
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In 2010, therefore SKF defined that all major constructions 

undertaken by, or on behalf of, the Group must be designed 

and constructed in accordance with the US Green Building 

Council’s (USGBC) “Leadership in Energy and Environmental 

Design” (LEED) standard. In addition, SKF has internally devel-

oped Sustainable  Factory Rating (SFR) as an “add-on” to LEED, 

addressing  specific manufacturing processes. Read more 

about SKF’s construction standards at skf.com/leed.

Product design, customer use and disposal 
SKF BeyondZero customer solutions
Life cycle studies confirm that the greatest potential for SKF  

to reduce environmental impact lies in the customer use phase 

of the Group’s solutions. SKF’s customers in all industries are 

increasingly motivated to improve energy efficiency and reduce 

the environmental impact from their products, services and 

processes. Therefore in 2012, SKF launched the SKF Beyond 

Zero portfolio to put additional focus on the development of 

customer solutions that can reduce these impacts, help cus-

tomers meet these drivers and grow SKF’s business in this 

area. The SKF BeyondZero customer solutions help customers 

reduce environmental impact either directly via for example 

bearings and seals for improved energy efficiency, or indirectly 

by supplying solutions that help to enable larger system im -

provements (supply to the wind or electric vehicle industry for 

example). 

 The environmental improvements provided by the various 

customer solutions are validated through a lifecycle assessment- 

based methodology developed by SKF. External auditors review 

this work and the reported results in order to ensure accuracy 

and credibility.

In 2016, the revenues from SKF BeyondZero customer 

solutions amounted to SEK 6.8 billion. For information on 

avoided emissions enabled by SKF solutions, please refer to 

Sustainability statements on 129.

Environmental design guidelines, product re-use and recycling
SKF has developed general guidelines for product designers, 

which support the integration of environmental aspects into 

the normal product design process. New offers are screened 

using the BeyondZero pre-evaluation to find potential environ-

mental benefits early in the design phase. 

In general, SKF’s products are highly recyclable due to the 

nature of the main materials used. SKF also focuses on recon-

ditioning and re-manufacturing of its solutions, please refer  

to the example on page 43. 

Environmental performance in SKF’s manufacturing operations
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Total use of solvents in 

 production. Solvents are 

another name for volatile 

organic compounds (VOCs).

Reduce volume of solvents 

by 50% from 2007 to 2016.

The total volume was  

808 tonnes in 2016,  

49% lower than 2007.

Recycling rate of grinding 

swarf – a mixture of small 

particles of ground steel, 

abrasive materials and 

grinding liquids.

80% recycling rate of 

 grinding swarf globally.

74% in 2016. This target  

is extended until 2017.

SKF sites are located  

in industrial zones and 

almost all water comes  

from municipal systems.

SKF sites located in stressed 

areas have local targets. Not 

aggregated on Group level.

5.5 million cubic meters from 

municipal system 2016.

Steel is the main material used 

by SKF and much of the steel 

 purchased by the Group is produced 

by remelting scrap steel.

No Group target in 2016, the climate 

target 2017–2015 will include 

material efficiency related to pro-

duction output and CO
2
  emissions. 

A total of 446,000 tonnes of metal 

as raw material was used in 2016.

SKF is currently reviewing its environmental management system as part of the revised ISO 14001 

standard. As part of this, new environmental targets and priorities will be set in 2017. 

For detailed environmental data, please refer to the statements on pages 127–131.
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Raw material 
(Scope 3)

SKF bearing  
manufacturing 
(Scope 1 and 2)

Goods transportation 
(Scope 3)

Customer solutions 
(Scope 4)

Target
–40% CO

2
 emissions from 

manufacturing per tonne  

of sold  products. 

KPI’s
CO

2
 emissions from manu-

facturing per tonne of sold 

products.

Scope
SKF’s bearing manufacturing 

– about 80% of total 

 emissions (scope 1 and 2).

Target
–40% CO

2
 emissions from 

goods transportation per 

tonne of shipped products  

to end customers1).

KPI’s
CO

2
 emissions from goods 

transportation per tonne of 

products shipped to end 

 customers.

Scope
SKF Logistics and Demand 

chain  transports.

Target
Support our customers to 

reduce their CO
2
 emissions. 

 

KPI’s
Total revenues and  

avoided emissions. 

Scope
SKF BeyondZero  customer 

solutions.

Target
Support our suppliers to 

reduce their CO
2
 emissions. 

KPI’s
Number and percent of  

suppliers in scope certified 

according to ISO 50001.

Scope
Major direct material  

suppliers that are energy 

intensive.

New climate targets 2017–2025
The motivation for SKF’s continued commit-

ment in addressing  climate change can be 

summarized in three points:

• Climate change presents a critical long-

term challenge to  humanity and the 

 natural environment. Failure to address it 

may have catastrophic long-term 

 consequences for both.

• Energy prices are likely to increase over 

time. SKF’s ability to run its business 

 activities in an increasingly energy and 

 carbon-efficient way will ensure long-term 

competitive advantage.

• SKF is uniquely positioned to significantly 

contribute to climate change mitigation 

through the products and solutions it pro-

vides, and in doing so create considerable 

value for customers and investors.

Similar to the previous targets, SKF’s   

climate targets 2017–2025 are based on 

SKF BeyondZero and include raw material, 

manufacturing, goods transportation and 

customer solutions. The targets are aligned 

with the reduction levels suggested by 

 contemporary climate science.

The baseline year for quantitative targets is 2015. 

1) The party to whom SKF is selling.

SKF climate targets 2025
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SKF Care

SKF Social Policy
The SKF Social Policy promotes involvement in commendable local social projects. 

This policy empowers SKF country organizations and employees around the world to 

engage with their local communities through various socially beneficial activities and 

approaches. Community Care activities include everything from small event driven 

activities to big Group-wide projects. 

Sweden
SKF Sweden sponsored the national para sports federation – financially 

and technically by optimising bearing performance.

Argentina
SKF Argentina supported TECHO, building 

emergency houses for underprivileged 

who needed a roof over their heads. 

France
The winner of SKF France’s Meet the  

World tournament for special olympics 

teams got to travel to Gothenburg to  

play the Gothia Cup.

Malaysia
SKF in Malaysia held road safety camps 

to young adults.

Community Care engagements

India
SKF India graduated the fourth batch  

of mechanical entreprenuership 

 students at its vocational school Youth 

Empowerment at SKF (YES) in Pune. 

Mexico
SKF in Mexico invited the community and 

employees with their families to the envi-

ronment, health and safety week.
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Community Care

SKF Care, the SKF Code of Conduct and related policies 
help ensure that the Group runs its business ethically 
and that potentially negative social impact is understood 
and avoided. Over and above these general contributions 
and commitments, SKF also plays an active role in the 
communities where it operates – creating additional 
 positive social impact.

Supporting youth and sports has been a top priority for SKF 

over the years. In addition to this, SKF’s community care 

 activities typically focus on education and vocational training, 

help to underprivileged and supporting needs of local 

 communities. Initiatives are typically driven by SKF country 

organizations and often in collaboration with local or global 

NGOs or non-profit organizations, in addition many one-off 

activities are also driven directly by SKF’s employees, read 

more on skf.com/community.

The Gothia Cup and Meet the World
Meet the World is an SKF initiative that makes it possible for 

young people all over the world to qualify for the Gothia Cup. 

This is done by running tournaments with up to 32 teams in 

different countries, where the winners get to travel to Gothen-

burg, Sweden and take part in the Gothia Cup and meet other 

young people from all over the world. SKF started Meet the 

World in 2007 and since then, 3,000 youths from 41 countries 

have played the Gothia Cup as Meet the World winners. The 

Meet the World tournament is all about inspiration. It is a chance 

for children to discover other cultures, exchange ideas and 

dreams, and all this by following their passion for football.

The Gothia Cup partnership and SKF Meet the World qualifier 

tournaments are by far the most significant and long-term pro-

ject where SKF uses the global presence of the Group to engage 

actively in communities. In addition, many SKF employees engage 

in activities that have a positive impact on their communities. 

34 SKF country organizations have reported Community Care 

activities in 2016, these countries make up over 90% of the 

Group’s global operations in terms of employees. Out of a total 

quantifiable contribution of around SEK 25 million, close to 

SEK 23 million consisted of financial sponsorship to various local 

charities, as well as for sports, cultural or educational events. 

Close to SEK 2 million were donations to help underprivileged 

people or victims of natural disasters. About SEK 500,000 was 

in-kind giving. In addition, SKF employees engage in various 

volun teer work, including tutoring, construction and charity work.

Tax
SKF’s tax policy states that the Group shall pay corporate 

income taxes where it makes the profit. SKF follows OECDs 

development of country by country reporting of taxes but  

does not disclose this for competitive reasons. With reference 

to the financial statements on page 70, SKF paid a total of 

SEK 1,897 million in corporate income tax, which is about 25% 

of the Group’s operating profit in 2016. Please find the distribu-

tion of SKF economic value according to G4-EC1 on page 126. 

The SKF Group Tax  policy is available at SKF.com/tax. 

The Gothia Cup
The world’s largest youth football tourna-

ment, Gothia Cup has hosted teams from 

over 140 countries since the start in 1975. 

Sharing the same values as Gothia Cup,  

SKF seeks to provide a meeting place for 

young people from all over the world. Apart 

from being the main sponsor to the event in 

Gothenburg, SKF’s local country organiza-

tions arrange Meet the World tournaments 

where the Group has operations. The winner 

of each tournament gets to play the Gothia 

Cup in Gothenburg. In 2016, over 1,600 

teams from 80 countries took part.



Reducing the levelized  
cost of energy is a key objective 

for  the wind industry. 
Jens Bode, 

Head of Energy Industry, SKF 



Wind power 

Outstanding  
reliability

In September, SKF launched its new 

spherical roller bearings for wind turbine 

main shafts. Manufactured to deliver out-

standing reliability, these self-aligning 

bearings provide exceptional performance 

and are designed to meet service life needs 

of more than 25 years.

While SKF’s standard spherical roller 

bearings are already the most used 

 bearing type in wind turbine main shaft 

arrangements, with more than 100,000 

installations worldwide, these newly devel-

oped bearings are the first to have been 

specifically tailored for the application.

SKF’s introduction of the new bearing 

was strengthened by a collaboration with 

 Vattenfall – one of Europe’s largest 

generators of electricity. Full-scale 

functional tests were performed in 

one of their wind farms, providing 

valuable operational field experi-

ence. The cooperation has also 

provided insights into operating 

phenomena of the turbine’s 

 electrical environment, enabling 

us to identify further improvement 

opportunities in the turbine system 

beyond the bearing.
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Operations

Customer and cost focused organization
The Industrial market reorganization in 2015 successfully 

changed the organizational focus, SKF’s way of working and 

lowered fixed costs. At the beginning of 2016, the orga-

nizational structure was adjusted to further simplify operations 

within sales, manufacturing and technology development. 

Three geographical sales areas were formed. Responsibility 

for end-to-end procurement, manufacturing and logistics 

were combined into one organization, Bearing Operations, and 

one organization was set up comprising business and product 

development. The three sales areas, Industrial Sales Americas, 

Industrial Sales Europe, Middle East and Africa, and Industrial 

Sales Asia, were formed to  create an even more simplified and 

customer-focused sales organization. This has enabled SKF to 

strengthen customer relationships, solve customer needs and 

deploy the new  strategy in the market faster.

To further strengthen how SKF serves its customers, the 

sales organization of the technology area lubrications was 

 integrated into the regional sales structure later in the year.

Market development
Several important contracts were signed with customers in 

industries including marine, railway, pulp and paper, and energy.

Net sales amounted to SEK 51 billion, a decline of –6.2% but 

sales improved gradually during the year.  

Cost efficiency initiatives
In 2016, the focus has been on investing in new manufacturing 

and logistics technologies, restructuring the manufacturing 

footprint through consolidation of units and optimizing 

 processes within manufacturing. Major investments were 

announced for new technologies within manufacturing units 

in Schweinfurt, Germany, and Flowery Branch, USA. 

A number of consolidation of manufacturing facilities to 

increase efficiency in North America was launched. This will 

result in the closure of the site in San Diego, California in June 

2017 and the closure of the site in Baltimore, Maryland in 2018. 

The harmonization of processes in accordance with SKF 

 Production System continued and implementation began at 

ten new units during the year, with the aim of harmonizing all 

major bearing factories by 2018.

Main achievements 2016 

• A leaner more customer-focused 

organizational structure

• Investments in manufacturing 

technologies

• Roll-out of SKF Production System

• New Product and Development 

organization, adopting Agile/

SCRUM approach to product 

 development.

70%

81%

Share of net sales

Share of operating profit

Industrial
The focus during the year has been to continue generating value for 
customers by deploying the new SKF business strategy and a more 
simplified way of working.

0

20,000

60,000

40,000

0

4,000

12,000

8,000

201620152014

Net sales and 
Operating profit1)

SEKm SEKm

Operating profitNet sales

1) Previously published figures have been restated 
    according to the new segment information.  
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1.7 million km for railway
Single operation maintenance and 

re duced cost due to new railway wheel 

bearing designed to match replacement 

of wheels.

Five-year contract with Gamesa do  Brazil 

to supply Slewing Ring bearings for their 

wind turbine generator business.

Net sales by customer industry

Railway, 5%

Industry, heavy and special, 12%

Off-highway, 5%

Energy, 8%

Aerospace, 9%

Other, 4%

Industry, general, 17%

Industrial distribution, 40%

SKF supplied its largest ever spherical 

roller bearing to be used within the mining 

industry.

Priorities 2017

• Leverage on the geographic sales organi-

zation, identifying and helping  customers 

provide value through new solutions and 

innovations.

•  Technology upgrade in manufacturing 

and continued roll out of SKF Production 

System.

•  Development of new products and solu-

tions, focus on digitalization to help cus-

tomers utilize Industry 4.0 solutions.

Additional business with the world’s 
largest port crane manufacturer
Bearings, condition monitoring and service 

solutions to Shanghai Zhenhua Heavy 

Industries and its customer PSA, a world-

wide terminal operator.

Extended long-term contract  
with Valmet  
Bearings, units and lubrication systems  

to global supplier of technologies, auto-

mation and services for the pulp, paper 

and energy industries.

•  Inauguration and start-up of a new large 

bearing test centre in Schweinfurt, 

 Germany.

•  Continued focus on cost competitiveness 

throughout the value chain.

SKF Marine CM Route Kit  
Cloud-based condition monitoring 

system predicting and extending 

maintenance intervals across entire 

marine fleets. Eliminates potential 

breakdowns and reduces repair 

costs considerably.

SKF’s technology in Metsä Group’s 
 pioneering bioproduct mill  
SKF’s lubrication technology and 

engineering support for optimal oper-

ational  performance on the world’s 

first next generation bioproduct mill.

Agreement with Czech railway engineering 

company BONATRANS GROUP a.s., to sup-

ply 1,840 axlebox sets and journal bearings 

for freight cars to Algerian global infra-

structure and municipal services company.

New awarded  businesses and products
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Automotive
The Turn Around Plan, launched at the end of 2015, delivered  and 
 contributed to an operating margin of 6.5%. The plan was formed to 
improve financial performance by focusing on operational  excellence 
and cost efficiency and clearly defining the core business.

With the simplified organizational structure, Automotive 

aftermarket sales were merged with OE, enabling synergies 

and even closer cooperation. The consolidation of bearing 

manufacturing allowed Automotive to focus its manufacturing 

on automotive special products such as hub bearing units and 

suspension bearings. The introduction of General Bearing 

Company’s (GBC) products in the SKF portfolio strengthened 

the customer value proposition.

Market development
There were a significant amount of new businesses awarded  

in 2016, particularly for hub bearing units, but also for power-

train, where a significant portion of new businesses were for 

electric vehicles. For the aftermarket, e-commerce initiatives 

opened up new channels to market and opportunities to grow 

the business.

Cost efficiency initiatives
The profit improvement initiatives materialized according to 

plan by consolidating suppliers, restructuring the manufactur-

ing footprint, optimizing manufacturing processes and leverag-

ing synergies from the new organization. To increase competi-

tiveness, materials and specifications have been adapted for 

different applications, e.g., for aftermarket wheel  bearings, to 

match the application-specific performance requirements.

In manufacturing, the focus has been on implementing world-

class manufacturing processes such as intelligent grinding and 

cold rolling as well as increasing flexibility and automation of 

production channels. The manufacturing plant for seals in 

Hobart, USA was closed and most of the production was moved 

to a new production facility in Zapopan, Mexico. The kitting and 

warehouse facilities for the vehicle aftermarket and seals in the 

USA were consolidated and moved from Hebron to Crossville 

and the consolidation of the European vehicle parts facilities 

was completed. 

Looking ahead
By leveraging core capabilities and expanding the offer with 

innovative solutions, SKF aims to be positioned as a high-tech, 

cost-competitive component supplier in the automotive market. 

Key areas identified to achieve this are electrification, selected 

powertrain product lines and developments in new materials 

and manufacturing. For the aftermarket, e-commerce is 

regarded as a future sales channel in focus.

30%

19%

Share of net sales

Share of operating profit

Main achievements 2016 

• Strong order intake led to 

investments in new channels

• Turn Around Plan activities 

delivered according to plan.

• Leaner, more focused organi-

zational structure.

0

10,000

30,000

20,000

0

500

1,500

1,000

201620152014

Net sales and 
Operating profit1)

SEKm SEKm

Operating profitNet sales

1) Previously published figures have been restated 
    according to the new segment information. 

Operations



53SKF Annual Report 2016 

Priorities 2017

• Drive innovation in product 

 development

• Ensure smooth ramp-up of  product 

deliveries and flawless launches  

of new products

• Drive e-commerce initiatives  

for the aftermarket

• Maintain operational excellence with 

excellent quality and service.

SKF entered into a 

multi-year agree-

ment with an auto-

motive tier one 

 supplier to manu-

facture and supply 

bonded pistons 

for its dual clutch 

transmission 

 system.

SKF supplied FCA Group with wheel hub bearing units for 

front and rear wheels, shock absorber seals, transmission 

seals and engine seals for the Jeep Renegade.

Net sales by customer industry

Trucks, 16%

Two-wheelers and electrical, 6%

Vehicle aftermarket, 27%

Cars and light trucks, 49%

Other, 2%

The SKF Low friction truck hub unit is a 

wheel end solution that offers 30% lower 

friction and significant fuel reduction com-

pared with standard wheel bearing sets.

SKF launched a new spring insulating sus-

pension bearing that improves robustness, 

reduces noise and vibration, and contrib-

utes to improved driving comfort. 

New awarded  business and products

SKF launched a new grease that has 

been proven to reduce the risk of 

damage, caused by wear and corro-

sion, in hub bearing units. 

The ground-breaking 

seal combines  

the lowest levels 

of friction ever 

achieved in an SKF 

hub bearing unit 

seal, with exceptional 

sealing  performance 

for long and efficient 

bearing service life.
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The SKF share

On Nasdaq Stockholm the share price for the SKF A share 

increased by 22%, and at year-end the price was SEK 167.80 

(137.90). The lowest price paid was SEK 121.00 on 2 February, 

and the highest price paid was SEK 176.00 on 8 December.

The share price for the SKF B share increased by 22% and at 

year-end the price was SEK 167.60 (137.20). The lowest price 

paid was SEK 120.00 on 2 February and the highest price paid 

was SEK 176.40 on 8 December.

In 2016, the total number of SKF shares traded on Nasdaq 

Stockholm was 665,043,723. SKF’s B shares are also traded 

on Chi-X Europe Limited, Bats Europe and Turquoise. The total 

number of shares traded on these three market places together 

in 2016 was 478,175,985. SKF’s ADRs are traded on the OTC 

market. 

Share conversion
Owners of A shares have an option to convert these to B 

shares. There were no conversions in 2016. 

Class A shares comprise 8% (8%) of the total number 

of shares. 

SKF A and B shares are listed on the NASDAQ Stockholm, Large Cap and are 
included in a large number of indexes. The price of the SKF B share increased by 
22% during the year and the total return over the past five years was 37%.

Additional information
There are no regulations under Swedish law or under the Articles 

of Association limiting the transferability of SKF shares. Further-

more, to the best of SKF’s knowledge, there exist no agreements 

between shareholders limiting the right to transfer SKF shares 

(e.g. by preemption or first refusal clauses). No restrictions exist 

limiting the number of votes that each shareholder may cast at 

a shareholders’ meeting. There are no existing agreements 

between SKF and any Board member or employee, which allow 

them to receive compensation in case of resignation, dismissal 

without cause, or termination of employment as a consequence 

of a public takeover bid on the shares in AB SKF.

Sustainability Indexes
SKF is rated as one of the most 

sustainable companies by the 

Dow Jones Sustainability World 

Index (DJSI). The Group’s perfor-

mance within the criteria Supply 

Chain Management and Environmental Policy and Management 

Systems ranked highly in the latest benchmark. The Dow Jones 

Sustainability Indexes were launched in 1999 and are the long-

est-running and most prestigious global sustainability bench-

marks worldwide.  Furthermore, SKF is included in the FTSE4Good 

Index and the Ethibel  Sustainability Index (ESI) Excellence Europe.

Dividend and total return 
The Board of Directors proposes to the Annual General Meeting 

a dividend of SEK 5.50 per share to be paid for 2016, which is in 

line with SKF’s dividend policy. The total return from investing 

in the SKF A share over the past five years was 36% and for the 

SKF B share 37%. 

Ownership structure
SKF had 64,032 shareholders on 31 December, 2016. About 

52% of the share capital was owned by foreign investors, about 

40% by Swedish companies, institutions and mutual funds and 

about 8% by private Swedish investors. Most of the shares owned 

by foreign investors are registered through trustees, which 

means that the actual shareholders are not officially registered. 

FAM AB, wholly owned by the three largest Wallenberg 

Foundations, is the only shareholder with a shareholding 

 representing more than 10% of the voting rights in SKF. 

Information to shareholders
Financial reports and further information about the share can 

be found at skf.com/investors or in the Investor Relations App. 

A list of the analysts who monitor SKF and the opportunity to 

subscribe to information from SKF is available on the website. 

Operations
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The ten largest shareholders sorted by voting rights 
Number  

of shares
Share 

 capital, %
Voting 

rights, %

FAM AB 61,936,151 13.6 29.2

Alecta Pensionförsäkring 5,166,552 1.1 3.2

Harris Associates 24,072,200 5.3 3.1

BlackRock 23,036,659 5.1 2.9

Livförsäkringsbolaget 

Skandia 2,525,775 0.6 2.3

AFA Försäkring 2,572,877 0.6 2.1

Swedbank Robur Fonder 13,305,445 2.9 1.7

SEB-Stiftelsen 1,400,000 0.3 1.6

SEB Trygg Liv 1,240,036 0.3 1.6

Didner & Gerge Fonder 7,543,654 1.7 1.0

Per-share data
SEK per share  
unless otherwise stated 2016 2015

Earnings per share 8.75 8.52

Dividend per A and B share 5.501) 5.50

Total dividends, SEKm 2,504 2,504

Purchase price of B shares at  

year-end on NASDAQ Stockholm 167.6 137.2

Equity per share 57 54

Yield in percent (B) 3.31) 4.0

P/E ratio, B  

(share price/earnings per share) 19.2 16.1

Cash flow from operations,  

per share 15.7 17.0

Cash flow, after investments  

before financing, per share 16.95 14.09

1) According to the Board’s proposal for the year 2016.

A share B share Nasdaq Stockholm_PI 
(normalized against the B share ) 

SEK

Number of A shares traded, millionNumber of A shares traded, million Number of B shares traded, million

Price trend of SKF’s shares
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Other 5%
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Total return, for a given period, is defined as share price performance 
including the value of all reinvested dividends. The dividend is calculated 
as reinvested from the ex dividend date. Total return is presented as 
 percentage.
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Operations

Risk management at SKF

The effective identification, evaluation and management  

of risks is critical to our short and the long term success. SKF  

has risk management processes aiming at ensuring a good 

understanding of – and effective and appropriate responses  

to – relevant risks. The material risks that SKF is seeking to 

address can be categorised into two main areas; business  

risks and reporting risks.

Business risk
SKF’s core business is based on well-established technology 

and the company is organized to be diversified in terms of 

products, markets, manufacturing location, and currencies 

used. This diversification reduces SKF’s overall exposure to 

business risks and positions the Group’s overall risk profile as 

moderate in comparison to companies more dependent on 

specific sectors and regions or operating in faster moving tech-

nology areas. SKF applies an integrated approach to business 

risk management where, as much as possible, risk identifica-

tion, evaluation and response determination is carried out by 

persons within the business with the relevant operational 

responsibility and experience.

SKF has a formalized yearly process at Group level for iden-

tification, planning and mitigating ethics and compliance 

related business risks. The process includes gathering of risk 

related information from internal and external sources, a con-

solidated risk assessment, prioritization of risks and develop-

ment of a strategic action plan to mitigate the risks. The SKF 

Group staff functions Ethics and Compliance, Audit, Human 

Resources, Environment Health and Safety, Purchasing and 

Corporate Sustainability are involved in the process and the 

result is presented to Group Management.

The operational management of these and other relevant 

risks is facilitated through a number of means, such as Group 

Policies, reporting reviews and approval processes, all of which 

are coordinated and overseen by the various related Group 

functions. 

The SKF risk matrix (pages 57 to 59) provides more infor-

mation on the business risks and a brief description of the 

 specific mitigation approaches defined.

Reporting risk
The Group’s systems for internal control and risk management 

in relation to the preparation of the consolidated financial and 

other statements are described in the Corporate Governance 

Report under the heading Internal control and risk manage-

ment regarding financial reporting – see page 149.

Risk and uncertainties in the business
The SKF Group operates in many different industrial, automo-

tive and geographical segments that are at different stages of 

the economic cycle. A general economic downturn at global 

level, or in one of the world’s leading economies, could reduce 

the demand for the Group’s products, solutions and services for 

a period of time. In addition, terrorism and other hostilities, as 

well as disturbances in worldwide financial markets and natural 

disasters, could have a negative effect on the demand for the 

Group’s products and services. There are also political and reg-

ulatory risks associated with the wide geographical presence. 

Regulatory requirements, taxes, tariffs and other trade barri-

ers, price or exchange controls or other governmental policies 

could limit the SKF Group’s operations. The SKF Group is sub-

ject to currency exposure, both transaction and translation. 

For commercial flows the SKF Group is primarily exposed to the 

EUR and USD. As the major part of the profit is made outside 

Sweden, the Group is also exposed to translational risks in all 

the major currencies. The financial position of the parent com-

pany is dependent on the financial position and development  

of the subsidiaries. A general decline in the demand for the 

products and services provided by the Group could mean lower 

residual profits and lower dividend income for the parent com-

pany, as well as a need for writing down values of the shares in 

the subsidiaries.

SKF and other companies in the bearing industry are part of 

investigations by the US Department of Justice and the Korea 

Fair Trade Commission regarding a possible violation of anti-

trust rules. SKF is subject to two investigations in Brazil by 

the General Superintendence of the Administrative Council 

for Economic Defense, one investigation regarding an alleged 

violation of antitrust rules concerning bearing manufacturers, 

and another investigation regarding an alleged violation of 

antitrust rules by several companies active on the automotive 

aftermarket in Brazil. An enquiry has been initiated by the 

Competition Commission of India against several different 

companies, including SKF, regarding an alleged violation of 

antitrust rules in India. Moreover, SKF is subject to related 

class action claims by direct and indirect purchasers of bear-

ings in the United States and may face additional follow-on civil 

actions by both direct and indirect purchasers. Each of Peugeot 

S.A. and BMW AG, and several of their respective group com-

panies, have separately initiated lawsuits, with claims for dam-

ages, against bearing manufacturers, including SKF, that were 

part of the settlement decision by the European Commission 

for violation of European competition rules. 
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Risk description Specific risk Mitigation approach

Financial risk1)

Currency risk SKF is subject to both transaction and translation 

exposure. The Group’s principal commercial flows 

of foreign currencies pertain to exports from 

Europe to North America and Asia as well as 

intra-European business.

The Group’s policy is to hedge the net currency flows from one to six months on 

average. Translation exposure on Group accounts is hedged to some extent by 

borrowing in foreign currencies.

Interest rate risk SKF’s interest costs are impacted by market rates. Liquidity and borrowing are managed at Group level. By matching the duration 

of investments and borrowings, the interest rate exposure of the Group can be 

reduced.

Credit risk SKF’s exposure to losses caused by financial 

 institutions failing to discharge their obligation, 

and by SKF’s customer’s inability to pay.

The Group’s policy states that only well established financial institutions will 

be approved as counterparties. Exposure per counterpart is continuously 

monitored. Trade receivables are subject to credit limit control and approval 

procedures in all subsidiaries.

Liquidity risk Acceptable liquidity levels are required in order to 

achieve desired financial results.

Group policy states that, in addition to current loan financing, the Group should 

have a payment capacity in the form of available liquidity and/or long-term 

committed credit facilities. As of the balance sheet date, in addition to its own 

liquidity, the Group had committed credit facilities of EUR 500 million syndicated 

by ten banks that will expire in 2019, and one committed credit facilities of SEK 

3,000 million that will expire in 2018.

Fraud risk SKF’s employee or employees fail to adhere to the 

Group’s Code of Conduct and related policies and 

requirements and act in a fraudulent manner lead-

ing to financial losses.

SKF takes a proactive approach to assure awareness of demanded ethical 

standards through education and compliance programs including antifraud. 

The work to follow up adherence is facilitated by the whistle blower function 

and a risk-and incident based audit system. See page 38.

Product related risks

Product failure  
in  customer 
 application

Product does not meet SKF/ISO or agreed specifica-

tions, leading to potential warranty claims and/or 

loss of business.

SKF Global quality management system ISO 9001 and other industry relevant 

industry standards is implemented to ensure that products and services con-

form to specified requirements and to continuously improve processes, prod-

ucts and services. 

 Identification and minimisation of potential performance risk is based on the 

use of SKF design rules and guidelines for product development, SKF applica-

tion engineering, product simulation and product testing.

Loss of 
 technolo gical 
advantage

A new and disruptive technology becomes available 

from an external party, which can replace existing 

SKF platform solutions leading to loss of revenues.

SKF’s overall R&D strategy for application-driven innovation aims at ensuring 

SKF technology leadership with the development of innovative solutions that 

customers value.

 In order to keep abreast of the latest technological developments SKF per-

forms regular technical megatrend analyses and utilizes pacing technology 

activities.

Market risk

Competitor  
risk

Competitors find ways to produce better functioning 

products or competing products at dramatically 

lower cost. 

SKF’s mission is to be the undisputed leader in the bearing business. This is 

achieved firstly by offering customers with products and services that have 

 differentiated and acknowledged value through the Group’s R&D activities and 

secondly by working to assure that SKF operations and those of suppliers are 

world class in terms of productivity, efficiency, cost and waste avoidance. See a 

summary of the Group strategy on pages 10–11.

 SKF’s diverse customer base in terms of regions, sectors and industries 

means that this risk is highly spread and the impact of the risk at Group level 

risk is thereby reduced.

Economic  
downturn

SKF customers could be impacted by a major 

 economic downturn resulting in lower demand for 

SKF products and services.

SKF has a highly diversified and well balanced global customer base. The risk  

is therefore spread widely in both regional and industrial sector/segment 

 perspective.

 SKF has focused on making manufacturing operations flexible in the face of 

changing customer demands.

 SKF uses sales and market data intelligence to follow and anticipate devel-

opments – allowing proactive management of changing market conditions.

Legal and compliance risks

Non-compliance 
with export  
control  
regulations

SKF or SKF’s employee(s) may act in breach of 

export control regulations when exporting products, 

services or data leading to imprisonment, debar-

ment of carrying out certain business, loss of busi-

ness, financial penalties and reputation damage.

Export control officers are appointed in high risk countries. SKF is classifying 

products and implementing processes and systems, which support compliance. 

Relevant personnel is trained. 

 Risks related to the main business risks 1) More details can be found in the consolidated financial statements, Note 26.
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Risk description Specific risk Mitigation approach

Cont. Legal and compliance risks

Non-compliance 
with  antitrust or 
anti-corruption 
laws

SKF’s employee or employees may act in breach of 

antitrust or anti-corruption laws leading to impris-

onment, loss of business, financial penalties, claims 

from business partners and reputation damage.

SKF has put in place specific antitrust and anti-corruption compliance pro-

grammes. The programmes are risk-based and focus on training and the 

 creation of an ethical business culture and aim at ensuring that applicable laws 

and regulations are identified, understood and adhered to, see page 38.

Non-compliance 
with applicable 
laws

The global and diverse nature of SKF’s business  

and operations means that the Group is required to 

adhere to numerous laws and regulations related  

to all aspects of its activities. Failure to meet these 

requirements could lead to legal and financial conse-

quences as well as damage to the Group’s reputation.

SKF has put in place policies, procedures and training programs in order to 

make sure that legal risk relating to its business activities are identified and 

that risk decisions are taken on the appropriate level. In addition, SKF legal 

counsels support the SKF units in identifying and handling legal risks.  

The legal counsels work closely with the SKF units and provide contract 

 drafting and negotiation support, claim and litigation management, training 

and general advice.

 Ethical aspects are emphasised within SKF management training and 

 development programs.

 SKF has deployed an ethics and compliance reporting hotline, which allows 

concerned employees to raise related concerns in a fully confidential way and 

in local language, see page 138.

Legal risks  
relating to  
our business 
 performance

In connection with the sale of SKF’s products and 

 services and in the purchase of products and ser-

vices from our suppliers, large liabilities may occur 

in case of e.g. late delivery, delivery of defective 

products, unfulfilled service commitments and 

incorrect advice. Therefore, it is important that all 

such risks are identified, that risk decisions are 

taken on the appropriate level and that carefully 

worded contractual provisions aiming at reducing 

SKF’s liabilities are included in  contracts.

Supply chain risks

Raw material  
and component 
cost  fluctuations

Significant changes in raw material (and therefore 

component) costs can impact on the Group’s profit-

ability. See sensitivity analysis on page 60.

SKF has established a globalized supply chain, which ensures components  

and materials are purchased in a highly competitive manner. Raw material  

cost indexes are often included in SKF customer agreements.

Code of  conduct 
 deviations in  
the supply chain

The Group requires its suppliers and sub-suppliers 

to work with high ethics in accordance with the SKF 

Code of Conduct for suppliers and sub-contractors. 

Deviations from this code could have an adverse 

impact on the environment and society and could 

damage the reputation of SKF.

SKF has established a responsible sourcing approach, which includes supplier 

training and development, auditing and follow up as well as corrective action. 

Relevant demands have been included in purchasing contracts. Targets for 

suppliers regarding social and environmental performance have been defined 

and are followed up, see page 139.

Supply chain 
 disruption

External factors such as fires, extreme weather 

events, natural disasters, water stress, war or 

 pandemic illness result in disruption of supply to 

SKF and impact on  revenue and profit.

SKF has intentionally set up a flexible and global supply chain and works to 

avoid dependence on a single source or production location. The global supply 

chain organisation tracks issues of risks such as social unrest, terrorist or drug 

activity, or high levels of corruption as these may impact the supply. In addition 

SKF focuses on working with suppliers that have adequate insurance for both 

production and transports.

Material source  
or type compli-
ance risks

SKF aims to avoid the use of hazardous substances in 

its products and processes, the company also strives 

to avoid negative social impacts within the extended 

supply chain. Legislations have been, and are being, 

introduced in these aspects. Failure to meet with 

requirements according to these legislations could 

result in costs as well as loss of business for SKF.

SKF has established a product material compliance approach, see page 39.

 As part of SKF’s responsible sourcing activities, SKF is working to effectively 

address the conflict minerals issues as defined in the US Dodd-Frank act.

 In addition, SKF’s Environmental Design Guidelines are part the Group’s 

 product development process, taking environment, health and safety risks into 

consideration.

Production risks

Labour  disputes Industrial disputes lead to industrial action which 

impacts SKF’s ability to meet customer demands.

SKF has maintained an open and positive relationship with the unions, as 

exemplified by the Groups’ global framework with the World Union Council,  

see page 40.

Loss of a major 
 production site

Fire, flood or natural disaster could result in the 

temporary loss of a production facility, in addition to 

the reconstruction and remediation costs. This 

could put customer deliveries and revenues at risk.

SKF has globalised manufacturing operations, with more than 100 separate 

facilities around the world. SKF’s manufacturing strategy aims at ensuring a 

high degree of flexibility, so that if one unit is taken out of action, others could 

provide support production.

 SKF Reinsurance Co. Ltd is the SKF Group’s internal insurance company.  

It is Group policy to have centrally purchased insurance lines as well as loss 

prevention programs. The mission is to protect the SKF Group’s tangible and 

intangible assets through active risk management.

Environmental risks

Major incident  
at an SKF facility

A major incident during which a significant amount 

of local environmental damage occurs leading to 

fines, loss of reputation etc.

SKF’s environmental management system is ISO 14001 certified. The system 

works to ensure that all material environmental risks are identified and effective 

counter-measures are implemented in order to mitigate them. This includes 

actions to mitigate the risk as well as emergency response plans to ensure the 

impacts of any incident are minimised.

Operations
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Risk description Specific risk Mitigation approach

Cont. Environmental risks

Water risk Water scarcity in the supply chain or at an  

SKF facility leads to reduced production.

SKF’s direct processes are not water intensive. Most water systems are closed 

loop. SKF’s facilities located in areas of water scarcity are identified and 

required to run strong water reduction programs.

 SKF has a diversified supply chain with requirements for suppliers to follow 

environmental norms, implement certified management systems and this facil-

itates risk reduction and avoidance for water risks and other environmental 

risks.

Risk of SKF’s 
 products  causing 
 environmental 
damage

SKF’s products result in environmental damage 

 during use or disposal by customer.

SKF Environmental Design Guidelines exist as part of the Group’s overall prod-

uct development process. Using lists of restricted substances and the compli-

ance monitoring of relevant legislation e.g. REACH and RoSH facilitates proper 

use phase and end-of-life management, see page 39.

Climate change 
risks – extreme 
weather events

Extreme weather events disrupt SKF’s facilities, 

 distribution or supply chain.

Requirements for emergency response plans at all sites include flood risks etc. 

See also Production risks and Supply chain disruption above.

Climate change 
risks – energy  
and cost of  
carbon

Increased energy and other environmental cost due  

to legislation leading to increased material and 

 production costs and / or impacting certain market 

segments.

SKF focuses on energy efficiency at its own facilities and suppliers – reducing 

energy demand and related risks, see pages 42–45.

Health and safety risks

Health and  
safety at  
SKF operations

SKF’s employees are hurt or killed by an accident  

at work.

SKF’s Health and Safety management system is certified to OHSAS 18001. 

The Groups’ Zero Accident program supported by proactive near miss report-

ing aims at the avoidance of all workplace accidents, see page 132.

Health and  
safety related  
to SKF products 
and  services

Person or persons are hurt or injured as a result of 

SKF product failure or defect.

SKF follows strict design and validation rules for all products, and fully adheres 

to industry-specific requirements for safety critical applications such as aero-

space, rail and automotive. SKF provides detailed instruction on the correct 

use, fitting and application of products.

 SKF’s overall approach to quality management ensures product conform-

ance to the highest level.

Health and Safety 
at  supplier and 
business partner 
operations

Employees of SKF’s suppliers or business partners 

are hurt or killed.

SKF has defined specific requirements to ensure health and safety for the 

employees within its Code of Conduct for suppliers and subcontractors. See 

also Code of Conduct deviations in the supply chain above.

Human rights risks

Human rights 
non-compliances  
at SKF

SKF’s employees’ human rights are not respected. SKF adheres to international standards and guidelines such as the UN Global 

Compact, see page 120. The SKF Code of Conduct sets out the requirements to 

respect human rights and SKF enforces the SKF Code of Conduct policy in all 

operations, see page 38.

Code of Conduct 
non- compliances  
or abuses in the 
supply chain

Human rights and labour rights of suppliers’ 

employee (extended supply chain) not respected.

See Code of Conduct deviations in the supply chain above, read also on SKF’s 

supply chain management on pages 139.

Brand risks

Other companies  
or counterfeiters 
use SKF Brands  
to market their 
products

SKF is one of the strongest global industrial brands 

and subject to counterfeit globally. Counterfeit 

products of all types pose a risk to people and the 

global economy.

SKF focuses on protecting customers, safeguarding health and safety of 

machine operators, avoiding unexpected downtime, environmental and finan-

cial damage. Fake products are universally recognized as a major risk and con-

tinuous support to law enforcement, customs and other authorities makes up 

the majority of SKF’s anti-counterfeit work.

 In addition to arranging customer events to make customers aware of the 

importance to safeguard authenticity, SKF runs anti-counterfeit e-learnings 

designed for the Group’s personnel and distributors.

IT risks

Cyber security risk An adversary could gain unauthorized access to SKF 

information or computer systems, leading to loss of 

intellectual property or financial data.

SKF have IT Security Awareness training programs for the employees  

and an IT Security policy based on ISO 27000, for the deployment and  

use of IT Systems.

IT continuity risk Unplanned interruptions in SKF computer systems, 

lead to loss of production or delays in deliveries to 

customers.

SKF work with trusted IT partners, that employ best practice procedures 

such as ITIL, ISO 20000 and ISO 9000 for business critical IT systems.
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Sensitivity analysis

Costs
The annual cost of raw materials and components is around 

SEK 21 billion of which steel-based products account for the 

majority. An increase/decrease of 1% in the cost of raw materi-

als and components reduces/increases the operating profit  

by around SEK 210 million. Steel scrap is a major ingredient  

in making bearing steel. An isolate 10% increase/decrease of 

market scrap prices would decrease/increase SKF’s operating 

profit by around SEK 50 million.

An increase of 1% to wages and salaries (including social 

security charges) reduces the operating profit by around 

SEK 200 million.

A decrease/increase of 1% in interest rates has a positive/

negative effect on the profit before tax of around SEK 180 

 million, based on the current position. The Group had net 

debt of SEK 23,357 million on 31 December, 2016.

Currency impact
Translation effects: Most of the operating profit is made out-

side Sweden, meaning that the Group is exposed to translation 

risks from all major currencies into the reporting currency 

SEK. Based on 2016 operating profits in local currencies,  

the below graph represent a sensitivity- analysis that shows 

the effect on the translation of operating profits to SEK of a 

5% weaker SEK against all other currencies.
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For the commercial foreign exchange exposure, the SKF Group 

is exposed to currencies shown in the graph above.

Based on the assumption that the net currency flows will be 

the same as in 2016, the below graph represents a sensitivity- 

analysis that shows the effect on operating profit of a 5% 

stronger SEK against all other currencies. 
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AB SKF’s Board’s proposal for  
principles of remuneration for  
Group Management
Introduction
The Board of Directors of AB SKF has decided to submit the fol-

lowing principles of remuneration for SKF’s Group Management 

to the Annual General Meeting. Group Management is defined 

as the President and the other members of the management 

team. The principles apply in relation to members of Group 

Management appointed after the adoption of the principles, 

and, in other cases, to the extent permitted under existing 

agreements.

The objective of the principles is to ensure that the SKF Group 

can attract and retain the best people in order to support the 

SKF Group’s mission and business strategy. Remuneration for 

Group Management shall be based on market competitive con-

ditions and at the same time support the shareholders’ best 

interests. 

The total remuneration package for a Group Management 

member consists primarily of the following components: fixed 

salary, variable salary, performance shares, pension benefits, 

conditions for notice of termination and severance pay, and 

other benefits such as a company car. The components shall 

create a well-balanced remuneration reflecting individual per-

formance and responsibility as well as the SKF Group’s overall 

performance.

Fixed salary
The fixed salary of a Group Management member shall be at  

a market competitive level. It will be based on competence, 

responsibility and performance. The SKF Group uses an inter-

nationally well-recognized evaluation system, International 

Position Evaluation (IPE), in order to evaluate the scope and 

responsibility of the position. Market benchmarks are con-

ducted on a regular basis. The performance of Group Manage-

ment members is continuously monitored and used as a basis 

for annual reviews of fixed salaries.

Variable salary
The variable salary of a Group Management member runs accord-

ing to a performance-based programme. The purpose of the 

programme is to motivate and compensate value-creating 

achievements in order to support operational and financial targets.

The performance-based programme is primarily based on 

the short-term financial performance of the SKF Group estab-

lished according to the SKF financial performance management 

model called Total Value Added (TVA). TVA is a simplified, eco-

nomic value-added model. This model promotes greater oper-

ating profit, capital efficiency and profitable growth. The TVA 

profit is the operating profit, less the pre-tax cost of capital. The 

TVA result development for the SKF Group correlates well with 

the trend of the share price over a longer period of time.

The maximum variable salary according to the programme is 

capped at a certain percentage of the fixed annual salary. The 

percentage is linked to the position of the individual and varies 

between 40% and 70% for Group Management members. If the 

financial performance of the SKF Group is not in line with the 

requirements of the variable salary programme, no variable 

salary will be paid. The maximum variable salary will not exceed 

70% of the accumulated annual fixed salary of Group Manage-

ment members.

Performance Shares
Since 2008 SKF’s Annual General Meeting has resolved each 

year upon a performance share programme for senior manag-

ers and key employees (SKF’s Performance Share Programmes 

2008–2016). The Board of Directors proposes that a decision 

be taken at the Annual General Meeting on SKF’s Performance 

Share Programme 2017. 

It is proposed that the programme covers a maximum of 225 

senior managers and key employees in the SKF Group, including 

Group Management, with the opportunity of being allotted, free 

of charge, SKF B shares.

The number of shares that may be allotted must be related to 

the degree of achievement of the TVA target level, as defined by 

the Board of Directors, for the TVA development for the financial 

years 2017–2019 compared to the financial year 2016. Under the 

programme, no more than 1,000,000 B shares may be allotted.

The allocation of shares is based on the level of TVA increase. 

In order for allocation of shares to take place the TVA increase 

must exceed a certain minimum level (the threshold level). In 

addition to the threshold level a target level is set. Maximum 

allotment is awarded if the target level is reached or exceeded. 

Provided that the TVA increase reaches the target level, the 

participants of the programme may be allotted the following max-

imum number of shares per person within the various key groups:

• CEO and President: 30,000 shares

• Other members of Group Management: 13,000 shares

• Managers of large business units and similar: 4,500 shares

• Other senior managers: 3,000 shares

• Other key persons: 1,250 shares

Before the number of shares to be allotted is finally determined, 

the Board shall examine whether the allotment is reasonable 

considering SKF’s financial results and position, the conditions 
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on the stock market as well as other circumstances, and if not, 

as determined by the Board, reduce the number of shares to be 

awarded to the lower number of shares deemed appropriate by 

the Board.

If the TVA increase exceeds the threshold level for allotment 

of shares but the final allotment is below 5% of the target level, 

payment will be made in cash instead of shares, whereupon the 

amount of the cash payment shall correspond to the value of 

the shares calculated on the basis of the closing price for SKF’s 

B share the day before settlement.

Assuming maximum allocation under SKF’s Performance 

Share Programme 2017 and a share price of SEK 170, the cost, 

including social security costs, is estimated at around SEK 204 

million. On the basis of a share price of SEK 215, the cost, in-

cluding social security costs, is estimated at around SEK 258 

million. In addition, administrative costs are estimated at 

around SEK 2 million.

Other benefits
The SKF Group provides other benefits to Group Management 

members in accordance with local practice. The accumulated 

value of other benefits shall, in relation to the value of the total 

remuneration, be limited and shall, as a principle, correspond to 

what is customary on the relevant market. Other benefits can for 

instance be a company car, medical insurance and home service.

Pension
The SKF Group strives to establish pension plans based on 

defined contribution models, which means that a premium is 

paid amounting to a certain percentage of the employee’s 

annual salary. The commitment in these cases is limited to 

the payment of an agreed premium to an insurance company 

offering pension insurance.

A Group Management member is normally covered by, in 

addition to the basic pension (for Swedish members usually 

the ITP pension plan), a supplementary defined contribution 

pension plan. By offering this supplementary defined contribu-

tion plan, it is ensured that Group Management members are 

entitled to earn pension benefits based on the fixed annual 

 salary above the level of the basic pension. The normal retire-

ment age for Group Management members is 65 years.

Notice of termination and severance pay
A Group Management member may terminate his/her employ-

ment by giving six months’ notice. In the event of termination  

of employment at the request of the company, employment 

shall cease immediately. The Group Management member shall 

however receive a severance payment related to the number 

of years’ service, provided that it shall always be maximized to 

two years’ fixed salary.

The Board of Directors’ right to deviate from the 
 principles of remuneration
In certain cases, the Board of Directors may deviate from the 

principles of remuneration decided by the Annual General 

Meeting.

Preparation of matters relating to remuneration  
for Group Management
The Board of Directors of AB SKF has established a Remunera-

tion Committee. The Committee consists of a maximum of four 

Board members. The Remuneration Committee prepares all 

matters relating to the principles of remuneration for Group 

Management, as well as the employment conditions of the 

President. The principles of remuneration for Group Manage-

ment are presented to the Board of Directors that submits a 

proposal for such principles to the Annual General Meeting for 

approval. The Board of Directors must approve the employ-

ment conditions of the President.

Information about remuneration decided upon  
but not due for payment
The structure of Group Management remuneration decided 

upon prior to the approval of these principles for remuneration 

but not due for payment is in line with these principles. In rela-

tion hereto the following should be noted:

• The Annual General Meetings 2008–2016 resolved on SKF’s 

Performance Share Programmes 2008–2016. 

• No allotment of shares was made under SKF’s Performance 

Share Programme 2009 due to non-fulfillment of the TVA 

target for the financial year 2009. Allotment of shares under 

SKF’s Performance Share Programme 2010 was made in the 

beginning of 2013. Allotment of shares under SKF’s Perfor-

mance Share Programme 2011 was made in the beginning 

of 2014. No allotment of shares was made under SKF’s Per-

formance Share Programme 2012–2013 due to non-fulfill-

ment of the TVA target for the financial years 2012–2013. 

Allotment of shares under SKF’s Performance Share Pro-

gramme 2014 was made in the beginning of 2017. Any allot-

ment of shares under SKF’s Performance Share Programme 

2015 will be made during 2018. Any allotment of shares 

under SKF’s Performance Share Programme 2016 will be 

made during 2019.

• The pension conditions of the President are described under 

Note 23 in the Annual Report.

• Certain members of Group Management have defined benefit 

pension solutions. 

• The normal retirement age for Group Management members 

is 65 years. One member of Group Management still have a 

retirement age of 62 years based on already existing agree-

ment.

• Certain members of Group Management are, in the event of 

termination of employment at the request of the company, 

entitled to receive a severance payment which is not related 

to the number of years’ service, but amounting to a maximum 

of two years’ salary. 

Principles of remuneration for Group Management 2016 and 

remuneration of Group Management 2016, see Consolidated 

Financial Statements Note 23.

Operations
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Financial position and dividend policy
Financial performance management model
SKF’s financial performance management model is a simplified, 

economic value-added model, called Total Value Added (TVA), 

promoting a greater operating profit, capital efficiency and profit-

able growth. TVA is the operating profit, less the pre-tax cost of 

capital in the country where business is conducted. The pre-tax 

cost of capital is based on a weighted cost of capital with a risk 

premium of 5% above the risk-free interest rate for the equity part 

and on actual borrowing cost. The TVA performance for the Group 

correlates well with the share price trend over a longer period of 

time. Variable salary schemes are primarily based on this model.

Capital structure
The capital structure target is a gearing of around 50%, corre-

sponding to an equity/assets ratio of around 35% or a net debt/

equity ratio of around 80%. This underpins the Group’s financial 

flexibility and its ability to continue investing in its business, while 

maintaining a strong credit rating. On 31 December, 2016, the 

gearing was 55.3% (56.7), the equity/assets ratio 33.0% (33.0) 

and the net debt/equity ratio 84.4% (99.9). All things being equal, 

the Group expects to return to the targeted capital structure 

within a couple of years.

Financing
SKF’s policy is to have long-term financing of its operations. As 

of 31 December, 2016, the average maturity of SKF’s loans was 

four years. SKF has four notes issued on the European bond 

market. EUR 234 million due 2018, EUR 266 million per 2019, 

EUR 750 million per 2020 and one with an outstanding amount 

of EUR 500 million, due 2022. According to the conditions of the 

notes, the notes’ interest rate may increase by 5% in case of a 

change of control of the company in combination with a rating 

downgrade to a non-investment grade as a consequence of this. 

Change of control meaning any party/concerted parties acquir-

ing more than 50% of SKF’s share capital or SKF’s shares carry-

ing more than 50% of the voting rights. Since SKF has  relatively 

standardized loan documentation similar conditions also apply 

to other loan agreements. In addition to the bonds mentioned 

above SKF also has two loans, one of SEK 1,000 million, due in 

2017, and one of EUR 200 million due in 2021. 

In addition to its own liquidity, AB SKF had two committed 

credit facilities, one of SEK 3,000 million with due date 2018 

and one of EUR 500 million with a due date in 2019.

Credit rating
On 31 December, 2016, the Group had a BBB- rating with a 

stable outlook for long-term credit from Standard and Poor’s 

and a Baa2 rating with a neutral outlook from Moody’s Inves-

tors Service. SKF intends to keep a strong credit rating, which 

is reflected in its capital structure targets. 

Dividend
SKF’s dividend and distribution policy is based on the principle 

that the total dividend should be adapted to the trend for earn-

ings and cash flow, while taking into account the Group’s devel-

opment potential and financial position. The Board of Directors’ 

view is that the ordinary dividend should amount to around one 

half of SKF’s average net profit calculated over a business cycle. 

If the financial position of the SKF Group exceeds the targets 

for the capital structure an additional distribution to the ordi-

nary dividend could be made in the form of a higher dividend, 

a redemption scheme or a repurchase of the company’s own 

shares. On the other hand, in periods of more uncertainty a 

lower dividend ratio could be appropriate.

Based on the operating performance, cash generation 

capacity and outlook, the Board has decided to propose to 

the Annual General Meeting a dividend of SEK 5.50 (5.50) per 

share. This proposal is subject to a resolution by the Annual 

General Meeting in March 2017, see page 117, Proposed 

 distribution of surplus. 

In addition to specially-appointed members and deputies, the 

company’s Board of Directors shall comprise a minimum of five 

and a maximum of twelve members, with a maximum of five 

deputies. The Annual General Meeting shall, inter alia, deter-

mine the number of Board members and deputy Board mem-

bers, and preside over the elections of Board members and 

deputy Board members. 

Notice to attend an Annual General Meeting and notice to 

attend an Extra General Meeting where an issue relating to a 

change in the Articles of Association will be dealt with, shall be 

issued no earlier than six weeks and no later than four weeks 

prior to the General Meeting. Notice to attend another kind of 

Extra General Meeting shall be issued no earlier than six weeks 

and no later than three weeks prior to the General Meeting. 

Nomination of Board members  
and notice of General Meeting
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Operations

Parent Company, AB SKF

AB SKF, corporate identity number 556007-3495, which is 

the parent company of the SKF Group, is a registered Swedish 

 limited liability company domiciled in Gothenburg. The head-

quarters’ address is AB SKF, SE-415 50 Gothenburg, Sweden.

AB SKF is the Entrepreneur within the Group. The role of 

Entrepreneur is to make the strategic decisions and pay for 

research and development in the Group as well as the manage-

ment services. Subsidiaries in the Group perform tasks decided 

by the Entrepreneur and thus have a limited commercial liability. 

Gains and losses arising in the subsidiaries are, after deduction 

of a reasonable proportion, distributed to the Parent company 

as residual profit.

Dividend income from consolidated subsidiaries amounted 

to SEK 4,393 million (7,051).

Net increase in investments in subsidiaries amounted  

to SEK 1,449 million (5,152), impairments amounted to  

SEK –326 million (–4,966)  and SEK –37 million (15,879) to 

capital repayment and sales.

Risks and uncertainties in the business for the Group are 

described in the Administration Report for the Group. The 

financial position of the parent company is dependent on the 

financial position and development of the subsidiaries. A general 

decline in the demand for the products and services provided by 

the Group could mean lower residual profit and lower dividend 

income for the parent company, as well as a need for write-

down of the values in the shares in subsidiaries. Due to the 

wide spread of markets, geographically as well as operationally 

in which the subsidiaries operate, the risk that the financial 

position for the parent company will be negatively affected 

is assessed as small.

Unrestricted equity in the parent company amounted to 

SEK 16,115 million (14,771).



65SKF Annual Report 2016 

Financial statements

Consolidated income statements and consolidated  

statements of comprehensive income ........................................ 66

Comments on the consolidated income statements ..............67

Consolidated balance sheets .......................................................... 68

Comments on the consolidated balance sheets ...................... 69

Consolidated statements of cash flow ........................................ 70

Comments on the consolidated statements of cash flow .... 71

Consolidated statements of changes  

in equity and comments ................................................................... 72

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
Note 1 Accounting policies  ......................................................... 73

Note 2 Segment information ......................................................74

Note 3  Acquisitions ........................................................................ 77

Note 4 Divestment of businesses............................................. 77

Note 5 Research and development .......................................... 78

Note 6 Expenses by nature......................................................... 78

Note 7 Other operating income and expenses .................... 78

Note 8 Financial income and financial expenses ................ 79

Note 9 Taxes ..................................................................................... 79

Note 10 Intangible assets .............................................................. 81

Note 11 Property, plant and equipment .................................. 85

Note 12 Inventories .......................................................................... 87

Note 13 Financial assets ................................................................ 87

Note 14 Other short-term assets ............................................... 90

Note 15 Share capital ...................................................................... 90

Note 16 Earnings per share .......................................................... 91

Note 17 Provisions for post-employment benefits .............. 91

Note 18 Other provisions and contingent liabilities ............. 95

Note 19 Financial liabilities ........................................................... 96

Note 20 Leasing ................................................................................. 97

Note 21 Other short-term liabilities .......................................... 97

Note 22  Related parties including  

associated  companies .................................................... 97

Note 23 Remuneration to Key Management .......................... 98

Note 24 Fees to the auditors ......................................................101

Note 25 Average number of employees .................................102

Note 26 Financial risk management .......................................102

Financial statements of the Parent Company
Parent Company income statements and  

statements of comprehensive income ......................................106

Parent Company balance sheets ................................................107

Parent Company statements of cash flow ...............................108

Parent Company statements of changes in equity ..............109

Notes to the financial statements of 
the Parent Company
Note 1 Accounting policies ........................................................110

Note 2 Revenues and operating expenses .........................110

Note 3 Financial income and financial expenses ..............110

Note 4 Appropriations ................................................................111

Note 5 Taxes ...................................................................................111

Note 6 Intangible assets ............................................................111

Note 7 Property plant and equipment .................................112

Note 8 Investments in subsidiaries .......................................112

Note 9 Investments in equity securities ..............................115

Note 10 Provisions for post-employment benefits ............115

Note 11 Loans ..................................................................................116

Note 12  Salaries, wages, other remunerations,  

average number of employees and men  

and women in Management and Board ................116

Note 13 Contingent liabilities .....................................................116

C
o
n

te
n

ts



66 SKF Annual Report 2016 

Consolidated income statements

Consolidated income statements
Years ended 31 December

SEKm Note 2016 2015

Net sales 2 72,787 75,997

Cost of goods sold 5, 6 –54,984 –57,483

Gross profit 17,803 18,514

Selling expenses 6 –9,831 –11,164

Administrative expenses 6 –437 –439

Other operating income and expenses, net 7 –8 57

Operating profit 7,527 6,968

Financial income and expenses, net 8 –788 –1,134

Profit before taxes 6,739 5,834

Income tax 9 –2,530 –1,760

Net profit 4,209 4,074

Net profit attributable to:
Shareholders of AB SKF 3,985 3,880

Non-controlling interests 224 194

Basic earnings per share (SEK) 16 8.75 8.52

Diluted earnings per share (SEK) 16 8.75 8.52

Consolidated statements of comprehensive income
Years ended 31 December

SEKm Note 2016 2015

Net profit 4,209 4,074

Items that will not be reclassified to the income statement
Remeasurements (actuarial gains and losses) 17 –1,746 1,236

Income tax 9 423 –334

–1,323 902
Items that may be reclassified to the income statement
Currency translation adjustments 1,273 –445

Available-for-sale assets 13 –205 217

Cash flow hedges 26 18 41

Income tax 9 50 –361

1,136 –548

Other comprehensive income, net of tax –187 354

Total comprehensive income 4,022 4,428

Total comprehensive income attributable to 
Shareholders of AB SKF 3,714 4,221

Non-controlling interests 308 207
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Comments on the consolidated income  statements

Comments on the consolidated income statements
Amounts in parentheses refer to comparable figures for 2015.

General
The Group’s income statement for 2016 included the result of 

divested companies as follows: Kaydon Velocity Control for the 

period 1  January–30 June and Fly-by-wire 1  January–30 June. 

It also included the result of the acquired lubrication business in 

Sweden for the period 1 April–31 December.

Net sales
In 2016, net sales amounted to SEK 72,787 m (75,997) corre-

sponding to a decrease of 4.2% compared to 2015. The change of 

the Swedish krona towards other currencies had a negative impact 

in 2016 of –0.4%. Structural changes accounted for –2.2%. Net 

sales in local currencies decreased by –1.6% driven by lower sales 

volumes  primarily in North America, Asia and Latin America. Net 

sales in Europe increased by 1.7% compared to 2015.

Sales development 
 percent y-o-y Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

Full 

year 

Organic –6.1 –4.4 –0.6 1.2 –1.6

Structure –0.8 –0.6 –2.0 –1.8 –2.2

Currency –2.0 –3.0 0.1 3.7 –0.4

Total –8.9 –8.0 –2.5 3.1 –4.2

Operating profit
The Operating profit amounted to SEK 7,527 m (6,968) and exclud-

ing one-time items amounted to SEK 7,544 m (8,655) giving an 

operating margin excluding one-time items of 10.4% (11.4). 
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Operating profit development y-o-y

The Operating profit was positively impacted by lower one-time 

items, savings from cost reduction programmes and lower material 

prices compared to 2015. Operating profit was also negatively 

impacted by lower sales and manufacturing volumes, sales price 

development, customer mix, higher costs for the ERP implementa-

tion,  general inflation and divested companies.

One-time items for the year amounted to SEK –17 m (–1,687) 

whereof SEK –576 m (–1,199) related to the restructuring and cost 

reduction  programme, SEK –59 m (–488) net related to profits on 

sold businesses, impairments, write-off of assets and revaluation 

effects. The remaining SEK 618 m (0) related to a curtailment gain 

due to changed conditions in the defined benefit retirement plans. 
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Financial income and expenses, net
The financial income and expenses, net for 2016 was SEK –788 m 

(–1,134). For more information about the changes year-over-year, 

see Note 8.

 

Taxes
The effective tax rate for the year was 37.5% (30.2). Taxes were 

negatively impacted by divestment of businesses by SEK –383 m 

(–317). Excluding this the effective tax rate for the year was 31.8%. 

Adjusted for tax benefits not recognised as tax assets, the effective 

tax rate for the year was 30.4%.

Values by quarter
SEKm Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

Full  
year 

Net sales 17,720 18,370 17,912 18,785 72,787

Operating profit 1,875 1,875 2,191 1,586 7,527

Profit before taxes 1,658 1,656 2,049 1,376 6,739

Basic earnings  
per share (SEK) 2.40 1.44 2.97 1.95 8.75
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Consolidated balance sheets

Consolidated balance sheets
As of 31 December

SEKm Note 2016 2015

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Goodwill 10 11,137 12,078

Other intangible assets 10 8,431 9,407

Property, plant and equipment 11 15,746 15,303

Long-term financial assets 13 1,345 1,448

Deferred tax assets 9 3,806 3,185

Other long-term assets 343 159

40,808 41,580
Current assets
Inventories 12 15,418 14,519

Trade receivables 13 13,462 11,777

Other short-term assets 14 3,133 3,357

Other short-term financial assets 13 1,147 1,282

Cash and cash equivalents 13 9,939 7,218

43,099 38,153
Total assets 83,907 79,733

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 
Equity attributable to shareholders of AB SKF 26,034 24,815
Equity attributable to non-controlling interests 1,649 1,467

27,683 26,282
Non-current liabilities
Long-term financial liabilities 19 22,031 22,383

Provisions for post-employment benefits 17 13,945 13,062

Deferred tax provisions 9 1,380 1,373

Other long-term provisions 18 1,410 1,204

Other long-term liabilities 80 98

38,846 38,120
Current liabilities
Trade payables 19 7,100 5,671

Short-term provisions 18 814 891

Other short-term financial liabilities 19 1,619 1,442

Other short-term liabilities 21 7,845 7,327

17,378 15,331
Total equity and liabilities 83,907 79,733
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Comments on the consolidated balance sheets

Comments on the consolidated balance sheets
Amounts in parentheses refer to comparable figures for 2015.

Net working capital
The 2016 target for net working capital as a percentage of sales 

was set at 25%. At 31 December, 2016 it was 29.9% (27.1) consist-

ing of the following components:

0

5

10

15

20

35

30

25

201620152014

Trade payables

Trade receivables

Inventories

Target

Total NWC

Net working capital as % of annual sales
%

• Inventories amounted to SEK 15,418 m (14,519) being 21.1% 

(19.1) of annual sales. The change in inventories was caused by 

some SEK 593 m due to a weaker Swedish krona and included  

an increase in volumes of SEK 306 m.

• Trade receivables amounted to SEK 13,462 m (11,777) which is 

18.5% (15.5) of annual sales. The change in trade receivables was 

attributable to currencies with SEK 485 m, and also included a 

volume increase of SEK 1,200 m. The average days of outstand-

ing trade receivables were 65 days (64).

• Trade payables amounted to SEK 7,100 m (5,671) being 9.8% 

(7.5) of annual sales. The change attributable to currencies was 

SEK 212 m and the remaining SEK 1,217 m was volume.

Plant and property
Plant and property amounted to SEK 15,746 m (15,303) at  

31 December, 2016. This was as a percentage of annual sales 21.6% 

(20.0). The change attributable to currencies was SEK 699 m.
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Net debt
Net debt amounted to SEK 23,357 m (26,269) at the end of 2016, 

representing an improvement of SEK 2,912 m. 

Post employment benefit provisions totalled SEK 13,892 m 

(13,010) at year end,  representing a net increase of SEK 882 m 

(–932), which was  attributable to:

• Cash payments of SEK –1,853 m (–894), including a one-time 

contribution of SEK –858 m.

• Actuarial gains and losses of SEK 1,746 m (–1,236) mainly  

by decreasing discount rates, see Note 17. 

• Expenses of SEK 355 m (1,127), which included a  curtailment 

gain of SEK 618 m. 

• The remainder was attributable to currency translation 

 differences.

 

Loans totalled SEK 20,399 m (21,349) at the end of 2016 repre-

senting a decrease of SEK –950 m. The decrease was primarily 

attributable to net repayments of SEK –1,990 m and currency 

translation effects of SEK 882 m being primarily EUR.
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Equity
During the year, equity increased from SEK 26,282 m to SEK 

27,683 m. Net profit amounted to SEK 4,209 m (4,074) and 

 dividends paid were SEK 2,635 m (2,605). The increase caused  

by currency translation effects of SEK 1,273 m (–445), was offset 

by SEK –1,323 m (902) net of tax related to remeasurement gains 

on post-employment benefits and other changes totalling SEK 

–123 m (–48).

The capital structure target for the Group is a gearing of around 

50%, corresponding to an equity/assets ratio of around 35% or a net 

debt/equity ratio of around 80%. This underpins the Group’s finan-

cial flexibility and its ability to continue investing in its business. On 

31 December, 2016, the gearing was 55.3% (56.7), the equity/assets 

ratio 33.0% (33.0) and the net debt/equity ratio 84.4 (99.9).
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Consolidated statements of cash flow
Years ended 31 December

SEKm Note 2016 2015

Operating activities
Operating profit 7,527 6,968

Adjustments for
Depreciation, amortization and impairment 6 2,368 2,858

Net gain on sales of businesses, property, plant and equipment and shares –8 –217

Other non-cash items 123 952

Income taxes paid –1,897 –2,320

Contributions to and payments under post-employment defined benefit plans 17 –995 –894

Changes in working capital
Inventories –306 469

Trade receivables –1,200 620

Trade payables 1,217 –150

Other operating assets and liabilities, net 264 421

Interest and other financial items 57 –976

Net cash flow from operating activities 7,150 7,731

Investing activities
Additions to intangible assets 10 –340 –247

Additions to property, plant and equipment 11 –1,869 –2,063

Sales of property, plant,equipment, and intangibles 75 128

Acquisitions of businesses, net of cash and cash equivalents 3 –60 –102

Divestments of businesses, net of cash and cash equivalents 4 3,146 1,165

Income taxes paid related to divestments –383 –317

Investment in/sale of equity securities –2 121

Net cash flow used in investing activities 567 –1,315
Net cash flow after investments before financing 7,717 6,416

Financing activities
Proceeds from medium- and long-term loans 96 4,624

Repayments of medium- and long-term loans –2,086 –5,566

Other financing items 16 –1,304

Cash dividends to shareholders of AB SKF and non-controlling interests –2,635 –2,605

Funding of post-employment benefits 17 –858 —

Tax payment related to funding of post-employment benefits 332 —

Investments in financial assets –653 –560

Sales of financial assets 570 212

Net cash flow used in financing activities –5,218 –5,199

Net cash flow 2,499 1,217
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 7,218 5,920

Translation effect 222 81

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 9,939 7,218

The Board of Directors’ 

 proposed distribution of 

 surplus for the year 2016, 

which is subject to approval 

at the Annual General Meet-

ing in March 2017, includes 

an ordinary dividend of SEK 

5.50 per share, see Note 15.0
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Comments on the consolidated statements of cash flow
Amounts in parentheses refer to comparable figures for 2015.

The consolidated statements of cash flow have been adjusted for 

exchange rate effects arising upon the translation of foreign sub-

sidiaries’ balance sheets to Swedish krona, as these do not 

 represent cash flows.

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, bank depos-

its, debt securities and other liquid investments that have a matu-

rity of three months or less at the time of the investment.

Cash flow after investments before financing
Cash flow after investments before financing, which is the  primary 

cash flow measure used in the Group, reached SEK 7,717 m (6,416)

in 2016 (6,416). Adjusted for acquisitions and divestments of busi-

nesses, the cash flow amounted to SEK 5,014 m (5,670). 
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Other non-cash items included expenses for which the cash flow 

has not yet occurred. The most significant item was operating 

expenses on the post-employment benefits. Interest and other 

financial items included interest paid of SEK 382 m (560), interest 

received of SEK 76 m (145), and the remainder SEK –335 m (247)

related primarily to realised derivatives on commercial flows 

between Group companies.

During the year the Group divested the Fly-by-wire and Kaydon 

Velocity Control businesses, which generated SEK 2,763 m net of 

income tax payments. The acquisition of a lubrication business in 

Sweden resulted in a total net cash outflow of SEK 60 m in 2016.

Cash flow used in financing activities
The Group’s debt structure improved in 2016 through the repay-

ment of the EUR 100 m loan due in 2016 and the repayment of  

the EUR 100 m loan with due date 2020. 
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Cash flow used in financing activities included a payment of SEK 

526 m, net of taxes, related to a contribution to the defined benefit 

retirement plan in the US.

Other financing items amounted to SEK 16 m in 2016. 2015 

included primarily SEK –369 m interest paid related to the buy-

back of borrowings and SEK –935 m to  realized derivatives related 

to long-term borrowings. 

Change in net debt (SEKm)

2016  
Closing 
 balance

Cash  
change

Businesses 
acquired/

sold 

Other  
non-cash 
changes

Translation 
effect

2016  
Opening 
 balance

Loans1) 20,399 –1,990 — 158 882 21,349

Post-employment benefits, net2) 13,892 –1,853 –25 2,072 688 13,010

Other short-term financial assets3) –995 –75 — 1 –49 –872

Cash and cash equivalents –9,939 –2,579 80 — –222 –7,218

Net debt 23,357 –6,497 55 2,231 1,299 26,269

Change in net debt (SEKm)

2015  
Closing 
 balance

Cash  
change

Businesses 
acquired/

sold 

Other  
non-cash 
changes

Translation 
effect

2015  
Opening 
 balance

Loans1) 21,349 –942 — 5 –1,102 23,388

Post-employment benefits, net2) 13,010 –894 — –52 14 13,942

Other short-term financial assets3) –872 –348 — –2 –4 –518

Cash and cash equivalents –7,218 –1,199 –18 — –81 –5,920

Net debt 26,269 –3,383 –18 –49 –1,173 30,892

1) Excludes derivatives, see Note 19.

2) Other non-cash changes includes remeasurements as well as expenses on defined benefit plans. 

3) Other short-term financial assets excludes derivatives, see Note 13.
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Consolidated statements of changes in equity
Equity attributable to owners of AB SKF

SEKm
Share 

 capital
Share 

 premium

Available- 
for-sale 
 reserve

Hedging 
 reserve

Translation 
reserve

Retained 
earnings Subtotal

Non- 
controlling 

interests Total

Opening balance 1 January, 2015 1,138 564 295 –46 553 20,585 23,089 1,315 24,404
Net profit — — — — — 3,880 3,880 194 4,074

Components of other  comprehensive income
Currency translation adjustments — — — — –2,057 — –2,057 13 –2,044

 Change in fair value of  available-for-sale assets  
and cash flow hedges — — 297 –46 — — 251 — 251

 Release of available-for-sale assets  
and cash flow hedges — — –80 87 — — 7 — 7

Release of net investment hedge — — —  — 1,599 — 1,599 — 1,599

Remeasurements — — — — — 1,236 1,236 — 1,236

Income taxes — — — –10 –351 –334 –695 — –695

Transactions with shareholders
Non-controlling interest — — — — — –5 –5 46 41

Cost for Performance Share  Programmes, net1) — — — — — 14 14 — 14

Dividends — — — — — –2,504 –2,504 –101 –2,605

Closing balance 31 December, 2015 1,138 564 512 –15 –256 22,872 24,815 1,467 26,282

Net profit — — — — — 3,985 3,985 224 4,209

Components of other  comprehensive income
Currency translation adjustments — — — — 1,189 — 1,189 84 1,273

 Change in fair value of  available-for-sale assets  
and cash flow hedges — — –205 16 — — –189 — –189

 Release of available-for-sale assets and cash  
flow hedges — — — 2 — — 2 — 2

Remeasurements — — — — — –1,746 –1,746 — –1,746

Income taxes — — — –4 54 422 472 1 473

Transactions with shareholders
Non-controlling interest — — — — — –4 –4 4 —

Cost for Performance Share  Programmes, net1) — — — — — 14 14 — 14

Dividends — — — — — –2,504 –2,504 –131 –2,635

Closing balance 31 December, 2016 1,138 564 307 –1 987 23,039 26,034 1,649 27,683

1) See Note 23 for details. 

Available-for-sale reserve
The available-for-sale reserve accumulates changes in the fair 

value of available-for-sale assets, net of tax, with the exception of 

any dividends and any impairment losses, which are recognized 

directly in the income statement. See Note 13 for details on available- 

for-sale assets. 

Hedging reserve
The hedging reserve accumulates activity related to cash flow 

hedges, net of tax, being both changes in fair value as well as 

amounts released to the income statement. See Note 26 for details 

on hedging activity.

Translation reserve
Exchange differences relating to the translation from the functional 

currencies of the SKF Group’s foreign subsidiaries into SEK are 

 accumulated in the translation reserve. Upon the sale of a foreign 

operation, the accumulated translation amounts are recycled to the 

income statement and included in the gain or loss on the disposal. 

Additionally, gains and losses on hedging instruments meeting the 

criteria for hedges of net investments in foreign operations, are 

recognized in the translation reserve net of tax. See Note 26 for 

details. 

Non controlling interests
The category non-controlling interests accumulates the portion 

of a subsidiary’s equity that is not attributable to the Group for 

 sub sidiaries where the Group owns less than 100%. The largest 

non-controlling interest is SEK 1,095 m (SEK 947 m) relating to 

SKF India Ltd, representing a 46.4% (46.4) shareholding. This rep-

resents 2.8% (3.6) of the Group’s total equity and is not considered 

by management to be  significant. 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
Amounts in SEKm unless otherwise stated. Amounts in parentheses refer to comparable figures for 2015.

Note 1 | Accounting policies

Basis of presentation 
The consolidated financial statements of the SKF Group are pre-

pared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Stand-

ards (IFRS) as adopted by the European Union (EU). Further more, 

the Group is in compliance with the Swedish Financial Reporting 

Board’s RFR 1, Supplementary Accounting Rules for Groups, as 

well as their interpretations (UFR).

The Annual Report of the Parent company, AB SKF, has been 

signed by the Board of Directors on 6 March, 2017. The income 

statement and balance sheet, and the consolidated income state-

ment and consolidated  balance sheet are subject to adoption at the 

Annual General Meeting on 29 March, 2017. 

The consolidated financial statements are prepared on the 

 historical cost basis except as disclosed in the accounting policies 

below.

To improve the reading and understanding of each note, the 

 corresponding accounting policy has been moved to the beginning 

of respective note. Accounting policies without a specific note 

remain in Note 1. When applicable, accounting estimates and 

judgements are also moved to respective note. See below  Critical 

accounting estimates and judgements according to management.

Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the Parent company, 

AB SKF and those companies in which it directly or indirectly exer-

cises control, and hereafter is referred to as “the Group”, “SKF” or 

“the SKF Group”. Control exists when the Group has the right to 

direct the relevant activities of a company, is exposed to variable 

returns and can use those rights to affect those returns. For the 

vast majority of the Group’s subsidiaries, control exists via 100% 

ownership. There is also a very limited number of subsidiaries con-

trolled by SKF where ownership is between 50%–100%. The largest 

of such companies is SKF India Ltd. which is a publically listed com-

pany in India of which the Group has  control via ownership of 53.6% 

of the voting rights. For the subsidiaries where less than 100% is 

owned, the non-controlling interests are shown separately within 

equity. 

Translation of foreign financial statements and items 
denominated in foreign currency 
AB SKF’s functional currency is the Swedish krona (SEK), which is 

also the Group’s reporting currency.

All foreign subsidiaries report in their functional currency being 

the currency of the primary economic environment in which the 

subsidiary operates. Upon consolidation, all balance sheet items 

are translated to the Swedish krona based on the year-end 

exchange rates. Income statement items are translated at average 

exchange rates. The accumulated exchange differences arising 

from these trans lations are recognized via other comprehensive 

income to the translation reserve in equity. Such translation 

 differences are reclassified into the income statement upon the 

disposal of the  foreign operation.

Transactions in foreign currencies during the year have been 

translated at the exchange rate prevailing at the respective trans-

action date. 

Assets and liabilities denominated in a foreign currency, prim-

arily receivables and payables and loans, have been translated at 

the exchange rates prevailing at the balance sheet date. Exchange 

gains and losses related to trade receivables and payables and 

other  operating receivables and payables are included in other 

operating income and other operating expenses. The exchange 

gains and losses relating to other financial assets and liabilities  

are included in financial income and financial expenses.

Exchange rates
The following exchange rates have been used when translating  

the financial statements of foreign subsidiaries operating in the 

countries shown below into SEK:

Average rates Year-end rates

Country Unit Currency 2016 2015 2016 2015

Argentina 1 ARS 0.58 0.91 0.57 0.64

China 1 CNY 1.29 1.34 1.31 1.29

EMU countries 1 EUR 9.45 9.33 9.56 9.14

India 100 INR 12.73 13.11 13.39 12.58

Brazil 1 BRL 2.47 2.56 2.79 2.16

United Kingdom 1 GBP 11.58 12.85 11.17 12.38

USA 1 USD 8.56 8.41 9.09 8.36

Revenue 
Revenue consists of sales of products or services in the normal 

course of business. Service revenues are defined as business activ-

ities, billed to a customer, that do not include physical products or 

where the  supply of any product is subsidiary to the fulfillment of 

the contract. Sales are recorded net of allowances for volume 

rebates and sales returns. Accruals for such allowances are 

recorded at the time of  revenue recognition. 

Revenue is recognized when the significant risks and rewards of 

ownership have been transferred to the buyer. Revenue from the 

sale of goods and services is generally recognized when (1) there is 

no longer any continuing managerial involvement over the goods, 

(2) the revenue can be measured reliably, (3) the collection of the 

amounts due is reasonably assured (4) any costs in respect of the 

sale are identifiable and can be measured reliably.

Contracts and customer purchase orders are generally used to 

 determine the existence of such an arrangement. Shipping docu-

ments and customer acceptances are used, when applicable, to 

verify delivery. Collectibility is assessed based primarily on the 

credit worthiness of the customer as determined by credit limit 

control and approval procedures, as well as the customer’s pay-

ment history. 

Revenues from service and/or maintenance contracts where  

the service is delivered to the customer over time are accounted for 

on a straight-line basis over the duration of the contract or under 

the percentage-of completion method, which is based on the ratio 

of actual costs incurred to total estimated costs expected to be 

incurred. 

Any  anticipated losses on contracts are recognized in full in the 

period in which losses become probable and estimable.

 

Critical accounting estimates and judgements 
Management believes that the following areas contain the most  

key judgements and the most significant sources of estimation 

uncertainty used in the preparation of the financial statements, 

where a different opinion or estimate could lead to significant 

changes to the Group’s financial statements in the upcoming year.
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• Judgement on the realizability of deferred tax assets (Note 9)

• Judgements used in the recognition of internally developed 

software (Note 10)

• Estimates and key assumptions used in impairment testing  

of intangibles (Note 10)

• Significant assumptions used in the calculation of the post- 

employment benefit obligations (Note 17)

• Judgements used in the recognition and disclosure of  

provisions and contingent liabilities (Note 18)

New accounting principles
New accounting principles 2016
IASB issued several amended accounting standards effective start-

ing 1 January, 2016. None of these had a material impact on the 

SKF Group’s financial statements.

New accounting principles 2017
IASB issued and endorsed several amended accounting standards 

effective starting 1 January, 2017. None of these are expected to 

have a material impact on the SKF Group’s financial statements. 

Due to updates in IAS 7 “Statement of cashflow”, additional disclo-

sure will be required to reconcile between opening balance and 

closing balance for financial assets reported as financing activities 

in the statement of cash flow and that hedge long term loans. 

Those financial assets are included in the line other financing items 

in the cash flow statement and are not considered in the change in 

net debt.

Other new accounting principles issued but not yet effective
The following have been issued by the IASB and are effective for 

annual periods after 2017 as noted. 

IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” endorsed by the European Union  

in November 2016 is effective as of 1 January, 2018, with earlier 

adoption permitted. The standard includes a logical model for clas-

sification and measurement, a single, forward-looking ‘expected 

loss’ impairment model and a substantially-reformed approach  

to hedge accounting. The Group does not expect any material 

effect from the change to the expected loss model. Additionally the 

application of hedge accounting is today very limited in the Group 

and no material impact is expected here either. SKF will implement 

the new standard January 1, 2018.

IFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with Customers”, endorsed by 

the European Union in October 2016 is effective as of 1 January, 

2018, with earlier adoption permitted. The standard establishes 

principles for reporting useful information to users of financial 

statements about the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of 

revenue and cash flows arising from an entity’s contracts with 

 customers. 

Revenue consists of sales of products or services in the normal 

course of business. The vast majority of the Group’s sales are 

 product sales and are recognized at a certain point in time. SKF is 

aligned with the revenue recognition method according to IFRS 15 

when selling products or services. The new standard may have an 

impact on the revenue recognition method for service contracts 

where the supply of products is subsidiary to the fulfillment of the 

contract. These kind of contracts are immaterial to the Group, 

hence no material effect is expected from the implementation of 

IFRS 15 for these contracts. During 2017, the Group will continue 

to assess if such contracts are required to be classified as separate 

performance obligations according to the new standard. SKF will 

implement the new standard from 1 January, 2018, and the full 

retrospective method is expected to be used.

  IFRS 16 “Leases”1) is effective as of 1 January, 2019. For lessees 

the standard eliminates the classification of leases as either oper-

ating or finance as required by IAS 17 and instead introduces a 

single lease accounting model. Applying that model a lessee is 

required to recognize, (a) assets and liabilities for all leases with  

a term of more than 12 months, unless the underlying asset is of 

low value; and (b) depreciation of leased assets separately from 

interest on lease liabilities in the income statement. The Group’s 

leasing commitments are discussed in Note 20, and the full impact 

of the new standard is currently being investigated.

1) Indicates that this has not yet been endorsed by the EU. 

Cont. Note 1 

Note 2 | Segment information

Each operating segment is defined as those business activities that 

may earn revenues or incur expenses, whose operating results are 

regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision maker (CODM) 

and for which discrete financial information is available. In the case 

of SKF, the CODM is defined as Group Management which make 

decisions about allocation of resources to the segments and also to 

assess their performance on a regular basis. The internal reporting 

package comprises two segments, Industrial and Automotive. 

This segment information includes sales and operating profit 

related to all significant industrial and automotive customers. Sales 

and other transactions between segments are based on market 

conditions. Segment profit represents the business result gener-

ated by the capital employed of the segment and includes allocated 

corporate expenses and eliminations.

Segment assets include all operating assets used and controlled 

by a segment and consist principally of property plant and equip-

ment, intangible assets, external trade receivables and inventories. 

Segment liabilities include all operating liabilities used and con-

trolled by a segment and consist principally of external trade paya-

bles, other provisions as well as accruals. Reconciling items to the 

Group’s reported assets and liabilities include consolidation elimi-

nations, all tax-related balances as well as items of a financial, 

interest bearing nature, including post-employment benefit assets 

and provisions.

Asymmetrical allocations affecting the segments relate primarily 

to post-employment benefits where non-financial expenses are 

allocated to the segments although the related provision is not.

Additionally inter-segment receivables and payables relating to 

sales between segments, are not allocated to the segments as such 

items are sold to and settled directly with SKF Treasury Centre, the 

Group’s internal bank, thereby becoming financial in nature.
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Two-wheelers and Electrical, 2% 
Motorcycles, scooters and skates. Home appliances, 

portable power tools and electric motors. 

Industrial distribution, 28% 
Sales through industrial distributors. 

Industry, general, 12% 
Automation, machine tools, industrial 

drives, medical and health care.

Industry, heavy and special, 8% 
Heavy industrial machinery:  

metals, mining and cement, pulp  

and paper.  Special machinery: 

marine, food and beverage. 
Aerospace, 7% 

Aircraft and helicopter 

 builders, aero- engine, 

gearbox, and other 

 aircraft  systems 

 manufacturers.

Energy, 6% 

Renewable energy  

and traditional energy. 

Railway, 4% 

Passenger, locomotives and freight cars.

Off-highway, 4% 
Construction, agriculture and  

forestry and fork lift trucks.

Cars and light trucks, 15% 
Cars and light truck manufacturers and their sub-suppliers.

Vehicle aftermarket, 9% 
Spare-part kits products for 

cars, trucks and two- wheelers.

Trucks, 5% 

Truck, trailer and bus manufac turers  

and their sub-suppliers. 

Cars and light 

trucks, 49%

Vehicle aftermarket, 27%

Two-wheelers and Electrical, 6%
Other, 2%

Trucks, 16%

Net sales by customer industry – Automotive

Industrial 

distribution, 40%

Industry, general, 17%

Aerospace, 9%

Energy, 8%

Industry, heavy 

and special, 12%

Other, 4%

Off-highway, 5%

Railway, 5%

Net sales by customer industry – Industrial

As from 2016 Industrial is structured according to a functional 

approach and is managed as one segment comprising six different 

functional organizations: Industrial Sales Americas, Industrial Sales 

Europe and Middle East and Africa, Industrial Sales Asia, Business 

and Product Development, Bearing Operations, and Aerospace. 

Industrial sells to customers in the global industrial market, directly 

and indirectly through SKF’s worldwide distributor network. Key 

customers are companies within heavy industry (such as metals, 

mining, cement, pulp and paper, and off-highway), general industry 

(such as automation, machine tool and industrial drives), railway, 

marine and energy (such as wind, oil and gas) and aerospace. 

These customer industries are served both directly to OEMs and 

end-users as well as indirectly through SKF’s network of industrial 

distributors. 

Automotive sells to customers in the global automotive market, 

directly or indirectly through SKF’s distributor network. Key cus-

tomers are manufacturers of cars, light and heavy trucks, trailers, 

buses, two-wheelers and the vehicle aftermarket. 

For more information on the customer industries and related 

products, see the Administration report pages 50–53.

Previously published segment information has been restated to 

current segment definition being Industial and Automotive custom-

ers. The main change related to the Specialty segment which was 

moved into Industrial and Automotive based on type of customer.
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Net sales are allocated according to the location of the respective 

 customer. Of the Group’s total net sales by customer location, 21% 

(22) were located in the USA, 14% (14) in China, and 12% (12) in 

 Germany. Non-current assets exclude financial assets, deferred tax 

assets and post-employment benefit assets.  Non-current assets 

are allocated according to the location of the subsidiaries. Of the 

Group’s total non-current assets as defined above, 40% (45) were 

located in the USA, 15% (14) in Germany, and 10% (10) in China. 

Net sales
 Sales including  

intra-Group sales
Contribution to  
profit before tax

SEKm 2016 20151) 2016 20151) 2016 20151)

Industrial 50,756 54,132 57,053 60,692 6,103 6,229

Automotive 22,005 21,842 23,423 23,167 1,424 739

Subtotal operating segments 72,761 75,974 80,476 83,859 7,527 6,968
Other units 26 23 101 211 — —

Eliminations of intra Group sales — — – 7,790 –8,073 — —

Financial net — — — — –788 –1,134

Total 72,787 75,997 72,787 75,997 6,739 5,834

Depreciation and  
amortization  Impairments

 Additions to property,  
plant and equipment  
and  intangible assets

SEKm 2016 20151) 2016 20151) 2016 20151)

Industrial 1,851 1,973 50 384 1,229 1,490

Automotive 450 446 17 55 520 394

Eliminations and unallocated items — — — — 460 426

Total 2,301 2,419 67 439 2,209 2,310

Assets Liabilities

SEKm 2016 20151) 2016 20151)

Industrial 48,703 49,368 9,351 8,381

Automotive 14,054 12,568 4,717 3,592

Subtotal operating segments 62,757 61,936 14,068 11,973
Financial and tax items 16,805 13,987 36,335 36,435

Eliminations and other unallocated items 4,345 3,810 5,821 5,043

Total 83,907 79,733 56,224 53,451
1) Previously published figures have been restated.  

Geographic disclosure  
SEKm

Net sales by  
customer location Non-current assets

2016 2015 2016 2015

Sweden 1,784 1,799 3,776 3,379

Europe excl. Sweden 27,652 28,033 11,093 10,852

North America (incl. Mexico) 18,263 19,876 15,273 17,469

Asia-Pacific 19,039 19,806 5,165 5,295

Middle East/Africa 1,931 1,998 86 72

Latin America 4,118 4,485 710 495

Eliminations — — –499 –666

Total 72,787 75,997 35,604 36,896

Notes Group

Latin America, 5%

Middle East/Africa, 3%

Asia-Pacific, 25%

North America, 25%

Europe, 42%

Net sales by geographic area

Latin America, 5%

Middle East/Africa, 4%

Asia-Pacific, 25%

North America, 26%

Europe, 40%

Net sales by geographic area 
 Industrial

Latin America, 7%

Asia-Pacific, 25%

North America, 24%

Europe, 44%

Net sales by geographic area 
 Automotive
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Note 3 | Acquisitions

Accounting policy 
All business combinations are accounted for in accordance with  

the purchase method. At the date of acquisition, when control is 

obtained, the acquired assets, assumed liabilities and contingent 

liabilities (net identifiable assets) are measured at fair value.

Any excess of the cost of acquisition over fair values of net ident-

ifiable assets of the acquired business is recognized as goodwill. 

Companies acquired during the year are included in the financial 

statements as of acquisition date.

SEKm 2016 2015

Total fair value of net assets acquired
Property, plant and equipment 1 8

Current assets 26 71

Current liabilities –19 –32

Fair value net assets acquired 8 47
Goodwill 56 87

Total acquisition cost 64 134
Consideration payable — –14

Cash and cash equivalents acquired –4 –18

Cash outflow 60 102

In 2016, SKF had total net cash outflows of SEK 60 m for the 

acquisition of a lubrication business in Sweden.

In 2015, SKF had total net cash outflows of SEK 102 m for  

the acquisition of a distribution business in South Africa. 

Note 4 | Divestment of businesses

SEKm 2016 2015

Goodwill 1,791 556

Other intangible assets 1,319 394

Property, plant and equipment 212 52

Current assets 590 110

Deferred tax provisions –518 –109

Non current liabilities –2 —

Current liabilities –192 –8

Non controlling interest — 41

Net assets disposed of 3,200 1,036
Profit 15 171

Impairment on goodwill in divested 
 company — –42

Total consideration 3,215 1,165
Cash and cash equivalents divested –84 —

Cash inflow for divestments in  
previous years 15 —

Total cash inflow 3,146 1,165

During 2016, the Group divested businesses for a total cash flow of 

SEK 3,146 m resulting in a profit of SEK 15 m.

In June 2016, SKF completed the divestments of the Fly-by-wire 

business to LORD corporation. The total consideration of the divest-

ment was around EUR 40 m on a cash-free and debt-free basis. 

Also divested in June 2016 was Kaydon Velocity Control business 

to Stabilus. The total consideration of the deal was approximately 

USD 340 on a cash-free and debt-free basis.

During 2015, SKF divested businesses for a total cash flow of 

SEK 1,165 m resulting in a profit of SEK 171 m.

In May 2015, SKF completed the divestment of Erin Engineering 

and Research, Inc. to Jensen Hughes, a US-based engineering con-

sultancy for the built environment. The total consideration of the 

deal was around SEK 230 m on a cash-free and debt-free basis.

In June 2015, SKF sold two filtration businesses, Purafil and 

 Kaydon Custom Filtration, to Filtration Group Corporation, an affili-

ate of Madison Industries. The total consideration for the divest-

ment was around USD 90 m on a cash-free and debt-free basis.

In August 2015, SKF completed the divestment of Canfield Tech-

nologies, Inc. to Gen Cap America, a private equity firm headquar-

tered in Nashville, Tennessee. The total consideration of the divest-

ment was around USD 23 m on a cash and debt-free basis. In June 

2015, SKF sold 25.81% of its share in PT SKF Indonesia, reducing 

SKF’s ownership to 60%. 
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Note 5 | Research and development

Research and development expenditure, excluding developing IT 

solutions, totalled SEK 2,246 m (2,372), corresponding to 3.1% 

(3.1) of annual sales. For more information on the research and 

development expenditures see page 20. 

Note 6 | Expenses by nature

SEKm 2016 2015

Employee benefit expenses including social charges 22,770 23,920

Raw material and components consumed, including traded products 22,964 24,617

Change in work in process and finished goods 1,275 331

Depreciation, amortization and impairments 2,368 2,858

Other expenses, primarily purchased services, shop supplies and utilities 15,875 17,360

Total operating expenses 65,252 69,086

Depreciation, amortization and impair-
ments were accounted for as (SEKm)

2016 2015

Depre ciation
Amorti-

zation
Impair-
ments Total Depre ciation

Amorti-
zation

Impair-
ments Total

Cost of goods sold 1,711 101 19 1,831 1,765 113 218 2,096

Selling expenses 102 387 48 537 99 442 129 670

Other operating expenses — — — — — — 92 92

Total 1,813 488 67 2,368 1,864 555 439 2,858

Note 7 | Other operating income and expenses

SEKm 2016 2015

Other operating income
Exchange gains on trade receivables/payables 303 377

Profit from sale of property, plant and equipment 34 63

Profit from associated companies 8 4

Profit from divestment of businesses 174 171

Other 123 101

Total 642 716

Other operating expenses
Exchange losses on trade receivables/payables –365 –511

Loss from sale of property, plant and equipment –23 –17

Loss on divestment of businesses –159 –42

Other –103 –89

Total –650 –659
Other operating income and expenses, net –8 57
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Note 9 | Taxes

Accounting policy
Income tax include current taxes on profits, deferred taxes and 

other taxes such as taxes on capital, actual or potential withholding 

on current and expected transfers of income from Group compa-

nies and tax adjustments relating to prior years. Income taxes are 

recognized in the income statement, except to the extent that they 

relate to items directly taken to other comprehensive income or to 

equity, in which case they are recognized in other comprehensive 

income or directly in equity.

All the companies within the Group compute current income taxes 

in accordance with the tax rules and regulations of the countries 

where the income is taxable. Provisions have been made in the 

financial statements for estimated taxes on earnings of subsidiaries 

expected to be remitted in the following year, but not for taxes, 

which may arise on distribution of the remaining unrestricted 

earnings of  foreign  subsidiaries as they can be distributed free of 

tax or as the Group does not intend to internally distribute them in 

the foreseeable future.

The Group applies the required balance sheet approach for 

measuring deferred taxes, where deferred tax assets and provi-

sions are recorded based on enacted tax rates for the expected 

future tax consequences of existing differences between account-

ing and tax reporting bases of assets and liabilities, as well as for 

tax loss and tax credit carry-forwards. Such tax loss and tax credit 

carry-forwards can be used to  offset future income. 

Note 8 | Financial income and financial expenses

SEKm 2016 2015

Interest income 107 108

Interest expense –436 –640

Net gains/losses:

Net interest cost on post-employment benefits –355 –377

Exchange differences, net –38 –154

Other financial income including dividends 56 133

Other financial expense –122 –204

Financial net –788 –1,134

Interest expense amounted to SEK –436 m (–640), 2015 included 

around SEK –270 m related to the buy-back of the bonds. The 

exchange differences, net included SEK –100 m (–140) related to 

negative revaluation effects due to currency developments in Latin 

America. Other financial expense included costs related to unwinding 

the dis count on provisions, bank charges and other transaction- 

related costs.

The below table specifies which category of financial instrument 

that gave rise to the financial income and expense as described 

above. For a specification of the underlying financial assets and 

financial liabilities to these categories see Note 13 and Note 19.

2016 2015

Financial net specified by category of financial instruments (SEKm)
Interest 
 income

Interest 
 expense

Net gains/ 
losses

Interest 
 income

Interest 
 expense

Net gains/ 
losses

Financial assets/liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Designated upon initial recognition –16 — — — — —

Derivatives held for trading — 21 –76 7 220 –1,793

Derivatives held for hedge accounting — — 2 — — 497

Financial assets classified as loans and receivables 123 — 1,043 101 — 1,098

Other financial liabilities, primarily loans — –457 –952 — –860 176

Other liabilities including post-employment benefits — — –476 — — –580

Total 107 –436 –459 108 –640 –602

Derivatives classified as held for trading are mainly used for economic 

hedging. Net gains/losses are mainly exchange differences and 

changes in fair value for all the categories except for other liabilities, 

which includes primarily net interest costs on post-employment 

 benefits and other financial expenses. 
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2016 2015

Gross deferred taxes per type (SEKm)
Deferred 

tax assets

Deferred 
tax 

 provisions
Deferred 

tax assets

Deferred 
tax 

 provisions

Intangibles and other assets –130 2,347 –191 2,828

Property, plant and equipment –31 999 –46 1,075

Inventories –469 455 –460 474

Trade receivables –77 5 –56 5

Provisions for post-employment benefits –3,240 36 –3,240 12

Other accruals and liabilities –770 16 –773 100

Tax loss carry-forwards –1,264 — –1,215 —

Other –419 116 –415 90

Gross deferred taxes –6,400 3,974 –6,396 4,584

Net deferred taxes presented in the Consolidated balance sheet –3,806 1,380 –3,185 1,373

Accounting estimates and judgements
Significant management judgment is required in determining cur-

rent tax liabilities and assets as well as deferred tax provisions and 

assets. The process involves estimating the current tax together 

with assessing temporary differences arising from differing treat-

ment of items for tax and accounting purposes. In particular, 

 management assesses the likelihood that deferred tax assets will 

be recoverable from future taxable income. 
Deferred tax assets are recorded to the extent that it is probable 

in management’s opinion that sufficient future taxable income will 

be  available to allow the  recognition of such benefits.

Cont. Note 9

2016 2015

Tax expense (SEKm)
Income 

 statement

Other 
 comprehensive 

income Total taxes
Income 

 statement

Other 
 comprehensive 

income Total taxes

Current taxes –2,198 — –2,198 –2,198 — –2,198

Deferred taxes –332 473 141 438 –695 –257

Total –2,530 473 –2,057 –1,760 –695 –2,455

Taxes charged to other comprehensive income included SEK 423 m 

(–334) related to remeasurements of post employment benefits, 

SEK –4 m (–10) related to cash flow hedges and SEK 54 m (–351) 

related to net investment hedges.

Reconciliation of the statutory tax in Sweden to the actual tax (SEKm) 2016 2015

Tax calculated using statutory tax rate in Sweden –1,483 –1,284

Difference between statutory tax rate in Sweden and foreign subsidiaries –520 –507

Other taxes –106 –40

Tax credits and similar items 97 67

Non-deductible/non-taxable differences –419 179

Change in tax rate — 1

Tax loss carry-forwards –105 –148

Current tax referring to previous years –17 17

Other 23 –45

Actual tax –2,530 –1,760

The corporate statutory income tax rate in Sweden was 22.0% (22.0). 

The actual tax rate on profit before taxes was 37.5% (30.2). 

The non-deductible/non-taxable differences included tax costs of 

divestment of business in 2016 and 2015 and non-taxable trans-

lation gains in 2015.

The tax loss carry-forwards included losses created during the 

year not recognized as tax assets.
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Note 10 | Intangible assets

Accounting policy
Intangible assets are stated at initial cost less any accumulated 

amortization and any impairment. Amortization is made on a 

straight line basis over the estimated useful lives and begins once 

the asset is ready for its intended use. The new ERP system (Unite) 

will follow another amortization pattern, effective from 2017 when 

amortization starts, as described below under internally developed 

intangibles. The useful lives are based to a large extent on historical 

experience, the expected application, as well as other individual 

characteristics of the asset.

The useful lives are:

• Patents and similar rights up to 11 years;

• Software in use 4–12 years;

• Customer relationships 10–15 years;

• Product development expenditures 3–7 years;

• Technology acquired in business combinations 15–18 years;

• Other intangibles 3–5 years;

• Strategic tradenames indefinite

• Goodwill indefinite

Amortization and impairments are included in cost of goods sold, 

selling expenses or administrative expenses depending on where 

the assets have been used.

Internally developed intangibles
The Group’s most significant internally developed intangibles are 

software in use, developed for internal purposes and to a minor 

extent product development. The amortization plan for Unite is a 

straight line method following the implementation plan during the 

useful life period of twelve years. This amortization plan reflects 

when the assets will be ready for its intended use in each of the 

SKF legal units. For 2017 to 2019 the yearly amortization will be 

around 3% of the amount capitalized for Unite at the end of 2016. 

The expected useful life for Unite ends 2028.

Intangible assets with definite useful lives
Intangible assets with definite useful lives are tested for impair-

ment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that 

the carrying value may not be recoverable. The determination is 

usually performed at the cash generating unit (CGU) level but could 

also be at the individual asset level.

Factors that are considered important are:

• Underperformance relative to historical and forecasted 

 operating results;

• Significant negative industry or economic trends;

• Significant changes relative to the asset including plans to dis-

continue or restructure the operation to which the asset belongs. 

When there is an indication that the carrying value may not be 

recoverable based on the above indicators, the profitability of the 

CGU to which the asset belongs is analyzed to further confirm the 

nature and extent of the indication. If an indication is confirmed,  

an impairment loss is recognized to the extent that the carrying 

amount of the affected assets exceeds its recoverable amount.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives
Goodwill and other intangible assets with indefinite useful lives 

have been allocated to CGUs, and are tested for impairment annu-

ally and whenever an indication of impairment exists. The impair-

ment test is carried out at the lowest level at which these assets 

are monitored by management.

The 2016 reorganization of the Group into a functional organi-

zation, see Note 2, further intensifies the development of the busi-

ness synergies with acquired companies which are being incorpo-

rated into the ordinary SKF operations, as each of the segments 

become fully integrated. The result being that independent cash 

flows cannot be identified on lower than segment level, and the CGU 

structure has been changed accordingly so that acquired busi-

nesses that used to be tested for impairment separately, are now 

merged into the CGUs for Industrial and Automotive, with the 

exception of some CGUs mentioned in Other CGUs below.

Realizability of net deferred tax assets are assessed by manage-

ment based on the individual company’s profitability history, fore-

casts of taxable profits as well as length to expiry of the asset.

The SKF Group had total unrecognized deferred tax assets of 

SEK 421 m (600), whereof SEK 264 m (164) related to tax loss 

carry-forwards, SEK 0 m (255) related to tax credits and SEK 157 

m (181) related to other deductible temporary differences. These 

were not recognized due to the uncertainty of future profit 

streams. 

Unrecognized deferred tax assets of SEK 43 m (25) related to 

tax losses and SEK 0 m (70) related to tax credits will expire during 

the period 2017 to 2021. The remaining unrecognized assets will 

expire after 2022 and/or may be carried forward indefinitely. 

The change in the balance of unrecognized deferred tax assets 

that reduced current tax expense was SEK 335 m (30) relating to 

the use of tax loss carry-forwards. The change in the balance of 

unrecognized deferred tax assets that increased deferred tax 

expense was SEK 91 m (137) which resulted from a revised judge-

ment on the realizability of certain tax assets in future years. 

Gross value of tax loss carry-forwards
At 31 December, 2016, the Group had tax loss carry-forwards 

amounting to SEK 6,750 m (5,974), which are available for offset 

against taxable future profits. Such tax loss carry-forward expire 

as follows:

2017 72

2018 73

2019 142

2020 123

2021 77

2022 and thereafter 767

Never 5,496
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The DCF model involves the forecasting of future operating cash 

flows and includes estimates of revenues, production costs and 

working capital requirements, as well as a number of assumptions, 

the most significant being the revenue growth rates and the dis-

count rate. These forecasts of future operating cash flows are built 

up from the following time frames, which reflects the Group’s long 

business cycle: 

• business strategic plans for a three-year period representing 

management’s best estimates of future revenues and operating 

expenses using historical trends, general market conditions, 

industry trends and forecasts and other currently available 

information;

• estimates are extrapolated for another seven years using growth 

rates determined on an individual CGU basis, reflecting a combi-

nation of product, industry and country growth factors;

• a terminal value is then calculated based on the Gordon Growth 

model, which includes a terminal growth factor representing an 

outlook not exceeding the market growth for the industry.

Forecasts of future operating cash flows are adjusted to present 

value by an appropriate discount rate derived from the Group’s cost 

of capital, taking into account the long-term government bond rate, 

the corporate spread, the market risk premium, the country risk 

premium where applicable, and the systematic risk of the CGU at 

the date of evaluation. Management determines the discount rate 

to be used based on the risk inherent in the related activity’s 

 current business model and industry comparisons.

SEKm

2016 
 Closing 
 balance Additions

Businesses 
 acquired/

sold Disposals
Impair-
ments Other

Translation 
 effects

2016 
 Opening 
 balance

Acquisition cost

Goodwill 12,470 — –1,735 — — — 858 13,347

Patents, tradenames and similar rights 3,031 — –274 — — — 226 3,079

Internally developed software 2,317 327 2 — — — 7 1,981

Customer relationships 4,964 — –836 — — — 363 5,437

Leaseholds 235 — –3 — — –1 4 235

Product development 292 13 –147 — — — 17 409

Technology 1,127 — –353 — — — — 1,480

Other intangible assets 211 — –40 –5 — 15 96 145

Total 24,647 340 –3,386 –5 — 14 1,571 26,113

SEKm

2016  
Closing 
 balance

Amortiza-
tions

Businesses 
 acquired/

sold Disposals
Impair-
ments Other

Translation 
 effects

2016 
 Opening 
 balance

Accumulated amortization and  
impairments

Goodwill 1,333 — — — — — 64 1,269

Patents, tradenames and similar rights 389 22 — — — — 15 352

Internally developed software 751 7 — — 30 — 6 708

Customer relationships 2,001 328 –151 — — — 131 1,693

Leaseholds 72 10 — — 16 — 2 44

Product development 156 30 –21 — — — 6 141

Technology 302 91 –80 — — –3 — 294

Other intangible assets 75 — –80 –2 — 4 26 127

Total 5,079 488 –332 –2 46 1 250 4,628

Net book value 19,568 21,485

Cont. Note 10 

Accounting estimates and judgements
Significant management judgement is required in determining if 

development expenditures should be capitalized. Such expenses 

are only capitalized when it is probable that they will result in 

future economic benefits for the Group and the expenditures during 

the development phase can be reliably measured. The Group 

applies stringent criteria before a development project results in 

the recording of an asset, which include the ability to complete the 

project, evidence of technical feasibility, intention and ability to use 

or sell the asset. When evaluating software for internal use, man-

agement specifically considers new functionality and/or increased 

standard of performance to be strong evidence that future eco-

nomic benefits will be achieved. In evaluating product development 

projects, management considers the existence of a customer order 

as significant evidence of technological and economic feasibility. All 

other research expenditures as well as development expenditures 

not meeting the capitalization criteria, are charged to cost of goods 

sold in the income statement when incurred. 

When there is an indication that the carrying value may not be 

recoverable, the carrying amount of the asset is compared against 

its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the greater  

of the estimated fair value less costs to sell and value in use.  

In assessing value in use, a discounted cash flow model (DCF) is 

used. This assessment contains a key source of estimation un -

certainty because the estimates and assumptions used in the DCF 

model encompass uncertainty about future events and market 

conditions. The actual outcomes may be significantly different. 

However, estimates and assumptions are reviewed by management 

and are  consistent with internal forecasts and the business outlook.
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SEKm

2015 
 Closing 
 balance Additions

Businesses 
 acquired/

sold Disposals
Impair-
ments Other

Translation 
 effects

2015 
 Opening 
 balance

Acquisition cost

Goodwill 13,347 — –469 — — — 502 13,314

Patents, tradenames and similar rights 3,079 1 –83 — — — 152 3,009

Internally developed software 1,981 198 — — — — — 1,783

Customer relationships 5,437 2 –257 — — — 227 5,465

Leaseholds 235 31 — — — — 4 200

Product development 409 11 — –5 — — –9 412

Technology 1,480 3 –108 — — — 60 1,525

Other intangible assets 145 1 — — — — –3 147

Total 26,113 247 –917 –5 — — 933 25,855

SEKm

2015  
Closing 
 balance

Amortiza-
tions

Businesses 
 sold Disposals

Impair-
ments Other

Translation 
 effects

2015 
 Opening 
 balance

Accumulated amortization and  
impairments

Goodwill 1,269 — –42 — 188 — 42 1,081

Patents, tradenames and similar rights 352 30 –9 — — — –9 340

Internally developed software 708 23 — — 210 — — 475

Customer relationships 1,693 363 –29 — — — 26 1,333

Leaseholds 44 12 — — — — 1 31

Product development 141 23 — –5 — — –4 127

Technology 294 102 –16 — — — 5 203

Other intangible assets 127 2 — — — — –2 127

Total 4,628 555 –96 –5 398 — 59 3,717

Net book value 21,485 22,138

Impairment losses
Impairments amounted to SEK –46 m in 2016, of which SEK –16 m 

related to leaseholds and the remaining SEK –30 m related to 

internally developed software which is described below under 

 Significant intangibles. 

Impairments amounted to SEK –398 m in 2015, of which SEK 

–188 m related to goodwill and the remaining SEK –210 m related 

to internally developed software which is described below under 

Significant intangibles. SEK –96 m of the goodwill impairments 

related to the Actuation and Linear Motion business in  Taiwan, 

where recent changes in strategic direction have not yet had the 

impact on profitability as expected. The remaining impairments for 

2015 included SEK –42 m related to Canfield Corporation which 

was sold during the year, and SEK –50 m related to a smaller heat 

transfer coil and tube machinery business operating in the US.

Intangibles with indefinite useful lives
Certain tradenames and trademarks are considered to have indefi-

nite useful lives as the Group anticipates to continue to promote 

these brands in the foreseeable future. This includes the trade-

names and trademarks in Lincoln SEK 1,345 m (1,237), Kaydon 

Friction SEK 702 m (645), Peer SEK 227 m (210), GBC SEK 207 m 

(191) and others SEK 105 m (110).
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Significant intangibles 
Internally generated software related primarily to the development 

of Unite to create and deploy improved processes and solutions 

across the Group. The balance of capitalized expenditures in 2016 

was SEK 1,572 m (1,279). No amortization was made in 2016. The 

first implementation of the software was in the first quarter 2017, 

hence the amortization starts for the part in use. Useful life is twelve 

years as described in the accounting policy. An impartment of SEK 

–30 m was made due to changes of on-premise licenses for a cloud 

solution. In 2015, the impairment of SEK –210 m of the capitalized 

software was made due to anticipated changes in one of the tech-

nical platforms that would result in scrapping of several modules. 

Other individual intangible assets that are material for the Group 

include the customer relationship intangibles for Lincoln amounting 

to SEK 1,333 m (1,381) having a remaining useful life of nine years, 

and for Kaydon amounting to SEK 1,159 m (1,859) having a 

remaining useful life of twelve years.

CGUs with significant intangibles
As a result of the reorganization in 2016 and the further integra-

tion of the acquired companies into the ordinary SKF operation, the 

CGU structure has changed accordingly. The CGUs follow the seg-

ment reporting with the exception of some minor businesses in 

Industrial that are tested as separate CGUs, see below Other CGUs.

The table below shows goodwill and other intangibles with in -

definite useful lives allocated to the CGUs Industrial and Automotive, 

as well as some crucial rates that were used for the DCF calculation.

20161) 2015

Industrial
Auto-

motive LUB2)
Kaydon 
Friction

Kaydon 
Velocity

Goodwill, SEKm 8,954 483 4,310 3,165 1,749

Tradenames, 
SEKm 2,178 210 1,237 645 270

Average revenue  
growth rate 3.5% 3.0% 2.3% 4.1% 5.1%

Discount rate,  
pre tax 11.8% 10.9% 10.1% 10.5% 10.8%

Terminal growth 
factor 2.5% 2.5% 2.5% 3.0% 3.0%

1)  As a result of the reorganization in 2016, the CGUs follow the segment 
reporting with the exception of some minor businesses in Industrial that  
are tested as separate CGUs.

2) Lubrication business

The recoverable amounts used in the testing of the CGUs have 

been calculated based on value in use using the DCF model as 

described in Accounting estimates and judgements. The most sig-

nificant assumptions are the discount rate and the growth rates, 

being both the revenue growth rates and the terminal growth fac-

tor. Revenue growth rates are expressed in the above table as the 

average growth rate over the ten-year forecast period. The same 

discount rate is applied to all cash flows in the ten-year forecast 

period. Additional information on the forecast period as well as the 

discount rate and growth rates and how they are calculated is 

described in accounting estimates and judgements above.

A number of sensitivity analyses were performed to evaluate if 

any reasonable possible adverse changes in assumptions would 

lead to impairment. The analyses focused around decreasing the 

revenue growth rates, and increasing the discount rate by two per-

centage points, each taken individually and while holding all other 

assumptions constant. No impairment needs were indicated.

Other CGUs
The Group has three other CGUs, which contain individually identi-

fied goodwill and intangibles with indefinite useful lives. These 

CGUs have value in use calculations using the same common DCF 

methodology as described in the accounting policy, with estimates 

and assumptions determined on an individual CGU basis. No impair-

ment needs were identified.

Cont. Note 10 
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Note 11 | Property, plant and equipment

Accounting policy
Machinery and supply systems, land, buildings, tools, office equip-

ment and vehicles are stated in the balance sheet at cost, less 

accumulated depreciation and any impairment loss. A component 

approach to depreciation is applied. This means that where items  

of PPE are comprised of different components having a cost signifi-

cant in relation to the total cost of the items, such components are 

depreciated separately. Depreciation is provided on a straight-line 

basis and is calculated based on cost. The rates of depreciation are 

based on the estimated useful lives of the assets, which are subject 

to annual review. 

The useful lives are:

• 33 years for buildings and installations;

• 10–20 years for machinery and supply systems;

• 10 years for control systems within machinery  

and supply systems;

• 4–5 years for tools, office equipment and vehicles.

Depreciation and impairments are included in cost of goods sold, 

selling expenses or administrative expenses depending on where 

the assets have been used.

Accounting estimates and judgments
The useful lives are based upon estimates of the periods during 

which the assets will generate revenue and are based to a large 

extent on historical experience of usage and technological develop-

ment. 

PPE is tested for impairment whenever events or changes  

in circumstanses indicates that the carrying value may not be 

recoverable. 

Geographical distribution of property, plant and equipment 2015–2016 

29%

Asia / Pacific

31%

5%

Eastern Europe

5%

4%

Latin America

3%

15%

North America

15%

10%

Sweden

10%

37%

Western Europe 

excl. Sweden 

36%

2016

2015
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SEKm

2016 
 Closing 
 balance Additions

Businesses 
 acquired/

sold Disposals
Impair-
ments Other1)

Translation 
 effects

2016 
 Opening 
 balance

Acquisition cost

Buildings 8,084 115 –95 –79 — 216 342 7,585

Land and land improvements 797 5 –28 –13 — –81 47 867

Machinery and supply systems 29,139 566 –119 –250 — 614 1,128 27,200

Machine toolings and factory fittings 3,960 138 –1 –120 — 30 191 3,722

Construction in process including advances2) 1,790 1,045 –6 — — –1,101 88 1,764

Total 43,770 1,869 –249 –462 — –322 1 796 41,138

SEKm

2016 
 Closing 
 balance

Deprecia-
tion

Businesses 
sold Disposals

Impair-
ments Other1)

Translation 
 effects

2016 
Opening 
 balance

Accumulated depreciation and  impairments

Buildings 3,845 228 –2 –54 4 –18 160 3,527

Land improvements 191 57 — –2 1 –72 10 197

Machinery and supply systems 20,604 1,326 –39 –233 4 –166 759 18,953

Machine toolings and factory fittings 3,384 202 3 –101 12 –60 170 3,158

Total 28,024 1,813 –38 –390 21 –316 1,099 25,835

Net book value 15,746 15,303

SEKm

2015 
 Closing 
 balance Additions

Businesses 
 acquired/

sold Disposals
Impair-
ments Other1)

Translation 
 effects

2015 
 Opening 
 balance

Acquisition cost

Buildings 7,585 244 –27 –36 — 150 –196 7,450

Land and land improvements 867 — –8 –2 — 6 –22 893

Machinery and supply systems 27,200 612 –20 –242 — 388 –529 26,991

Machine toolings and factory fittings 3,722 131 11 –92 — –7 –82 3,761

Construction in process including advances 1,764 1,076 –4 6 — –861 –19 1,566

Total 41,138 2,063 –48 –366 — –324 –848 40,661

SEKm

2015 
 Closing 
 balance

Deprecia-
tion

Businesses 
sold Disposals

Impair-
ments Other1)

Translation 
 effects

2015 
 Opening 
 balance

Accumulated depreciation and  impairments

Buildings 3,527 245 –3 –31 — –7 –107 3,430

Land improvements 197 10 — — — 2 –9 194

Machinery and supply systems 18,953 1,331 –7 –186 41 –224 –459 18,457

Machine toolings and factory fittings 3,158 278 6 –67 — –98 –59 3,098

Total 25,835 1,864 –4 –284 41 –327 –634 25,179

Net book value 15,303 15,482

1) Includes primarily reclassification between categories.
2) Contractual commitments for acquisition of PPE not yet booked amounted to SEK 275 m.

Cont. Note 11 
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Note 12 | Inventories

Accounting policy
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost (first-in, first-out basis) 

or market value (net realizable value). Initially raw materials and 

purchased finished goods are valued at actual purchase costs and 

work in process and manufactured finished goods are valued at 

actual production costs. Production costs include direct costs such 

as material and labour, as well as manufacturing overhead as 

appropriate. 

Accounting estimates and judgements
Adjustments to the cost of inventory may be necessary when the 

cost exceeds net realizable value. Net realizable value is defined as 

selling price less costs to complete and costs to sell. The estimates 

used in determining net realizable value are a source of estimation 

uncertainty. As future selling prices and selling costs are not known 

at the time of assessment, management’s best estimates are used 

based on current price and cost levels. Adjustments to net realizable 

value also include estimates of technical and commercial obsoles-

cence on an individual subsidiary basis. Commercial obsolescence is 

assessed by the rate of turnover and ageing as risk indicators.

SEKm 2016 2015

Finished goods 9,036 8,560

Raw materials and supplies 4,883 4,328

Work in process 1,499 1,631

Total 15,418 14,519

Inventory values are stated net of a provision for net realizable value 

of SEK 1,566 m (1,409). The amount charged to expense for net 

realizable provisions during the year was SEK 204 m (105). Rever-

sals of net  realizable provisions during the year were SEK 14 m (28).

Note 13 | Financial assets

Accounting policy
Financial assets are recognized in the balance sheets when the 

Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of a financial 

instrument. Financial instruments are initially recorded at fair value, 

which is normally equal to cost. Transaction costs are included in 

the initial measurement of financial assets that are not subsequently 

measured at fair value through the income statement. Settlement 

day recognition is applied for regular way purchases and sales of 

financial assets.

Financial assets categorized as loans and receivables are meas-

ured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. Impair-

ment losses (primarily allowance for doubtful accounts) are recog-

nized if management believes that sufficient objective evidence exists 

indicating that the asset may not be recovered. For disclosure pur-

poses, fair values have been calculated using valuation techniques, 

mainly discounted cash flow analyses based on observable market 

data. For current receivables and liabilities (such as trade receivables 

and payables) the carrying amount is considered to correspond to 

fair value. 

Debt securities and equity securities categorized as available- 

for-sale are valued at fair value based on the current bid price for 

the securities. Equity securities without a quoted price are held at 

cost because their fair value cannot be measured reliably.

Financial instruments are designated at fair value through profit 

or loss when the Group manages such investments and makes pur-

chase and sale decisions based on their fair value. Derivatives are 

categorized as held for trading unless subject to hedge accounting. 

Financial assets are derecognized when the contractual rights 

to the cash flow have expired or been transferred together with 

substantially all risks and rewards. 

Accounting estimates and judgements
An allowance for doubtful accounts for expected losses on trade 

receivables is maintained. When evaluating the need for an allow-

ance, management considers the aging of trade receivable balances, 

historical write-off experience, customer creditworthiness and 

changes in customer payment terms. 

Where discounted cash flow techniques are used, the future cash 

flows are determined (if not stated explicit in the contract) based on 

the best assessment by management and discounted using the 

market interest rate for similar instruments. 
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Financial assets per category 2016
Fair value through  

profit or loss

SEKm
Loans and 

receivables
Available-  

for-sale
At initial 

 recognition Trading

Derivatives  
for hedge 

 accounting Total
Of which 
 cur rent

Trade receivables 13,462 — — — — 13,462 13,462

Cash and cash equivalent 3,108 — 6,831 — — 9,939 9,939

Equity securities — 498 — — — 498 —

Marketable securities — — — 670 — 670 —

Deposits 824 — — — — 824 824

Derivatives — — — 187 13 200 151

Loans and receivables 111 — — — — 111 4

Debt securities — 21 168 — — 189 168

Carrying amount 17,505 519 6,999 857 13 25,893 24,548
Fair value 17,505 519 6,999 857 13

Financial assets per category 2015
Fair value through  

profit or loss

SEKm
Loans and 

receivables
Available-  

for-sale
At initial 

 recognition Trading

Derivatives  
for hedge 

 accounting Total
Of which 
 cur rent

Trade receivables 11,777 — — — — 11,777 11,777

Cash and cash equivalent 2,340 — 4,878 — — 7,218 7,218

Equity securities — 703 — — — 703 —

Marketable securities — — — 607 — 607 —

Deposits 783 — — — — 783 783

Derivatives — — — 411 14 425 410

Loans and receivables 128 — — — — 128 25

Debt securities — 20 64 — — 84 64

Carrying amount 15,028 723 4,942 1,018 14 21,725 20,277
Fair value 15,028 723 4,942 1,018 14

Financial assets categorized as loans and receivables are non- 

derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that 

are not quoted in an active market. This includes trade receivables, 

loans granted, funds held with banks and deposits comprising prin-

cipally of funds held with landlords and other service providers, for 

which substantially all initial investment is expected to be recovered. 

Debt securities and strategic investments in equity securities are 

categorized as available-for-sale. The exception is debt securities 

held by SKF Treasury Centre which are categorized as fair value 

through profit or loss at initial recognition.

Financial instruments are designated at fair value through profit 

or loss when the Group manages such investments and makes pur-

chase and sale decisions based on their fair value. Derivatives are 

categorized as held for trading unless subject to hedge  accounting.

Cont. Note 13
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Fair value hierarchy for financial assets 
at fair value (SEKm) Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 2016 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 2015

Available-for-sale

Equity securities 459 — — 459 665 — — 665

Debt securities 21 — — 21 20 — — 20

Fair value through profit or loss

Trading securities 760 — 78 838 602 — 70 672

Cash and cash equivalents 6,831 — — 6,831 4,878 — — 4,878

Trading derivatives — 187 — 187 — 411 — 411

Derivatives used for hedge accounting — 13 — 13 — 14 — 14

Total 8,071 200 78 8,349 6,165 425 70 6,660

Financial assets recorded at fair value, which includes the columns 

Available-for-sale, Fair value through profit or loss, and Derivatives 

for hedge accounting are disclosed above according to the hierar-

chy that shows the significance of the inputs used in the fair value 

measurements as defined in IFRS 13. Level 1 includes financial 

assets with a quoted price in an active market. Level 2 includes 

financial assets with inputs based on observ able data other than 

quoted  prices in an active market. Level 3 includes inputs that are 

not based on observable market data. 

Amounts for equity securities include SEK 39 m (38) valued at 

cost and consequently not included in the specification above.

Past due, net of allowance

Trade receivables by due date (SEKm)
Carrying 
amount

Not yet 
due

1–30 
days

31–60 
days

61–90 
days > 91 days

2016 13,462 11,367 1,294 327 154 320 

2015 11,777 9,967 1,092 334 152 232

The average days outstanding of trade receivables in 2016 were 

65 days (64). Trade receivables as a percentage of annual net sales 

totalled 18.5% (15.5). Trade receivables included receivables sold 

with recourse amounting to SEK 194 m (43). The risk of customer 

default for these receivables has not been transferred in such a 

way that the financial assets qualify for derecognition.

The table below shows the development of the reserve for credit 

losses on trade receivables. 

Specification of reserve for credit losses (SEKm) 2016 2015

Opening balance 1 January 376 353
Additions 67 102

Reversals –21 –34

Changes through the income statement 46 68
Allowances used to cover write-offs –44 –38

Acquired/ divested companies –3 —

Currency translation adjustments 20 –7

Closing balance 31 December 395 376
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Note 15 | Share capital

Number of shares authorized and outstanding

A Shares B Shares Total1)
Share capital 

(SEKm)

Opening balance 1 January, 2015 37,649,081 417,701,987 455,351,068 1,138

Conversion of A shares to B shares –1,350,548 1,350,548 — —

Closing balance 31 December, 2015 36,298,533 419,052,535 455,351,068 1,138

Conversion of A shares to B shares — — — —

Closing balance 31 December, 2016 36,298,533 419,052,535 455,351,068 1,138

1) The quota value for all shares is SEK 2.50

An A share has one vote and a B share has one-tenth of one vote. 

At the Annual General Meeting on 18 April 2002, it was decided to 

insert a share conversion clause in the Articles of Association which 

allows owners of A shares to convert those to B shares. Since the 

decision was taken, 190,638,214 A shares have been converted to 

B shares.

Dividend policy
The SKF Group’s dividend and distribution policy is based on the 

principle that the total dividend should be adapted to the trend  

for earnings and cash flow while taking account of the Group’s 

development potential and financial position. The Board of Direc-

tors’ view is that the ordinary dividend should amount to around 

one half of the SKF Group’s average net profit calculated over a 

business cycle. 

If the financial position of the SKF Group exceeds the target  

for capital structure, which is described in Note 26, an add itional 

 distribution to the  ordinary dividend could be made in the form of 

a higher dividend, a redemption scheme or as a repurchase of the 

company’s own share. On the other hand, in periods of more 

uncertainty a lower dividend ratio could be appropriate. 

Dividend payments
The total surplus of the Parent Company amounted to SEK 16,115 

m (14,771), see page 117. The Board has decided to propose to  

the Annual General Meeting, on 29 March, 2017, a dividend of SEK 

5.50 (5.50) per share to be paid to the shareholders. The proposed 

dividend for 2016 is payable to all shareholders on the Euroclear 

Sweden AB’s public share register as of 31 March, 2017. The total 

proposed dividend to be paid is SEK 2,504 m (2,504). The dividend 

is subject to approval by shareholders at the Annual General Meet-

ing and has not been included as a liability in these financial state-

ments. On 7 April 2016, a dividend of SEK 5.50 (5.50) per share 

was paid to the shareholders.

Note 14 | Other short-term assets

SEKm 2016 2015

Value added taxes receivables, net 934 965

Income tax receivables 569 854

Prepaid expenses 500 507

Accrued income 184 149

Advances to suppliers 103 113

Other current receivables 843 769

Total 3,133 3,357
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Accounting policy
The post-employment provisions and assets arise from defined 

benefit obligations in plans which are either unfunded or funded. 

For the unfunded plans, benefits paid out under these plans come 

from the all-purpose assets of the company sponsoring the plan. 

The related provisions carried in the balance sheet represent the 

present value of the defined benefit obligation. For funded defined 

benefit plans, the assets of the plans are held in trusts legally sepa-

rate from the Group. The related balance sheet provision or asset 

represents the deficit or excess of the fair value of plan assets over 

the present value of the defined benefit obligation. However, an 

asset is recognized only to the extent that it represents a future 

economic benefit which is actually available to the Group, for exam-

ple in the form of reductions in future contributions or refunds 

from the plan. When such excess is not available it is not recog-

nized, but it is disclosed in the note as an asset ceiling adjustment.

The projected unit credit method is used to determine the pres-

ent value of all defined benefit obligations and the related current 

service cost. Valuations are carried out quarterly for the most sig-

nificant plans and annually for other plans. External actuarial experts 

are used for these valuations and estimating the obligations and 

costs involves the use of assumptions. Remeasurements arise from 

changes in actuarial assumptions and experience adjustments, 

being differences between actuarial assumptions and what has 

actually occurred. They are recognized immediately in other com-

prehensive income and are never reclassified to the income state-

ment. 

For all defined benefit plans the cost charged to the income 

statement consists of current service cost, net interest cost and 

when applicable past service cost, curtailments and settlements. 

Any past service cost is recognized immediately. Net interest cost is 

classified as financial expense while all other expenses are allocated 

to the operations based on the employee’s function as manufactur-

ing, selling or administrative.

The defined benefit accounting described above is applied only in 

the consolidated accounts. Subsidiaries, as well as the Parent com-

pany, continue to use the local statutory pension calculations to 

determine pension costs, provisions and assets in the stand-alone 

statutory reporting, and when applicable funding requirements.

Some post-employment benefits are also provided by defined 

contribution schemes, where the Group has no obligation to pay 

benefits after payment of an agreed-upon contribution to the third 

party responsible for the plan. Such contributions are recognized 

as expense when incurred.

Accounting estimates and judgements
Significant judgements and assumptions are required to determine 

the present value of all defined benefit obligations and the related 

costs. Such assumptions vary according to the economic conditions 

of the country in which the plan is located and are adjusted to reflect 

market conditions at valuation point. However, the actual costs and 

obligations that in fact arise under the plans may be materially dif-

ferent from the estimates based on the assumptions due to chang-

ing market and economic conditions. 

The most significant assumptions can vary per plan but in gen-

eral include discount rate, pension increase rate, salary growth 

rate and longevity. These assumptions are established for each 

plan separately. The discount rate for each plan is determined by 

reference to yields on high quality corporate bonds (AA-rated cor-

porate bonds as well as mortgage bonds for the plans in Sweden) 

having maturities matching the duration of the obligation. The pen-

sion increase rate assumption is relevant mainly for retired plan 

members, and refers to the indexation of pension payments tied 

primarily to inflation. The salary growth rate is relevant for active 

plan members and reflect the long-term actual experience, the 

near term outlook and assumed inflation. Longevity reflects the life 

expectancy of plan members and is established based on mortality 

tables used for each plan. 

Note 17 | Provisions for post-employment benefits

Note 16 | Earnings per share

2016 2015

Net profit attributable to  
owners of AB SKF (SEKm) 3,985 3,880

Weighted average number of  
ordinary shares outstanding 455,351,068 455,351,068

Basic earnings per share (SEK) 8.75 8.52

Dilutive shares from  
Performance Share Programmes 197,634 —

Weighted average  
diluted number of shares 455,548,702 455,351,068

Diluted earnings per share (SEK) 8.75 8.52

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net profit or 

loss attributable to shareholders of the Parent company by the 

weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during 

the period. 

Diluted earnings per share is calculated using the weighted aver-

age number of shares outstanding during the period adjusted for 

all potential dilutive ordinary shares. Performance shares are 

 considered dilutive if vesting conditions are fulfilled on the balance 

sheet date.

To fulfill AB SKF’s obligations under the 2014 Performance 

Share Programme settled in 2017 SKF International AB (SKF 

Treasury Centre) entered into an equity swap agreement with a 

financial institution. The agreement includes the possibility to get 

delivery of SKF shares from the financial institution to the partici-

pants of the programmes. 
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The Group sponsors post-employment defined benefit plans in a 

number of subsidiaries. The most significant plans are the pension 

plans in the USA, Germany, UK, and Sweden, which supplement 

the social security pensions in these countries.

USA
The major US pension plans, represent around 87% of the total 

US obligation. Benefits are based on length of service and average 

final salary or a years of service multiplier. All these plans are 

closed for new entrants, who instead are covered by defined contri-

bution pension solutions. The salary and non-Union defined benefit 

pension plans have been frozen as of December 2016, hence no 

additional service cost will be accrued for these plans. Additionally, 

to further reduce the US net position of the defined benefit pension 

plan, in September 2016 a one-time contribution of SEK 858 m 

was paid.

Governance of the plans lies with a benefit board whose mem-

bers are chosen by the board of directors of the US subsidiary. 

The plans are subject to regulatory minimum funding requirements 

based on an adjusted statutory pension formula which in the case 

of funding deficits, require contributions to achieve full funding in 

seven years. 

The US subsidiary also sponsors post-retirement health care 

plans which are closed for new entrants. The plans provide health 

care and life insurance benefits for eligible retired employees. 

The company is entitled to receive a subsidy under the US Medicare 

 Program Part D, for prescription drug costs for certain plan partic-

ipants. At 31 December 2016, this reimbursement right totalled 

SEK 22 m (24). 

Germany
The major German pension plans represent around 90% of the  

total German obligation. Benefits are based on length of service 

and final salary, and are indexed when paid. The majority of entitle-

ment conditions are determined in accordance with a governmental 

pensions act. There are no regulatory funding requirements, how-

ever voluntary partial funding has been provided for the plans 

through a Contractual Trust Arrangement (CTA).

United Kingdom
The major plans in the UK represent around 93% of the total 

UK obligation. Benefits under these plans are based on length  

of service and a career average revalued earnings (CARE) basis, 

and are indexed when paid. As of April 2012, these plans are 

closed to new entrants, who instead are entitled to defined 

 contribution  pension solutions. Responsibility for the governance 

of the plan lies jointly with the subsidiary and a board of trustees 

comprised of representatives of the subsidiary as well as plan 

participants in accordance with the Plan constitution. The plan is 

subject to statutory funding objectives based on the local pension 

calculation which in the case of funding deficits have an agreed 

recovery plan to achieve full  funding in ten years.

Sweden
The major plan in Sweden is the ITP plan and it represents around 

85% of the total Swedish obligation. Benefits are based on final 

 salary and are indexed when paid. Benefits are established in 

accordance with a collective agreement established between 

 participating Swedish companies. The plan is closed for employees 

born after 1979, who instead are entitled to a defined contribution 

pension solution. The Swedish subsidiaries are required to have 

credit insurance which covers all pension obligations in case of 

insolvency. For the Swedish subsidiaries, the portions of the ITP 

pension financed through insurance premiums to Alecta only  

cover family pension, health insurance and TGL and as such are 

immaterial. There are no regulatory funding requirements, how-

ever voluntary funding has been provided for the plans through 

a foundation, which is governed jointly by the company and 

employee representatives. The foundation must comply with 

 government regulations. 

Other 
The most significant plans include the funded pension plans in 

 Switzerland, Canada, and Belgium. Additionally, there are retire-

ment indemnity plans in France and termination indemnity plans 

in Italy, where lump sum payments are made upon retirement 

and termination respectively.

2016

Amounts recognized in the consolidated balance sheet (SEKm)
US  

pension
US  

medical
Germany 

 pension
UK  

pension
Sweden 
 pension Other Total

Present value of unfunded defined benefit obligation 510 898 684 — 297 880 3,269

Present value of funded defined benefit obligation 9,390 — 9,247 3,414 1,710 1,843 25,604

Less: Fair value of plan assets –7,591 — –2,601 –2,583 –636 –1,570 –14,981

Total 2,309 898 7,330 831 1,371 1,153 13,892
Reflected as

Other long-term assets — — — — — –53 –53

Provisions for post-employment benefits 2,309 898 7,330 831 1,371 1,206 13,945

Total 2,309 898 7,330 831 1,371 1,153 13,892

2015

Amounts recognized in the consolidated balance sheet (SEKm)
US  

pension
US  

medical
Germany 

 pension
UK  

pension
Sweden 
 pension Other Total

Present value of unfunded defined benefit obligation 525 916 622 — 263 841 3,167

Present value of funded defined benefit obligation 9,249 — 8,006 2,906 1,279 1,595 23,035

Less: Fair value of plan assets –6,210 — –2,451 –2,509 –629 –1,393 –13,192

Total 3,564 916 6,177 397 913 1,043 13,010
Reflected as

Other long-term assets — — — –6 –3 –43 –52

Provisions for post-employment benefits 3,564 916 6,177 403 916 1,086 13,062

Total 3,564 916 6,177 397 913 1,043 13,010

Cont. Note 17 
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Components of total post-employment benefit expenses (SEKm) 2016 2015

Post-employment defined benefit expense 355 1,127

Post-employment defined contribution expense 419 387

Total post-employment benefit expenses1) 774 1,514

Whereof amounts charged to:

Cost of goods sold 434 693

Selling expenses –67 416

Administrative expenses 52 28

Financial expenses 355 377

Total 774 1,514

1)  2016 total amount includes the favourable curtailment of SEK 618 m from  
the hard freeze of all current salary defined benefit (DB) in the US plans.

2016 2015

Plan asset composition (SEKm) Quoted Unquoted Total Quoted Unquoted Total

Government bonds 1,836 102 1,938 1,622 — 1,622

Corporate bonds 4,965 36 5,001 4,532 33 4,565

Equity instruments 5,433 512 5,945 4,929 381 5,310

Real estate 244 707 951 255 604 859

Other, primarily cash and other financial receivables 492 654 1,146 371 465 836

Total 12,970 2,011 14,981 11,709 1,483 13,192

2016 2015

SEKm 

Present 
value of 

 obligation

Fair value 
of plan 
assets Total

Present 
value of 

 obligation

Fair value 
of plan 
assets Total

Opening balance 1 January 26,202 –13,192 13,010 27,171 –13,229 13,942

Interest expense/(income) 821 –466 355 827 –450 377

Current service cost 618 — 618 749 — 749

Past service cost and gains on settlements1) –621 — –621 –4 — –4

Other 1 2 3 4 1 5

Subtotal expenses 819 –464 355 1,576 –449 1,127

Difference between actual return and interest income — –496 –496 — 357 357

Actuarial (gains)/losses – demographic assumptions –260 — –260 –124 — –124

Actuarial (gains)/losses – financial assumptions 2,407 — 2,407 –1,354 — –1,354

Experience adjustments 101 — 101 –111 — –111

Other — –6 –6 — –4 –4

Subtotal remeasurements in OCI 2,248 –502 1,746 –1,589 353 –1,236

Employer contribution2) — –1,387 –1,387 — –493 –493

Employee contribution 31 –9 22 36 –9 27

Benefit payments –1,498 1,010 –488 –1,425 997 –428

Subtotal cash flow3) –1,467 –386 –1,853 –1,389 495 –894

Other –67 13 –54 53 4 57

Translation differences 1,138 –450 688 380 –366 14

Closing balance 31 December 28,873 –14,981 13,892 26,202 –13,192 13,010

1)  Past service cost include 2016 favourable curtailment of SEK 618 m from 
the hard freeze of all current salary defined benefit (DB) in the US plans.  
This means that, effective from December 2016, all salary plan participants’ 
defined pension benefits are frozen and no new service credit will be earned. 
The number of persons affected by the hard freeze was about 1,480. These 
participants will now also become part of the defined contribution plan.

2)  Additionally to the salary DB plan hard freeze, to further reduce the US net 
position of the defined benefit pension plan, in September 2016 a one-time 
contribution of SEK 858 m was paid.

3)  Cash outflows for 2017 are expected to be some SEK 1,100 m, which include 
contributions to funded plans as well as payments made directly by the com-
panies under unfunded plans and partially funded plans. 
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Sensitivity analysis of significant 
assumptions (SEKm)

Change in  
actuarial 

assumption

Impact on DBO 
Defined  benefit 

obligations

Discount rate +1% –3,525

–1% 4,560

Salary growth rate +0.5% 500

–0.5% –515

Pension increase rate +0.5% 870

–0.5% –845

Longevity +1 year 975

–1 year –1,060

this framework, the Group’s objective is to match plan assets to the 

pension obligations by investing in securities with maturities that 

align with the benefit payments as they fall due and in the appro-

priate currency. SKF Treasury Centre regularly monitors how the 

duration and the expected yield of the investments are matching 

the expected cash outflows arising from the pension obligations. 

Final investment decisions are taken by the local subsidiary/trustee 

together with SKF Treasury Centre. The fair value of real estate in 

the specification of plan assets above includes SEK 67 m (136) 

related to buildings in the USA where the Group is the lessee under 

operating lease arrangements. Lease expense for the Group was 

SEK 9 m (8) and it includes a lease in Switzerland for which the 

related building was sold in December 2016. 

2016

Significant weighted-average assumptions at end of year
US  

pension
US  

medical
Germany 

pension
UK 

pension
Sweden 
pension Other

Discount rate 4.2 4.0 1.8 2.7 2.5 1.8

Pension increase rate1) n/a n/a 2.0 3.6 1.5 n/a

Salary growth rate2) n/a n/a 2.7 2.8 3.5 3.3

Longevity male/female3) 20.8/22.8 20.8/22.8 19.1/23.1 21.4/23.3 22.2/24.6 20.4/22.8

Weighted average duration of the plan (in years)4) 11.1 8.9 17.8 22.3 21.3 13.7

2015

Significant weighted-average assumptions at end of year
US  

pension
US  

medical
Germany 

pension
UK 

pension
Sweden 
pension Other

Discount rate 4.3 4.1 2.3 3.8 3.4 2.2

Pension increase rate1) n/a n/a 2.0 3.4 1.5 n/a

Salary growth rate 3.5 n/a 3.0 2.8 3.5 2.9

Longevity male/female2) 21.3/23.3 21.3/23.3 19.0/23.0 21.4/23.3 21.0/23.8 19.9/22.8

Weighted average duration of the plan (in years)3) 11.9 8.8 17.0 21.4 20.0 13.8

To enable consistent, proactive and effective management of the 

post-employment benefits in line with its business strategy and 

values, the SKF Group established a Global Pension Committee, 

a governance body who is responsible to align post-employment 

benefits to SKF Global Pension Policy. 

SKF Global Pension Policy sets out principles for managing SKF ś 

pension and other long-term employee benefits within SKF globally. 

The SKF Group strives to balance risk in the investments of plan 

assets, by aiming for a range of 30–50% equity instruments with 

the remainder in lower risk/fixed income investments such as cor-

porate and government bonds. 

The investment positions for the major pension plans are man-

aged within the asset-liability matching (ALM) framework. Within 

1) Pension increase rate refers to indexation primarily tied to inflation.
2)  Salary growth rate for US pension is n/a as no additional service cost will be 

accrued for these plans.

3)  Longevity is expressed as the life expectancy of a current 65 year old in 
number of years.

4)  Represents the average number of years remaining until the obligation  
is paid out. 

n/a = assumptions not applicable or not significant for the plan.

Cont. Note 17 

The sensitivity analysis is based on the change in one assumption 

while holding all other assumptions constant, see notes to previous 

table. In practice, this is unlikely to occur, and changes in some of the 

assumptions may be correlated. When calculating the sensitivity 

analysis of the DBO to changes in assumptions the same method has 

been applied as when calculating the pension liability recognised 

within the obligation. 

The sensitivity analysis has been prepared consistently with 

prior years. 
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In 2016 the total restructuring cost amounted to around SEK 580 m 

and included the cost of consolidation of three factories in North- 

America, the cost of voluntary and involuntary termination benefits 

spread over a large number of countries, with the largest being 

the USA, Italy, Germany and China. The majority of the remaining 

 provisions is expected to be settled in 2017.

Other provisions primarily include insurance and workers’ 

 compensation as well as environmental commitments.

Contingent liabilities at nominal values 
(SEKm) 2016 2015

Guarantees 16 143

Other contingent liabilities 20 10

Total 36 153

Note 18 | Other provisions and contingent liabilities

Accounting policy
In general, a provision is recognized when there is a present obliga-

tion as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of 

resources will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable 

estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. The amount 

recognized as provisions is management’s best estimate of the 

future cash flows necessary to settle the obligations at the balance 

sheet date, and the timing of settlement is uncertain. 

Claims include both provisions for litigation and warranties, and 

represent management’s best estimate of the future cash flows 

necessary to settle obligations. Other long-term employee benefits 

refer to benefits earned and expected to be settled before employ-

ment ends. These provisions are calculated using the projected unit 

credit method and remeasurements (actuarial gains and losses) are 

recognized immediately in the income statement. The largest items 

included jubilee bonuses in Italy and part-time retirement pro-

grammes in Germany. Restructuring programmes are defined as 

activities that materially change the way a unit does business. Any 

related restructuring provisions are recognized when a detailed 

formal plan has been established and a public announcement of the 

plan has occurred thereby creating a valid expectation that the plan 

will be carried out.

When an obligation does not meet the criteria for recognition it 

may be considered a contingent liability and disclosed. Contingent 

liabilities represent possible obligations whose existence will be 

confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or 

more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the 

Group. They also include existing obligations where it is not proba-

ble that an outflow of resources is required, or the outflow cannot 

be reliably quantified.

Accounting estimates and judgements
Significant management judgement is required in determining the 

existence and amount of provisions. As the estimates may involve 

uncertainty about future events outside the control of the Group, 

the actual outcomes may be significantly different

Claims include both provisions for litigation and warranties, and 

represent management’s best estimate of the future cash flows 

necessary to settle obligations, although the timing of the settle-

ment is uncertain. Provisions for litigation are based on the nature 

of the litigation, the legal process in the applicable jurisdiction, the 

progress of the cases, the opinions of internal and external legal 

counsel and advisers regarding the outcome of the case and expe-

rience with similar cases.

Warranty provisions involve estimates of the outcome of claims 

resulting from defective products, which include estimates for 

potential liability for damages caused by such defects to the 

Group’s customers. Assumptions are required for anticipated 

returns and for cost for replacing defective products and/or com-

pensating customers for damage caused by the Group’s products. 

These assumptions consider historical claims statistics, expected 

costs to remedy and the average time lag between faults occurring 

and claims against the company.

Restructuring provisions involve estimates of the timing and cost 

of the planned future activities where the most significant esti-

mates relates to the costs necessary to settle employee severance/

separation obligations, as well as the costs involved in contract 

cancellations and other exit costs. These estimates are based on 

historical experience as well as the current status of negotiations 

with the affected parties and/or their representatives.

SKF and other companies in the bearing industry are part of 

investigations by the US Department of Justice and the Korea Fair 

Trade Commission regarding a possible violation of anti-trust rules. 

SKF is subject to two investigations in Brazil by the General Super-

intendence of the Administrative Council for Economic Defense, one 

investigation regarding an alleged violation of antitrust rules con-

cerning bearing manufacturers, and another investigation regard-

ing an alleged violation of antitrust rules by several companies 

active on the automotive aftermarket in Brazil. An enquiry has 

been initiated by the Competition Commission of India against sev-

eral different companies, including SKF, regarding an alleged viola-

tion of antitrust rules in India. Moreover, SKF is subject to related 

class action claims by direct and indirect purchasers of bearings in 

the United States and may face additional follow-on civil actions by 

both direct and indirect purchasers. Each of Peugeot S.A. and BMW 

AG, and several of their respective group companies, have sepa-

rately initiated lawsuits, with claims for damages, against bearing 

manufacturers, including SKF, that were part of the settlement 

decision by the European Commission for violation of European 

competition rules. As per managements judgement, these investi-

gations did not qualify for recognition as other provisions or dis-

closed as contingent liabilities. 

SEKm

2016  
Closing 
 balance

Provisions 
for the year

Utilized 
amounts

Reversal 
unutilized 
amounts Other

Translation 
effect

2016  
Opening 
 balance

Claims 395 114 –83 –59 14 13 396

Other long-term employee benefits 663 98 –59 –11 21 23 591

Restructuring 490 578 –731 –9 –20 33 639

Other 676 252 –116 –95 144 22 469

Total 2,224 1,042 –989 –174 159 91 2,095
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Note 19 | Financial liabilities

Accounting policy
Financial liabilities are recognized in the balance sheets when  

the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of a 

 financial instrument. Financial instruments are initially recorded 

at fair value, which is normally equal to cost. Transaction costs 

are included in the initial measurement of financial liabilities that 

are not subsequently measured at fair value through the income 

statement. Derivatives are recognized at trade date. 

Financial liabilities, excluding derivatives, are measured at 

amortized cost using the effective interest method. The carrying 

amount of liabilities that are hedged items, for which fair value 

hedge accounting is applied, are adjusted for gains or losses 

 attributable to the hedged risks. 

Financial liabilities are derecognized when they are extinguished. 

Accounting estimates and judgements
For disclosure purposes, fair values of financial liabilities have been 

calculated using valuation techniques, mainly discounted cash flow 

analyses based on observable market data. 

2016 2015

SEKm Maturity
Carrying 
amount

Fair  
value

Carrying 
amount

Fair  
value

Long-term financial liabilities

SEK 1,000 m 2017 — — 1,000 1,000

EUR 500 m (outstanding EUR 234 m) 2018 2,280 2,389 2,216 2,345

EUR 500 m (outstanding EUR 266 m) 2019 2,534 2,651 2,419 2,542

EUR 750 m 2020 7,565 7,643 7,216 7,294

EUR 100 m 2020 — — 913 941

EUR 200 m 2021 1,913 1,914 1,828 1,830

EUR 500 m 2022 4,748 5,198 4,531 4,891

Other long-term loans 2018–2022 125 127 91 92

Derivatives held for hedge accounting 2018–2020 1,724 1,724 1,325 1,325

Derivatives held for trading 2017 1,142 1,142 844 844

Subtotal long-term financial liabilities 22,031 22,788 22,383 23,104

Short-term financial liabilities

SEK 1,000 m 2017 1,000 1,000 — —

EUR 100 m 2016 — — 914 913

Medium-term loans 2017 19 19 20 20

Trade payables 2017 7,100 7,100 5,671 5,671

Short-term loans < 3 months 214 214 201 202

Derivatives held for trading 2017 386 386 296 296

Derivatives held for hedge accounting 2017 — — 11 11

Subtotal short-term financial liabilities 8,719 8,719 7,113 7,113
Total 30,750 31,507 29,496 30,217

Derivatives are classified in the category “Fair value through profit 

or loss” and fall into Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy for both 

2015 and 2016. See Note 13 for a description of the fair value 

hierarchy. The remaining financial liabilities are classified in the 

category “Other financial liabilities”. 

The maturities for bonds and loans stated in the table above are 

based on the earliest date on which they can be required to be repaid. 

One of the loans is the subject of fair value hedging. The fixed 

EUR interest on the EUR 750 m loan has been swapped into float-

ing USD interest rate. 

The loans with due date 2018 and 2019 have been designated 

as hedge instruments in net investment hedges of foreign opera-

tions. The fair value of these financial liabilities amounted to SEK 

5,041 m (4,887) as of the balance sheet date. 

More information regarding financial risk management and 

hedge accounting can be found in Note 26. Methods used for 

establishing fair value are described in Note 13. Interest rates for 

the loans are disclosed in Note 11 of the Parent company. 

Other long-term and short-term financial liabilities have been 

secured by assets totalling SEK 0 (5) m. 
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Note 20 | Leasing

2016 2015

Future minimum lease 
 payments at 31 
December (SEKm)

 Finance 
Leases

Operating 
Leases

 Finance 
Leases

Operating 
Leases

Within one year 14 672 9 686

Later than one year 
but within five years 34 1,731 31 1,715

Later than five years 5 1,172 7 1,202

Total 53 3,575 47 3,603
Less: Interest –4 –3

Present value of mini-
mum lease payments 
under finance leases 49 44

Current portion 14 8

Non-current portion 35 36

Accounting policy
A lease agreement that, according to the management’s judgment, 

transfers substantially all the benefits and risks of ownership to the 

Group, is accounted for as a finance lease. Operating leases rental 

expenses are recognized in the income statement, on a straight-

line basis, over the lease term. 

Net rental expense related to operating leases was SEK 760 m 

(769). The most significant operating leases involve the use of 

buildings, other office locations as well as machines primarily in 

USA, China, Germany, Sweden and Singapore. 

Contingent rentals and sub-lease revenues were not significant 

in any of the years presented.

Note 21 | Other short-term liabilities

SEKm 2016 2015

Employee related accruals 3,204 2,897

Accrual for rebates 763 653

Income tax payable 211 336

Deferred income 323 321

Customer advances 304 286

Value added taxes payable, net 342 383

Other current liabilities 752 770

Other accrued expenses 1,946 1,681

Total 7,845 7,327

In 2007 Knut och Alice Wallenbergs Stiftelse transferred its shares 

in the Parent company to FAM AB.

FAM’s mission is to create, through co-ordination and in an 

 efficient way, good and sustainable return for Knut och Alice 

 Wallenbergs Stiftelse, Marianne och Marcus Wallenbergs Stiftelse 

and the foundation Marcus och Amalia Wallenbergs Minnesfond 

(the “Foundations”). The aim of the foundations is to support 

research and education through  contributions, primarily to 

 Swedish universities. 

The SKF Group has had no indication that FAM has obtained  

its ownership interest in the Group for other than investment pur-

poses. No significant transactions have been identified between the 

parties with the exception of dividend paid during the year to FAM. 

At the end of 2016 FAM is the major shareholder of the Parent 

company, holding 29.2% (29.5) of the voting rights and 13.6% (12.9) 

of the share capital. 

Investments in associated companies include a 25% shareholding 

of Simplex-Turbolo Co. Ltd. in the UK. Other investments include 

 primarily a 42% shareholding of Ningbo Hyatt Roller Co. Ltd in China, 

and a 20% share in CoLinx, LLC in the USA. 

Transactions with Associated companies 2016 2015

Sales of goods and services 67 65

Purchases of goods and services 294 282

Receivables as of 31 December 10 18

Liabilities as of 31 December 28 24

Other related party transactions include remuneration to key 

manage ment as specified in Note 23. For a list of significant 

 sub sidiaries, see Note 8 to the financial statements of the Parent 

 company.

Note 22 | Related parties including  associated companies
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Note 23 | Remuneration to key Management

Salaries and other remunerations for SKF Board of 
Directors, President and Group Management

Principles of remuneration for Group Management
In March 2016, the Annual General Meeting adopted the Board’s 

proposal for principles of remuneration for Group Management, 

which are summarized below.

Group Management is defined as the President and the other 

members of the management team. The principles apply in relation 

to members of Group Management appointed after the adoption of 

the principles, and, in other cases, to the extent permitted under 

existing agreements.

The objective of the principles is to ensure that the SKF Group 

can attract and retain the best people in order to support the SKF 

Group’s mission and business strategy. Remuneration for Group 

Management shall be based on market competitive conditions and 

at the same time support the shareholders’ best interests. 

The total remuneration package for a Group Management mem-

ber consists primarily of the following components: fixed salary, 

variable salary, performance shares, pension benefits, conditions 

for notice of termination and severance pay, and other benefits such 

as a company car. The components shall create a well-balanced 

remuneration reflecting individual performance and responsibility 

as well as the SKF Group’s overall performance.

Fixed salary 
The fixed salary of a Group Management member shall be at a 

market competitive level. It will be based on competence, responsi-

bility and performance. The SKF Group uses an internationally 

well-recognized evaluation system, International Position Evalua-

tion (IPE), in order to evaluate the scope and responsibility of the 

position. Market benchmarks are conducted on a regular basis. 

The performance of Group Management members is continu-

ously monitored and used as a basis for annual reviews of fixed 

 salaries.

Variable salary 
The variable salary of a Group Management member runs accord-

ing to a performance based programme. The purpose of the pro-

gramme is to motivate and compensate value creating achieve-

ments in order to support operational and financial targets. 

The performance-based programme is primarily based on the 

short-term financial performance of the SKF Group established 

according to the SKF financial performance management model 

called Total Value Added (TVA). TVA is a simplified, economic value -

added model. This model promotes greater operating profit, capital 

efficiency and profitable growth. The TVA profit is the operating 

profit, less the pre-tax cost of capital. The TVA result development 

for the SKF Group correlates well with the trend of the share price 

over a longer period of time. 

The maximum variable salary according to the programme is 

capped at a certain percentage of the fixed annual salary. The per-

centage is linked to the position of the individual and varies 

between 40% and 70% for Group Management members. 

If the financial performance of the SKF Group is not in line with 

the requirements of the variable salary programme, no variable 

salary will be paid. The maximum variable salary will not exceed 

70% of the accumulated annual fixed salary of Group Management 

members.

Performance Shares
The Annual General Meeting 2016 decided on the introduction of 

SKF’s Performance Share Programme 2016. The programme cov-

ers a maximum of 225 senior managers and key employees in the 

SKF Group, including Group Management, with the opportunity of 

being allotted, free of charge, SKF shares of series B.

The number of shares that may be allotted is related to the 

degree of achievement of the TVA target level, as defined by the 

Board of Directors, for the financial years 2016–2018 compared  

to the financial year 2015. Under the programme, no more than 

1,000,000 SKF shares of series B, may be allotted.

The allocation of shares is based on the level of TVA increase. In 

order for allocation of shares to take place the TVA increase must 

exceed a certain minimum level (the threshold level). In addition to 

the threshold level a target level is set. Maximum allotment is 

awarded if the target level is reached or exceeded. 

Provided that the TVA increase reaches the target level, the par-

ticipants of the programme may be allotted the following maximum 

number of shares per person within the various key groups:

• CEO and President: 30,000 shares

• Other members of Group Management: 13,000 shares

• Managers of large business units and similar: 4,500 shares

• Other senior managers: 3,000 shares

• Other key persons: 1,250 shares

Before the number of shares to be allotted is finally determined, 

the Board shall examine whether the allotment is reasonable con-

sidering SKF’s financial results and position, the conditions on the 

stock market as well as other circumstances, and if not, as deter-

mined by the Board, reduce the number of shares to be awarded to 

the lower number of shares deemed appropriate by the Board.

If the TVA increase exceeds the threshold level for allotment of 

shares but the final allotment is below 5% of the target level, pay-

ment will be made in cash instead of shares, whereupon the 

amount of the cash payment shall correspond to the value of the 

shares  calculated on the basis of the closing price for SKF’s B share 

the day before settlement.

Other benefits 
The SKF Group provides other benefits to Group Management 

members in accordance with local practice. The accumulated value 

of other benefits shall, in relation to the value of the total remuner-

ation, be limited and shall, as a principle, correspond to what is 

 customary on the relevant market. 

Other benefits can for instance be a company car, medical insur-

ance and home service.

Pension 
The SKF Group strives to establish pension plans based on defined 

contribution models, which means that a premium is paid amount-

ing to a certain percentage of the employee’s annual salary. The 

commitment in these cases is limited to the payment of an agreed 

premium to an insurance company offering pension insurance. 

A Group Management member is normally covered by, in addi-

tion to the basic pension (for Swedish members usually the ITP 

pension plan), a supplementary defined contribution pension plan. 

By offering this supplementary defined contribution plan, it is 

ensured that Group Management members are entitled to earn 

pension benefits based on the fixed annual salary above the level of 

the basic pension. The normal retirement age for Group Manage-

ment members is 65 years.
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Notice of termination and severance pay 
A Group Management member may terminate his/her employment 

by giving six months’ notice. In the event of termination of employ-

ment at the request of the company, employment shall, according to 

the  contract, cease immediately. The Group Management member 

shall however receive a severance payment related to the number 

of years’ service, provided that it shall always be maximized to two 

years’ fixed salary. 

The Board of Directors’ right to deviate from the principles  
of remuneration 
In certain cases, the Board of Directors may deviate from the 

 principles of remuneration decided by the Annual General Meeting.

Preparation of matters relating to remuneration  
for Group Management
The Board of Directors of AB SKF has established a Remuneration 

Committee. The Committee consists of a maximum of four Board 

members. The Remuneration Committee prepares all matters 

relating to the principles of remuneration for Group Management, 

as well as the employment conditions of the President. 

The principles of remuneration for Group Management are pre-

sented to the Board of Directors that submits a proposal for such 

principles to the Annual General Meeting for approval. The Board of 

Directors must approve the employment conditions of the President.

Board of Directors 
The Chairman of the Board and the Board members are remuner-

ated in accordance with the decision taken at the Annual General 

Meeting. At the Annual General Meeting of AB SKF held in 2016 it 

was decided that the Board be entitled to a firm allotment of SEK 

7,294,000 to be distributed with SEK 1,950,000 to the Chairman 

of the Board and with SEK 668,000 to each of the other Board 

members elected by the Annual General Meeting and not employed 

by the company. 

It was further decided that an allotment of SEK 883,000 for 

committee work shall be divided with SEK 226,000 to the Chair-

man of the Audit Committee, with SEK 161,000 to each of the 

other members of the Audit Committee, with SEK 129,000 to the 

Chairman of the Remuneration Committee and with SEK 103,000 

to each of the other members of the Remuneration Committee. 

President and Chief Executive Officer 
Alrik Danielson, President and Chief Executive Officer of AB SKF, 

received from the company in year 2016 as salary and other remu-

nerations a total of SEK 12,784,684, of which SEK 10,006,384 was 

fixed annual salary and SEK 2,778,300 was short-term variable 

salary related to 2015 performance.

The variable salary for the year 2016 was according to a short-

term performance-based programme primarily based on the 

financial performance of the SKF Group established according to 

the Group’s financial performance management model which is a 

simplified  economic value-added model called Total Value Added 

(TVA), see page 63. 

Alrik Danielson is covered by the SKF Performance Share 

 Programme 2016.

In the event of termination at the request of AB SKF, a notice 

period of six months will apply after which period Alrik Danielson 

will receive severance payments amounting to a maximum of one 

year’s salary. Alrik Danielson’s retirement age is 65 years. The pen-

sion arrangement is a combination of the ITP scheme and a defined 

contribution of 40% of the annual fixed salary above 30 income 

base amounts.

Alrik Danielson’s shareholdings (own and/or held by related par-

ties) in the company as well as material shareholdings or other 

holdings (own and/or held by related parties) in companies with 

which the company has important business relationships are listed 

in the  Corporate Governance Report. 

Group Management 
The SKF’s Group Management, consisting of 11 people at the end 

of the year, received in 2016 (exclusive of the President) salary and 

other remunerations amounting to a total of SEK 55,212,466, of 

which SEK 47,879,117 was fixed annual salary and SEK 7,333,349 

was short-term variable salary related to 2015 performance. For 

managers that have joined or left Group Management during the 

year, the fixed salary is accounted in relation to the period that each 

individual has been a member of Group Management. 

The variable salary for Group Management was according to a 

short-term performance-based programme primarily based on the 

financial performance of the SKF Group established according to 

the Group’s financial performance management model which is a 

simplified economic value-added model called Total Value Added 

(TVA), see page 63. 

In the event of termination of employment at the request of the 

company of a person in Group Management, that person will 

receive a severance payment amounting to a maximum of two 

years’ salary.

For Group Management the Board has decided on a defined con-

tribution supplementary pension plan. The plan entitles Group 

Management members covered to receive an additional pension 

over and above the basic pension (for Swedish members usually 

the ITP pension plan). The contributions paid for Group Manage-

ment members covered by the defined contribution plan are based 

on each individual’s pensionable salary (normally the fixed monthly 

salary excluding holiday pay, converted to yearly salary) exceeding 

the level of the basic pension (for Swedish members 30 Income 

Base amounts). A limited number of members of Group Manage-

ment have defined benefit pension entitlements relating to previous 

pension plans. Group Management members are never covered by 

both defined benefit pension and defined contribution pension for 

the same part of their pension entitlements. The normal retire-

ment age is 65 years. 
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Cont. Note 23 

Fixed salary and other 
benefits1)/fixed Board 

 remuneration
Short-term  

variable  salary
Performance  

Share Programmes
Remuneration for 
 committee work

Gross  
pension 
costs2)

Amounts in SEK

Amounts 
paid in 
20163)

Amounts 
expensed  
in 20163)

Amounts 
paid in 

2016 
related to 

20153)

Amounts 
expensed  
in 20163)

Amounts 
paid in 

2016 
related 

 to prior 
years3)

Amounts 
expensed  
in 20163)

Amounts 
paid in 
20163)

Amounts 
expensed  
in 20163)

Amounts 
expensed  
in 20163)

Total 
expensed  

in 2016

Total 
expensed  

in 2015

Board of directors  
of AB SKF
Leif Östling 1,900,000 1,950,000 — — — — 283,000 290,000 — 2,240,000 2,254,097

Ulla Litzén — — — — — — — — — — 24,440

Marie Bredberg 659,000 668,000 — — — — 161,000 161,000 — 829,000 831,440

Lena Treschow Torell 659,000 668,000 — — — — — — — 668,000 674,440

Peter Grafoner 659,000 668,000 — — — — 103,000 103,000 — 771,000 774,440

Lars Wedenborn 659,000 668,000 — — — — 329,000 329,000 — 997,000 994,440

Joe Loughrey 659,000 668,000 — — — — — — — 668,000 674,440

Jouko Karvinen 325,000 — — — — — — — — — 774,440

Baba Kalyani 659,000 668,000 — — — — — — — 668,000 674,440

Hock Goh 659,000 668,000 — — — — — — — 668,000 674,440

Nancy Gougarty 659,000 668,000 — — — — — — — 668,000 650,000

CEO4) 10,006,384 11,504,283 2,778,300 1,440,206 — 392,500 — — 3,702,315 17,039,304 16,819,176

Former CEO4),6) — — — — — — — — — — –6,519,628

Group  Management4),5) 47,879,117 50,716,765 7,333,349 9,040,602 — 2,617,670 — — 16,364,598 78,739,635 56,673,203

whereof AB SKF 31,965,083 34,781,730 4,690,658 4,500,083 — 2,050,374 — — 8,742,390 50,074,577 35,810,010

Total 2016 65,382,501 69,515,048 10,111,649 10,480,808 — 3,010,170 876,000 883,000 20,066,913 103,955,939 —

whereof AB SKF 49,468,467 53,580,013 7,468,958 5,940,289 — 2,442,874 876,000 883,000 12,444,705 75,290,881 —

Total 2015 64,556,194 48,579,318 8,309,582 11,761,906 — 1,833,672 677,000 960,000 12,838,912 — 75,973,808

whereof AB SKF 50,254,973 34,278,097 7,372,149 9,929,337 — 1,589,118 677,000 960,000 8,354,063 — 55,110,615

SKF’s Performance Share Programme
The share-based compensation programmes of the Group are 

mainly equity-settled through the SKF Group’s Perform ance Share 

programmes.

The fair value of the SKF B share at grant date is calculated  

as the market value of the share excluding the present value of 

expected dividend payments for the next three years. If there is a 

payout of shares, the participants are compensated for dividends 

as if they had owned the shares from the start of the three year 

period.

The estimated cost for these programmes, which is based on  

the fair value of the SKF B share at grant date and the number of 

shares expected to vest, is recognized as an operating expense 

with a corresponding offset in equity. The fair value of the SKF 

shares of series B at grant date was determined as SEK 131 for 

SKF’s Performance Share Programme 2016. The dividend com-

pensation amount is recognized as employee benefit expense sepa-

rate from the share-based compensation expense. The cost for the 

programmes is adjusted annually for changes to the number of 

shares expected to vest and for the forfeitures of the participants’ 

rights that no longer satisfy the programme conditions. Provisions 

for social costs to be paid by the employer in connection with 

share-based compensation programmes are calculated based on 

the fair value of the SKF B share at each reporting date and 

expensed over the vesting period. 

Allotment of shares under SKF’s Performance Share Programme 

normally requires that the persons covered by each of the pro-

grammes are employed in the SKF Group during the entire three 

year calculation period.

1)  Other benefits include housing, car and similar items.
2)  Represents premiums paid under defined contribution plans as well as gross 

service costs under defined benefit plans.
3)  Amounts paid represent the cash outflow and are amounts received by the 

individual during a specific calendar year. These amounts include remunera-
tion for services rendered during given calendar year such as salary, but can 
also include remuneration for services rendered in a prior year where pay-
ment occurs subsequent to that year, for example the variable salary pro-
grammes. Amounts expensed refer primarily to the costs for the Group for 
services rendered during a specific calendar year by the individual, but can 
also include adjustments or reversals related to prior years. Consequently, 
differences between amounts paid and amounts expensed can arise as 

 timing of the expense can be occurring in a different calendar year than the 
cash outflow to the individual. 

4)  Total pension obligations, for SKF Group, related to Group Management 
(including CEO) and former CEOs were SEK 153 m. 

5)  Exclusive of CEO and former CEOs. Includes managers who have joined or 
left Group Management during the year accounted in relation to the period 
that each individual has been a member of Group Management and includes 
only remuneration in their capacity as member of Group Management.

6)  The negative amounts expensed in 2015 relates to adjustments relative to 
the amounts that were expensed in 2014. 
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SKF’s Performance Share Programme 2014: Allotment of shares 

was made in the beginning of 2017. In total 33,729 SKF class B 

shares were allotted pursuant to the terms of the programme, 

based on the degree of achievement of TVA during the three year 

period 2014–2016.

SKF’s Performance Share Programme 2015: Allotment of shares 

may be made following the expiry of the three year calculation 

period, i.e. during 2018, if all the conditions of the programme are 

met and the allotment is approved by the Board.

SKF’s Performance Share Programme 2016: Allotment of shares 

may be made following the expiry of the three year calculation 

period, i.e. during 2019, if all the conditions of the programme are 

met and the allotment is approved by the Board.

Amounts expensed 2016 for all programmes were SEK 14 m (14) 

excluding social charges. The total provision for all programmes 

was SEK 34 m (20) and the total provision for social charges for all 

programmes was SEK 8 m (3).

2016 2015

Men and women in  
Board of Directors and 
Group  Management

Number 
of 

 persons
Whereof  

men

Number 
of 

 persons
Whereof  

men

The Group
Board of Directors of  
the Parent  company  
incl. CEO 12 75% 13 77%

Group Management  
incl. CEO 11 82% 7 86%

Parent Company
Board of Directors of  
the Parent  company  
incl. CEO 12 75% 13 77%

Group Management  
incl. CEO 9 78% 6 83%

Note 24 | Fees to the auditors

Fees to the SKF Group statutory auditors  
were split as follows (SEKm) 2016 2015

Audit fees 39 40

Audit related fees 2 2

Tax fees 10 9

Other fees 3 3

54 54
The Parent Company’s share (SEKm)
Audit fees 6 5

Audit related fees 1 1

Tax fees 2 1

Other fees to auditors 2 2

11 9

Audit fees related to examination of the annual report and financial 

accounting and the administration by the Board and the President 

as well as other tasks related to the duties of a company auditor. 

Audit related fees are mainly attributable to the review of the SKF’s 

sustainability report. Tax fees related to tax consultancy and tax 

compliance services. All other assignments were defined as other. 

At the Annual General Meeting in 2013, PWC was elected audi-

tor for AB SKF until the Annual General Meeting in 2017.
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Note 25 | Average number of employees

2016 2015

Number of employees Whereof men Number of employees Whereof men

Parent company in  Sweden 613 69% 647 68%

Subsidiaries in Sweden 1,941 80% 2,048 80%

Subsidiaries abroad 40,954 78% 41,610 79%

43,508 78% 44,305 78%

2016 2015

Geographic specification of average number  
of employees in subsidiaries abroad Number of employees Whereof men Number of employees Whereof men

France 2,488 81% 2,613 82%

Italy 3,219 77% 3,189 77%

Germany 5,950 87% 6,449 86%

Other Western Europe excluding Sweden 3,606 83% 3,689 83%

Central and Eastern Europe 4,051 63% 3,914 63%

USA 4,677 72% 5,465 75%

Canada 259 78% 258 76%

Mexico 1,616 70% 1,267 76%

Latin America 2,714 89% 2,551 88%

China 5,821 68% 5,938 68%

India 3,182 97% 2,852 95%

Other Asian countries/Pacific 2,857 76% 2,938 80%

Middle East and Africa 514 79% 487 78%

40,954 78% 41,610 79%

Note 26 | Financial risk management

The Group’s overall financial objective is to create value for its 

shareholders. Over time, the return on the shareholders’ invest-

ment in the SKF share should exceed the risk-free  interest rate by 

around five percentage points. This is the basis for the Group’s 

financial objectives and the financial performance management 

model. 

The SKF Group defines its managed capital as the capital 

employed. One of the Group’s long term financial targets is to 

achieve a return on capital employed of 16%.

The capital structure target of the Group is 

• a gearing of around 50%, which corresponds to 

• an equity/assets ratio of around 35% or 

• a net debt/equity ratio of around 80%

Key figures1) 2016 2015

Total equity, SEKm 27,683 26,282

Gearing, % 55.3 56.7

Equity/assets ratio, % 33.0 33.0

Net debt/equity ratio, % 84.4 99.9

Return on capital employed, % 11.9 10.9

1) Definition of these key figures is available on page 156.

The purpose of the targeted capital structure is to keep an appro-

priate balance between equity and debt financing. This will ensure 

financial flexibility and enable the Group to  continue investing in its 

business while maintaining a strong credit rating. The Group’s 

 policy and structure of debt financing are presented below. 

The SKF Group’s operations are exposed to various types of 

 financial risks; market risks (being currency risk, interest rate risk 

and other price risks), liquidity risks and credit risks, each being 

 discussed below.

The Group’s risk management incorporates a financial policy that 

establishes guidelines and definitions of currency, interest rate, credit 

and liquidity risks and establishes responsibility and authority for 

the management of these risks. The policy states that the objective 

is to eliminate or minimize risk and to contribute to a better return 

through the active management of risks. The management of the 

risks and the responsibility for all treasury operations are largely 

centralized at SKF Treasury Centre, the Group’s internal bank.

The policy sets forth the financial risk mandates and the financial 

instruments authorized for use in the management of financial risks. 

Financial derivative instruments are used prim arily to manage the 

Group’s exposure to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates 

and interest rates. The Group also uses financial derivative instru-

ments for trading purposes, according to Group  policy.
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Market risk – Currency risk
The Group is exposed to changes in exchange rates in the future 

flows of payments related to firm commitments and forecasted 

transactions and to loans and investments in foreign currencies, 

i.e. transaction exposure. The Group’s accounts are also affected by 

translating the results and net assets of foreign subsidiaries into 

SEK, i.e. translation exposure. 

Transaction exposure
Transaction exposure mainly arises as a result of intra-Group 

trans actions between the Group’s manufacturing companies and 

the Group’s sales companies, situated in other countries and selling 

the products to end-customers normally in local currency on their 

local market. In some countries, transaction exposure may arise 

from sales to external customers in a currency different from the 

local currency. The Group’s principal commercial flows of foreign 

currencies pertain to exports from Europe to North America and 

Asia and to flows of currencies within Europe. Currency rates and 

payment  conditions to be applied to the internal trade between SKF 

companies are set by SKF Treasury Centre. Currency exposure and 

risk is primarily, and to a large extent, reduced by netting internal 

transactions. The currency flows between SKF companies managed 

by SKF Treasury Centre were reduced through netting from SEK 

58,926 m (59,881) to SEK 3,142 m (4,609). This amount repre-

sented the Group’s main transaction exposure excluding hedges.

The Group’s policy has been to hedge the currency flows from 

one to six months on average. The Group stopped applying hedge 

accounting on this type of contracts in 2015.

Net currency flows (SEKm) 2016 2015

CAD 885 635

DKK 407 553

EUR –6,192 –5,682

RUB 411 312

THB 463 471

TRY 474 502

USD 5,290 6,261

Other1) 1,250 1,393

SEK –3,142 –4,609

1) Other is a sum comprising 11 different currencies

Based on the assumption that the net currency flows will be the 

same as in 2016, the below graph represent a sensitivity- analysis 

that shows the effect in SEK on operating profit of a 5% stronger 

SEK against all other currencies. 

The effect on equity is the below result after tax. The effects of 

fluctuations upon the translation of subsidiaries’ financial state-

ments into the Group’s presentation  currency are not considered. 
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1) Other is a sum comprimising 11 different currencies.

Sensitivity analysis: Effect on operating profits 
of a 5% stronger SEK
SEKm

Translation exposure
Translation exposure is defined as the Group’s exposure to currency 

risk arising when translating the results and net assets of foreign 

 subsidiaries to SEK. Based on 2016 operating profits in local cur-

rencies, the below graph represent a sensitivity- analysis that shows 

the effect in SEK on the translation of operating profits of a 5% 

weaker SEK against all other currencies. To reduce the translation 

exposure of net assets, the Group has hedged some of its net 

investment in foreign subsidiaries, for details see pages 104–105.
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1) Other is a sum comprising 41 different currencies.

Sensitivity analysis: Effect on translation of 
operating profits to SEK of a 5% weaker SEK
SEKm

Market risk – Interest rate risk 
The Group defines interest rate risk as the risk of negative fluctua-

tions in the Group’s cash flow caused by changes in the interest 

rates.

At year-end, total interest bearing financial liabilities amounted 

to SEK 34,344 m (34,411) and total interest bearing financial 

assets amounted to SEK 12,005 m (8,919). Liquidity management 

is concentrated to SKF Treasury Centre. By matching the duration 

of investments and borrowings, the interest rate exposure of the 

Group can be reduced. 

To manage the interest rate risk and currency risk in the bor-

rowing, the Group uses cross-currency interest rate swaps, where 

fixed EUR interest rates are swapped into floating USD, floating SEK 

interest rates are swapped into floating EUR and floating EUR 

interest rates are swapped into floating USD. 

As of the balance sheet date, given the prevailing amount of net 

interest-bearing liabilities, an unfavorable change of the interest 

rates by 1% would have reduced pre-tax profit for the year, includ-

ing the effect of derivatives, by around SEK 180 m (190). For 

details on interest rates of individual loans, see Note 11 of the 

 Parent company’s financial statements.

Market risk – Price risks
Market risks also include other price risks, where the relevant risk 

variables for the Group are stock exchange prices or indexes.

As of 31 December, the Group held investments in equity securi-

ties with quoted stock prices, amounting to SEK 459 m (665), which 

are categorized as available-for-sale. If the market share prices 

had been 5% higher/lower at the balance sheet date, the available- 

for-sale reserve in equity would have been SEK 23 m (33) higher/

lower. 

Liquidity risk 
Liquidity risk, also referred to as funding risk, is defined as the risk 

that the Group will encounter difficulties in raising funds to meet 

 commitments. Group policy states that, in addition to current loan 

financing, the Group should have a payment capacity in the form of 

available liquidity and/or long-term committed credit facilities.  
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Cont. Note 26

As of the balance sheet date, in addition to its own liquidity, the 

Group had committed credit facilities of EUR 500 m syndicated by 

10 banks that will expire in 2019, and one committed credit facilities 

of SEK 3,000 m that will expire in 2018.

A good rating is important in the management of liquidity risks. 

As of 31 December, 2016 the long-term rating of the Group by 

Standard & Poor’s and Moody’s Investor Service is BBB– and Baa2 

respectively, both with stable outlook. 

The table below show the Group’s contractually agreed and 

undiscounted interest payments and repayments of the non- 

derivative financial liabilities and derivatives with payment flows.  

All instruments held at 31 December, 2016 for which payments 

were contractually agreed were included. Planning data for future, 

new liabilities was not included. Amounts in foreign currency were 

translated at closing rate. The variable interest payments arising 

from the financial instruments were calculated using the last inter-

est rates fixed before 31 December, 2016. Financial liabilities  

were assigned to the earliest possible time period when they can  

be required to be repaid.

2016 Cash flows

SEKm 2017 2018
2019–
2021

2022 and 
thereafter

Loans –1,638 –2,686 –12,366 –4,861

Trade payables –7,100 — — —

Derivatives, net –699 –4 –2,362 —

Total –9,437 –2,690 –14,728 –4,861

Credit risk 
Credit risk is defined as the Group’s exposure to losses in the event 

that one party to a financial instrument fails to discharge an obliga-

tion. The SKF Group is exposed to credit risk from its operating 

activities and certain financing activities. 

The maximum exposure to credit risk for the Group amounted to 

SEK 25,394 m (21,022) as of the balance sheet date. The exposure 

is represented by total financial assets that are carried on the bal-

ance sheet with the exception of equity securities. No granting of 

significant financial guarantees increasing the credit risk and no 

significant  collateral agreements reducing the maximum exposure 

to credit risk existed as of the balance sheet date.

Credit risk (SEKm) 2016 2015

Trade receivables 13,462 11,777

Other receivables 1,793 1,602

Derivatives 200 425

Cash and cash equivalent 9,939 7,218

Total 25,394 21,022

At operational level, the outstanding trade receivables are continu-

ously monitored locally in each area. The Group’s concentration of 

credit risk related to trade receivables is mitigated primarily due to 

its many geographically and industrially diverse customers. Trade 

receivables are subject to credit limit control and approval proce-

dures in all subsidiaries.

With regard to treasury related activities, the Group’s policy 

states that only well-established financial institutions are approved 

as counterparties. The SKF Group has signed ISDA agreements 

(International Swaps and Derivatives Association, Inc.) with nearly 

all of these financial institutions. ISDA is classified as an enforceable 

netting arrangement. One feature of the ISDA agreement is that it 

enables the SKF Group to calculate its credit exposure on a net basis 

per counterpart, i.e. the difference between what the Group owes 

and is owed. The agreement between the Group and the counter-

party allows for net settlement of derivatives when both elect to 

settle net. In the event of default of one of the counterparties the 

other counterpart of the netting agreement has the option to settle 

on a net basis. Transactions are made within fixed limits and credit 

exposure per counterparty is continuously monitored. As of the 

balance sheet date the Group had derivative assets of around 

SEK 170 m (140) and derivative liabilities of around SEK 3,200 m 

(2,400) subject to enforceable master  netting arrangements.

Hedge accounting
The Group manages risks related to the volatility of balance sheet 

items and future cash flows, which otherwise would affect the 

income statement, by hedging. A distinction is made between cash 

flow hedges, fair value hedges and hedges of net investment in 

 foreign operations based on the nature of the hedged item. 

Derivative instruments which provide effective economic hedges, 

but which either do not qualify for hedge accounting under IAS 39 

or are otherwise not designated for hedge accounting by the Group, 

are accounted for as trading instruments. Changes in the fair value 

of these economic hedges are immediately recognized in the income 

statement as financial income or expense or in the operating result 

depending on the nature of the hedged item.

Fair value hedges 
Hedge accounting is applied to derivative financial instruments 

which are effective in hedging the exposure to changes in fair value 

in foreign borrowing. Changes in the fair value of these derivative 

financial instruments designated as hedging instruments are rec-

ognized in the income statement under financial items. The carry-

ing amount of the hedged item (the financial liability) is adjusted  

for the gain or loss attributable to the hedged risk. The gain or loss 

is recognized in the income statement under financial items. If a 

hedge relationship is discontinued, the accumulated adjustment  

to the carrying amount is amortized over the duration of the life  

of the hedged item.

The SKF Group hedges the fair value risk of financial liabilities at 

December 2016, by using cross-currency interest rate swaps. 

The EUR 750 m loan with fixed interest payments has been 

swapped into floating USD interest. 

The effectiveness of the hedging relationship is prospectively 

tested using the critical terms match method. An effectiveness test 

is carried out retrospectively at each balance sheet date using the 

dollar-offset method. All hedging relationships were effective 

within the range of the ratios of the two past changes in value 

(between 80 and 125%). When the effectiveness was being meas-

ured, the change in the credit spread was not taken into account for 

calculating the change in the fair value of the hedged item. As the 

list of the fair values of derivatives shows (see table in the Deriva-

tives section below), the Group had designated interest rate deriva-

tives for a net amount of SEK –1,722 m (–1,317) as fair value 

hedges as of 31 December, 2016. 
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The following table shows the changes in the fair value of the 

hedges recorded in interest expense during the year. 

SEKm

Financial 
 expense 

2016

Financial 
 expense 

2015

Financial liabilities (hedged items) –24 63

Cross-currency interest-rate swaps 
 (hedging instruments) 27 –50

Difference (inefficiency) 3 13

Cash flow hedges 
Hedge accounting is applied to derivative financial instruments, 

which are effective in offsetting the variability in the cash flows 

from forecasted net sales and forecasted electricity consumption. 

Changes in the fair value of the derivative financial instruments 

 designated as hedge instruments that meet the criteria for hedging 

future cash flows are recognized in the hedging reserve in equity 

via other comprehensive income.

In 2015 the Group stopped applying cash flow hedge accounting 

to hedges of highly probable forecasted USD sales and the associ-

ated foreign currency risks arising from changes in USD rates. 

In 2016, no gains/losses (loss of SEK 27 m) were resulting from 

the change in the fair value of currency forwards designated as cash 

flow hedges. During the year no gains/losses (losses of SEK 79 m) 

were transferred via other comprehensive income to net sales.

Cash flow hedge accounting was also applied to hedges of fore-

casted electricity consumption. Electricity forward contracts were 

used by the factories in Sweden to reduce their exposure to 

changes in electricity prices. In the 2016 financial year, gains total-

ling SEK 15 m (loss of 19) resulting from the change in fair value  

of electricity forwards were taken to other comprehensive income. 

During the year losses of SEK 2 m (loss of 8) were transferred via 

other comprehensive income to cost of goods sold. There was no 

material ineffectiveness of these hedges recorded as of the balance 

sheet date. 

Hedges of net investments
Hedge accounting is applied to financial instruments which are 

effective in offsetting the exposure to translation differences arising 

when the net assets of foreign operations are translated into the 

Group’s functional currency. Any gain or loss on the hedging is 

 recognized in the foreign currency translation reserve via other 

comprehensive income.

As of the balance sheet date net investments in foreign opera-

tions for a nominal amount of EUR 571 m (571) were hedged by 

the Group against changes in the EUR/SEK exchange rates. EUR 

loans for an amount of EUR 500 m (500) and derivatives for an 

amount of EUR 71 m (71) were designated as hedge instruments. 

The result of the hedges totalled SEK –246 m (1) before tax in 

2016 and was recognized as a translation difference in other com-

prehensive income. During the year no gains/losses (SEK 1,599 m) 

have been recycled from other comprehensive income to the income 

statement, matching the recycling of the hedged subsidiary’s 

cumulative translation differences.

Derivatives
The table below shows the fair values of the various derivatives 

carried as of 31 December reflected as assets in Note 13 and liabil-

ities in Note 19. A distinction is made depending on whether these 

are part of an effective hedging relationship as set out in IAS 39 

(fair value hedge, net investment hedge, cash flow hedge) or not. 

Other derivatives can also be embedded (i.e. a component of a 

hybrid instrument that contains a non-derivative host contract).

Derivative assets and 
 liabilities, net (SEKm) Category 2016 2015

Interest rate and  
currency swaps

 Fair value hedges Hedge accounting –1,722 –1,317

 Economic hedges Trading –628 –464

Currency forwards/ 
currency options

 Net investment hedges Hedge accounting 12 13

 Economic hedges Trading –712 –262

Electricity forwards

 Cash flow hedges Hedge accounting –1 –19

Embedded derivatives Trading — –2

–3,051 –2,051
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Parent Company statements  
of comprehensive income

Years ended 31 December

SEKm Note 2016 2015

Revenue 2 5,061 6,006

Cost of revenue 2 –4,598 –5,317

General management and administrative expenses 2 –1,448 –1,699

Other operating income and expenses,net 2 –1 –5

Operating loss –986 –1,015

Financial income and expenses, net 3 3,814 2,707

Profit after financial items 2,828 1,692

Appropriations 4 2,140 1,125

Profit before tax 4,968 2,817

Income taxes 5 –667 587

Net profit 4,301 3,404

Years ended 31 December

SEKm Note 2016 2015

Net profit 4,301 3,404

Items that may be reclassified to the income statement
Change in fair value of available-for-sale assets 9 –206 216

Other comprehensive income, net of tax –206 216
Total comprehensive income 4,095 3,620
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Parent Company balance sheets
As of 31 December

SEKm Note 2016 2015

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Intangible assets 6 1,939 1,757

Property, plant and equipment 7 67 76

Investments in subsidiaries 8 22,403 21,317

Long-term receivables from subsidiaries 18,567 19,637

Investments in associated companies 1 1

Investments in equity securities 9 459 664

Other long-term receivables 156 —

Deferred tax assets 5 72 716

43,664 44,168
Current assets
Short-term receivables from subsidiaries 4,683 3,589

Other short-term receivables 83 47

Prepaid expenses and accrued income 44 72

Cash and cash equivalents  4 —

4,814 3,708
Total assets 48,478 47,876

EQUITY, PROVISIONS AND LIABILITIES
Equity
Restricted equity
Share capital (455,351,068 shares, quota value SEK 2.50 per share) 1,138 1,138

Statutory reserve  918 918

Capitalized development reserve 261 —

2,317 2,056
Unrestricted equity
Fair value reserve 288 494

Retained earnings 11,526 10,873

Net profit 4,301 3,404

16,115 14,771
18,432 16,827

Untaxed reserves 4 69 179

Provisions
Provisions for post-employment benefits 10 306 296

Other provisions 238 83

544 379
Non-current liabilities
Long-term loans 11 18,564 19,634

Long-term liabilities to subsidiaries 602 127

19,166 19,761
Current liabilities
Short-term loans 11 1,000 914

Trade payables 204 114

Short-term liabilities to subsidiaries 8,579 9,126

Other short-term liabilities 15 13

Accrued expenses and deferred income 469 563

10,267 10,730
Total shareholders’ equity, provisions and liabilities 48,478 47,876
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Parent Company statements of cash flow
Years ended 31 December 

SEKm 2016 2015

Operating activities
Operating loss –986 –1,015

Adjustments for
Depreciation and amortization 147 323

Other non-cash items 107 108

Income taxes received/paid — –65

Payments under post-employment defined benefit plans –33 –29

Changes in working capital
Trade payables 90 –158

Other operating assets and liabilities, net 2,695 –13,892

Interest received 413 505

Interest paid –610 –1,181

Other financial items –48 –66

Net cash flow from operating activities 1,775 –15,470

Investment activities
Additions to intangible assets –323 –227

Additions to property, plant and equipment –7 –16

Dividends received from subsidiaries 4,393 7,051

Capital repayments from subsidiaries — 16,843

Investments in subsidiaries –1,449 –5,152

Sales of shares in subsidiaries — 320

Investments in equity securities –2 –11

Sales of equity securities — 131

Net cash flow used in investing activities 2,612 18,939
Net cash flow after investments before financing 4,387 3,469

Financing activities
Proceeds from medium- and long-term loans — 4,583

Repayment of medium- and long-term loans –1,879 –5,548

Cash dividends to AB SKF’s shareholders –2,504 –2,504

Net cash flow used in financing activities –4,383 –3,469
Increase(+)/decrease(–) in cash and cash equivalents 4 —
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January — —

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 4 —
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Parent Company statements of changes in equity

Restricted equity Unrestricted equity

SEKm
Share 

 capital1)
Statutory 

reserve

Capitalized 
development 

reserve 
Fair value 

reserve
Retained 
earnings Total

Opening balance 1 January, 2015 1,138 918 — 278 13,363 15,697
Net profit — — — — 3,404 3,404

Components of other comprehensive income
Change in fair value of available-for-sale assets — — — 216 — 216

Transactions with shareholders
Cost under Performance Share Programmes2) — — — — 14 14

Dividends — — — — –2,504 –2,504

Closing balance 31 December, 2015 1,138 918 — 494 14,277 16,827

Net profit — — — — 4,301 4,301

Components of other comprehensive income
Change in fair value of available-for-sale assets — — — –206 — –206

Capitalized development reserve — — 261 — –261 —

Transactions with shareholders
Cost under Performance Share Programmes2) — — — — 14 14

Dividends — — — — –2,504 –2,504

Closing balance 31 December, 2016 1,138 918 261 288 15,827 18,432

1)  The distribution of share capital between share types is shown in  

Note 15 to the Consolidated financial statements.

2)  See Note 23 to Consolidated financial statements for information  

about Performance Share Programmes.

Restricted equity includes share capital and statutory reserves as 

well as capitalized development reserves which are not available 

for dividend payments. 

Unrestricted equity includes retained earnings which can be 

 distributed to shareholders. It also includes the fair value reserve 

which  accumulates the changes in fair value of available-for-sale 

assets. 
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Notes to the financial statements  
of the Parent Company

Note 1 | Accounting policies

Basis of presentation
The financial statements of the Parent company are prepared  

in accordance with the “Annual Accounts Act” and The Swedish 

Financial Reporting Board recommendation RFR 2, “Accounting for 

Legal  Entities” as well as their interpretation (UFR). In accordance 

with RFR 2, IFRS is applied to the greatest extent possible under 

Swedish legislation, but full compliance is not possible. The areas  

in which the Parent company’s accounting policies differ from the 

Group’s are described below. For a description of the Group’s 

accounting policies, see Note 1 to the Consolidated financial state-

ments. 

Post-employment benefits
AB SKF reports pensions in the financial statements in accordance 

with RFR 2. According to RFR 2, IAS 19 shall be adopted regarding 

supplementary disclosures when applicable. 

Investments in subsidiaries
Investments in subsidiaries are recorded at acquisition cost, 

reduced by any impairment.

Untaxed reserves
The tax legislation in Sweden allows companies to make pro visions 

to untaxed reserves. Hereby, the companies may, with certain lim-

its, allocate and retain profits in the balance sheet instead of imme-

diate taxation. The untaxed reserves are taken into taxation at the 

time of their dissolution. In the event that the business shows losses, 

the untaxed reserves may be dissolved in order to cover the losses 

without any taxation. 

Equity
When development expenses are capitalized for internal develop-

ment of intangible assets, a corresponding amount is transferred 

from retained earnings to a reserve for capitalized development in 

restricted equity. The reserve is released to retained earnings upon 

amortization of the capitalized development.

Intangible assets
According to Swedish legislation, goodwill ha a definite useful life. 

The useful life amounts to eight years and the amortization follows 

a linear pattern. 

Note 2 | Revenues and operating expenses

AB SKF is since 2012 the entrepreneur within the Group and  

as such entitled to the residual profits while taking the costs for 

 management and research and development. Consequently the 

revenues are comprised of residual profits and royalties from 

Note 3 | Financial income and financial expenses

SEKm 2016 2015

Income from participations in Group companies
Dividends from subsidiaries 4,393 7,051

Other financial income from investments in subsidiaries 2 1,384

Impairment and disposals of investments in subsidiaries –334 –4,966

4,061 3,469
Financial income
Interest income from subsidiaries 413 505

Other financial income — 1

413 506
Financial expenses
Interest expenses to subsidiaries –182 –328

Interest expenses to external parties –428 –853

Other financial expense –50 –87

–660 –1,268

 subsidiaries. Cost of revenue include research and development 

expenses totalling SEK 2,015 m (2,101). 

Of the total operating expenses, SEK 3,210 m (3,836) was 

invoiced from subsidiaries. 
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Note 4 | Appropriations

Appropriations (SEKm) 2016 2015

Paid/received group contribution 2,030 1,024

Untaxed reserves
Change in accelerated depreciation 
reserve 110 101

2,140 1,125
Untaxed reserves in the balance sheet

Accelerated depreciation reserve 69 179

Note 5 | Taxes

Taxes on profit before taxes (SEKm) 2016 2015

Current taxes — –65

Deferred taxes –667 652

–667 587

Net deferred asset per type (SEKm) 2016 2015

Provisions for post-employment benefits 70 75

Tax loss carry-forwards — 638

Other 2 3

Deferred tax assets 72 716

Reconciliation of the statutory tax in 
 Sweden and the current tax (SEKm) 2016 2015

Tax calculated using the  
statutory tax rate in Sweden –1,093 –620

Non-taxable dividends and  
other  financial income 966 1,551

Other non-deductible and  
non-taxable profit items, net –540 –344

Actual tax –667 587

The corporate statutory income tax rate in Sweden is 22% (22).

Note 6 | Intangible assets

SEKm
2016  

Closing balance Additions Impairment
2016  

Opening balance

Acquisition cost
Goodwill1) 22 2 — 20

Technology and similar items1) 901 — — 901

Internally developed software 1,810 321 — 1,489

2,733 323 — 2,410

1) Reclassification of opening balances have been made in accordance with final purchase price allocation.

SEKm
2016  

Closing balance Depreciation Impairment
2016  

Opening balance

Accumulated depreciation
Goodwill 1 1 — —

Technology and similar items 553 110 — 443

Internally developed software 240 — 30 210

794 111 30 653

Net book value 1,939 1,757

See Note 10 of the Consolidated financial statements for informa-

tion on the internally developed software including impairment. 

Technology and similar items are amortized over eight years. 
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Note 7 | Property, plant and equipment

SEKm
2016  

Closing balance Additions Other1) Disposals
2016  

Opening balance

Acquisition cost
Buildings 5 1 — — 4

Machine toolings and factory fittings 84 — 26 — 58

Construction in process including advances 13 6 –26 –9 42

102 7 — –9 104

SEKm
2016  

Closing balance Depreciation Other1) Disposals
2016  

Opening balance

Accumulated depreciation
Buildings 1 — — — 1

Machine toolings and factory fittings 34 7 — — 27

35 7 — — 28

Net book value 67 76
1) Includes primarily reclassification between categories

Note 8 | Investments in subsidiaries 

Investments in subsidiaries  
held by the Parent company  
on 31 December (SEKm) 2016 Additions

Impair-
ment

Disposals 
and capital 

repayments 2015 Additions
Impair-

ment

Disposals 
and capital 

repayments 2014

Investments in subsidiaries 22,403 1,449 –326 –37 21,317 5,152 –4,966 –15,879 37,010

The Group is composed of some 220 legal entities (subsidiaries), 

where AB SKF is the ultimate parent either directly or indirectly via 

intermediate holding companies. The vast majority of the Group’s 

subsidiaries perform activities related to manufacturing and sales. 

A limited number are involved in central Group functions such as 

treasury or reinsurance, or as previously mentioned, act as inter-

mediate holding companies. This legal structure is designed to 

effectively manage legal requirements, administration, financing 

and taxes in the countries in which the Group operates. In contrast, 

the Group’s operational structure described in the Administration 

report, gives a better overview of how the Group runs its business. 

See also Note 2 to the Consolidated financial statements. 

The tables below list firstly, the subsidiaries owned directly by 

the Parent company, and secondly, the most significant of the 

remaining subsidiaries of the Group. Taken together these subsidi-

aries account for more than 90% of the Group’s sales and for more 

than 90% of the Group’s manufacturing facilities. 

Book value

Name of directly owned subsidiaries Country
Registration 

number No. of shares % ownership 2016 2015
Main  

activities1)

SKF Argentina S.A. Argentina — 14,677,299 29.2%2) 75 75 M,S

SKF Australia Pty. Ltd. Australia — 96,500 100% — — S

SKF Österreich AG Austria — 200 100% 176 176 M,S

SKF Belgium NV/SA Belgium — 1,778,642 99.9%2) 109 109 S

SKF Logistics Services Belgium NV/SA Belgium — 29,907,952 99.9%2) 28 28 O

SKF do Brasil Ltda. Brazil — 517,294,748 99.9%2) 1,152 540 M,S

SKF Bearings Bulgaria EAD Bulgaria — 24,664,309 100% 183 183 M

SKF Canada Ltd. Canada — 130,000 100% 58 58 M,S

SKF Chilena S.A.I.C. Chile — 88,191 99.9%2) — — S

SKF (China) Co. Ltd. China — 133,400 100% 1,135 1,135 O

SKF CZ, a.s. Czech  Republic — 430 100% 10 10 S

SKF Danmark A/S Denmark — 5 100% 7 7 S

Oy SKF Ab Finland — 48,400 100% 12 12 M,S

SKF Holding France S.A.R.L. France — 1 100% 3,371 3,371 O

SKF GmbH Germany — 1,000 100% 1,574 1,574 M,S

SKF Maintenance service GmbH Germany — 1 100% 6 6 S

SKF Hellas S.A. Greece — 2,000 100% — — S

SKF Svéd Golyóscsapágy Zrt Hungary — 20 100% — — S
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Book value

Name of directly owned subsidiaries Country
Registration 

number No. of shares % ownership 2016 2015
Main  

activities1)

Carried Forward 7,896 7,284

SKF Technologies (India) Private Ltd. India — 2,426,500,101 93.3%2) 402 652 M,S

SKF India Ltd. India — 24,639,048 46.7%3) 94 94 M,S

PT. SKF Indonesia Indonesia — 53,411 60% 24 24 M,S

PT. Skefindo Primatama Indonesia — 5 5%2) 1 1 S

SKF Industrie S.p.A Italy — 465,000 100% 912 912 M,S

SKF Japan Ltd. Japan — 32,400 100% 225 225 S

SKF Malaysia Sdn Bhd Malaysia — 1,000,000 100% 57 — M

SKF de México, S.A. de C.V. Mexico — 375,630,290 99.9%2) 303 303 M,S

Peer Rodamientos de Mexico, S.A. de CV Mexico — 3,202,619 99.9%2) 2 2 S

SKF New Zealand Ltd. New Zealand — 375,000 100% 11 11 S

SKF Norge AS Norway — 50,000 100% — — S

SKF del Peru S.A. Peru — 2,564,903 99.9%2) — — S

SKF Polska S.A. Poland — 3,701,466 100% 156 156 M,S

SKF Portugal-Rolamentos, Lda. Portugal — 61,601 95%2) 4 4 S

SKF Korea Ltd.
Republic of 

Korea — 128,667 100% 74 74 M,S

SKF Sealing Solutions Korea Co., Ltd.
Republic of 

Korea — 153,320 51% 15 15 M,S

SKF Treasury Centre Asia & Pacific Pte. Ltd. Singapore — 61,500,000 100% 467 467 O

SKF Asia Pacific Pte. Ltd. Singapore — 1,000,000 100% — — S

Barseco (PTY) Ltd. South Africa — 1,422,480 100% 157 157 S

SKF Española S.A. Spain — 3,650,000 100% 383 383 M,S

SKF Förvaltning AB Sweden 556350-4140 124,500 99.6%2) 3,870 3,395 O

SKF International AB Sweden 556036-8671 20,000 100% 1,320 1,320 O

Återförsäkringsaktiebolaget SKF Sweden 516401-7658 30,000 100% 125 125 O

Bagaregården 16:7 KB Sweden 916622-8529 — 99.9%2) 60 59 O

Gloi AB Sweden 556782-9717 1 100% — 37 M,S

SKF Eurotrade AB Sweden 556206-7610 83,500 100% 12 12 S,O

SKF Motion Technologies AB Sweden 559035-5356 50,000 100% — — M,S

SKF Lager AB Sweden 556219-5288 2,000 100% — — O

AB Svenska Kullagerfabriken Sweden 556210-0148 1,000 100% — — O

SKF Verwaltungs AG Switzerland — 500 100% 502 502 O

SKF Actuation System (Liestal) AG Switzerland — 1 100% 165 165 M,S

SKF Taiwan Co. Ltd. Taiwan — 169,475,000 100% 171 171 S

SKF (Thailand) Ltd. Thailand — 1,847,000 92.4%2) 37 37 S

SKF B.V The Netherlands — 1,450 100% 304 — M

SKF Holding Maatschappij Holland B.V The  Netherlands — 60,002 100% — 76 O

Trelanoak Ltd. UK — 6,965,000 100% 120 120 O

JSC SKF Ukraine Ukraine — 1,266,122,556 99.9% 205 205 M

SKF Logistics Uruguay S.A. Uruguay — 566,886,506 100% 174 174 S,O

SKF USA Inc. The USA — 1,000 100% 4,155 4,155 M,S,O

SKF Venezolana S.A. Venezuela — 20,014,892 100% — — S

22,403 21,317

1) M=Manufacturing, S=Sales, O=Other incl treasury, reinsurance and/or holding activities

2) Parent company together with subsidiares own 100%. 

3) Parent company together with subsidiaries own 53.6% 
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Name of indirectly owned subsidiaries Country % Ownership
Owned by 

 subsidiary in
Main  

activities1)

ABBA Linear Tech Co. Ltd Taiwan 100% Taiwan M,S

Alemite LLC USA 100% USA M,S

ATLAS MANAGEMENT INC. USA 100% USA O

Beijing Nankou SKF Railway Bearings Co Ltd China 51% China M

Cooper Roller Bearings Co Ltd United Kingdom 100% The Netherlands M,S

General Bearing Corporation USA 100% USA M,S

Industrial Tectonics Inc USA 100% USA M,S

International Component Supply Ltda Brazil 100% Brazil M

Kaydon Corporation USA 100% USA M,S,O

Kaydon Europa B.V. The Netherlands 100% The Netherlands M,S

Kaydon Ring & Seals Inc USA 100% USA M,S

Kaydon S de R.L. de C.V. Mexico 99.99% USA M,S

Lincoln Helios (India) Ltd. India 100% Germany M,S

Lincoln Industrial Corporation USA 100% USA M,S,O

Lincoln Lubrication Equipment (Changshu) Co., Ltd China 100% USA M,S

Ningbo General Bearing Ltd China 100% Barbados M,S

Peer Bearing Company, Changshan (CPZ1) China 100% China (Hong Kong) M

Reelcraft Industries, Inc. USA 100% USA M,S

RFT S.p.A. Italy 100% Italy M,S

RKS S.A.S France 100% France M

S2M France S.A France 100% France M,S

Shanghai General Bearing Ltd China 40% Barbados M,S

Shanghai Peer Bearing Co., Ltd., Shanghai (SPZ 1) China 100% China (Hong Kong) S,O

SKF (China) Sales Co Ltd China 100% China S

SKF (Dalian) Bearings and Precision Technologies Co. Ltd. China 100% China M

SKF (Jinan) Bearings & Precision Technology Co. Ltd China 100% China M

SKF (Schweiz) A.G. Switzerland 100% Switzerland S

SKF (Shanghai) Automotive Technologies Co Ltd China 100% China M

SKF (Shanghai) Bearings Ltd. China 100% China M

SKF (Shanghai) Industrial Service Co. Ltd (BAO) China 66% China S

SKF (U.K.) Ltd. United Kingdom 100% United Kingdom M,S

SKF Actuation System (Pinghu) Co. Ltd. China 100% China M

SKF Aeroengine France S.A.S France 100% France M,S

SKF Aerospace France S.A.S. France 100% France M,S

SKF Bearing Industries (Malaysia) Sdn Bhd Malaysia 100% The Netherlands M

SKF Distribution (Shanghai) Co Ltd China 100% China S,O

SKF Economos Deutschland GmbH Germany 100% Austria M,S

SKF France S.A.S France 100% France M,S

SKF Latintrade S.A. Colombia 100% Spain S

SKF Lubrication Systems CZ s.r.o Czech Republic 99% Germany M,S

SKF Lubrication Systems Germany GmbH Germany 100% Germany M,S

SKF Marine GmbH Germany 100% Germany M,S

SKF Mekan AB Sweden 100% Sweden M

SKF Sealing Solutions (Wuhu) Co., Ltd China 100% China M,S

SKF Sealing Solutions Austria GmbH Austria 100% Austria M

SKF Sealing Solutions GmbH Germany 100% Germany M,S

SKF Sealing Solutions S.A. de C.V Mexico 100% USA M

SKF South Africa (Pty) Ltd. South Africa 100% South Africa S

SKF Sverige AB Sweden 100% Sweden M,S

SKF Tver Ltd Russian Federation 100% Sweden M

SKF Türk Sanayi ve Ticaret Limited Sirketi Turkey 100% Belgium S

SKF ZAO Russian Federation 100% Sweden S

Transrol S.A.S. France 100% France M

Venture Aerobearings LLC. USA 51% USA M,S

Zhejiang Xinchang Peer Bearing Co. Ltd, Xingchang (XPZ1) China 100% China (Hong Kong) M

Zhejiang Xinchang Peer Mechanical Parts Co. Ltd China 75% China M

Zhejiang Illinois Peer Bearing Co. Ltd., Xingchang (XPZ3) China 100% China (Hong Kong) M

1) M=Manufacturing, S=Sales, O=Other incl treasury, reinsurance and/or holding activities

Cont. Note 8
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Note 9 | Investments in equity securities 

Name and location (SEK m)
Holding in 

 percent
Number  

of shares Currency
2016 

Book value
2015 

Book value

Wafangdian Bearing Company Limited, China 19.7 79,300,000 HKD 456 663

Other SEK 3 1

459 664

Amount recognized in the balance sheet (SEKm) 2016 2015

Present value of funded pension  obligations 344 322

Less: Fair value of plan assets –236 –226

Net obligation 108 96

Present value of unfunded pension  obligations 198 200

Net provisions 306 296

Change in net provision for the year (SEKm) 2016 2015

Opening balance 1 January 296 253

Defined benefit expense 43 72

Pension payments –33 –29

Closing balance 31 December 306 296

Components of expense (SEKm) 2016 2015

Pension cost 51 59

Interest expense 2 4

Return on plan assets –10 9

Defined benefit expense 43 72

Defined contribution expense 94 96

Total post-employment benefit expense 137 168

Note 10 | Provisions for post-employment benefits

All white collar workers of the Company are covered by the ITP-

plan according to collective agreements. Additionally, the Company 

sponsors a complementary defined contribution (DC) scheme for a 

limited group of managers. This DC scheme replaced the previous 

supplementary defined benefit plan which from 2003 is closed for 

new participants.

The calculation of defined benefit pension obligations has been 

made in accordance with regulations stipulated by the Swedish 

Financial Supervisory Authority, FFFS 2007:24 and FFFS 2007:31.

The discount rate for the ITP-plan was 3.84% (3.84) and for the 

other defined benefit plan it was 0.7% (3.4). Expected cash outflows 

for 2017 were SEK 35 m.
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Note 11 | Loans 

2016 2015

SEKm Maturity Interest rate
Carrying 
amount

Fair  
value

Carrying 
amount

Fair  
value

Bonds
SEK 1,000 m 2017 0.28 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000

EUR 500 m (Outstanding 234 m) 2018 3.88 2,231 2,389 2,130 2,345

EUR 500 m (Outstanding 266 m) 2019 1.87 2,534 2,651 2,419 2,542

EUR 750 m 2020 2.38 7,138 7,643 6,813 7,294

EUR 200 m 2021 0.56 1,913 1,914 1,828 1,830

EUR 500 m 2022 1.63 4,748 5,198 4,531 4,891

Long-term loans
EUR 100 m 2016 0.44 — — 914 913

EUR 100 m 2020 0.77 — — 913 941

19,564 20,795 20,548 21,756

Note 12 |  Salaries, wages, other remunerations, average number of  
employees and men and women in Management and Board

SEKm 2016 2015

Salaries, wages and other remuneration 607 661

Social charges (whereof post- employment benefit expense) 316 (137) 311 (168)

See Note 23 to the Consolidated financial statements for informa-

tion on remuneration to the Board and president as well as men 

and women in management and the board. Refer to Note 25 to 

the Consolidated financial statements for the average number of 

employees and to Note 24 to the Consolidated financial statements 

for fees to the auditors. 

Note 13 | Contingent liabilities

SEKm 2016 2015

General partner 2 1

Other contingent liabilites 17 16

19 17

General partner regarding liabilities in limited partnership 

Bagaregården 16:7. 

Other contingent liabilities refers to guarantee commitment 

regarding pension liabilities in the Swedish subsidiaries. 
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Proposed distribution of surplus

Fair value reserve SEK 287,416,341

Retained earnings SEK 11,526,529,609

Net profit for the year SEK 4,300,847,550

Total surplus SEK 16,114,793,500

The Board of Directors and the President recommend 

to the shareholders, a dividend of SEK 5.50 per share1) SEK 2,504,430,8742)

to be carried forward:

Fair value reserve SEK 287,416,341

Retained earnings SEK 13,322,946,285

SEK 16,114,793,500

The results of operations and the financial position of the Parent Company, AB SKF, and the Group for the year 2016  

are given in the income statements and in the balance sheets together with related notes.

The Board of Directors and the President certify that the annual financial report has been prepared in accordance with 

 generally accepted accounting principles in Sweden and that the consolidated accounts have been prepared in accordance 

with the international set of accounting standards referred to in Regulation (EC) No 1606/2002 of the European Parliament 

and of the Council of 19 July, 2002 on the application of international accounting standards, and give a true and fair view of 

the position and profit or loss of the Company and the Group, and that the management report for the Company and for the 

Group gives a fair review of the development and performance of the business, position and profit or loss of the Company 

and the Group, and describes the principal risks and uncertainties that the Company and the companies in the Group face.

Gothenburg, 6 March, 2017

Leif Östling, Chairman
Lena Treschow Torell, Board member

Peter Grafoner, Board member
Lars Wedenborn, Board member

Joe Loughrey, Board member
Baba Kalyani, Board member

Hock Goh, Board member

Marie Bredberg, Board member
Alrik Danielson, President and CEO, Board member

Nancy Gougarty, Board member
Jonny Hilbert, Board member
Zarko Djurovic, Board member

Our auditors’ report for this Annual Report and the consolidated Annual Report was issued 6 March, 2017.

PricewaterhouseCoopers AB

Peter Clemedtson Bo Karlsson

Authorized public accountant Authorized public accountant
Auditor in charge

1)  Suggested record day for right to dividend, 31 March, 2017.

2)  Board Members’ statement: The members of the Board are of the opinion that the proposed dividend is justifiable 

considering the demands on Company and Group equity imposed by the type, scope and risks of the business and 

with regards to the Company’s and the Group’s financial strength, liquidity and overall position. 
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Sustainability statements
as defined by GRI G4 
The SKF Annual Report takes an integrated approach to report-

ing financial, environmental and social performance. Information 

that may be referred to as sustainability reporting is found in 

various parts of the report. These statements provide a consoli-

dated summary of SKF’s sustainability performance with refer-

ence to GRI G4. 

With reference to the GRI G4 in accordance criteria, the 2016 

Annual Report is self-declared as being in accordance with the 

‘Core’ option, which is confirmed by the Groups’s external audi-

tors PwC. 

The Annual Report – SKF Group 2016 covers the reporting 

period January to December 2016. This report includes indica-

tors on general standard disclosures, and specific standard dis-

closures where relevant. As part of the report’s content definition 

and the reflection of its materiality, all aspects have been care-

fully evaluated from internal and external stakeholder perspec-

tives. Those aspects that are considered of significant materiality 

are included in the specific standard disclosures below. 

SKF submits Annual Reports for third party assurance to 

ensure quality reporting in terms of accuracy, comparability, 

clarity, timeliness, balance, and reliability.

Sustainability related disclosures in the SKF Annual Report 

2016 has been subject to limited assurance in accordance with 

FAR (the Institute for the Accounting Profession in Sweden) 

 recommendation RevR 6 “Assurance of sustainability reports”. 

 The limited assurance report on the sustainability disclosures 

in the Annual Report is found on page 143. 

Topics related to Annual Report
In addition to the information provided in this Annual Report, 

topics related to the Annual Report is found at skf.com/ar2016. 

The documents referred to in these statements are:

• Carbon dioxide emission data1)

• Environmental performance data1)

• Articles of Association

• SKF Code of Conduct

• SKF Environmental, Health and Safety (EHS) Policy

• Manufacturing and other operational units 2016

1) Documents subject to limited assurance by SKF’s auditors.

General standard disclosures
Strategy and analysis  ...................................................... 119

Organizational profile  ...................................................... 119

Identified material aspects and boundaries  ..........  120

Stakeholder engagement  ..............................................  121

Report profile  .....................................................................  123

Governance  ........................................................................  123

Ethics and integrity  .........................................................  125

Specific standard disclosures
Economic category
Economic performance  .................................................  126

Environmental category
Energy and emissions  ....................................................  127

Effluents and waste, water, compliance ..................  129

Social category
Occupational health and safety  ..................................  132

Employment  .......................................................................  133

Training and education  ..................................................  134

Diversity and equal opportunities  .............................  135

Equal remuneration for men and women  ..............  135

Labour management relations  ...................................  136

Local communities  ..........................................................  136

Human rights  ....................................................................  137

Ethics and compliance  ....................................................  138

Social grievance mechanisms  .....................................  138

Suppliers  .............................................................................  139
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Strategy and analysis

G4-1  Statement from the most senior decision-maker – CEO
The CEO statement is found on page 6–7 in this report. Strategic 

priorities, trends, targets and achievements and outlook is 

described throughout the report.

G4-2  Description of key impacts, risks, and opportunities
An overview of SKF’s risk management is provided on pages 56–59 

along with short descriptions on the risk management approaches 

applied. Sustainability risks are integrated in this section. Prioritised 

risks are agreed at Group management level. The most significant 

sustainability risks and opportunities are managed under the SKF 

Care framework which is further described on pages 36–47. 

General standard disclosures 

The United Nations Sustainable Development Goals help to high-

light challenges and opportunities for business globally. External 

drivers and trends are further described on page 8. SKF’s solutions 

create value for customers by helping them to improve resource 

and energy efficiency. SKF’s BeyondZero customer solutions pro-

vide significant environmental benefits regarding for example global 

warming and resource use, these solutions generated about 9% of 

SKF Groups total revenues 2016. 

More on customer solutions can be found in the Creating and 

capturing customer Value section on page 14 and Application driven 

innovation on page 20. 

SKF has established Group targets for a number of relevant 

 sustainability issues, progress on these targets are presented 

under the SKF Care section and detailed result and governance 

mechanisms are presented in these statements on pages 126–139.

Organisational profile

G4-3  Name of the organization
AB SKF

G4-4  Primary brands, products, and services
The SKF Group is a leading global supplier of products, solutions 

and services within rolling bearings, seals, mechatronics, services 

and lubrication systems. Services include technical support, main-

tenance services, condition monitoring, asset efficiency optimiza-

tion, engineering consultancy and training. Examples are found in 

this report on page 4, 19, 28, 33, 49 and 51. For information on 

SKF’s brands please refer to skf.com/brands.

G4-5  Location of the organization’s  headquarters
SKF Group headquarters is located at Hornsgatan 1 in Gothenburg, 

Sweden.

G4-6  Countries where the organization operates
SKF operations are global, the Group has manufacturing operations 

in 24 countries and direct sales channels in 70 countries. The Group 

is present in 130 countries. A list of SKF operations can be found in 

Topic related to annual report on SKF.com/ar2016.

SKF operations, sales and distribution are also described on page 

16–17 in this Annual Report.

G4-7  Nature of ownership and legal form
SKF provides articles of association on skf.com/ar2016. These are 

part of Topics related to annual report. In addition, information on 

shares and shareholder information are found on page 54–55.

G4-8  Markets served
Page 2–3 provides an overview of geographies and industries 

served. Information on Industrial and Automotive areas is further 

described on page 4–5 and 50–53. Additional information is 

 available on skf.com/ar2016.

G4-9  Scale of the organization
Information on the SKF Group and its operations are found in various 

sections in the report. Employee information is found on page 102.

SKF Manufacturing and other operations are presented on  

skf.com/ar2016, Net sales are presented on pages 66 and broken 

down further in the financial statements on pages 74–76.

Total capitalization broken down in terms of debt and equity are 

presented in the financial statements on page 69. Quantity of prod-

ucts or services is not disclosed, 

G4-10  Employee data
Permanent Temporary

White 
collar

Blue 
collar

White 
collar

Blue 
collar

Agency 
workers

Asia and Pacific 3,685 6,506 7 627 1,777

Middle East  
and Africa 366 32 8 0 27

North America 2,281 3,754 44 31 195

Latin America 760 1,856 0 0 46

Eastern and 
Central Europe 853 2,908 19 500 199

Western Europe 9,250 11,088 48 245 810

Group 17,195 26,144 126 1,403 3,054

G4-11  Percentage of total employees  covered by collective 
bargaining agreements
SKF holds collective bargaining agreements in 19 countries (Argen-

tina, Austria, Brazil, Bulgaria, Czech Republic, France, Germany, 

India, Indonesia, Italy, Malaysia, Mexico, Poland, Spain, Sweden, UK, 

USA, China and Ukraine). These countries make up close to 95% of 

all blue-collar workers (around 26,000). If the workers at a site 

choose not to be unionized, or if there are restrictions to the inde-

pendence of a trade union, the employees in the country are still 

covered by the SKF Framework Agreement and part of a collective 

bargaining group. 

In addition to the 19 countries above, in 2016 SKF employed 

around 600 blue-collar workers in South Korea, Japan, and Singa-

pore. Of these, South Korea is the largest with 450 blue-collar 

employees. South Korea is the next country to be considered for 

inclusion in the SKF World Union Council. 
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The global framework agreement between SKF and SKF World 

Union Council (representing the various labour unions working with 

the company) was first signed by all parties in 2003. It is based on 

the SKF Code of Conduct and was one of the first agreements of  

its kind in Europe. Through the years, it has helped to promote a 

healthy and productive relationship between SKF and the unions 

– which in turn contributes to the effective realization of Employee 

Care throughout the Group.

G4-12  Describe the organization’s supply chain
SKF’s down stream value chain serves some 40 different industries 

in 130 countries. To serve the diverse customer base in these 

 markets in the best way, SKF owns and operates more than 100 

manufacturing plants across the world. SKF directly employs 

around 26,000 people in manufacturing.

SKF sources both materials and services from suppliers around 

the world reflecting its global operations in terms of property plant 

and equipment. The purchased material consists of metal raw 

material such as bars, wires, tubes and strips, and steel based com-

ponents such as rings, balls, rollers, and sheet metal parts, and 

other direct material as well as subcontracted and traded products. 

In addition to direct materials, SKF sources shop supplies, capital 

equipment, and various types of services. To support SKF’s global 

manufacturing footprint, SKF has souring offices around the world 

in Europe, China, India and the Americas. About 85–90% of supplies 

to SKF factories come from local or regional suppliers.

The total annual spend of the SKF Group is around SEK 40 billion 

and roughly around 2,000 suppliers make up 80% of the total spend 

by volume. Please refer to more information about SKF’s supply 

chain in the section Purchasing on page 31 and page 139.

G4-13  Significant changes during the reporting period
No significant changes affecting the reporting.

G4-14  Precautionary approach or principle
As required by the ICC Charter, see below, and referring to the 

Rio Declaration on Environment and Development, SKF applies 

a precautionary approach in its development work. Conservative 

assumptions are also used for any claims made by SKF regarding 

product or operational performance.

G4-15  Externally developed economic, environmental and 
social charters, principles endorsed
The SKF Group endorses or subscribes to a number of internation-

ally recognized principles, charters and guidelines which promote 

sustainable and ethical business practices. This helps to reflect and 

communicate the importance of SKF Care – the Group’s framework 

for sustainable development. 

The United Nations Global Compact is a strategic policy initiative 

for businesses that are committed to aligning their operations and 

strategies with ten universally accepted principles in the areas of 

human rights, labour, environment and anti-corruption. SKF has 

participated in the Global Compact since 2006. SKF commits to the 

defined principles within the Global Compact and to communicate 

its progress via its Annual Report.

The International Labour Organization (ILO) draws up and over-

sees international labour standards. It brings together representa-

tives of governments, employers and workers to jointly shape poli-

cies and programs promoting decent work for all. SKF adheres to 

the ILO Declaration on Fundamental Principles and Rights at Work. 

By doing so SKF commits to upholding basic human values estab-

lished by the ILO.

The International Chamber of Commerce (ICC) is the voice of 

world business championing the global economy as a force for eco-

nomic growth, job creation and prosperity. Its Business Charter for 

Sustainable Development issued in 1991 defines 16 principles for 

environmental management. SKF has endorsed the ICC Charter 

since 1992 and consequently applies its principles in all its business 

activities.

The mission of the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and 

Development (OECD) is to promote policies that will improve the 

economic and social wellbeing of people around the world. SKF 

endorses and works to apply the OECD Guidelines for Multinational 

Companies. By doing this SKF commits to conducting business in a 

global context in a responsible manner, consistent with applicable 

laws and internationally recognized standards.

G4-16  Memberships of associations
SKF is an active partner in several industry collaborations and initi-

atives and holds talks with industrial peers on issues relating to 

technical and management aspects across relevant short and long 

term aspects relating to financial, economic, governance, environ-

mental and social dimensions. SKF takes part in UN Global Compact, 

World Bearing Association, the Conference Board, Teknikföretagen, 

The Royal Swedish Academy of Engineering Sciences, Swedish 

Life-cycle Centre and International Standardisation Organisation 

among others. In addition, SKF collaborates  formally with a number 

of internationally recognised universities on topics such as tribol-

ogy, materials technology, remote diagnostics, environmental and 

social sustainability and metallurgy.

Identified material aspects and boundaries

G4-17  Entities included in the organization’s consolidated 
financial statements or equivalent documents
This information is available in the financial statements on pages 

112–114.

G4-18  Process for defining the report content and the 
aspect boundaries
SKF seeks to provide stakeholders with relevant information 

regarding operational, financial, environmental and social perfor-

mance. In order to do this, SKF applies reporting principles of 

Stakeholder inclusiveness, Sustainability context, Materiality and 

Completeness. 

SKF defines its significant stakeholders as those who can be 

 significantly affected by the Group’s activities. Stakeholders and 

Materiality is described in more detail below.

The context, scope and boundaries are described further in the 

specific standard disclosures along with management approach.

G4-19  Material aspects identified in the process for defining 
report content
SKF’s materiality work integrates a mix of periodic dialogues, 

 surveys, questionnaires and megatrend analysis with internal risk 

management and strategic capabilities. The result of this work is a 

list of material issues presented on the next page, input from exter-

nal stakeholders is presented on pages 121–122.

Material issues for SKF have been established by combining 

stakeholder input with that input from senior representatives of 

from SKF’s Areas and Group staff functions. This has been further 

verified with Group management. These issues are presented and 

explained on page 123 in this report.
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Overall, the analysis of SKF’s qualitative and quantitative input 

indicates that the stakeholders expects and relies on SKF to man-

age sustainability challenges in three main ways.

• The first is to live up to a fair standard and manage risk, avoiding 

the negative impact for the Group and its stakeholders. More on 

SKF’s risk management is explained on pages 56–59. 

• The second is to be an agile and innovative business partner that 

can create opportunities from relevant sustainability issues and 

make use of these to generate business. Please refer to pages 51 

and 53 for examples. 

• The third is to be the enabler of new solutions, technologies and 

business models. Please refer to pages 14, 20–23 and 43 for 

examples.

In terms of sustainability reporting, the important issues translate 

into the following aspects as defined by GRI G4 guidelines. Potential 

omissions are specified next to the indicators on pages 126–139.

Material issues
GRI G4 categories and aspects Indicators reported

Economic category
Direct economic performance EC1, EC2, EC3

Environmental category
Energy EN3, EN5, EN6

Emissions EN7, EN15, EN16, EN17, 
EN18, EN19, EN20, EN27

Effluents and waste EN23, EN24

Water EN8

Compliance EN29

Supplier assessment environment EN32, EN33

Social category
Occupational Health and Safety LA6, LA5

Employment LA1

Diversity and equal opportunities LA12

Training and education LA11

Equal remuneration for women and men LA13

GRI G4 categories and aspects Indicators reported

Social category (cont.)
Labour management relations LA4

Labour practice grievance mechanism LA16

Non-discrimination HR3

Freedom of association and  
collective  bargaining

HR4

Child labour HR5

Forced or compulsory labour HR6

Assessment HR9

Human rights grievance mechanism HR12

Local communities SO1

Anti-corruption SO4, SO5

Anti-competitive behaviour SO7

Compliance SO8

Grievance mechanism for impact on society SO11

Supplier assessment social LA14, LA15, HR10, 
HR11, SO9, SO10

G4-20  For each material aspect, report the aspect  
Boundary within the organization
Specific standard disclosures are described on pages 126–139. 

Boundaries are described under each aspect.

G4-21  For each material aspect, report the aspect  
Boundary outside the organization
In those cases where boundaries outside the organization are rele-

vant, this is stated in the aspect boundary text on pages 126–139.

G4-22  Effect of any restatements of information provided in 
previous reports
No significant restatements.

G4-23  Report significant changes from previous reporting 
periods in the Scope and Aspect Boundaries
Under the aspect Training and education the scope of data collec-

tion has been narrowed to include white collar employee. This job  

category shares a common learning and development platform.

Stakeholder engagement

G4-24  Provide a list of stakeholder groups engaged  
by the organization
Customers
Customer input is sought and received via the sales and marketing 

operations and activities carried out by the Group – from global dis-

cussions with key account managers to daily conversations between 

customer representatives and SKF’s local account managers. SKF 

also responds to a wide range of customers surveys and reviews 

scorecards from key accounts and strategic customers. Aggregated 

results from surveys and scorecards are used as input to SKF con-

tinual improvement work. The input received helps the company to 

continually improve customer value, measure benefits of SKF offer-

ings and stay as the preferred supplier.

Investors and analysts
SKF takes an active approach in communicating the Group’s strat-

egy and performance to existing and potential investors, analysts 

and media. Information is provided through various channels such 

as the quarterly reports, meetings with investors, telephone confer-

ences, the company’s website and press releases. An annual  capital 

markets day is held to present the strategy, targets and the different 

businesses in more detail. SKF receives feedback from investors via 

its own questionnaires, feedback collected after investor meetings 

and continual feedback in discussions.

Employees and union organizations
SKF holds an annual World Works Council meeting during which 

employee representatives meet with Group Management, this is a 

form of social dialogue to make sure that the framework based on 

the SKF Code of Conduct is deployed across the Group.

Employee representatives are also members of SKF’s Board 

– see SKF’s Corporate Governance Report, pages 144–150. In addi-

tion, SKF carries out periodic employee feedback survey in the SKF 

Working Climate Process (WCP), around every 18–24 months. In 

addition to this Group wide survey, the working climate also calls for 

more frequent status updates in the cultural and leadership change 
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currently taking place in SKF. The findings from the WCP are used  

to implement improvements in the working climate and perfor-

mance at all levels within the company – from local teams to Group 

Management.

Communities
The communities in which SKF operates are important stakeholders 

for the company. Local SKF organizations interact with their sur-

rounding communities through various activities and initiatives 

ranging from business related matters to volunteer work, other 

charity work and sponsoring and local network collaboration.

Non-governmental organizations
SKF is actively involved in various business organizations. SKF 

 utilizes these networks to share experiences and ideas with other 

companies and to develop the company’s thinking and approach on 

many issues. SKF has established working relationships with certain 

non-governmental organizations (NGOs). SKF invites feedback and 

input from these NGOs around issues relating to environmental, 

social and economic concerns.

Suppliers
The cost of goods and services purchased by SKF amounts to about 

half of the Group’s revenues. Close collaboration and dialogue with 

suppliers is crucial for assuring the Group’s continued success. Local 

sourcing offices enable close communication on daily operations.  

On site audits provide feedback to SKF on suppliers’ adherence to 

the Code of Conduct and on their performance, it also supports 

competence development of both suppliers and SKF.

G4-25  Basis for identification and selection of stakeholders 
with whom to engage
SKF defines key stakeholder groups as customers, investors, suppli-

ers, employee representatives and representatives from society in 

general, these groups includes entities or individuals who can be sig-

nificantly affected by SKF’s activities. The Group works in different 

ways to interact with these and other stakeholders as part of the 

materiality assessment along with input from academic research  

and industry collaboration. This allows SKF to better understand 

 various perspectives and concerns, and address them quickly.

G4-26  The organization’s approach to stakeholder 
 engagement as part of the report preparation process
The basis for SKF’s materiality work relies on an integration of peri-

odic dialogues, surveys, questionnaires and megatrend analysis. In 

accordance with the GRI G4 reporting requirements and in addition 

to the well-established processes described above, SKF has also 

gathered input from a selection of individuals from main stakeholder 

groups more focused on the Annual Report, both in terms of content 

and how this is being presented. This work provided confirmation 

and further understanding of potentially important aspects for the 

Group’s stakeholders and within which boundaries are more impor-

tant to manage.

From the customer perspective, SKF aggregates the most relevant 

issues coming in from various questionnaires and assessments. This 

has been completed with a number of interviews to receive more 

qualitative information of their perception. Input from employees was 

collected from surveys. Investor input was gathered by aggregating 

the most common assessments from this stakeholder group and com-

pleted with a number of face to face dialogues to receive a nuanced 

picture of important issues. Input from communities was gathered 

from SKF’s public relations functions in the regions where SKF is 

present. Supplier input was  collected through site audits.

G4-27  Key topics and concerns that have been raised through stakeholder engagement
Stakeholder dialogue – top material issues per stakeholder group

Stakeholder 
group Customers and peers Investors and analysts

Employees and  
union organizations

Local markets  
and communities Suppliers

Material 
aspects

•  Creating and capturing 
customer value

• Energy and climate 

• Business ethics

•  Systematic environ-
mental protection

•  Equality and human 
rights

• Health and safety

•  Business ethics

•  Positive and 
 engaging workplace

•  Financial perfor-
mance over time

•  Energy and climate

•  Equality and human 
rights

•  Business ethics

•  Health and safety

•  Positive and engaging 
workplace

•  Creating and capturing  
customer value

•  Energy and climate

•  Innovation

•  Local community 
 relationship

•  Systematic local environ-
mental protection

•   Employee engagement

•  Financial performance

•  Occupational  
health and safety

•  Work hours

•  Compensation

•  Other employment 
practices

•  Environmental 
 protection

Specific  
issues 
addressed 

SKF customers see the 
value provided to them 
as a combination of 
operational benefits  
and that SKF can be  
an agile and resilient 
business partner. 
 Customers further 
expect SKF to work  
with these aspects in  
a systematic way over 
the value chain and 
enabling customers  
to reduce their supply 
chain risks.

Governance, reduced 
risk. Ensure that 
proper actions are 
taken on all issues  
to ensure strong  
future cash-flow,  
at the same time as 
avoiding negative 
impact on people,  
environment and  
society today.

Union organizations 
focus on job develop-
ment, diversity, health 
and safety.
 From the individual 
employee perspective,  
a clear customer focus, 
ethical leadership in 
combination with an 
engaging work environ-
ment has been high-
lighted as most material. 

Most important issues are 
related to local investments 
leading to job and responsible 
restructuring and that SKF 
acts as a responsible corpo-
rate citizen on environ mental 
and human rights issues in 
general.
 Experts from the academic 
field see innovation as the 
most important aspect of 
SKF’s response to sustaina-
bility issues. Especially in 
combination with current 
 challenges such as emissions 
and water.

Suppliers have been 
engaged by site audits 
and the topics material 
aspects above are the 
most common findings 
of improvement related 
to SKF’s Code of Con-
duct. These are mostly 
related to occupational 
health and safety and 
employment practices.

These issues or areas above translates into one or more aspects referring to GRI G4 guidelines, on the next page they are presented  

in the way SKF groups them into different material issues or challenges.
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Report profile

G4-28  Reporting period
SKF Annual report covers the financial year 1 January to 

31 December 2016.

G4-29  Date of most recent previous report 
The report was published on 7 March, 2017. The most previous 

report was published on 8 March, 2016.

G4-30  Reporting cycle
Annual

G4-31  Contact point for questions regarding the report  
or its contents
SKF’s Annual Report refers to three main contact points, please 

refer to page 156.

G4-32  ‘In accordance’ option chosen. 
GRI Content Index for chosen Reference to the  
External Assurance Report
With reference to the GRI G4 in accordance criteria, SKF Annual 

Report 2016 is self-declared as being in accordance with the Core 

option, which is confirmed by the Group’s external auditors PwC.

G4-33  Policy and current practice with regard to seeking 
external assurance for the report
To ensure SKF’s stakeholders and readers of the Group’s sustaina-

bility reporting transparency, credibility and materiality of the 

information published, SKF has been submitting its sustainability 

reports for third-party review and verification since the year 2000. 

Sustainability disclosures in the SKF Annual Report 2016 have 

been subject to limited assurance by SKF’s auditors, please refer to 

Auditor’s Limited Assurance Report on the Sustainability Report on 

page 143.

Governance

G4-34  Governance structure of the organization,  
including committees of the highest governance body
SKF Care defines the Group’s approach to securing sustainable, 

positive development over the short, medium and long term. SKF 

applies the principles of sound corporate governance as an instru-

ment for increased competitiveness and to promote confidence in 

SKF among all stakeholders. Among other things, this means that 

the company maintains an efficient organizational structure with 

clear areas of responsibility and delegated authority for implemen-

tation, that the financial, environmental and social reporting is 

transparent and that the company in all respects maintains good 

corporate citizenship. Refer to page 145–148 in the Corporate 

 Governance Report.

G4-35  Process for delegating authority for economic, 
 environmental and social topics 
The President of the company, who is also the Chief Executive 

Officer, is appointed by the Board of Directors and handles the 

 day-to-day management of the company’s business in accordance 

with the guidelines and instructions from the Board. 

SKF primarily operates with two areas: Industrial and Automo-

tive. Each area is further, with the support from relevant Group 

staff units, responsible to integrate the vision, mission, values and 

drivers into its operations. 

In SKF, the implementation of sustainability programmes in the 

line organization is driven by the respective SKF areas, their business 

Customer expectation The fundamental ability to anticipate, meet and exceed customer expectations in terms of value, quality and 
service in the highly competitive global market place.

Business ethics The ability to conduct all business in a highly ethical manner, which complies with all applicable laws and 
 conforms to the SKF Code of Conduct.

Financial performance The ability to deliver sustained financial performance with efficient working capital management, and cash flow 
over time, which meets the expectations of investors and customers and communicate this transparently.

Health and safety The ability to assure the health and safety of all SKF’s employees and working to protect the health and safety 
of the  customers and users of SKF’s products and solutions and work to assure good work environment also in 
the supply chain.

Application driven  
innovation

The capacity and ability to commercialize application driven innovations and new business models in order to 
support customers in the rapidly changing and evolving markets and industries where SKF is present.

Attract retain and engage a 
diverse and effective workforce

The ability to create positive and engaging workplaces through openness, high ethics, teamwork and 
 empowerment. 

Equality, human  
and labour rights

The ability to assure equal opportunities, fair remuneration and working conditions, human rights and  
positive and  constructive relations between labour and management, at SKF and its supply chain.

Environmental impact  
over the value chain

The capacity to assure that the environmental impact resulting from SKF’s products, related processes and 
 activities is understood and minimized and supporting SKF customers to do the same. The ability to realize  
the significant business opportunities that result from the associated environmental and economic constraints 
while at the same time reduce related risks and costs.

Create additional value in  
the communities around SKF

The capacity to use business and economic growth to support the local communities and to create additional  
value in the communities around SKF’s operations, enhancing the company’s reputation within the community 
and workforce.
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units, staff functions or by country organizations with direction and 

coordination from formal cross-functional decision making bodies 

and working-groups such as for example:

• SKF BeyondZero governance board which decides about inclusion 

and exclusion of SKF BeyondZero customer solutions.

• The Responsible Sourcing Committee, established to assure that 

SKF’s Code of Conduct for Suppliers and Sub-contractors is 

effectively deployed, and that appropriate measures are taken 

when deviations from the Code of Conduct are identified at our 

suppliers.

• The Quality and EHS board oversees issues related to manage-

ment systems, ISO 9001, ISO 14001, OHSAS 18001, ISO 50001 

etc. and related policies and instructions and coordinates the 

deployment of the Group’s related strategy.

In each country where the Group has manufacturing or logistics 

centres, there is a country coordinator who oversees the Environ-

ment, Health and Safety (EHS) at local SKF facilities together with 

the EHS site coordinators. Country coordinators work as the 

extended arm of the Group and a number of them are members 

of the Group EHS audit team, which audits SKF’s units to ensure 

compliance with Group standards and national legislation. 

Key indicators of sustainability performance of the Group are 

reported to Group Management on a six months basis. This includes 

accident rates, energy and CO
2
 emission reports. The Group Man-

agement team and area management teams also perform annual 

reviews on the functioning of the Group EHS management system, 

which is covering ISO 14001, ISO 50001 and OHSAS 18001. The 

area presidents and human resources directors are updated regu-

larly about the Group’s internal audit findings on the environment, 

health and safety, as well as the SKF Code of Conduct.

SKF uses a systematic and standardized approach which is 

embedded throughout the organization and decision making pro-

cesses and uses Group-wide management systems to support and 

drive continual improvement. SKF’s quality management systems 

are certified to ISO 9001 and, where required by the markets, to 

ISO/TS 16949 (for automotive), AS 9100 (for aerospace) and IRIS 

(for railways). The SKF approach to environmental, health and safety 

management is based around a Group-wide certification to the 

requirements of ISO 14001 (environment), OHSAS 18001 (health 

and safety) and ISO 50001 (energy management). During 2016, 

SKF has initiated projects to update these management systems in 

the light of the ISO revisions ISO 14001:2015, ISO 9001:2015 and 

IATF 16949.

For material aspects, depending on the specific role, incentives 

for responsible people are set on an individual performance basis 

following SKF’s performance management process. Employees and 

managers invest time to ensure they have relevant goals set for the 

year and to follow up achievements and discuss priorities. By setting 

SMART goals (specific, measurable, attainable, realistic and timely) 

between employees and their immediate managers and which are 

aligned with the Group’s objectives, employees can influence their 

own work and future compensation.

G4-36  Executive-level position or positions with 
 responsi bility for economic, environmental and social topics, 
and whether post holders report directly to the highest 
 governance body
SKF Corporate Sustainability reports to the Senior Vice President 

Group Legal and Sustainability and has the task to assure that the 

principles defined by SKF Care are addressed and integrated into all 

operations and activities throughout the Group. This means that 

sustainability performance is the responsibility of the operational 

parts of the company and this must be delivered in accordance with 

the strategic direction and fundamental requirements as set by 

Corporate Sustainability and the Group. This authority is delegated 

from Group Management and the Board of Directors who have the 

ultimate responsibility to state SKF’s mission and to ensure that the 

values and drivers are acted upon accordingly. SKF Corporate Sus-

tainability is responsible for outlining and shaping policies, strate-

gies and targets related to SKF’s overall sustainability performance 

and these in turn drive and support the integration of SKF Care into 

business practices, processes, operations and staff functions.

G4-39  Chair of the highest governance body and  
executive officer
Refer to page 146 in the Corporate Governance Report.

G4-41  Processes for the highest governance body to  
ensure conflicts of interest are avoided and managed
Refer to page 145 in the Corporate Governance Report.

G4-42  Highest governance body’s and senior executives’ 
roles in the development, approval, and updating of the 
organization’s purpose, value or mission statements, 
 strategies, policies, and goals related to economic, 
 environmental and social impacts
The Board of Directors is the highest governance body of the com-

pany. The Board of Directors has a responsibility for the company’s 

organization and for the oversight of the management of the com-

pany’s affairs and is, together with the President and Group Manage-

ment defining and continually monitoring SKF’s vision, mission, values 

and drivers, its strategies, performance and related information.

The tenure on the governance body and competencies relating to 

sustainability impacts are integral parts of the nomination of board 

members. 

G4-48  The highest committee or position that formally 
reviews and approves the organization’s sustainability report
The SKF Annual Report 2016 includes SKF’s sustainability reporting 

and is signed by all members of the Board.

G4-51  Remuneration policies for the highest governance 
body and senior executives
Refer to financial statements, Note 23 on pages 98–101.

G4-52  Process for determining remuneration
The principles of remuneration for Group Management is submitted 

by the Remuneration Committee to the Board, which submits a 

proposal for such remuneration principles to the Annual General 

Meeting (AGM) for approval.

The AGM is the main function for direct consultation between 

stakeholders and the highest governance body on economic, envi-

ronmental and social topics. SKF also announces points of contact 

in its annual report. Operational stakeholder dialogue is delegated 

via the SKF Group Management. Stakeholder views on topics such 

as remuneration are taken into account via the AGM – proposals are 

sent out beforehand.
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Actions over the value chain for environmental and social performance

Suppliers SKF’s manufacturing Logistics Customer End of life

SKF Code of Conduct

SKF Group Environment, Health and Safety policy

SKF’s climate targets

All suppliers required to 

follow the SKF Code of 

Conduct for suppliers 

and sub-constractors. 

See page 39.

Supplier audits and 

impact assessments. 

See page 139. 

Major suppliers to 

achieve ISO 14001 envi-

ronmental manage ment 

systems. See page 43.

Remanufacturing and refurbishment  

to extend service life. See page 43.

Major suppliers who are 

energy intensive to 

achieve ISO 50001 envi-

ronmental manage ment 

systems. See page 42.

SKF’s ethics and compliance programmes including: 

Training, internal audits, whistle blower reporting 

line and investigations. See page 39.

Zero Accidents – Occupation health and safety 

 target. See page 40.

ISO 14001 Environmental Management System.  

See page 43.

SKF Group energy 

 targets (absolute and 

relative). See page 

42–43.

Logistics target 30% 

improvement in CO
2
 

/ton-kilometre by 2016. 

See pages 43.

Development and growth of SKF’s BeyondZero 

 customer solutions – products and solutions which 

bring or help realize significant improvements in 

environmental performance for SKF customers.  

See pages 44 and 128–129. 

Ethics and Integrity

G4-56  The organization’s values, principles, standards  
and norms of behaviour
The SKF Code of Conduct is the main policy on ethical standards. 

There are several related policies, on Group level and in local adap-

tions of the SKF management systems but the SKF Code of Conduct 

is the superior policy, all other policies are subordinate to it. It is 

available in 17 languages and publically available on SKF.com/code. 

The SKF Group’s values are presented on page 10 and 41. These are:

• Empowerment • High ethics • Openness • Teamwork

G4-57  Internal and external mechanisms for seeking advice 
on ethical and lawful behaviour
In addition to normal internal reporting possibilities, employees have 

the opportunity to report raise concerns or seek advice via SKF’s 

Ethics and compliance reporting line which is externally hosted by a 

third party. SKF also makes use of an internal  helpline via email. 

G4-58  Internal and external mechanisms for reporting 
 concerns about unethical or unlawful behaviour, and 
 matters related to organizational integrity
SKF employees are requested to report behaviour that is not in 

line with SKF’s Code of Conduct to their manager, local human 

resources or escalate to the country management. SKF employees 

can also raise concerns via the Group-level reporting mechanism 

referred to above. As part of this mechanism, SKF employees can 

report concerns in their own language via a designated web portal 

or by calling a local telephone number. Locally reported grievances 

are often managed at local level with the local human resource 

department or country management. Cases managed by the SKF 

Group are disclosed in this report on page 138 under Social griev-

ance mechanisms.

ISO 50001 Energy 

 Management System.  

See page 43.

Specific environmental tar-

gets on recycling, avoiding 

landfill and reducing VOC. 

See page 130–131.

Focus areas to 

improve transport 

efficiency. See 

page 128.

SKF Environmental design guidelines – assuring 

new products are designed to minimize impacts 

across the life cycle – from material selection to 

design for recyclability. See page 44.

SKF Code of Conduct 

for Distributors,  

page 39.
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Specific standard disclosures 
Economic category
Economic performance

Boundaries 
SKF Group and its subsidiaries.

Disclosure on management approach
SKF is a profit driven organization. The financial performance is the 

overall indicator of the economic impact SKF has on society. All SKF 

entities are accountable for their financial and economic performance. 

SKF reports its financial performance in accordance with IFRS. 

Scope and basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the Parent company, 

AB SKF and those companies in which it directly or indirectly exer-

cises control. Please refer to page 73 for more information about 

SKF’s financial accounting policies.

G4-EC1 Direct economic value generated and distributed
The data from the financial statements has been used to break 

down economic value generated and distributed as described below.

Economic value generated  
and distributed, (SEKm) 2016 2015

Net sales 72,787 75,997

Revenue from financial investments 
and other operating income 107 108

Economic value generated 72,894 76,105

Operating costs –40,097 –42,219

Employee wages and benefits –22,770 –23,920

Payments to providers of capital –3,071 –3,245

Payments to government (tax) –1,897 –2,320

Community investments –25 –32

Economic value distributed –67,860 –71,736

Economic value retained 5,034 4,369

Economic value generated includes net sales (page 66) and interest 

income (page 79). 

Operating costs include the total operating expenses (page 78) 

and the net of other operating income and expenses (page 78) less 

depreciation, amortization and impairments (page 78), less employee 

wages and benefits (78), less Community Care activities (page 47). 

Employee wages and benefits including related tax and social 

charges (page 78). 

Payments to providers of capital include suggested dividends to 

SKF’s shareholders (page 70) and interest expenses (page 79). 

Payments to governments include the total taxes paid according 

to the consolidated statement of cash-flow the Group (page 70). 

Community investments are those also reported under the section 

Community Care (page 47).

G4-EC2 Financial implications and other risks and  
opportunities for the organization’s activities due to  
climate change 
SKF is organized to be diversified in terms of products and markets, 

manufacturing and currencies. In general, this diversification 

reduces SKF’s overall exposure to business risks and positions  

the Group’s overall risk profile as moderate. On climate change in 

 particular, it is likely that costs associated with energy and related 

emissions will increase in the medium to long term. An increased 

cost of carbon emissions by SEK 250 per tonne CO
2
 impacts SKF’s 

operating profit by around SEK 120–150 million. Carbon taxes are 

developing in different ways in different parts of the world with 

 different mechanisms but in general, the associated costs are likely 

to increase over time. This cost only takes into consideration SKF’s 

costs of sourced energy used at the Group’s own operations, carbon 

pricing mechanisms would also affect cost for suppliers of raw 

material and components. SKF takes an active approach to energy 

efficiency at its own facilities and suppliers – reducing energy 

demand and related risks.

Considering SKF’s customers, the general trend to internalise 

carbon costs and incentivise efficiency is a major driver in many of 

the industrial segments served by the Group. This presents both 

opportunities for growth and some risks in certain segments which 

may be negatively impacted by this trend. Please refer to pages 

50–53 for an overview of SKF’s Areas. Customer industries are 

further described on skf.com/skfs-business. The drivers in these 

industries create significant opportunities for SKF to contribute to 

climate change mitigation through the products and solutions it 

provides, and thereby create considerable value for customers and 

investors.

The motivation for SKF’s continued commitment in addressing 

climate change can be summarized in three points:

• Climate change presents a critical long-term challenge to 

humanity and the natural environment. Failure to address it may 

have catastrophic long-term consequences for both.

• Energy prices are likely to increase in the medium to long-term. 

SKF’s ability to run its business activities in a highly energy and 

carbon-efficient way will increasingly affect a long-term compet-

itive advantage.

• SKF is uniquely positioned to significantly contribute to climate 

change mitigation through the products and solutions it provides, 

and in doing so create considerable value for customers and 

investors.

Please refer to page 45 for a detailed explanation of BeyondZero 

and SKF’s climate targets.

G4-EC3 Coverage of the organization’s defined benefit plan 
obligations
SKF reports the coverage of its provisions of post-employment 

benefits in the financial statements on pages 91–93.
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Specific standard disclosures 
Environmental category
Energy and emissions

Boundaries
The Group’s climate targets address energy and emissions over the 

full value chain. Targets have been established for suppliers, goods 

transportation, SKF’s operations and customer solutions – the 

areas where SKF can significantly contribute.

Disclosure on management approach
The most relevant emissions to the air from SKF are direct and 

indirect CO
2
 emissions. These are related to the energy used when 

processing raw material, processes at SKF’s operations, transport-

ing goods and during the use-phase of SKF’s products. Continued 

global emissions of greenhouse gases will cause further global 

warming and increase the likelihood of severe, pervasive and irre-

versible impacts for people and the natural environment. Limiting 

emissions is a critical challenge for business, governments and 

society. At SKF, all relevant functions are included in the work along 

with specific responsibilities.

SKF is developing and deploying technology that enables 

improved energy efficiency for its customers and increased renew-

able energy generation. SKF’s products and solutions help enable 

resource efficiency, energy and fuel savings for customers in 

numerous industrial segments, and SKF’s solutions help make the 

wind industry more commercially viable. These solutions are 

defined by the SKF BeyondZero customer solutions. Revenues and 

avoided emissions from the portfolio are reported on page 129.

SKF has an energy management system certified according to 

ISO 50001 at its own operations, which covers all energy-intensive 

operations – about 90% of the Group’s total energy use. The deploy-

ment and maintenance of systematic energy management is the 

foundation of long-term improvement. Please refer to page 124 for 

more information about SKF’s management systems. SKF also 

works to influence energy intensive suppliers to implement energy 

management systems certified according to ISO 50001. 

Detailed data on SKF’s energy and emissions are reported in this 

section. Ozone depleting substances are reported in kilogrammes 

used on page 131 under Chemicals and substances in production.

SKF’s climate targets 2012–2016 are concluded on page 42. In 

general, the Group considers the progress on these targets a success:

• On scope 1 and 2 emissions, SKF has reduced its energy use and 

related emissions by 14% compared to 2006. Going forward, SKF 

will focus on reducing CO
2
 emissions per tonnes of bearings sold 

as main KPI. Energy management efficiency will continue to be a 

major strategic lever, in combination with material efficiency and 

the use of renewable energy.

• On scope 3, SKF’s target on suppliers was to have all energy 

intensive major suppliers ISO 50001 certified. At year-end 2016, 

25 of 30 suppliers had achieved this. This certification will con-

tinue to be a key target on SKF’s suppliers. SKF also targeted to 

reduce CO
2
 emissions per volume shipped goods from its logistics 

operations by 30% 2012–2016, which has been achieved.

• On scope 4 emissions, SKF’s target was to develop the sales from 

SKF BeyondZero customer solutions from BSEK 2.5 in 2011 to 

BSEK 10 in 2016. In 2016, the total net sales from these solutions 

was BSEK 6.8, which is over 9% of the Group’s total net sales. The 

net sales from SKF BeyondZero customer solutions will continue 

to be the main KPI of SKF scope 4 performance.

Scope and data compilation
All energy and CO

2
 data reported in the SKF Annual Report 2016 

(except goods transportation data and business travel data) was 

compiled either quarterly or annually using the Group’s main 

reporting and consolidation tool. Data includes all significant manu-

facturing sites, technical and engineering centres and logistics cen-

tres. Sales units are included when they are at the same site as 

manufacturing or logistics. Separate sales offices are excluded due 

to their minor environmental impact. Joint ventures are included 

where SKF has management control.

Information is reported at a local operating unit level, aggregated 

to site, country/area, and Group level. The reporting of greenhouse 

gas emissions is done according to the Greenhouse Gas Reporting 

(GHG) protocol published by the World Business Council for Sustain-

able Development and the World Resources Institute. 

For site by site data, please refer to the Environmental perfor-

mance data available at skf.com/ar2016. 

G4-EN6 Reduction of energy use – Performance
Absolute energy use has been reduced by 14% 2016 compared to 

2006. This has been achieved by for example more volumes from 

recently built efficient facilities using LEED standards, effective 

energy management of central systems in factories, and invest-

ments in more efficient machines. Energy efficiency (per output) 

was improved by 5% in 2016 compared with 2015. SKF’s energy 

management system was certified according to ISO 50001 in 2015 

and is expected to enable improvement in energy management over 

time, emission performance, cost and risk over time.

Energy use and associated CO2 emissions from SKF’s own facilities (Scope 1 and 2)
Targets: 5% reduction in absolute energy use in 2016 vs. 2006 and reduce the energy use per production output by 5% year-on-year  

(measured as energy use/output)

Energy 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012 2006

G4-EN3 Energy in GWh scope 1 275 284 294 323 314 407

G4-EN3 Energy in GWh scope 2 1,408 1,336 1,347 1,379 1,362 1,550

Total energy use (GWh) 1,683 1,620 1,641 1,702 1,676 1,957
G4-EN5 Indexed energy efficiency (GWh/output)1) 95 100 98

G4-EN5 Energy use per net sales (GWh/SEKm x 100) 2.31 2.13 2.31 2.67 2.59 3.68

1)  Energy efficiency is calculated by dividing GWh used at SKF’s production sites by an internal measure of output. In this table it is shown as an indexed 

 indicator based on the previous year as index 100. Because the measure of output is recalculated, only the last three years are comparable.
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CO
2
 (tonnes) 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012 2006

Direct combustion (scope 1)1)

LPG 3,707 4,046 4,025 4,775 4,708 4,234

Fuel oil 2,459 2,689 3,221 3,069 3,750 11,891

Natural gas 50,047 51,363 53,035 58,207 56,178 69,165

G4-EN15 Total scope 1 56 213 58,098 60,281 66,051 64,636 85,290

Supplied energy (scope 2)1)

Electricity 443,622 415,814 403,871 401,108 389,938 445,462

Heating energy 30,747 28,126 30,188 36,473 35,684 45,911

G4-EN16 Total scope 2 474,369 443,940 434,059 437,581 425,622 491,373

Total CO
2
 emissions scope 1 and 2 530,582 502,038 494,340 503,632 490,258 576,663

G4-EN18 CO
2
 per net sales (tonnes/SEKm) 7.29 6.61 6.96 7.92 7.59 10.86

1)  SKF reports greenhouse gas emissions in accordance with the Greenhouse Gas (GHG) protocol which defines an organization’s GHG emissions as Scope 1 

(direct emissions from on-site combustion) Scope 2 (indirect emissions associated with generation of energy used on site – electricity, district heat) and 

Scope 3 (all other indirect emissions from logistics, business travel etc.). Scope 2 emissions are calculated based on contractual emissions factors where 

available. Figures for 2006 to 2016 are adjusted according to the GHG-protocol for acquisitions and divestments. SKF sources energy locally for all sites 

and the level of detail in each contract differs, SKF can therefore not report the source of energy on scope 2 emissions on an aggregated level.

2016 2015 20141) 2013 2012 2011

G4-EN17, Total CO
2
 emissions (tonnes) scope 3 96,439 106,112 101,9261) — — —

Transport works (million tonne-kilometres) 2,462 2,374 2,1461) — — —

Indexed CO
2
 emission per tonne kilometre (Index 2014)1) 84 97 100 95 119 118

G4-EN19 Change from 2011 (% ) –31% –18% –15% –19% +1% —

Fill rate for trucks2) (% of available truck space utilized) 75% 70% 79% 80% 79% 81%

Shipped volumes and emissions per transport mode 2016 Road Sea Air

Transport works, tonnekilometre % of total 19.5 79 1.5

CO
2
 emissions, % of total 38 34 28

1)  Between 2012 and 2014 SKF reduced the total CO
2
 per tonne-kilometre by 15% according to baseline 2011. Then in 2014, a new baseline was  

established for the remaining target period (2015–2016). Therefore, SKF reports CO
2
 per tonne-kilometre indexed based on 2014.

2) The fill rate indicator covers SKF Logistics Services own shipments by truck in the DTS network (Daily Transportation System Network). 

Goods transportation data and related CO2 emissions (Scope 3)
SKF Logistics and Demand Chain reduces emissions from transport 

as part of its transport efficiency programme. In 2016, the target  

to reduce CO
2
 emissions per tonne-kilometre by 30% between 2012 

and 2016 has been achieved. Overall, the work to reduce CO
2
 emis-

sions and costs of transport can be summarised in three main 

points:

• Shifting to transport alternatives with lower CO
2
 intensity,  

such as sea, road and rail, instead of air.

• Continual improvements in the efficiency of each transport  

mode chosen.

• Avoiding unnecessary transports.

Examples can be found in previous annual reports and on  

skf.com/climate. 

SKF measures the emissions of the air and ocean shipments on a 

global level. For road transportation, the Group measures emissions 

for local transportation in most of the countries where Logistics and 

Demand Chain is responsible for. Going forward, SKF will shift focus 

to reducing CO
2
 emissions per tonne shipped goods, this to optimize 

the footprint and shorten routes even more. The recording partly 

includes other emissions such as SOx, NOx, and particles.

Business travel
SKF monitors CO

2
 emissions from its air travel in Europe, the US 

and China. China was added to the scope in 2014. Data from other 

regions has not yet been included because multiple travel agencies 

have been used in these regions, making reliable data collection 

very difficult. 

The SKF BeyondZero customer solutions 
Total SKF BeyondZero customer solutions revenues
Target: To reach total revenues of the SKF BeyondZero customer 

solutions of SEK 10 billion in 2016.

Result: Although the revenues almost tripled in five years, SKF did 

not meet the initial target set in 2011. The target set was based on 

a view on aggressive growth of the wind industry which did not fully 

materialise. Going forward, net sales of SKF BeyondZero customer 

solutions will continue to be the main indicator on the Group’s con-

tribution to customers, investors and the environment. Read more 

on SKF’s 2025 climate targets on page 45.

Tonnes 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011

G4-EN17 CO
2
 

emissions from 
air travel 20,604 21,703 24,2361) 16,334 18,302 19,870

1)  The scope of reporting was extended in 2014 by adding China. 

 According to the previous scope – for comparability the number  

for 2014 would be 18,569 tonnes.
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Avoided greenhouse gas emissions enabled by specific  
SKF solutions1)

Tonnes 
C0

2
e 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012

G4-EN7, 
G4-EN27 400,000 410,000 440,000 83,000 52,000

1)  The figure shows the sum of the results from completed calculations so far 

of the avoided greenhouse gas emissions enabled by specific BeyondZero 

customer solutions – Designed for Environment or Applied for Environment 

– sold during the respective year. These calculations focus on the difference 

in the life cycle impact of the SKF solutions compared to baseline solutions. 

The baseline is defined as the most common alternative on the market. This 

figure is intended to show the magnitude of the savings and will become 

more comprehensive as further calculations, updates and refinements are 

made during the course of 2017.

Avoided greenhouse gas emissions enabled by SKF’s business in 
the renewable energy and electric vehicles industries1)

Tonnes 
C0

2
e 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012

G4-EN7, 
G4-EN27 1,960,000 2,350,000 1,760,000 1,220,000 1,620,000

1)  The figure has been estimated as SKF’s part of the avoided greenhouse  

gas emissions made possible by the whole renewable energy industry.  

An economic allocation factor of 6% has been used. Going forward, this 

 category will also include SKF’s sales to the electric vehicle industry.

There is yet no standard method for companies to calculate envi-

ronmental benefits, such as avoided carbon dioxide emissions, from 

their products and services. The statements in this report con-

cerning environmental impacts, as well as cost savings and reve-

nue increases, are based on results experienced by SKF’s cus-

tomers and/or based on internal calculations by SKF’s personnel 

and do not constitute a guarantee that any future results will be 

the same. For more details, methodology and documentation 

about reduced environmental impact, visit: www.beyondzero.com.

Material use in SKF’s production
SKF uses various materials such as metals, rubber, solvents, 

hydraulic oil and grease. Steel is the main material used by SKF 

and much of the steel purchased by the Group is produced by 

re-melting steel scrap, as this provides favourable material 

 properties and is widely available.

The Group is continually working to improve resource efficiency. 

SKF reports material use because the amount of material is closely 

linked to cost and environmental impact. Life cycle assessments 

and material flow analysis of raw materials used indicates a signif-

icant environmental impact, mostly related to energy and associ-

ated emissions from material refinement. 

The company invests in research into advanced manufacturing 

technology that minimizes the amount of material to be removed 

to produce finished products. At the same time, SKF’s designers, 

process engineers and purchasing staff are working towards 

minimizing material waste throughout the value chain.

Tonnes 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010

Metal as raw material from external suppliers 446,260 431,523 446,978 405,235 368,401 413,945 412,068

Rubber as raw material from external suppliers 5,487 5,485 4,553 4,226 4,247 4,354 3,915

Effluents and waste, water, compliance

Boundaries
Systematic environmental protection is relevant over the value 

chain of SKF. 

The generation of effluents and waste from the Group’s manu-

facturing operations along with water use are relevant and material 

issues for SKF. 

Water is relevant in different ways depending on where in the 

value chain it is used. Direct water use is material at SKF sites 

located in areas of actual and potential water scarcity. Indirect 

water use is relevant due its close correlation to energy generation.

Compliance is material in relation to SKF’s manufacturing opera-

tions and those of its suppliers. 

Disclosure on management approach
SKF has deployed an environmental management system certified 

according to ISO 14001. This is integrated with the health and 

safety management system and is based on the Group EHS Policy. 

The management system is further defined at Group, country and 

site level. The overall coordination of the work is managed by a 

 central staff function and the responsibility to drive improvements 

is with SKF’s functional areas in the line organization.

Roles and responsibilities have been established in accordance 

to the demands of SKF’s environmental management system. The 

management system refers to SKF’s minimum requirements and 

The annual revenues from SKF BeyondZero customer solutions 

consist of the total sales from specific products and solutions as well 

as that from SKF’s business with the renewable energy (wind, solar, 

ocean and hydro power) and electric vehicle industries.

The growth is based on sales development of solutions included 

previous years and the inclusion of new solutions during the year.

SEKm 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011

Total SKF BeyondZero 
 customer solutions 
 revenues 6,819 5,930 5,493 3,324 2,972 2,5001)

1)  The result for 2011 is estimated. From 2012 the work with SKF 

BeyondZero customer solutions has been reviewed or audited annually  

by external auditors.
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2016 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009

Grinding swarf (tonnes) 20,332 20,110 20,706 20,466 20,297 23,221 20,899 15,740

Grinding swarf Recycled (%) 74 80 83 80 76 68 67 70

Recycling of grinding swarf
Grinding swarf is a common waste product from SKF’s manufactur-

ing processes. SKF set a target to achieve at least an 80% recycling 

rate for its grinding swarf by 2016. This target was achieved in 

2013 and in 2015 the rate was at 83%. Variations in regional legis-

lation, volatile scrap prices and other aspects mean that this contin-

2016 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009

Turning Chips (tonnes) 40,088 42,885 46,972 49,328 49,207 54,536 64,782 51,085

Turning Chips Recycled (%) 98 100 100 100 100 100 100 100

Other metal scrap (tonnes) 6,096 7,537 6,011 6,098 5,625 6,318 7,487 7,670

Other metal scrap recycled (%) 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100

Rubber scrap (tonnes) 1,686 1,631

Rubber scrap recycled (%) 88 86

Used oils (tonnes) 3,531 3,701 3,954 4,369 3,861 3,899 4,275 3,880

Used oils recycled (%) 97 91 93 91 96 95 94 96

Paper and carton (tonnes) 4,446 4,630 4,544 4,615 4,276 4,193 4,084 3,390

Paper and carton recycled (%) 99 96 95 98 100 100 98 96

Waste sent to landfill (tonnes) 9,533 9,043 9,507 8,505 9,371 10,938 10,722 7,740

ues to be a very challenging target to achieve and in 2016 the rate 

was down at 74%. This is mainly a result of new regulations in Italy, 

where SKF has previously had high recycling rate. The target on 

grinding swarf is extended until 2017 and during the year, new tar-

gets will be established as part of the update of SKF’s environmen-

tal management system to the new standard ISO 14001:2015.

local legislation, whichever is the more stringent. Country managers 

are responsible for ensuring compliance with local laws. The local 

line organization manager is responsible for ensuring compliance 

with SKF’s standards. The SKF Group function provides the overall 

structure and follow-up. Potential spills, incidents and fines are 

publically reported in the Environmental Data spreadsheet in Topics 

related to the Annual Report, please refer to skf.com/ar2016. 

SKF also has a grievance mechanism in place for incidents at 

suppliers. This is coordinated by SKF’s responsible sourcing com-

mittee and reported in an aggregated overview of deviations from 

supplier audits.

One important feature of SKF’s global environmental manage-

ment system is to ensure that all operating SKF units are compliant 

with local rules and legislation, to ensure efficient water use and 

responsible water management, including wastewater handling. 

SKF’s sites located in areas of water scarcity have established spe-

cific targets for reducing water consumption. Water risk manage-

ment is an integral aspect in LEED and SKF’s Sustainable Factory 

Rating (SFR). Downstream, SKF can provide solutions to reduce the 

water footprint for customers. The most important dimension of 

water for SKF is that of the water needed to generate energy for 

use over the value chain.

Environmental permits
Operations requiring permits exist in all countries where SKF has 

manufacturing sites. On 31 December, 2016, SKF held permits in 

Sweden covering 10% of the Group’s overall production volume for 

its operations at Gothenburg, Katrineholm and Hofors. The permits 

relate to the production of bearings, bearing housings and couplings. 

Landfills
Many SKF plants have disposed of various types of waste at approved 

landfill sites. Because of stricter laws and regulations – some with a 

retroactive effect – relating to landfill disposal, some SKF compa-

nies are currently involved in cleaning up old landfills, most of which 

have not been used for many years. Relevant provisions have been 

made to cover these costs.

Scope and data compilation
All data was compiled either quarterly or annually, using the Group’s 

main reporting and consolidation tool. It includes all significant 

manufacturing sites, technical and engineering centres and logistics 

centres. Sales units are included when they are at the same site as 

manufacturing or logistics. Separate sales offices are excluded due 

to their minor environmental impact. Joint ventures are included 

where SKF has management control.

Information is reported at a local operating unit level, aggregated 

to site, country/area, and Group level. For site by site data, please 

refer to the Environmental performance data available at  

skf.com/ar2016. 

Performance
SKF has set realistic and ambitious targets to reduce environmental 

impact from its operations. Overall, the data presented indicates 

that SKF is reducing its environmental impact from its operations. 

Most targets were set with 2016 as target year. During 2017, new 

targets on energy and climate have been published, other environ-

mental targets will be set during the year as part of an updating of 

SKF’s environmental management system.

G4-EN23  Residual products and recycling
SKF measures and reports waste types and disposal methods in 

another way than GRI suggests, the amounts of residual material 

and recycling rate are disclosed below and in more detail in Envi-

ronmental Data spreadsheet available at skf.com/AR2016. SKF 

reports all significant residuals and waste site-by-site for all SKF’s 

units. In this note, SKF highlights the most significant residuals, 

recycling rates and the amount of waste sent to landfill. All of SKF’s 

units are aiming to minimize waste and increase recycling, for both 

environmental and cost reasons. Practically all scrap metal from 

SKF’s operations is recycled.
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2016 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009

 Alcohols (tonnes) 1,893 1,890 1,865 1,636 1,500 1,542 1,514 1,293

 Hydraulic Oil (tonnes) 1,712 1,885 2,214 2,386 2,435 2,515 2,501 1,932

 Grease (tonnes) 2,046 1,876 1,718 1,717 1,615 1,515 1416 1,175

 PCB (Sites with) 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 1

 Other oils (tonnes) 2,260 2,242 2,642 2,862 3,246 3,843 3,114 3,160

 Lubrication Oils (tonnes) 5,328 707 825 703 793 986 880 649

 Cutting Oils (tonnes) 2,338 2,412 2,102 2,492 2,271 2,456 2,656 1,971

2016 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009

Solvents (tonnes) 808 902 882 929 966 847 1,144 1,075

Chemicals and substances in production
SKF reports all significant use of chemicals and substances site by 

site for all SKF’s units, please refer to the Environmental Data 

Solvents – VOCs
Solvents, referred to as volatile organic compounds (VOCs), form 

vapours that can be damaging to health and the environment. After 

a successful 25% reduction of solvents in 2002–2007, SKF set new 

a target in 2007 to reduce the use of solvents by 50%. The In 2016, 

the amount used was 808 tonnes – meaning that over 49% reduc-

tion has been achieved. As with the recycling target, this target will 

be extended until 2017 and new targets will be set out as part of 

the updated management system.

spreadsheet available at skf.com/ar2016. In this note, SKF high-

lights the most significant uses and the progress on targets for 

 solvents (VOCs). 

G4-EN8 Water use 
As the majority of SKF’s factories are located in industrial zones, 

water, to a large extent, is supplied by municipalities. Therefore, 

SKF monitors total water consumption at operating units and not 

according to water withdrawal by source. SKF uses the Global Water 

2016 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009

Water use (1,000 N Cubic Meters) 5,508 5,558 5,200 5,451 5,662 5,584 5,652 6,898

Water use at SKF sites in  
water stressed  locations 1,294 1,179 1,265 1,472 1,428 1,495 — —

G4-EN24 Total number and volume of significant spills 
SKF received no significant directives from the environmental 

authorities in 2016. One minor spill was recorded during the year. 

This has been communicated and resolved with local environmental 

authorities.

Tool from World Business Council for Sustainable Development to 

identify sites located in areas of potential water related risks. SKF’s 

sites located in areas of water scarcity have established specific 

 targets for reducing water consumption.

G4-EN29 Monetary value of significant fines and total number 
of non-monetary sanctions for non-compliance with environ-
mental laws and regulations 
No significant fines or sanctions 2016.

2016 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009

ODS-Class I  Manufacturing (kilogram) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

ODS-Class II  Manufacturing (kilogram) 0 0 0 0 0 0 15 1

ODS-Class III  Manufacturing (kilogram) 102 209 323 311 300 138 119 24

ODS-Class I  Non-Manufacturing (kilogram) 0 0 0 0 0 0 30 30

ODS-Class II  Non-Manufacturing (kilogram) 0 0 0 0 2 124 107 253

ODS-Class III  Non-Manufacturing (kilogram) 436 638 257 1,511 745 294 477 281

G4-EN20 Ozone-depleting substances (ODS)
SKF has been monitoring its consumption of ODS, referring to the 

Montreal Protocol, for many years. Consumption has steadily fallen 

over the years, supported by a number of local phase-out projects. 

Overall, the most harmful ODS have either been substituted with 

less harmful ones or usage has been totally eliminated due to pro-

cess changes in manufacturing.
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G4-LA6  Accident rate for the Group
Data per region and gender cannot be reported. Lost days are 

 documented locally, so far this is not aggregated and reported on 

Group level.

 

2016 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009

Accident rate 
for the Group 0.871) 0.99 1.13 0.99 1.06 1.05 1.18 1.29

1)  In 2016, SKF has included recordable accidents from two sites which  

are currently being integrated in common systems, but not been able  

to include all worked hours. The accident actual rate 2016 is therefore 

lower than reported.

Proactive and preventative work
The accident rate for the Group includes recordable accidents and 

illnesses. SKF’s sites around the world work to report near miss 

and first aid incidents. This is a way to identify potential risks and 

prevent accidents from happening. In the figure the base of 

the  pyramide is near miss, the second layer is first aid, the 

top  layers are recordable and serious recordable incidents.  

The objective is to have more near miss and first aid 

incidents reported and acted upon, and thereby 

reduce recordable accidents over time. 

Specific standard disclosures 
Social category
Occupational health and safety

Boundaries
Health and safety is a material issue in different aspects of SKF’s 

direct operations as well as activities occurring along the value 

chain. SKF employs around 25,000 people in manufacturing and 

the focus here is on physical health and safety. This is also relevant 

upstream as part of SKF’s responsible sourcing approaches, as well 

as for work carried out by sub-contractors. Downstream, the main 

relevant health and safety aspects relate to products and customer 

solutions. For SKF’s white-collar employees, health is mostly related 

to stress and psycho-social health.

Disclosure on management approach
SKF deploys a Group-wide health and safety management system 

according to OHSAS 18001. The high level requirements on health 

and safety are defined in the Group’s EHS policy and the detailed 

instructions and procedures are integrated within the environ-

mental health and safety management system. SKF’s management 

system is further described on page 123.

Scope and data compilation
Health and safety data is collected on a quarterly basis using the 

Group’s main reporting and consolidation tool. SKF adopts the US 

Occupational Safety and Health Administration’s (OSHA) standard 

for defining recordable accidents and its formula for calculating 

accident rates. The scope of accident reporting covers all significant 

SKF sites. Together these sites cover over 90% of SKF’s employees. 

Recently acquired companies are given a timeframe for implement-

ing the management systems and reporting. The accident rate data 

also includes contractors and agency workers on SKF’s sites. 

SKF Group People data presented on pages 131–134, and in the 

Employee Care section on page 40 is collected annually. All figures 

reflect the situation on 31 December each year and the scope 

includes the SKF Group and all subsidiaries included in the financial 

reporting.

Performance and serious incidents
As referred to in the Employee Care section on page 40, regrettably 

two fatal accidents occurred in 2016. One was a traffic accident on 

the way from a customer visit and one was a fork-lift truck accident 

on SKF’s premises where the driver did not use the seatbelt. The 

Group has driven initiatives aimed at further improving safety 

awareness during business travel and fork-lift truck safety. Other 

focus areas in 2017 include machine and finger safety. 

Since the start of the Zero Accidents programme in 2000, signi-

ficant improvement has been made. Today, less than one individual 

(0.87) out of 100 full time employees is involved in a recordable 

accident. Even if the trend is still moving in the right direction, more 

focus and dedication is required to completely eliminate accidents.

Serious recordable

Recordable

First aid

Near miss

G4-LA8  Health and safety topics covered in formal 
 agreements with trade union
SKF’s global framework agreement with the World Union Council  

is based on the SKF Code of Conduct – including health and safety. 

These aspects are included in both global and local formal agree-

ments, a percentage cannot be given.

SKF deploys joint health and safety committees with manage-

ment and worker representatives as part of the health and safety 

management system. Some units that have not yet fully imple-

mented such a management system have still a joint health and 

safety committee. Typically, these committees operate at factory 

management level.
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G4-LA5  SKF employees covered by joint health  
and safety committees with management and  
worker representatives, by region

% 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012

Asia and Pacific 89 85 77 71 59

Middle East and Africa 77 93 100 100 59

North America 99 99 98 99 88

Latin America 97 96 86 99 88

Eastern and  
Central Europe 94 94 94 97 45

Western Europe 94 97 97 97 89

Group 94 94 91 91 77

SKF employees covered by formalized health and well-being 
policy/programme, by region
These programmes may include for example HIV/aids and other 

infectious diseases, health and fitness, stress, work-life balance or 

other issues relevant to the local context. 

% 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012

Asia and Pacific 87 78 92 71 69

Middle East and Africa 79 621) 100 100 82

North America 97 94 97 91 94

Latin America 88 71 84 98 98

Eastern and  
Central Europe 61 46 44 20 47

Western Europe 88 86 94 90 92

Group 88 81 90 81 83

1)  One recently acquired subsidiary started reporting as a separate legal 

unit in 2015. On 31 December the unit had no formal programme in 

place. The unit, located in South Africa has launched such programme 

co-funded by SWHAP (Swedish Workplace HIV/Aids Progamme) in 

 February 2016.

G4-LA1 Employee retention rate by region (excluding lay-offs)
2016

% Women Men Total 2015 2014 2013

Asia and Pacific 90 92 92 90 89 87

Middle East and Africa 95 93 93 91 90 95

North America 91 92 92 90 93 91

Latin America 91 95 95 95 92 88

Eastern and Central Europe 90 91 90 94 95 95

Western Europe 94 96 96 96 96 95

Group 92 94 93 93 93 92

Voluntary retention rate is measured by comparing remaining 

SKF employees at year end (minus newly employed) to the number 

at the start of the year. Lay-offs are excluded in the calculation.

Employment

Boundaries
The SKF Group and its subsidiaries.

Disclosure on management approach
SKF has a long established human resources function (Group People) 

that is integrated in the Group People, Communication and Quality 

management function. There are specific Human Resources personnel 

and responsibilities at Group, Area, Country and site level. Group 

People works to ensure that the company has the right people, in the 

right place at the right time and that these people are competent, 

motivated and able to create and capture value for our customers.

SKF has a global framework with the World Union Council which is 

based on the SKF Code of Conduct. The staff function Group People, 

manages labour affairs and the formal dialogue with the SKF World 

Union Council. Issues relating to significant changes at SKF are 

always handled in close collaboration between company manage-

ment, local union and the World Union Council. The SKF Group 

operates under Swedish legislation and the Swedish Corporate 

Governance Code, as an effect of this, employee representatives  

are part of the Board – the highest governance body. Among other 

things, this means that employee representative have direct insight 

on board level issues and strategic outlook for the Group. 

During recent years, SKF has undergone significant restructuring, 

extensive dialogues were held with employees and their represent-

atives and efforts were made to minimise the negative impacts on 

those employees leaving the Group. These included the use of early 

retirement schemes as well as voluntary redundancy programmes. 

Employee Care describes the overall approach from the Group 

towards employees – further information can be found on pages 

40–41.

Scope and data compilation
SKF reports retention rate and turnover by gender and region, not by 

age group. This is due to differences in human resource and salary 

systems which makes it challenging to aggregate this on Group level.
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G4-LA1  Employee turnover and new hires by region

Group
Asia and 

Pacific
Middle East 

and Africa
North 

 America
Latin 

 America

Eastern  
and central 

Europe
Western 

Europe

Employee turnover 2016, women % 11.2 11.2 6.4 17.2 22.3 9.9 7.4

Employee turnover 2016, men % 8.5 8.9 8.8 13.5 16.6 9.7 5.2

Employee turnover 2016, total % 9.1 9.3 8.2 14.5 17.2 9.7 5.6
Employee turnover 2015, total % 8.9 12.2 12.3 11.3 18.6 7.4 5.2

New hires 2016 3,755 1,040  44 678 550 639 804 
Women (Number) 904 217 9 175 81 223 199 

(Share of total) 24% 21% 20% 26% 15% 35% 25%
Men (Number) 2,851 823 35 503 469 416 605 

Training and education

Boundaries
The SKF Group and its subsidiaries, SKF’s distributor network and 

users of SKF’s products and services.

Disclosure on management approach
SKF has established a wide range of training and educational 

 programmes aimed at the Group’s employees, distributors and 

 customers. These are based on the Group’s overall strategy and  

the specific competency and development needs of the various 

functions and job roles.

All SKF employees are entitled to an individual development plan 

(IDP) and this is where specific training or development needs are 

identified and agreed between the employee and his or her manager. 

The IDP is also used to follow up on the completion of training and 

development activities. Training defined within an IDP can range 

from mandatory e-learning, which all employees must complete 

(Code of Conduct e-learning for example) to very specific technical 

training on a wide range of subjects such as project management  

or application engineering. 

SKF College is the central function in SKF that manages and 

coordinate tools for learning in SKF. An assortment of development 

programmes focusing on professional skills (e.g. sales and market-

ing, engineering, products and platforms, demand chain, manufac-

turing), leadership skills, personal skills (e.g. negotiation skills, com-

munication skills, time management), and other strategic areas are 

made available to employees according to the Group’s strategies 

and priorities.

Utilizing different tools and methods – web conferencing, 

e-learning, classroom setting, group work, projects, and coaching 

– SKF’s learning and development programmes aim at enhancing 

the quality in learning for employees. Managers’ involvement and 

support through coaching is important for employees to achieve 

sustained personal and professional development.

The Group has established SKF College campuses in Sweden, USA, 

Argentina, China, India and Singapore. This enables SKF’s global 

curriculum to be locally adapted and provided in local languages 

by local trainers. 

Downstream, SKF provides training for distributors and end-users 

of SKF’s products and services. This includes training on mounting 

and servicing SKF’s products for example. For distributors, SKF’s 

training includes aspects such as technical specifications of SKF’s 

products, value selling, SKF’s Code of Conduct and profitable 

 business management. More information on distributor training 

is available on skf.com.

Scope and data compilation
SKF measures performance reviews and development plans in two 

main ways. Employees in traditional white collar work roles, such as 

sales and administration are using a Group-wide learning manage-

ment system in which training, development plans and performance 

is managed, around 17,500 employees are in the scope of perfor-

mance reviews and development plans in this system. This is the 

scope of the population in the 2016 data below. SKF also follows up 

on performance reviews and development plans in the a Group-

wide employee engagement survey. This survey would cover all SKF 

employees. The next survey was planned for fourth quarter, 2016, 

but it has been rescheduled to the second quarter, 2017. 

What could externally be referred to as Programmes for skills 

management and lifelong learning are defined at SKF as individual 

development plans.

The percentage of employees receiving regular performance  

and career development is defined at SKF as people receiving for-

mal documented performance reviews. In addition, SKF’s general 

approach to providing on-going performance feedback helps to 

shape the training and development needs for employees.

Performance reviews
% 2016 2015 20142)

G4-LA11  Performance reviews 751) — 69

Men/Women — 69/70

1)  For 2016, 13,099 out the scope of around 17,500 employees had their 

performance reviews finalized by 31 January, 2017.

2)  In 2014, the data is aggregated from a Group-wide survey covering all 

employees. In 2016, the data is derived from the learning management 

system, covering around 17,500 white collar employees.

Breakdown on employee categories or gender cannot not be  provided.
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Equal remuneration for men and women

Boundaries
The SKF Group and subsidiaries.

Disclosure on management approach 
The SKF Code of Conduct stipulates that all employees are to be 

treated equally, fairly and with respect. Therefore SKF strives to 

assure that all remuneration is based on individual performance 

without any bias from a gender (or other) perspective.

Scope and data compilation
SKF is implementing common systems and job roles in the countries 

were SKF has significant operations. The ambition is to be able to 

report this more and more accurately over time.

G4-LA13  Ratio of basic salary and remuneration of  
women to men by employee category, by significant  
 locations of operation 
Due to differences in salary systems, SKF does not have this data 

consolidated centrally for all employees. SKF aggregates base sala-

ries for significant operations in its biggest countries by employee 

headcount, these are presented in the table below. In total, these 

operations cover 25,000 employees, blue collar as well as white 

collar employees. For total compensation, the data coverage is 

slightly smaller. SKF is implementing common systems and job 

roles in the countries were SKF has significant operations and the 

coverage of the data will increase steadily over time.

Female/Male 
ratio %

Employees  
in scope

Coverage of total 
workforce %

Germany 93 4,949 72%

USA 79 4,288 79%

China 102 3,544 59%

Sweden 101 3,322 100%

Italy 99 2,919 82%

France 102 2,685 84%

India 140 2,621 84%

United Kingdom 83 913 76%

Group 93 25,241 56%

In Sweden, SKF performs salary mapping taking into consideration 

job roles and seniority. For staff, SKF in Sweden has 17 different job 

roles and three levels of seniority in each. The latest salary mapping 

in Sweden showed no significant deviations between men and 

women when comparing employees within the same roles and level 

of seniority, the next mapping in Sweden is due 2017. 

Across the Group, SKF does not have the same possibility to map 

all employees in detail as the job roles and categories are defined 

locally, therefore SKF can only disclose salary ratio between women 

and men aggregated per country. The ratio varies from one country 

to the other for various reasons. One example is India where very few 

women work in manufacturing but are relatively well represented 

in junior management. This is reflected in the extreme difference 

Diversity and equal opportunities

Boundaries
The SKF Group and its subsidiaries.

Disclosure on management approach 
SKF works to increase diversity in various aspects to reflect and 

support the Group’s diverse customer and manufacturing base and 

create sustained competitive advantage. The objective is to gain  

this advantage by utilizing diverse ways of thinking to cover as many 

aspects as possible. The work focuses on gender, national origin, 

industry background and other indicators of diversity.

The SKF Group is responsible for setting standards and providing 

tools that can help the business as a whole to increase diversity, 

and the operational parts of the business are responsible for 

addressing diversity effectively and appropriately. The assurance 

of equal opportunity for all employees is mandated in SKF’s Code of 

Conduct. All SKF’s units are accountable for ensuring the effective 

deployment of SKF’s Code of Conduct and this is coordinated and 

followed up at Group level.

Scope and data
SKF measures the ratio of women in management positions. 

The data covers all of SKF’s units. Local management is defined 

as a management group for an SKF legal entity with at least two 

members. The proportion of women in the Group’s total workforce 

was 21%. SKF does not categorize employees or management by 

age group or minority.

G4-LA12  Local management with at least one woman,  
by region
% 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012

Asia and Pacific 95 91 95 86 73

Middle East and Africa 60 50 67 67 50

North America 94 85 82 77 85

Latin America 75 67 67 67 64

Eastern and 
Central Europe 58 55 63 86 60

Western Europe 84 81 90 68 69

Group 85 80 83 76 70

For the detailed information on the Board of Directors and executive 

 management, please refer to pages 152–153 and 154–155.

G4-LA12  Total percentage rate of women in local 
 management, by region
% 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012

Asia and Pacific 15 22 17 20 16

Middle East and Africa 18 14 17 15 16

North America 20 16 19 18 16

Latin America 17 17 23 19 18

Eastern and  
Central Europe 26 30 27 30 29

Western Europe 19 19 19 16 16

Group 18 20 18 18 17
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where women on average earn 140% of that of men. On the Group 

total however, there is an indication that while women are relatively 

well represented in junior management positions (compared to the 

total population), men are overrepresented in top management. 

Although the share of women in the SKF Group in total and in leading 

positions has increased over the years, increasing the speed with 

which this ratio improves remains a key challenge.

Labour management relations

Boundaries
SKF Group and its subsidiaries.

Disclosure on management approach
Issues relating to significant changes at SKF, for example in acquir-

ing or divesting operations, are always discussed and resolved 

openly and constructively with union leaders locally and with the 

leadership of the SKF World Union Council. The precise approach 

must be adapted to the specific conditions of each acquisition. 

SKF makes it clear in its Code of Conduct that all employees have 

the right to join a union and to bargain collectively. The Code of 

Conduct is the basis of the framework agreement between SKF 

and the World Union Council, and continual dialogue is on-going 

to ensure that it works for both SKF and the Union members. 

Scope and data compilation
Data is collected using SKF’s main consolidation system and 

reviewed by the controller and human resource office before sent  

to the SKF Group. 

G4-LA4 Minimum notice periods
Notice regarding operational changes is always defined on a case-

by-case basis but always with the local unions involved, and/or 

reviewed at the World Works Council. The main purpose of the 

World Union Council is to make sure that the Global Framework 

Agreement works in practice. The Council, which includes all 19 

countries referred to above meets every year to discuss labour 

issues in an open format and share what is currently happening 

in the Group. All countries with major operations have the right 

to send union officials or observers to the World Union Council. 

In addition, representatives of SKF World Union Council are invited 

to speak about specific issues such as; collective bargaining, health 

and safety, diversity and other issues with labour and management 

representatives from all over the world. 

SKF reports employees covered by trade union agreements.

SKF employees covered by independent trade union 
 agreement, by region
% 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012

Asia and Pacific 77 81 77 70 70

Middle East and Africa 13 41 23 21 23

North America 88 88 83 88 91

Latin America 75 76 76 77 88

Eastern and  
Central Europe 91 92 81 86 85

Western Europe 92 95 91 92 94

Group 86 89 84 84 86

Local communities

Boundaries
SKF reports activities and plans that are aimed at supporting and 

improving communities close to SKF’s local operations. 

Disclosure on management approach
SKF’s Social Policy aims to promote employees’ involvement in 

commendable local social projects. As part of this, the country 

management team is asked to prepare and submit an annual Com-

munity Care plan. To support the appropriate development of these 

plans, the SKF Group provides instructions for sponsoring and 

charitable activities. As a basis for the Community Care plan, local 

management assesses and defines the support that best caters  

for the local society’s needs and contributes to the community’s 

development. Simplified impact assessments are carried out on 

high level with reference to SKF’s Social policy, however the Group  

works to improve impact assessments on local level by continuous 

dialogues with country management.

Scope and data compilation 
SKF has 70 country organizations (with a country manager).  

The focus is on operations that are significant, in terms of number 

of employees, customers or revenues. SKF mainly engages in 

 community care activities through volunteer work, donations, 

in-kind giving and sponsorship.

• Volunteer work: Paid-working hours to employees for 

 volunteering at approved projects by the local management.

• Donations: One-off or non-repetitive monetary contribution  

such as fund raising.

• In-kind giving: Contribution with products or services, such as 

free bearings or free technical services.

• Sponsorship: Periodical monetary contribution to an institution, 

organization or project/activity.

G4-SO1  Percentage of operations with implemented  
local community engagement, impact assessments,  
and development programmes 
34 SKF country organisations reported Community Care activities 

in 2016 and these make up 90% of the Group’s global operations in 

terms of employees. Please refer to page 46 for examples.

In accordance with the UN Guiding Principles on Business and 

Human Rights and in addition to established initiatives related to 

the Code of Conduct, SKF has started to conduct Human Rights 

Impact Assessments in markets where the Group has significant 

operations. In 2016 the Group completed impact assessments in 

India on a country level and at several sites. Based on this pilot 

work method and building on existing auditing and review pro-

cesses, SKF will conduct similar assessments across the Group 

 during 2017.
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Human rights

This includes the aspects non-discrimination, freedom of associa-

tion and collective bargaining, child labour, forced or compulsory 

labour, assessment and human rights grievance mechanism.

Boundaries
The requirement to protect salient human rights for people working 

in the SKF Group and its subsidiaries as well as for suppliers, sub-

contractors and distributors is defined in SKF’s Code of Conduct, 

and related policies. 

Disclosure on management approach
Relevant human rights and related aspects for SKF includes health 

and safety, non-discrimination, freedom of association and collec-

tive bargaining, avoidance of child, forced or compulsory labour and 

the provision of effective grievance mechanisms. The protection of 

these rights is managed by the deployment and follow-up processes 

and procedures of SKF’s Code of Conduct. This is a Group policy to 

which all other policies are subordinate and owned by Group People, 

Communication and Quality. This function carries out risk-based 

internal audits on subsidiaries responsible for implementation and 

performance. All SKF employees are provided with training in the 

SKF Code of Conduct in ways such as e-learnings, introduction and 

awareness training and classroom training. Ethics is also included 

in management training programmes at all levels.

SKF has taken steps to address the specific requirements set  

out in the UN Guiding Principles on Business and Human rights. 

The Code of Conduct was updated in 2014 in light of the Guiding 

Principles. Further work is on-going to update and improve the 

overall due diligence process around human rights as encouraged 

by the Guiding Principles. 

With reference to the UK modern slavery act 2015, SKF works 

continuously to ensure that slavery and human trafficking is not 

taking place in company operations or supply chains. The SKF  

Code of Conduct and the SKF Code of Conduct for Suppliers and 

Sub- contractors are policies published by the Group which define 

required standards of ethical behaviour within SKF’s global opera-

tions and the Group’s suppliers. The policies are based on UN 

 Guiding Principles for Business and Human Rights and external 

principles and charters such as, ILO Declaration on Fundamental 

Principles and Rights at Work, OECD Guidelines for Multinational 

Companies and the UN Global Compact. For more detail and SKF 

Group’s statement in relation to the UK modern slavery act, please 

refer to SKF.com/care.

G4-HR3  Total number of incidents of discrimination and 
 corrective actions taken 
Nine cases related to discrimination or harassment were substanti-

ated. Four of the cases led to verbal or written warnings and two 

led to people having to leave the company.

In addition, a number of harassment or discriminatory cases 

were reported which led to training, counseling or coaching on the 

SKF Code of Conduct.

G4-HR4  Operations and suppliers identified in which the 
right to exercise freedom of association and collective 
 bargaining may be violated or at significant risk, and 
 measures taken to support these rights
The overall approach from the state towards union membership, 

and level of independence of trade unions, in certain countries 

where SKF has operations creates challenges in this aspect. 

SKF works pragmatically with the World Union Council and the 

appointed Union representatives to try and address these chal-

lenges. Please refer to page 119 for a description on SKF World 

Union Council’s work related to collective bargaining agreements.

G4-HR5  Operations and suppliers identified as having 
 significant risk for incidents of child labour, and measures 
taken to contribute to the effective abolition of child labour 
The issue of child labour is included in both SKF’s internal and sup-

plier audits. In 2016, SKF has found no actual cases of child labour 

at its operations or at SKF’s suppliers. A smaller number of cases 

with inadequate controls of age at SKF’s suppliers have been identi-

fied. SKF works to close such deviations under the Responsible 

Sourcing Programme, as explained on page 139 in this report.

G4-HR6  Operations and suppliers identified as having 
 significant risk for incidents of forced or compulsory labour, 
and measures to contribute to the elimination of all forms 
of forced or compulsory labour 
The issue of forced, bonded and compulsory labour is included in 

both SKF’s internal and supplier audits. In 2016, no cases of forced 

or bonded labour have been identified.

G4-HR9  Total number and percentage of operations that 
have been subject to human rights assessments
SKF’s units are subject to human rights assessment and due diligence 

as part of the internal policy audit programme (including the Code 

of Conduct, Environment, Health and Safety). All SKF’s units are 

subject to audit within a three-year interval using a risk-based 

approach.
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Social grievance mechanisms

Boundaries
This section covers all social grievance mechanisms as SKF works 

to resolve potential and actual grievances under the SKF Ethics and 

compliance programme. 

Disclosure on management approach
The SKF Ethics and compliance programme covers all topics in 

SKF’s Code of Conduct. Please refer to page 38 for an overview. 

The SKF Code of Conduct is available in Topics related to Annual 

Report at skf.com/ar2016.

SKF employees are requested to report behaviour that is not in 

line with SKF’s Code of Conduct to their manager, local human 

resources or escalate to the country management. SKF employees 

can also raise concerns to a Group-level reporting mechanism. As 

part of this mechanism, SKF employees can report concerns in their 

own language via a designated web portal or by calling a local tele-

phone number. Locally reported grievances are often managed at 

local level with the local human resource department or country 

management. A new reporting line has been recently launched and 

as awareness of this channel is heightened, it is likely that reported 

cases will increase.

LA16, HR12, SO11  Number of grievances about labour prac-
tices, human rights and impacts on society filed, addressed, 
and resolved through formal grievance mechanisms
SKF’s central functions on ethics and compliance received 211 

(160) cases during 2016 – of which 63 (40) were substantiated, 

investigated and closed. Most of the cases led to training on the 

topics and people involved. A number of cases related to harass-

ment or discrimination have led to verbal or written warning to  

the individuals involved. Please refer to G4-HR3. 

In addition to the cases managed by the central functions, many 

grievances related to ethics and compliance are managed by local 

SKF units which are not escalated to the Group.

SKF’s internal audit function has also investigated misconduct 

related to fraud and corruption, please refer to cases reported 

under indicator G4-SO5.

Ethics and compliance

Boundaries
SKF addresses ethics and compliance across the full value chain. 

Clearly the strongest potential to control is with SKF’s operations 

and parties with whom SKF has a direct business relationship. 

However, SKF works to find practical ways to ensure that the issue 

is addressed further upstream and downstream.

Disclosure on management approach
SKF’s Ethics and compliance programmes cover a wide range of 

areas related to the SKF Code of Conduct as described on page 38 

in this report. These statements focus on the aspects as described 

in GRI G4 guidelines: corruption, anti-competetive behaviour and 

compliance. SKF Ethics and compliance programmes rely on Group 

policies and instructions related to each issue, setting out the 

expectations on how to act, tools to use for compliance and where 

to turn for guidance. 

G4-SO4  Communication and training on anti-corruption 
 policies and procedures 
All (100%) of SKF’s employees have been communicated SKF’s 

 Anti-Fraud and Anti-Corruption policy.

In 2016, SKF has trained 16,521 employees (94% of scope) in anti- 

corruption with a new e-learning which was launched during the 

year. The training is mandatory for about 17,500 staff employees. 

Completion rate broken down by region, employee category and 

governance body members cannot be provided.

G4-SO5  Confirmed incidents of corruption and actions taken 
SKF’s internal audit department has investigated and closed 17 

cases related to fraud and/or corruption during the year, five of 

which were carried over from 2015. Seven were unsubstantiated. 

Disciplinary consequences have been taken for ten confirmed cases. 

Two employees received warning letters and nine employees left 

the company as a result of the investigations. Investigations are 

on-going on four cases.

G4-SO7  Total number of legal actions for anti-competitive 
behaviour, anti-trust, and monopoly practices and their 
 outcomes 
Please refer to page 56, Risks and uncertainties in the business.

G4-SO8  Monetary value of significant fines and total number 
of non-monetary sanctions for non-compliance with laws and 
regulations 
No significant fines have been paid and no non-monetary sanctions 

have occurred during the year. 
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Suppliers

Boundaries
SKF addresses supplier impact on the environment, human rights, 

labour practices and society under the Responsible sourcing pro-

gramme. The programme covers all of SKF’s suppliers and uses a 

risk based approach to focus auditing and other efforts.

Disclosure on management approach
SKF’s responsible sourcing programme works to ensure the Group’s 

effective deployment of the SKF Code of Conduct for Suppliers and 

Sub-contractors. The programme is part of Supplier development, 

which covers areas of delivery, quality, product compliance and 

Code of Conduct.

All potential suppliers are initially screened using a set of mini-

mum criteria related to the Code of Conduct and quality demands 

and which must be met in order to be considered as an SKF supplier. 

In addition to potential suppliers, existing direct material suppliers 

(making up 90% of spend) in high risk regions are required to under-

take an on-site Code of Conduct audit conducted either by SKF 

 specialists or third party auditors. The audit procedure is based 

around a checklist with 45 specific questions focusing on a wide 

range of aspects, such as human rights and labour standards, 

 environment and other Code of Conduct issues.

Most noncompliance cases are managed by SKF’s regional pur-

chasing offices in alignment with global category managers until 

resolved. Significant deviations are escalated to SKF Group’s 

Responsible Sourcing Committee to decide ways of resolving com-

plex issues. First and foremost, the work focuses on establishing a 

strong partnership and develop targeted suppliers. However, sup-

pliers which fail to address critical issues over time risk having their 

contracts with SKF terminated. No such termination was necessary 

during 2016. 

Scope and data collection
In 2016, over 122 audits have been carried out. These include first 

audits, follow-up audits and third party audits. The most common 

deviations found are related to health and safety, work hours, com-

pensation and other employment practices. The data reported in 

these statements are consolidating SKF’s finding into GRI’s designa-

tions.

NOTE: In SKF Annual Report 2015, all deviations found and closed 

2012–2015 were reported. In 2016, this report includes audit find-

ings 2016 and the cases which have been escalated the central 

Responsible Sourcing Committee, most cases are dealt with in the 

operations with procurement staff, category manager and supplier.

EN32, LA14, HR10, SO9  Percentage of new suppliers that 
were screened using environmental, human rights, labour 
and society impact 
All new suppliers are screened using these criteria. In 2016,  

30 out of 51 potential suppliers to SKF did not pass SKF’s criteria  

to become a supplier, directly related to Code of Conduct risks.

EN33  Significant actual and potential negative environ-
mental impacts in the supply chain and actions taken
In 2016, 21 environmental deviations related to pollution control 

and waste handling have been identified and actions are on-going at 

the suppliers to remediate these. Two of these cases have been 

escalated to Responsible Sourcing Committee.

LA15, HR 11  Significant actual and potential negative labour 
and human rights impacts in the supply chain and actions taken
In 2016, 181 deviations to the SKF Code of Conduct in this category 

have been identified and are being resolved in the operations, the 

most common deviations are related to occupational health and 

safety, work hours, compensation and employment contracts pro-

cedures. 11 deviations in this category have been escalated to the 

Responsible Sourcing Committee. All cases are prioritized and 

addressed according to their urgency.

SO10  Significant actual and potential negative impacts on 
society in the supply chain and actions taken Supplier code  
of conducts audits
In 2016, no case of significant deviations with negative societal 

impact has been identified. One case of falsified records has been 

found and escalated to Responsible Sourcing Committee. This case 

is not considered to significantly impact society, but is a critical 

deviation related to business ethics.
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To the general meeting of the shareholders of AB SKF (publ), corporate identity number 556007-3495

Report on the annual accounts and consolidated accounts
Opinions
We have audited the annual accounts and consolidated accounts of 

AB SKF (publ) for the year 2016. The annual accounts and consoli-

dated accounts of the company are included on pages 8–35 and 

50–117 in this document.

In our opinion, the annual accounts have been prepared in 

accordance with the Annual Accounts Act and present fairly, in all 

material respects, the financial position of parent company as of  

31 December, 2016 and its financial performance and cash flow for 

the year then ended in accordance with the Annual Accounts Act. 

The consolidated accounts have been prepared in accordance with 

the Annual Accounts Act and present fairly, in all material respects, 

the financial position of the group as of 31 December, 2016 and 

their financial performance and cash flow for the year then ended in 

accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), 

as adopted by the EU, and the Annual Accounts Act. The statutory 

administration report is consistent with the other parts of the 

annual accounts and consolidated accounts.

We therefore recommend that the general meeting of share-

holders adopts the income statement and balance sheet for the 

parent company and the group.

Basis for Opinions
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards 

on Auditing (ISA) and generally accepted auditing standards in 

 Sweden. Our responsibilities under those standards are further 

described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities section. We are inde-

pendent of the parent company and the group in accordance with 

professional ethics for accountants in Sweden and have otherwise 

fulfilled our ethical responsibilities in accordance with these 

requirements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient 

and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinions.

Our audit approach
Audit scope
We designed our audit by determining materiality and assessing the 

risks of material misstatement in the consolidated financial state-

ments. In particular, we considered where management made sub-

jective judgements; for example, in respect of significant accounting 

estimates that involved making assumptions and considering future 

events that are inherently uncertain. As in all of our audits, we also 

addressed the risk of management override of internal controls, 

including among other matters consideration of whether there was 

evidence of bias that represented a risk of material misstatement 

due to fraud.

We tailored the scope of our audit in order to perform sufficient 

work to enable us to provide an opinion on the consolidated financial 

statements as a whole, taking into account the structure of the 

Group, the accounting processes and controls, and the industry in 

which the group operates.

SKF is a process-oriented company and the business is highly 

transactional operating on a number of systems and databases that 

initiate and process transactions. The SKF’s IT infrastructure is 

complex and the group is currently undergoing a significant change 

process including implementation of a new ERP system. 

SKF has a defined Internal Controls framework, SICS. SKF has 

developed a set of controls for IT applications within the SICS 

framework being relevant for financial reporting. The group audit 

team together with IT specialists, have identified and assessed 

those processes, applications and databases that has an impact to 

significant transaction flows and consequently are critical for the 

financial reporting and our audit.

Our audit strategy included local audits for those entities and 

countries that together represent larger operations and markets for 

the group. We included those operations that were viewed to have  

a particular relevance including the group’s treasury unit. No indi-

vidual entity is viewed to represent a significant component to the 

group audit. In addition to the local audits, we have performed test-

ing to group consolidation together with consolidated analytical 

assessments in order to have a reasonable basis for our group 

audit. For those entities being in scope for group audit procedures 

we have issued detailed instructions and received reporting and 

reviewed procedures performed through discussions and meetings 

with local teams to confirm that we have satisfactory basis for our 

group audit opinion. 

Materiality
The scope of our audit was influenced by our application of materi-

ality. An audit is designed to obtain reasonable assurance whether 

the financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

 Misstatements may arise due to fraud or error. They are considered 

material if individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be 

expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the 

basis of the financial statements.

Based on our professional judgement, we determined certain 

quantitative thresholds for materiality, including the overall materi-

ality for the financial statements as a whole. These, together with 

qualitative considerations, helped us to determine the scope of our 

audit and the nature, timing and extent of our audit procedures and 

to evaluate the effect of misstatements, both individually and in 

aggregate on the financial statements as a whole.

Auditor’s Report
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Key audit matters
Key audit matters of the audit are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the annual 

accounts and consolidated accounts of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of, and in forming our 

opinion thereon, the annual accounts and consolidated accounts as a whole, but we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the Key audit matter

Valuation of intangible assets

Refer to Note 10 of the consolidated accounts for the related  
disclosures
As of 31 December, 2016 intangible assets amount to SEK 19,568 mil-

lion for the group. Out of this total, an amount of SEK 11,137 million 

relate to goodwill and SEK 2,585 million to other intangible assets with 

an indefinite life.

According to IFRS, the company is required, at least annually, to test 

these assets for impairment. 

Impairment testing involves assumptions with a significant degree of 

judgment, in particular for those assumptions that relate to the compa-

ny’s applied discount rates and expectations on market development and 

the future cash flow generation of the business. 

Valuation of intangible assets and impairment testing represent a key 

audit matter for our audit in light of the significant values of the group’s 

intangible assets and the inherent uncertainties of assumptions and 

estimates involved.

Our audit procedures and testing of the valuation and 

impairment tests of intangible assets include areas and 

tests described below, however are not limited to these. 

We have evaluated models for impairment testing used 

by the company together with valuation and accounting 

specialists and have assessed these to be in line with 

common valuation techniques used. 

We have assessed assumptions used in the calculations 

and that are further described in Note 10. Our procedures 

to assess assumptions used included to compare compa-

ny’s future cash flow forecasts to available business plans 

and other information relevant for the estimated develop-

ment of the business. 

We have assessed the group’s sensitivity analyses of 

impairment tests to changes in significant assumptions 

and the risk that negative changes could lead to an 

impairment. 

We have further performed independent sensitivity 

analyses and performed back testing to prior year 

assumptions to under build the quality of forecasting 

 process and assess assumptions for reasonableness  

and consistency. 

Recognition of provisions and contingent liabilities for lawsuits and claims

Refer to Risk management at SKF page 56 and Note 18 of the 
 consolidated accounts for the related disclosures
SKF together with other companies in the bearing industry are part  

of investigations from competition authorities in different territories. 

 During 2016, lawsuits have been initiated from purchases of bearing  

to SKF together with the other companies affected by the EU ruling and 

fine for violation of EU competition rules in 2014. There is a risk for 

 further civil claims from direct and indirect purchasers of bearings.

Risks and uncertainties from such investigations and potential claims 

need to be carefully assessed and analyzed. The assessment of outcome 

from legal proceedings and the potential need of provisions is an area  

of significant judgement involving the legal situation as well as factual 

circumstances together with the risk of a financial impact. These 

considerations make the area one of the key audit matters in our audit. 

Our independent assessment of management’s descrip-

tions and assessments of legal proceedings and claims 

included inquiries to local management as well as to group 

management and parent company. 

Our procedures further involve reading of minutes and 

the group’s internal documentation of legal proceedings 

and claims to assess the accuracy and completeness of 

the disclosures in the consolidated accounts. 

In specific cases, we have collected statements from 

external legal advisors to risks and assessments made. 

Other Information than the annual accounts  
and consolidated accounts
This document also contains other information than the annual 

accounts and consolidated accounts and is found on pages 1–7, 36–49, 

118–139 and 152–157. Other information further includes those 

 documents listed on SKF’s website in “Topics related to SKF’s annual 

report”. Beyond other information in this document the company 

 publishes a yearly report “SKF in brief 2016” that we expect to have 

access to after the date of the auditor’s report. The Board of Directors 

and the Managing Director are responsible for this other information. 

Our opinion on the annual accounts and consolidated accounts 

does not cover this other information and we do not express any 

form of assurance conclusion regarding this other information.

In connection with our audit of the annual accounts and con-

solidated accounts, our responsibility is to read the information 

identified above and consider whether the information is materially 

inconsistent with the annual accounts and consolidated accounts.  

In this procedure we also take into account our knowledge otherwise 

obtained in the audit and assess whether the information otherwise 

appears to be materially misstated.

If we, based on the work performed concerning this information, 

conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other informa-

tion, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report 

in this regard.

Responsibilities of the Board of Directors and  
the Managing Director
The Board of Directors and the Managing Director are responsible 

for the preparation of the annual accounts and consolidated accounts 

and that they give a fair presentation in accordance with the Annual 
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Accounts Act and, concerning the consolidated accounts, in accord-

ance with IFRS as adopted by the EU. The Board of Directors and 

the Managing Director are also responsible for such internal control 

as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of annual 

accounts and consolidated accounts that are free from material 

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the annual accounts and consolidated accounts, The 

Board of Directors and the Managing Director are responsible for 

the assessment of the company’s and the group’s ability to continue 

as a going concern. They disclose, as applicable, matters related  

to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting.  

The going concern basis of accounting is however not applied if the 

Board of Directors and the Managing Director intends to liquidate 

the company, to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative  

but to do so.

The Audit Committee shall, without prejudice to the Board of 

Director’s responsibilities and tasks in general, among other things 

oversee the company’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s responsibility
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 

the annual accounts and consolidated accounts as a whole are free 

from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and  

to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinions. Reasonable 

assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 

audit conducted in accordance with ISAs and generally accepted audit-

ing standards in Sweden will always detect a material misstatement 

when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and  

are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they 

could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of 

users taken on the basis of these annual accounts and consolidated 

accounts.

A further description of our responsibility for the audit of the 

annual accounts and consolidated accounts is available on Revisors-

nämnden’s website: www.revisorsinspektionen.se/rn/showdocument/

documents/rev_dok/revisors_ansvar.pdf. This description is part of 

the auditor ś report. 

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements
Opinions
In addition to our audit of the annual accounts and consolidated 

accounts, we have also audited the administration of the Board of 

Directors and the Managing Director of AB SKF (publ) for the year 

2016 and the proposed appropriations of the company’s profit or loss.

We recommend to the general meeting of shareholders that the 

profit be appropriated in accordance with the proposal in the statu-

tory administration report and that the members of the Board of 

Directors and the Managing Director be discharged from liability  

for the financial year.

Basis for Opinions
We conducted the audit in accordance with generally accepted 

auditing standards in Sweden. Our responsibilities under those 

standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities 

section. We are independent of the parent company and the group 

in accordance with professional ethics for accountants in Sweden 

and have otherwise fulfilled our ethical responsibilities in accordance 

with these requirements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient 

and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinions.

Responsibilities of the Board of Directors and  
the Managing Director
The Board of Directors is responsible for the proposal for appropri-

ations of the company’s profit or loss. At the proposal of a dividend, 

this includes an assessment of whether the dividend is justifiable 

considering the requirements which the company’s and the group’s 

type of operations, size and risks place on the size of the parent 

company’s and the group’s equity, consolidation requirements, 

liquidity and position in general.

The Board of Directors is responsible for the company’s organi-

zation and the administration of the company’s affairs. This includes 

among other things continuous assessment of the company’s and 

the group’s financial situation and ensuring that the company’s 

organization is designed so that the accounting, management of 

assets and the company’s financial affairs otherwise are controlled 

in a reassuring manner. The Managing Director shall manage the 

ongoing administration according to the Board of Directors’ guide-

lines and instructions and among other matters take measures that 

are necessary to fulfil the company’s accounting in accordance with 

law and handle the management of assets in a reassuring manner.

Auditor’s responsibility
Our objective concerning the audit of the administration, and 

thereby our opinion about discharge from liability, is to obtain audit 

evidence to assess with a reasonable degree of assurance whether 

any member of the Board of Directors or the Managing Director in 

any material respect:

• has undertaken any action or been guilty of any omission which 

can give rise to liability to the company, or

• in any other way has acted in contravention of the Companies 

Act, the Annual Accounts Act or the Articles of Association.

Our objective concerning the audit of the proposed appropriations 

of the company’s profit or loss, and thereby our opinion about this, 

is to assess with reasonable degree of assurance whether the 

 proposal is in accordance with the Companies Act.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a 

guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with generally 

accepted auditing standards in Sweden will always detect actions  

or omissions that can give rise to liability to the company, or that 

the proposed appropriations of the company’s profit or loss are not 

in accordance with the Companies Act.

A further description of our responsibility for the audit of the 

administration is available on Revisorsnämnden’s website:  

www.revisorsinspektionen.se/rn/showdocument/documents/ 

rev_dok/revisors_ansvar.pdf. This description is part of the 

 auditor’s report.

Gothenburg, 6 March, 2017 

PricewaterhouseCoopers AB 

Bo Karlsson

Authorized Public Accountant
Peter Clemedtson

Auditor in Charge
Authorized Public Accountant
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Introduction
We have been engaged by the Group Management of AB SKF (publ) 

to undertake a limited assurance engagement of the sustainability 

performance disclosures in the SKF Annual Report 2016 in the 

 sections “SKF Care” and “Sustainability Statements”, as well as 

documents on SKF’s website in “Topics related to Annual Report” 

marked with *. We refer to these disclosures collectively as the 

“Sustainability Report”.

Responsibilities of the Board and Management  
for the Sustainability Report
The Board of Directors and Group Management are responsible for 

the preparation of the Sustainability Report in accordance with the 

applicable criteria, as explained in the “Sustainability Statements” 

section of the Annual Report, and are the parts of the Sustainability 
Reporting Guidelines (published by The Global Reporting Initiative, 

GRI) which are applicable to the Sustainability Report, as well as the 

accounting and calculation principles that the Company has devel-

oped. This responsibility includes the internal control relevant to  

the preparation of a Sustainability Report that is free from material 

misstatements, whether due to fraud or error.  

Responsibilities of the Auditor 
Our responsibility is to express a conclusion on the Sustainability 

Report based on the limited assurance procedures we have per-

formed. 

We conducted our limited assurance engagement in accordance 

with RevR 6 Assurance of Sustainability Reports issued by FAR. A lim-

ited assurance engagement consists of making inquiries,  primarily of 

persons responsible for the preparation of the Sustainability Report, 

Independent Auditor’s Limited Assurance  
Report on the Sustainability Report 
To AB SKF (publ)

and applying analytical and other limited assurance procedures. 

A summary of the assurance procedures performed is presented  

in the appendix.

The procedures performed in a limited assurance engagement 

vary in nature from, and are less in extent than for, a reasonable 

assurance engagement conducted in accordance with IAASB’s 

Standards on Auditing and other generally accepted auditing stand-

ards in Sweden. The procedures performed consequently do not 

enable us to obtain assurance that we would become aware of all 

significant matters that might be identified in a reasonable assur-

ance engagement. Accordingly, we do not express a reasonable 

assurance conclusion.

The firm applies ISQC 1 (International Standard on Quality Control) 
and accordingly maintains a comprehensive system of quality control 

including documented policies and procedures regarding compliance 

with ethical requirements, professional standards and applicable 

legal and regulatory requirements.

Our procedures are based on the criteria defined by the Board of 

Directors and the Group Management as described above. We con-

sider these criteria suitable for the preparation of the Sustainability 

Report.

We believe that the evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 

appropriate to provide a basis for our conclusion below. 

Conclusion
Based on the limited assurance procedures we have performed, 

nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe that  

the Sustainability Report is not prepared, in all material respects,  

in accordance with the criteria defined by the Board of Directors 

and Group Management. 

Fredrik Ljungdahl

Expert Member of FAR

Gothenburg, 6 March, 2017

PricewaterhouseCoopers AB

Peter Clemedtson

Authorized Public Accountant

Appendix
Our limited assurance engagement has, based on an assessment  

of materiality and risk, included the following procedures:

a.  Update of our knowledge and understanding of SKF’s organization 

and activities,

b.  Assessment of suitability and application of the criteria regarding 

the stakeholders’ need for information,

c.  Assessment of the outcome of the company’s materiality analysis 

and stakeholder dialogue,

d.  Interviews with management at group level (including members 

of Group Management) and visits to selected business units in 

order to assess if the qualitative and quantitative information 

stated in the Sustainability Report is complete, accurate and 

 sufficient,

e.  Examination of internal and external documents in order to 

assess if the information stated in the Sustainability Report is 

complete, accurate and sufficient,

f.  Evaluation of the design of selected systems and processes used 

to obtain, manage and validate sustainability information,

g.  Evaluation of the model used to calculate CO
2
 emissions, including 

the SKF BeyondZero portfolio,

h.  Analytical procedures of the information stated in the Sustainability 

Report,

i.  Assessment of the company’s declared “in accordance” option 

according to the GRI guidelines,

j.  Assessment of the overall impression of the Sustainability 

Report, and its format, taking into consideration the consistency 

of the stated information with applicable criteria.
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Corporate Governance Report

Introduction
SKF Care defines the Group’s approach to securing sustainable, 

positive development over the short, medium and long term. SKF 

applies the principles of sound corporate governance as an instru-

ment for increased competitiveness and to promote confidence in 

SKF among all stakeholders. Among other things, this means that 

the company maintains an efficient organizational structure with 

clear areas of responsibility and clear rules for delegation, that the 

financial, environmental and social reporting is transparent and that 

the company in all respects maintains good corporate citizenship. 

The corporate governance principles applied by SKF are based on 

Swedish law, in particular the Swedish Companies Act and the 

Swedish Annual Accounts Act, and the regulatory system of NASDAQ  

Stockholm AB (Stockholm Stock Exchange).

Information under the Annual Accounts Act Chapter 6, § 6, 

 sections 3–4, are found at the following pages of the Administration 

Report for the Group in the Annual Report 2016:

• Annual Accounts Act Chapter 6, § 6, section 3 »see page 55.

• Annual Accounts Act Chapter 6, § 6, section 4 »see page 54.

Swedish Code of Corporate Governance
The Swedish Code of Corporate Governance (the “Code”) was origi-

nally introduced on 1 July, 2005. The Code has been revised several 

times since the introduction and the applicable Code is available 

at the website of the Swedish Corporate Governance Board,  

www.corporategovernanceboard.se.

It is considered good stock exchange practice for Swedish compa-

nies whose shares are traded on a regulated market to apply the 

Code. SKF applies the Code, and this Corporate Governance Report 

has been prepared in accordance with the Code and the Swedish 

Annual Accounts Act. Furthermore, SKF has provided information 

on the company’s website in line with the Code requirements. The 

Annual General Meeting in 2016 was also held in accordance with 

the Code rules. The auditor of the company has read and performed 

a statutory examination of the Corporate Governance Report.

Nomination Committee
At the Annual General Meeting of AB SKF held in the spring 2016, it 

was resolved that the company shall have a Nomination Committee 

formed by one representative of each of the four major sharehold-

ers with regard to the number of votes held as well as the Chairman 

of the Board. When constituting the Nomination Committee, the 

shareholdings per the last banking day in August 2016 would 

determine which shareholders are the largest with regard to the 

number of votes held. The names of the four shareholder repre-

sentatives were to be published as soon as they had been elected, 

however not later than six months before the Annual General Meet-

ing 2017. The Nomination Committee shall remain in office until a 

new Nomination Committee has been appointed.

In a press release on 16 September, 2016, it was announced that 

a Nomination Committee consisting of the following representatives 

of the shareholders, besides the Chairman of the Board, had been 

appointed in preparation of the Annual General Meeting 2017:

• Marcus Wallenberg, FAM 

• Ramsay Brufer, Alecta

• Anders Algotsson, AFA Försäkring

• Anders Jonsson, Skandia

The Nomination Committee is to furnish proposals in the following 

matters to be presented to, and resolved by, the Annual General 

Meeting in 2017:

• proposal for Chairman of the Annual General Meeting

• proposal for Board of Directors

• proposal for Chairman of the Board of Directors

• proposal for fee to the Board of Directors

• proposal for fee to the Auditors

• proposal for Auditor

• proposal for a Nomination Committee ahead of the Annual 

 General Meeting of 2018

The proposals of the Nomination Committee are at the latest to be 

published in connection with the notice to the Annual General 

Meeting 2017. 

Group staff units Sales/Operations

Shareholders through  

shareholders’ meeting

Board of Directors

President and CEO 

Group Management
Internal audit

Audit Committee

External auditors

Remuneration Committee

Nomination Committee
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General information about how the company is managed
The shareholders’ meeting is the company’s highest decision-making 

body. The Annual General Meeting of shareholders shall be held 

within six months after the end of the financial year. At the Annual 

General Meeting the shareholders exercise their voting rights for 

e.g. the composition of the Board of Directors, adoption of principles 

of remuneration for Group Management and election of external 

auditors. SKF has issued A and B shares. An A share entitles the 

shareholder to one vote and a B share to one-tenth of a vote.

The Board of Directors has a responsibility for the company’s 

organization and for the oversight of the management of the com-

pany’s affairs and is, together with the President and Group Man-

agement defining and continuously monitoring SKF’s vision, mis-

sion, values and drivers. The Chairman of the Board of Directors 

shall direct the work of the Board and monitor that the Board of 

Directors fulfils its obligations. The Board annually adopts written 

rules of procedure for its internal work and written instructions. For 

more details on the rules of procedures and the written instructions, 

see below under the heading “Activities of the Board of Directors”.

The President of the company, who is also the Chief Executive 

Officer, is appointed by the Board of Directors and handles the day-

to-day management of the company’s business in accordance with 

the guidelines and instructions from the Board. The approval of the 

Board is, for example, required in relation to investments and 

acquisitions above certain amounts, as well as for the appointment 

of certain senior managers. The President is supported by Group 

Management.

SKF is organized in Industrial Sales Americas, Industrial Sales 

Europe and Middle East and Africa, Industrial Sales Asia, Auto-

motive, Aerospace, and Business and Product Development. The 

responsibility for end-to-end procurement, manufacturing and 

logistics is combined into Bearing Operations. Further, there are 

four Group staff units; Group Finance and Business Transformation, 

Group Technology Development, Group Legal and Sustainability and 

Group People, Communication and Quality, see pages 152–153 in 

the Annual Report 2016. Each Group staff unit has its own defined 

area of responsibility and the task to define strategic directions and 

fundamental requirements within its area. 

Policies and instructions are in place to ensure that matters of 

certain importance are referred to the President and/or the Board 

of Directors.

The Board of Directors
Composition and remuneration of the Board
The Board shall, in addition to specially appointed members and 

deputies, according to the Articles of Association of SKF, comprise  

a minimum of five and a maximum of twelve Board members, with 

a maximum of five deputies. The Board members are elected each 

year at the Annual General Meeting for the period up to the end of 

the next Annual General Meeting.

Ten Board members, including the Chairman, were elected at AB 

SKF’s Annual General Meeting held in the spring of 2016. In addition, 

the employees have appointed two Board members and two deputy 

Board members. No Board member, except for the President, is 

included in the management of the company.

Information on the remuneration of the Board members decided 

upon by the Annual General Meeting 2016 can be found in the 

Annual Report 2016, Consolidated Financial Statements, Note 23. 

Independence requirements
The Board of Directors has been considered to comply with the 

requirements regarding independence of the Code. The table below 

shows the Board member’s independence according to the require-

ments of the Code in relation to (i) the company and (ii) major 

shareholders.

Name of the Board 
members elected by the 
Annual General Meeting

Independence in 
relation to the 

 company/senior 
management

Independence in 
relation to the  

major shareholders 
of the company

Leif Östling • •

Lena Treschow Torell • •

Peter Grafoner • •

Lars Wedenborn •

Joe Loughrey • •

Jouko Karvinen
(resigned March, 2016)

• •

Baba Kalyani • •

Hock Goh • •

Marie Bredberg • •

Alrik Danielson •

Nancy Gougarty • •
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The Board of Directors as of 31 December, 2016

1 Leif Östling
Chairman, Board member since 2005 

Born 1945

Education and job experience  
Master of Engineering (Chalmers 

 University of Technology, Gothenburg), 

Bachelor of Economics (School of Busi-

ness, Economics and Law, University of 

Gothenburg), various management posi-

tions at Scania since 1972, President and 

CEO of Scania AB between 1994–2012, 

Vice Chairman of  Scania AB 2013–2015, 

member of the Board of Management of 

Volkswagen AG, responsible for Commer-

cial Vehicles, 2012–2015.

Other assignments  
Board member of EQT Holding AB and 

Supervisory Board of Volkswagen Truck/

Bus GmbH.

Shareholding (own and/or held by related 

parties) 500,000 SKF B

9 Alrik Danielson
President and Chief Executive 

Officer of AB SKF

For more details, see page 153.

2 Lena Treschow Torell
Board member since 2007  

Born 1946

Education and job experience 
Ph.D. (University of Gothenburg). Pro-

fessor at University of Uppsala and at 

Chalmers University of Technology. Vice 

President at Chalmers 1995–1998. 

Research Director of the Joint Research 

Centre, European Commission, Brussels 

1998–2001. President of the Royal 

Swedish Academy of Engineering 

Sciences (IVA) 2001–2008 and Chair-

man of IVA 2009–2011. Chairman of the 

European Council of Academies of Applied 

Sciences and Engineering 2008–2012.

Other assignments  
Board member of SAAB AB and Investor 

AB. Chairman of Chalmers University of 

Technology. 

Shareholding (own and/or held by 

related parties) 5,000 SKF B 

10 Nancy Gougarty
Board member since 2015  

Born 1955

Education and job experience  
MBA from Case Western Reserve 

 University and a Bachelor of Science in 

Industrial Management from the  University 

of Cincinnati. Experience from several 

leading positions within TRW  Automotive, 

2005–2012, General Motors Corporation 

and Delphi Corporation from 1978–2005. 

President and Chief Operating Officer for 

Westport Innovations from 2013–2016. 

Other assignments  
CEO and member of the Board of Westport 

Fuel Systems Inc. since 2016 and Board 

member of Trimas Corporation since 2013.

Shareholding (own and/or held by related 

parties) 0

6 Baba Kalyani
Board member since 2011  

Born 1949

Education and job experience  
Master of Science (Massachusetts 

Institute of Technology, USA) and a 

Bachelor of Mechanical Engineering 

(Birla Institute of Technology, India). 

Managing Director of Bharat Forge Ltd 

since 1993 and before that several 

senior positions in Bharat Forge Ltd 

since 1972.

Other assignments  

Chairman of the Kalyani Group, Bharat 

Forge Ltd and a number of companies 

in the Kalyani Group. Member of the 

World Economic Forum, the Confeder-

ation of Indian Industries and Founder 

Chairman of Pratham Pune Education 

Foundation, an NGO engaged in pro-

viding primary education to underpriv-

ileged children in the local community.

Shareholding (own and/or held by 

related parties) 0

3 Peter Grafoner
Board member since 2008  

Born 1949

Education and job experience  
Doctor’s degree in Engineering 

 (University of Dortmund). Brown 

Boveri & Cie, several managerial and 

executive positions within AEG, 

Chairman of the Management Board 

of Mannesmann VDO AG 1996–2000 

and vice Chairman of the Manage-

ment Board of Linde AG during 

2000–2001.

Other assignments  
Chairman of the Board of Coperion 

GmbH.

Shareholding (own and/or held by 

related parties) 6,700 SKF B

7 Hock Goh
Board member since 2014  

Born 1955

Education and job experience  
Bachelor’s degree (honours) in 

Mechanical Engineering from Monash 

University, Australia, completed the 

Advanced Management Program at 

INSEAD. Operating Partner of Baird 

Capital Partners Asia, 2005–2012. 

Has held several senior management 

positions in Schlumberger Limited, 

1995–2005, President of Network 

and Infrastructure Solutions division 

in London, President Asia and Vice 

President and General Manager 

China. 

Other assignments  
Chairman of the Board of MEC 

Resources since 2005. Member of the 

Board of Stora Enso Oyj since 2012, 

Santos Australia since 2012, Vesuvius 

PLC since 2015 and  Harbour Energy 

since 2015. 

Shareholding (own and/or held by 

related parties) 0

4 Lars Wedenborn
Board member since 2008  

Born 1958

Education and job experience  
Master of Science in Economics 

 (University of Uppsala). EVP and CFO 

of Alfred Berg 1991–2000, EVP and 

CFO of Investor AB 2000–2007, and 

CEO of FAM AB, wholly owned by the 

Wallenberg Foundations, since 2007.

Other assignments  
Chairman of NASDAQ Nordic Ltd., 

and board member of NASDAQ 

Group Inc., Höganäs AB, Alecta, 

Nefab AB and FAM AB. 

Shareholding (own and/or held by 

related parties however not including 

FAM AB) 10,000 SKF A, 11,500 SKF B

8 Marie Bredberg
Board member since 2014  

Born 1957

Education and job experience  
Master of Science in Industrial 

 Engineering and Management from 

the Institute of Technology at 

Linköping University. Vice President 

of AerotechTelub AB, 2004–2006 

and CFO, 2000–2004. CEO of 

Combitech AB 2006–2015. Experi-

ence from several board assign-

ments within the SAAB-Group.

Other assignments  
Vice President Business develop-

ment and Financial control in Busi-

ness Area Industrial Products and 

Services of the SAAB Group since 

2015. Board member in Combitech 

AB, Mjärdevi Science Park AB and 

Vricon Systems AB.

Shareholding (own and/or held by 

related parties) 1,000 SKF B

5 Joe Loughrey
Board member since 2009  

Born 1949

Education and job experience  
Bachelor of Science degree in Economics 

and African Studies (University of Notre 

Dame). Several managerial and executive 

positions within Cummins over 35 years, 

the last as vice Chairman of the Cummins 

Inc. Board 2008–2009, President and 

Chief Operating Officer of Cummins Inc. 

2005–2008 and President of Cummins 

Engine Business 1999–2005.

Other assignments  
Chairman of the board of Hillenbrand Inc., 

of Oxfam America and of the Lumina 

Foundation for education. Member of the 

board of the Vanguard Group,  Hyster-Yale 

Materials Handling Inc. and The V Foun-

dation for Cancer Research. Member 

 (previous chairman 2009–2012) of the 

Advisory Council of the College of Arts and 

Letters and Chair of the Kellogg Institute 

of Inter national Studies Advisory Board at 

the University of Notre Dame.

Shareholding (own and/or held by related 

parties) 10,000 SKF B

Auditors
Peter Clemedtson
Authorized Public Accountant

Auditor in charge

PricewaterhouseCoopers AB

Bo Karlsson
Authorized Public Accountant

PricewaterhouseCoopers AB

Corporate Governance Report



Sustainability Report

1 2 3

4 5 6

7 8

Employee representatives
11 Jonny Hilbert
Board member since 2015 

Born 1981

Education and job experience 
Employed in the SKF Group since 2005

Other assignments  
Chairman Unionen, SKF, Gothenburg

Shareholding (own and/or held by 

related parties) 0 

13 Kennet Carlsson
Deputy Board member since 2015 

Born 1962

Education and job experience 
Employed in the SKF Group since 1979. 

Board member 2008–2015 and deputy 

board member 2001–2008.

Other assignments  
Chairman SKF World Union Committee

Shareholding (own and/or held by 

related parties) 100 SKF A

12 Zarko Djurovic
Board member since 2015 

Born 1977

Education and job experience 
Employed in the SKF Group since 2006

Other assignments  
Chairman Metalworker’s Union,  

SKF, Gothenburg

Shareholding (own and/or held by 

related parties) 0

14 Claes Palm
Deputy Board member since 2016 

Born 1971

Education and job experience 
Employed in the SKF Group since 1989

Other assignments  
2nd vice Chairman Unionen, SKF,  

Gothenburg

Shareholding (own and/or held by 

related parties) 0

11

13

12

14

109
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Activities of the Board of Directors
The Board held eight meetings in 2016. The Board members were 

present at the Board meetings as follows:

Name of the Board member
Presence/total  

number of meetings

Leif Östling 7/8

Lena Treschow Torell 6/8

Peter Grafoner 7/8

Lars Wedenborn 8/8

Joe Loughrey 8/8

Jouko Karvinen (resigned March, 2016) 1/8

Baba Kalyani 7/8

Hock Goh 7/8

Marie Bredberg 8/8

Alrik Danielson 8/8

Nancy Gougarty 7/8

Jonny Hilbert 8/8

Zarko Djurovic 7/8

Kennet Carlsson 8/8

Virpi Ring (left March, 2016) 3/8

Claes Palm (appointed April, 2016) 5/8

The Board adopts written rules of procedure annually for its 

 internal work. These rules prescribe i.a.:

• the number of Board meetings and when they are to be held

• the items normally included in the Board agenda

• the presentation to the Board of reports from the external 

 auditors.

The Board has also issued written instructions on:

• when and how information required for the Board’s assessment 

of the company’s and the Group’s financial position shall be 

 collected and reported to the Board

• the allocation of the tasks between the Board and the President.

Issues dealt with by the Board in 2016 include i.a. market outlook, 

financial reporting, capital structure, acquisitions and divestments 

of companies, antitrust investigations, the strategic direction and 

business plan of the Group and management issues.

The Board continuously evaluates economic, environmental and 

social aspects for the Group’s performance and reviews specific 

issues such as accident rates, greenhouse gas emissions and Code 

of Conduct adherence. 

Each new Board member has to go through a general introduc-

tion training about the SKF Group and the Board visits on a regular 

basis different SKF sites in order to enhance knowledge about the 

SKF Group.

Remuneration Committee
The Board of AB SKF has in accordance with the principles in the 

Code established a Remuneration Committee consisting of the 

Chairman of the Board, Leif Östling as chairman, and the Board 

members Peter Grafoner and Lars Wedenborn. 

The Remuneration Committee prepares matters related to the 

principles of remuneration for Group Management and employment 

conditions for the President. The principles of remuneration for 

Group Management shall be submitted to the Board, which shall 

submit a proposal for such remuneration principles to the Annual 

General Meeting for approval. The employment conditions for the 

President shall be approved by the Board.

The Remuneration Committee continuously monitors and evalu-

ates the SKF Group’s remuneration package for Group Management. 

Not later than three weeks prior to the Annual General Meeting the 

Board submits on the company’s website, in accordance with the 

principles in the Code, a report on the results of the Remuneration 

Committee’s evaluation.

The Remuneration Committee held two meetings in 2016. 

The members of the committee were present at the meetings  

as follows:

Name of the Board member
Presence/total  

number of meetings

Leif Östling 2/2

Peter Grafoner 2/2

Lars Wedenborn 2/2

Jouko Karvinen (left March, 2016) 1/2

Audit Committee
The Board of AB SKF has in accordance with the principles of the 

Swedish Companies Act and the Code appointed an Audit Committee. 

The Audit Committee consists of Lars Wedenborn, as Chairman, the 

Chairman of the Board, Leif Östling and the Board member Marie 

Bredberg. 

The tasks of the Audit Committee include i.a. preparations in 

relation to the nomination of external auditors, review of the scope 

of the external audit, evaluation of the performance of the external 

auditors, review and control of the financial reporting, and of the 

internal control, internal audit and risk management regarding the 

financial reporting. 

The Audit Committee held six meetings in 2016. The members  

of the committee were present at the meetings as follows:

Name of the Board member
Presence/total  

number of meetings

Leif Östling 6/6

Lars Wedenborn 6/6

Marie Bredberg 6/6

Assessment
The Board members assess the quality of the work of the Board 

through the completion of a questionnaire, which reflects the 

Group’s values and drivers. The result is then discussed at a Board 

meeting. The Nomination Committee has been provided with the 

result of the assessment. 
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President and Chief Executive Officer 
Alrik Danielson 
Board member of AB SKF’s Board since 2015

Born 1962

Education and job experience Bachelor of Science in Business 

Administration and International Economics, School of Business, 

Economics and Law, University of Gothenburg. Several positions 

within the SKF Group 1987–2005 and President and CEO of 

Höganäs AB 2005–2014. 

Other assignments President and CEO of AB SKF since 2015. 

Board member of Association of Swedish Engineering Industries 

since 2015.

Shareholding (own and/or held by related parties): 20,000 SKF B 

Material shareholdings or other holdings (own and/or held by 

related parties) in companies with which the company has important 

business relationships: 0 

The auditor of the company
The task of the auditor is to audit, on behalf of the shareholders, the 

Annual Report and the accounting and also to audit the Board’s and 

the President’s management of the company.

The Annual General Meeting elects the auditor for a period of 

four years. At AB SKF’s Annual General Meeting in the spring 2013, 

PricewaterhouseCoopers AB (PwC) was elected as auditor for the 

time up to the closing of the Annual General Meeting in 2017. Peter 

Clemedtson is the auditor in charge and Bo Karlsson is co-signing 

auditor. Peter Clemedtson is the auditor in charge at a number of 

other listed companies, such as Nordea Bank AB (publ), AB Volvo 

and Ratos AB. Bo Karlsson is the auditor in charge at a number of 

other listed companies, such as ASSA ABLOY AB, Investment AB 

Latour and unlisted companies such as Scania AB. The auditor shall 

according to a resolution of the Annual General Meeting be remu-

nerated in accordance with approved invoice. SKF has a procedure 

in place whereby all matters that are intended to be handled by  

the elected auditors are evaluated in relation to the independence 

requirements and are approved or, as the case may be, rejected, by 

the Audit Committee. PwC applies a similar procedure and issues 

annually, in addition thereto, a written statement to the Board stat-

ing that the audit firm is independent in relation to SKF. PwC has 

during 2016 been involved in matters besides the audit and audit 

services other than the audit assignment for 2016. These matters 

have primarily concerned tax services. The total fees for PwC’s 

 services besides auditing in 2016 amount to SEK 13 million.

Financial reporting
The Board of Directors is responsible for documenting how the 

quality of the financial reporting is secured and how the company 

communicates with its auditor.

The Audit Committee assists the Board of Directors by prepara-

tory work to secure the quality of the company’s financial reporting. 

This is, for example, achieved through the Audit Committee’s review 

of the financial information and the company’s internal financial 

controls.

The Board of Directors had one meeting with the auditor in 2016 

and has been provided with the audit and its result. Within the scope 

of its work, which includes reviewing the extent of the external audit 

and evaluating the performance of the external auditors, the Audit 

Committee met with the auditors in connection with four Audit 

Committee meetings. In addition to that, the auditors gave both the 

Audit Committee and the Board of Directors information in writing 

regarding matters including the planning and implementation of the 

audit and an assessment of the risk position of the company.

Internal control and risk management  
regarding  financial reporting 
SKF applies the Internal Control – Integrated Framework launched 

in 2013 by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the 

Treadway Commission (COSO). In May 2013 COSO launched an 

updated version of the framework, COSO 2013. In 2016 SKF 

updated the review of the internal control framework performed in 

2015 to ensure alignment with the 17 fundamental principles of 

COSO 2013. SKF applies a subset of the CobiT standard for IT secu-

rity. The COSO framework consists of five interrelated components, 

where a number of objectives have to be met in each component:
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COSO website, © 2013 Internal Control- Integrated Framework 
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway 
 Commission (COSO). All rights reserved. Used with permission.
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The control environment component is the foundation for the 

other components. Through its policies, instructions and organiza-

tional structure SKF has documented the division of responsibility 

throughout the SKF organization. This is reflected in the fact that 

policies and instructions, where applicable, are developed on the 

basis of internationally accepted standards and/or best practice. 

Policies and instructions are reassessed annually by the responsible 

function based on the need to adapt these to changes in require-

ments and legislation.

SKF is a process-oriented company and includes integrated risk 

assessment with the business processes such as business planning. 

Separate functions or cross functional boards monitor all major risk 

areas.

In the area of control activities, SKF has documented all the critical 

finance processes and controls for the parent company and all sub-

sidiary companies. SKF implemented these requirements as a Group 

standard, the SKF Internal Control Standard (SICS) for all Group 

companies. The documentation standards require that relevant 

controls in the business processes are described and performed. 

When deficiencies in individual controls are identified formal action 

plans are created to remediate control gaps. A selection of defined 

control activities are tested annually.

SKF has information and communication systems and procedures 

in place in order to ensure the completeness and correctness of 

the financial reporting. Accounting and reporting instructions are 

updated when necessary and reassessed at least once a year. 

These instructions have been made available to all relevant 

employees together with training programmes and the frequent 

communication of any changes in accounting and/or reporting 

requirements.

Financial process and control documentation, documentation of 

the COSO components of monitoring, information and communica-

tion, financial risk assessment, control environment, as well as test 

and review protocols, are stored in a special IT system. This enables 

access to individual control documentation and analysis of results 

from the annual testing of SKF’s financial internal control system.

The implementation of SICS consisted primarily of adapting the 

process and control descriptions to a common framework and putting 

in place a comprehensive system for management testing of the 

controls. SKF applies a risk-based annual testing programme of 

selected units and critical controls. The test programme is reassessed 

annually. Testing is primarily done on-site by independent external 

testers who report to SKF’s internal audit function. 

SKF has an internal audit function whose main responsibility is 

to ensure adherence to the internal control framework by carrying 

out annual tests. The internal audit function report to the Group’s 

Chief Financial Officer and regularly submits reports to the Audit 

Committee of the Board of Directors. The Board of Directors 

receives regular financial reports and the Group’s financial position 

and development are discussed at every meeting. The Audit Com-

mittee of the Board of Directors reviews all interim and annual 

financial reports before they are released to the public. 

Gothenburg, 6 March, 2017

The Board of Directors
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Auditor’s report on the Corporate Governance Report 
To the general meeting of the shareholders in AB SKF (publ), corporate identity number 556007-3495.

Engagement and responsibility
It is the board of directors who is responsible for the corporate gov-

ernance statement for the year 2016 on pages 144–150 and that 

it has been prepared in accordance with the Annual Accounts Act. 

The scope of the audit
Our examination has been conducted in accordance with FAR’s 

auditing standard RevU 16 The auditor’s examination of the corpo-

rate governance statement. This means that our examination of the 

corporate governance statement is different and substantially less 

in scope than an audit conducted in accordance with International 

Standards on Auditing and generally accepted auditing standards 

in Sweden. We believe that the examination has provided us with 

sufficient basis for our opinions.

Opinions
A corporate governance statement has been prepared. Disclosures 

in accordance with chapter 6 section 6 the second paragraph points 

2–6 the Annual Accounts Act and chapter 7 section 31 the second 

paragraph the same law are consistent with the annual accounts 

and the consolidated accounts and are in accordance with the 

Annual Accounts Act.

Gothenburg, 6 March, 2017

PricewaterhouseCoopers AB

Signature on Swedish original

Peter Clemedtson

Auditor in charge
Authorized Public Accountant

Bo Karlsson

Authorized Public Accountant
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10 Carina Bergfelt
General Counsel and Senior Vice President,  

Legal and Sustainability

Born 1960

Master of Law, Lund University.  

Employed since 1990

Previous positions within SKF 
Legal Counsel, Secretary to the Board since 1996. 

Board member 

The Association of Exchange listed Companies. 

Shareholding in SKF 
3,868 SKF B

11 Kent Viitanen
Senior Vice President,  

People, Communication and Quality

Born 1965

Business and Economics, School of Business, 

 Economics and Law, University of  Gothenburg. 

Employed since 1988

Previous positions within SKF 
Director  Renewable Energy and  

several other positions. 

Board member 
Chalmers University of Tech nology and Gothen-

burg University School of  Executive Education.

Shareholding in SKF 
140 SKF A and 2,975 SKF B

1 Alrik Danielson
President and CEO, SKF Group 

Born 1962

Bachelor of Science in Business  Administration and 

International Economics, School of Business, 

 Economics and Law,  University of Gothenburg.

Employed since 2014 and 1987–2005

Previous positions within SKF 
President, SKF Industrial Division and  

several other positions.

Board member 
Association of Swedish  Engineering Industries

Shareholding in SKF 
20,000 SKF B

2 Christian Johansson
Chief Financial Officer and Senior Vice President

Born 1963 

Bachelor of Science in Business Administration, 

Stockholm University INSEAD (Fontainbleau, 

France).  

Employed since 2015

Shareholding in SKF 
3,000 SKF B

3 Stéphane Le Mounier
President, Automotive and Aerospace

Born 1965 

Degree in Mechanical Engineering, Remiremont 

Technical College, France, Masters degree in 

International Sales and Marketing, ESV, University 

of Haute Alsace, France and Post- Graduate diploma 

in Finance and Controlling, ESSEC, Paris, France.  

Employed since 1988

Previous positions within SKF 
Director Business Unit Aerospace and  

several other positions.

Shareholding in SKF 
1,932 SKF B

4 John Schmidt
President, Industrial Sales Americas

Born 1969 

Bachelor of Science, Mechanical  Engineering  

from the Pennsylvania State  University.  

Employed since 2001 and 1993–1998

Previous positions within SKF 
President and CEO SKF USA Inc and  

several other positions.

Shareholding in SKF 
0 SKF B

5 Erik Nelander
President, Industrial Sales Europe  

and Middle East and Africa

Born 1963 

Master of Science in Business Administration and 

International Economics, School of Business, 

 Economics and Law, University of Gothenburg. 

Employed since 1987 

Previous positions within SKF 
Vice President, SKF Industrial Market,  

President SKF China,  Business Unit Director 

SKF Aerospace, and several other positions.

Shareholding in SKF 
3,854 SKF B

6 Patrick Tong
President, Industrial Sales Asia

Born 1962

Executive Master Degree of Business 

 Administration, Hong Kong University of 

 Science and Technology.  

Employed since 1989 

Previous positions within SKF 
President  Specialty Business,  

President SKF Second Brands Bearings,  

as well as several other positions. 

Shareholding in SKF 
2,361 SKF B

7 Luc Graux
President, Bearing Operations

Born 1963

Master of Business Administration, University of 

Houston, USA, Master of Science in Mechanical 

Engineering, University of Houston, USA and 

Bachelor of Science in Mechanical  Engineering, 

University of Compiegne, France.  

Employed since 1991 and 1987–1989

Previous positions within SKF 
Director Manufacturing and Product Lines  

and several other positions.

Shareholding in SKF 
840 SKF B

8 Victoria Van Camp
President, Business and Product Development

Born 1966

Master of Science in Mechanical  Engineering, 

PhD in Machine Elements; Luleå  University of 

Technology, Sweden.  

Employed since 1996

Previous positions within SKF 
Director Industrial Market Technology and 

 Solutions, Director of Product Innovation 

 Lubrication BU, as well as  several other positions. 

Board member 

PREERA

Shareholding in SKF 

0 SKF B

9 Bernd Stephan
Senior Vice President, Technology

Born 1956

Bachelor of Engineering, Mechanical Engineering, 

(Dipl.-Ing., University of Essen).  

Employed since 1994

Previous positions within SKF 
Director Business Unit Renewable Energy  

and  several other positions. 

Shareholding in SKF 

1,746 SKF B

Group Management as of 31 December, 2016
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Seven-year review – SKF Group

SEKm unless otherwise stated 2016 2015 2014 2013 20122) 2011 2010

Income statements
Net sales 72,787 75,997 70,975 63,597 64,575 66,216 61,029

Operating expenses incl. associated comp. –65,260 –69,029 –63,174 –59,904 –57,261 –56,604 –52,577

Operating profit 7,527 6,968 7,801 3,693 7,314 9,612 8,452

One-time items in operating profit –17 –1,687 –490 –3,875 –440 –100 –190

Operating profit excl. one-time items 7,544 8,655 8,291 7,568 7,754 9,712 8,642

Financial income and expense, net –788 –1,134 –1,133 –872 –906 –680 –903

Profit before taxes 6,739 5,834 6,668 2,821 6,408 8,932 7,549

Taxes –2,530 –1,760 –1,918 –1,777 –1,592 –2,708 –2,253

Net profit 4,209 4,074 4,750 1,044 4,816 6,224 5,296

Balance sheets
Intangible assets 19,568 21,485 22,138 19,023 9,800 10,157 10,194 

Deferred tax assets 3,806 3,185 3,350 2,015 1,835 1,299 1,151 

Property, plant and equipment 15,746 15,303 15,482 14,095 13,086 13,076 12,922

Non-current financial and other assets 1,688 1,607 1,862 1,276 1,188 1,494 1,411

Inventories 15,418 14,519 15,066 13,700 12,856 14,191 12,879

Trade receivables 13,462 11,777 12,595 11,189 10,084 10,713 9,859

Other current assets 14,219 11,857 11,146 9,693 11,908 8,444 5,985

Total assets 83,907 79,733 81,639 70,991 60,757 59,374 54,401 

Equity 27,683 26,282 24,404 21,152 22,468 22,455 19,894

Provisions for post employment benefits 13,945 13,062 13,978 9,902 9,881 8,634 7,093

Deferred tax provisions 1,380 1,373 1,717 2,207 481 938 1,309 

Other provisions 2,224 2,095 2,083 5,011 1,676 1,836 2,162

Financial liabilities 23,650 23,825 26,105 21,344 15,675 13,613 12,175

Trade payables 7,100 5,671 5,938 4,740 4,189 4,698 4,476

Other liabilities 7,925 7,425 7,414 6,635 6,387 7,200 7,292

Total equity and liabilities 83,907 79,733 81,639 70,991 60,757 59,374 54,401 

Key figures1)  
(in percentages unless otherwise stated)
Operating margin 10.3 9.2 11.0 5.8 11.3 14.5 13.8

Operating margin excl. one-time items 10.4 11.4 11.7 11.9 12.0 14.7 14.2

EBITA, SEKm 8,016 7,522 8,289 3,998 7,552 9,860 8,602

EBITDA, SEKm 9,895 9,826 10,192 5,586 9,145 11,402 10,444

Return on capital employed 11.9 10.9 13.9 7.5 16.2 23.6 24.0

Return on equity 16.5 15.7 21.4 4.6 21.6 29.7 28.4

Net working capital, % of sales 29.9 27.1 30.6 31.7 29.0 30.5 29.9

Net debt/equity 84.4 99.9 126.6 117.3 72.5 72.3 80.2

Turnover of total assets, times 0.89 0.92 0.95 0.97 1.07 1.16 1.19 

Gearing 55.3 56.7 60.5 59.2 52.8 48.9 48.6

Equity/assets 33.0 33.0 29.9 29.8 37.0 37.8 36.6 

Net cash flow after investments before financing, SEKm 7,717 6,416 2,137 –5,390 3,045 3,974 –2,782

Investments and employees
Additions to property, plant and equipment, SEKm 1,869 2,063 1,852 1,746 1,968 1,839 1,651

Research and development expenses, SEKm 2,246 2,372 2,078 1,840 1,607 1,481 1,184

Patents – number of first filings, SEKm 191 461 488 468 421 325 251

Average number of employees 43,508 44,305 46,509 45,220 44,168 42,886 40,206

Number of employees registered at 31 December 44,868 46,635 48,593 48,401 46,775 46,039 44,742

1)  See page 156 for definitions. SKF has applied the new guidelines issued by 
ESMA (European Securities and Markets Authority) on APMs (Alternative 
Performance Measures). These key figures are not defined or specified 
in IFRS but provides  complementary information to investors and other 
stakeholders on the company’s performance. The definition of each APM is 

presented at the end of the interim report. For the reconciliation of each 
APM against the most reconcilable line item in the financial statements,  
see skf.com/group/investors/.

2)  2012 restated for amended IAS 19. All years prior to 2012 continue to use 
the old IAS 19 rules.
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Three-year review1)

SEKm unless otherwise stated 2016 2015 2014

Industrial
Net sales 50,756 54,132 51,226

Operating profit 6,103 6,229 7,191

Operating margin 12.0 11.5 14.0

Assets and liabilities, net 39,352 40,987 42,776

Registered number of employees 36,306 37,659 39,363

Automotive 
Net sales 22,005 21,842 19,716

Operating profit 1,424 739 610

Operating margin 6.5 3.4 3.1

Assets and liabilities, net 9,337 8,977 9,323

Registered number of employees 7,060 7,506 7,965

Per-share data1)

SEK per share unless otherwise stated 2016 2015 2014 2013 20123) 2011 2010

Earnings per share 8.75 8.52 10.10 2.0 10.23 13.29 11.28

Dividend per A and B share 5.502) 5.50 5.50 5.50 5.50 5.50 5.00

Total dividends, SEKm 2,504 2,504 2,504 2,504 2,504 2,277 1,594

Purchase price of B shares at year-end  
on NASDAQ Stockholm 167.6 137.2 164.9 168.7 163.2 145.60 191.60

Equity per share 57 54 51 44 47 47 42

Yield in percent (B) 3.32) 4.0 3.3 3.3 3.4 3.8 2.6

P/E ratio, B (share price/earnings per share) 19.2 16.1 16.3 84.2 16.0 11.0 17.0

Cash flow from operations, per share 15.7 17.0 10.5 11.6 12.5 12.4 12.3

Cash flow, after investments and before financing, 
per share 16.95 14.09 4.69 –11.84 6.69 8.73 –6.11

Distribution of shareholding

Shareholding Number of shareholders % Number of shares %

1–1,000 53,278 83.2 15,330,356 3.4

1,001–10,000 9,472 14.8 26,131,577 5.7

10,001–100,000 953 1.5 27,436,153 6.0

100,001– 323 0.5 386,452,982 84.9

64,026 100 455,351,068 100

Source: Holdings, Modular Finance as of 31 December, 2016.

1) See page 156 for definitions.
2) According to the Board’s proposal for the year 2016.

3)  2012 restated for amended IAS 19. All years prior to 2011 continue to use 
the old IAS 19 rules.

1)  Previously published amounts have been restated to conform to the current 
Group structure. For more information refer to Note 2 in the consolidated 
financial statements
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Patrik Stenberg

Head of Investor Relations

email: patrik.stenberg@skf.com

www.skf.com/investors

Theo Kjellberg

Press and Media Relations Director

email: theo.kjellberg@skf.com

Average number of employees
Total number of working hours of all 

employees, divided by the normal total 

working time over the year. 

Basic earnings/loss per share in SEK
Profit/loss after taxes less non-controlling 

interests divided by the ordinary number 

of shares. 

Currency impact on operating profit
The effects of both translation and transac-

tion flows based on current assumptions and 

exchange rates and compared to the corre-

sponding period last year.

Debt
Loans and net provisions for post- 

employment benefits.

Diluted earnings per share
Calculated by using the weighted average 

number of shares outstanding during the 

period, adjusted for all potential dilutive 

ordinary shares.

 

Equity per share
Equity excluding non-controlling interests 

divided by the ordinary number of shares. 

EBITA 
(Earnings before interest, taxes and amorti-

zation) Operating profit before amortizations.

EBITDA 
(Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation 

and amortization) Operating profit before 

depreciations, amortizations, and impair-

ments.

Equity/assets ratio
Equity as a percentage of total assets at 

year-end. 

Gearing
Debt as a percentage of the sum of debt 

and equity.

Net debt
Debt less short-term financial assets 

excluding derivatives.

Net debt/equity 
Total short-term financial assets exclud-

ing derivatives minus loans and provi-

sions for post-employment benefits, as a 

percentage of equity, all at year-end. 

Net working capital as % of  
annual sales
Trade receivables plus inventory minus 

trade payables as a percent of a 

12-month rolling net sales.

One-time items
Significant income/expense that effects 

comparability between accounting peri-

ods. This includes, but is not limited to, 

restructuring costs, impairments and 

write-offs, currency exchange rate 

effects caused by devaluation and gains 

and losses on divestments of businesses 

and assets.

Operational performance
Includes the effects on operating profit 

related to changes in organic sales, 

changes in manufacturing volumes and 

manufacturing costs and changes in 

selling and administrative expenses. 

Operating margin
Operating profit/loss, as a percentage 

of net sales. 

Operating margin excl. one-time items
Operating profit/loss excluding one-time 

items, as a percentage of net sales. 

Organic sales
Sales excluding effects of currency and 

structure, i.e. acquired and divested 

 businesses.

P/E ratio
Share price at year end divided by basic 

earnings per share. 

Registered number of employees
Total number of employees included in 

SKF’s payroll at the year-end. 

Return on capital employed
Operating profit/loss plus interest income, 

as a percentage of 12-month rolling aver-

age of total assets less the average of 

non-interest bearing liabilities. 

Return on equity
Profit/loss after taxes as a percentage of 

12-month rolling average of equity. 

Turnover of total assets
Net sales in relation to 12-month  rolling 

average of total assets.

Total value added (TVA)
TVA is the operating profit, less the pre-

tax cost of capital in the country where 

business is conducted. The pre-tax cost 

of capital is based on a weighted cost of 

capital with a risk premium of 5% above 

the risk-free interest rate.

Definitions
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General information

Annual General Meeting
The Annual General Meeting will be held at SKF Kristine dal, 

Byfogdegatan 4, Gothenburg, Sweden, at 13.00 on Wednesday, 

29 March, 2017. The Annual General Meeting is the primary forum 

at which shareholders have a possibility to communicate directly 

with Group Management and the Board of Directors. 

For the right to participate in the meeting, shareholders must be 

recorded in the shareholders’ register kept by Euroclear Sweden AB 

by Thursday, 23 March, 2017, and must notify the company at the 

latest by Thursday, 23 March, 2017 via the internet, www.skf.com, 

or by letter to: 

AB SKF

c/o Computershare AB, “AB SKFs årsstämma 2017”

Box 610

SE-182 16 Danderyd

Sweden

or by telephone +46 31 337 25 50

(between 09.00 and 16.00)

When notifying the company, preferably in writing, this should 

 in clude details of name, address, telephone number, registered 

shareholding and number of advisors, if any. Where represen tation 

is being made by proxy, the original of the proxy form shall be sent 

to the company before the Annual General Meeting. 

Shareholders whose shares are registered in the name of a trustee 

must have the shares registered temporarily in their own name in 

order to take part in the meeting. Any such re-registration for the 

purpose of establishing voting rights shall take place so that the 

shareholder is recorded in the shareholders’ register by Thursday, 

23 March, 2017. This means that the shareholder should give notice 

of his/her wish to be included in the share holders’ register to the 

trustee well in advance before that date. 

Cautionary statement
This report contains forward-looking statements that 

are based on the current expectations of the manage-

ment of SKF. Although management believes that the 

expectations reflected in such forward-looking state-

ments are reasonable, no assurance can be given that 

such expectations will prove to have been correct. 

Accordingly, results could differ materially from those 

implied in the forward-looking statements as a result 

of, among other factors, changes in economic, market 

and competitive conditions, changes in the regulatory 

environment and other government actions, fluctua-

tions in exchange rates and other factors mentioned 

in the Administration Report in this Annual Report.

®  SKF, @ptitude, ALEMITE, BeyondZero, BAKER,  

Black Design, Blohm + Voss , BlueMon, CARB, 

COOPER, DUOFLEX, DURATEMP, ECOPUR, GBC, 

GENERAL BEARING COMPANY, HYATT, infinite, 

INSOCOAT, KAYDON,  Lincoln, LUBRILEAN,  magnetic, 

MICROLOG, MULTILOG, NAUTILUS, PEER, Reali- 

Slim, REELCRAFT, ROTOSTAT, SCOTSEAL,  

SEAL JET, SEEDXTREME, SNFA, Simplex- Compact, 

SCOTSEAL. Slewinfinite, SKF ENCOMPASS, SKF 

EXPLORER, S2M, SKF INSIGHT, Thinfinite, THE 

GENERAL, TILLXTREME, X-TRACKER are registered 

trademarks of the SKF Group.

© SKF Group 2016

The contents of this publication are the copyright of the 

publisher and may not be reproduced (even extracts) un less 

prior written permission is granted. Every care has been 

taken to ensure the accuracy of the information contained in 

this publication but no liability can be accepted for any loss or 

damage whether direct, indirect or consequential arising out 

of the use of the information contained herein. The report is 

originally written in English and translated to Swedish.

PUB GC/R1 17116 EN · March, 2017

SKF Annual Report 2015 was published on 8 March, 2016.

AB SKF and Solberg

Photo: SKF Group and Anna Hult

Certain images used under license from Shutterstock.com

Payment of dividend
The Board of Directors proposes a divi-

dend of SEK 5.50 per share for 2016. 

31 March, 2017 is proposed as the record 

date for shareholders to be entitled to 

receive dividends for 2016. Subject to 

resolution by the Annual General Meeting, 

it is expected that Euroclear will distribute 

the dividend on Wednesday, 5 April, 2017.

Financial information and reporting
Publishing dates for financial reports  

in 2017:

Year-end report 2016  2 February

Annual Report 2016  7 March

First-quarter report 2017  27 April

Half-year report 2017  21 July

Nine-month report 2017  31 October

The reports are  

 available in Swedish  

and English on  

skf.com/Investors and in the Investor 

 Relations app. A subscription service  

for press releases and interim reports,  

sent via e-mail or SMS, is available on  

the website.

 

nd in the Investorin the Investor



Aktiebolaget SKF

SE-415 50 Gothenburg, Sweden

Telephone +46 31 337 10 00

www.skf.com
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